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Forward-Looking Statements

This report includes “forward-looking statementsthin the meaning of Section 27A of the Securies of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended. All statements other than stateméhtstorical fact are “forward-looking
statements” for purposes of this annual report@amF10-K,including any projections of earnings, revenuegstibne payments, royalties, s:
or other financial items, any statements of theplkand objectives of management for future operat{dmcluding, but not limited to, preclinic
development, clinical trials and manufacturing)y atatements related to our financial condition indre working capital needs, any
statements regarding potential future financingralitives, any statements concerning proposedadmdjdates, any statements regarding the
timing for the start or end of clinical trials arlemission of regulatory approval filings, any staénts regarding future economic conditions or
performance, any statements regarding the suc¢ess oollaboration arrangements or future paymérms may come due to us under these
arrangements, any statements regarding our plahstgactives to initiate or continue clinical tsabnd any statements of assumptions
underlying any of the foregoing. In some casesy&wd-looking statements can be identified by thee afserminology such as “may,” “will,”
“expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “mntial” or “continue,” or the negative thereofather comparable terminology. Although we
believe that the expectations reflected in the &sdhlooking statements contained herein are rei®nsuch expectations or any of the
forward-looking statements may prove to be incdraea actual results could differ materially fronose projected or assumed in the forward-
looking statements. Our future financial conditaord results of operations, as well as any forwaodihg statements, are subject to inherent
risks and uncertainties, including, but not limitedthe risk factors set forth in Part I, Item TRisk Factors” below and for the reasons
described elsewhere in this annual report on Fd#.1All forward-looking statements and reasons wésults may differ included in this
report are made as of the date hereof and we dinteoid to update any forward-looking statementepkas required by law or applicable
regulations. Except where the context otherwiseireg, in this annual report on Form 10-K, the “Qamy,” “Nektar,” “we,” “us,” and “our”
refer to Nektar Therapeutics, a Delaware corponatmd, where appropriate, its subsidiaries.

Trademarks

The Nektar brand and product names, including butimited to Nekta® , contained in this documerg lademarks, registered
trademarks or service marks of Nektar Therapeiritise United States and certain other countriégs @ocument also contains references to
trademarks and service marks of other companig¢sthahe property of their respective owners.
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PART |
Iltem 1. Business

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical compawelbping a pipeline of drug candidates that wibor PEGylation and advanced
polymer conjugate technology platforms, which agsigned to enable the development of new moleeultties that target known mechanis
of action. Our current proprietary pipeline is camsed of drug candidates across a number of that&pareas including oncology, pain, anti-
infectives and immunology. Our research and devetop activities involve small molecule drugs, peées and other biologic drug candidates.
We create innovative drug candidates by using ocopnetary advanced polymer conjugate technologresexpertise to modify the chemical
structure of pharmacophores to create new moleeuldties. Additionally, we may utilize establishglarmacologic targets to engineer a new
drug candidate relying on a combination of the kngnoperties of these targets and our proprietalynper chemistry technology and
expertise. Our drug candidates are designed toowepthe overall benefits and use of a drug forgpdsi by improving the metabolism,
distribution, pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamiedf-life and/or bioavailability of drugs. Our objaee is to apply our advanced polymer
conjugate technology platform to create new drugd@dates in multiple therapeutic areas that addegge potential markets.

Our most-advanced proprietary drug candidate, mglok(formerly known as NKTR-118), is an oral péepally-acting opioid
antagonist, for the treatment of opioid-inducedstipation, or OIC, in patients with non-cancer p#iire most common side effect caused by
chronic administration of prescription opioid painedicines. Naloxegol has been specifically desigreed once-daily tablet to block the
binding of opioids to the opioid receptors in tlesgointestinal tract while not crossing the bldodin barrier and impacting the analgesic
activity of opioids binding to opioid receptorsthre brain. In November 2013, we reported that @llaboration partner AstraZeneca PLC
announced that the United States Food and Drug Aidtration, or FDA, accepted the New Drug Applioatior NDA, for naloxegol, with a
Prescription Drug User Fee Act, or PDUFA, date @t8mber 16, 2014. The NDA filing was based on aetmgnsive data from a Phase 3
clinical development program comprised of four icl trials designed to investigate the safety effidacy of naloxegol for the treatment of
OIC. AstraZeneca has also filed marketing applicetifor naloxegol with health authorities in the&pean Union (E.U.) and Canada. The
FDA is currently planning to hold an advisory cortteg meeting to review the cardiovascular safetlmtential additional safety study
requirements for peripheral nopioid receptor antagonist class of drugs, inclgdialoxegol. The FDA advisory committee meetingiclvthac
been originally scheduled for March 10-11, 2014ea@g rescheduled due to scheduling conflicts.

Our second-most-advanced drug candidate, etirinatpegol (also known as NKTR-102), is a next-gefmrdopoisomerase | inhibitor,
currently being evaluated in a Phase 3 clinicadt@s a single-agent therapy for women with metiadbaeast cancer. This Phase 3 clinical
study, which we call the BEACON study (BrEAst Can@aitcomes with NKTR-102), was initiated by us iad@mber 2011 and enrollment
completed in July 2013. The BEACON study enrollpgraximately 850 women with locally recurrent ortastatic breast cancer who have
had prior treatment with anthracycline, taxane eaykcitabine in either the adjuvant or metastatitng). Patients in the BEACON study were
randomized on a 1:1 basis to receive either siagkmt etirinotecan pegol or a single agent of pigysis choice. The primary endpoint of the
BEACON study is overall survival, and secondarypmidts include progressidinee survival and objective tumor response rateJ&mary 1¢
2014, we announced that the Independent Data Mamt€ommittee, or the DMC, created to provide saéversight for the BEACON study
recommended continuation of the Phase 3 BEACONydnltbwing an interim data analysis which was penfied after reaching 50% of the
events needed to achieve the primary endpoint efadivsurvival. In November 2012, the FDA desigdatérinotecan pegol as a Fast Track
development program for the treatment of patieritis lwcally recurrent or metastatic breast caneegpessing after treatment with an
anthracycline, a taxane, and capecitabine. We alseestudied or provided support for ongoing stsitheing conducted for etirinotecan pegol
in bevacizumab (Avastin)-resistant high-grade ghgeolorectal cancer, metastatic and recurrentsmeall cell lung cancer, and ovarian can
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Our third most advanced proprietary drug candidsdt€TR-181, is a novel mu-opioid analgesic drug ddatk for chronic pain
conditions. The molecule has been designed to aalaw rate of entry into the brain, which is exgédo reduce the attractiveness of the
molecule as a target of abuse and reduce oth@userentral nervous system-related side effect$, as sedation and respiratory depression,
which are commonly associated with standard ogtoédapies. Its potential differentiating properiees inherent to the design of the new
molecule and, as a new molecular structure, NKTRsl8buse deterrent property does not rely onmaditation approach, a common method
used with opioid drugs to reduce their ease of ewsion into abusable forms of an opioid. In May 20he FDA designated NKTR-181 as a
Fast Track development program for the treatment@derate to severe chronic pain. In the first bA#013, we conducted a human abuse
liability study, or HAL study, for NKTR-181. On Jerl9, 2013, we announced results from that HALystlgmonstrated that NKTR-181 was
rated similar to placebo in “drug liking” and “féd high” scores and had highly statistically sfgr@int lower “drug liking” scores and reduced
“feeling high” scores as compared to oxycodondlatases tested (p < 0.0001). On September 26,,20& Z&innounced preliminary topline
results from a Phase 2 clinical study of NKTR-18Jpatients with moderate to severe chronic paimfosteoarthritis of the knee. In this study,
NKTR-181 performed as expected as an opioid analgesiaghout the study. However, patients who werdoarized to the placebo arm
following a drug titration phase did not show thpected increase in pain scores observed in simileched enrollment, randomized
withdrawal studies. This lack of a placebo reboimihe maintenance phase of the trial caused thed*? study to miss the primary endpoint,
which was the average change in a patient’s pairescom baseline to the end of the double-bliatdomized treatment period. In December
2013, we met with the FDA to discuss the resulthefPhase 2 clinical study and certain prelimiramysiderations for the Phase 3 clinical
study design. We are currently evaluating the gmjsite Phase 3 clinical study design for NKIRt and expect to start a Phase 3 clinical ¢
in mid-2014, following the completion of an endffiase 2 meeting with the FDA planned to occur é@fitist half of 2014.

We also have additional proprietary preclinical afidical drug candidates being developed for palief. On January 14, 2014, we
announced that the first subjects were dosed imaad1 clinical study for NKTR71, a new sodium channel blocker being developeaharz
therapy for the treatment of peripheral neuropaphin. This single-ascending dose Phase 1 clisicaly of NKTR-171 will assess its
pharmacokinetics, tolerability, and safety in ufy¥ohealthy subjects. NKTR-171 is a new molecutditethat is specifically designed to treat
neuropathic pain by blocking hyperactive neurowalism channels associated with damaged nervegipdhipheral nervous system. NKTR-
171 is designed to be a peripherakgtricted molecule, with the aim of not causingtea nervous system (CNS) side effects that lisége ¢
existing therapies. In addition, we are also depielp NKTR-192, a novel mu-opioid analgesic moleanith a short-acting profile designed to
treat acute pain while addressing the serious GNe8ed side effects associated with standard stoirtg opioid therapies. In January 2014,
announced that we observed elevated liver enzymesme patients at the highest dose in a Phaseidatktudy for NKTR-192. As a result,
NKTR-192 will no longer be developed as an oral forriataand has returned to preclinical developmergnetwe are exploring its potential
as an injectable therapy to treat migraine andeacamcer pain. In addition, we are also advancihgracute pain drug candidates in preclir
development.

We have a significant collaboration with Baxter Heeare (Baxter), to identify and develop PEGylatiedg candidates with the objecti
of providing new long-acting therapies for hemojghgatients. Under the terms of this collaboratiga,are providing our PEGylation
technology and expertise and Baxter is respon§iblall clinical development. The first drug candlie in this collaboration, BAX 855, is a
longer-acting (PEGylated) form of a full-length oatbinant factor VIII (rFVIII) protein which has cqrteted Phase 1 clinical development in
patients with hemophilia A. In February 2013, Baxbétiated a Phase 3 multi-center, open-labeliciihstudy called PROLONG-ATE in
previously treated adult patients with severe hdrili@pA to assess the efficacy, safety and pharikiaetics of BAX 855 for prophylaxis and
on-demand treatment of bleeding. On November 1832Baxter announced that it had completed enroitra£146 patients in the
PROLONG-ATE clinical study.
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We also have a significant collaboration with Baljealthcare LLC (Bayer), to develop BAY41-6551 (A@acin Inhale, formerly known
as NKTR-061), which is an inhaled solution of angsika an aminoglycoside antibiotic. We originallywadoped the liquid aerosol inhalation
platform and the NKTR-061 drug candidate and edter® a collaboration agreement with Bayer in Astg2007 to further advance the drug
candidate’s development and potential commerciétimaBayer is currently enrolling patients in aaBa 3 clinical study for Amikacin Inhale
that commenced in April 2013. Bayer is conductinig study under a Special Protocol Assessment psdbat was agreed to with the FDA in
2011.

We also have a number of license, manufacturingsapgly agreements with leading biotechnology dmatmaceutical companies,
including Amgen Inc., MAP Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,rtde& Co., Inc., Ophthotech Corporation, Pfizer;.IrF. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd
(Roche), Regado Biosciences, Inc., and UCB Pha#ntatal of eight products using our PEGylation teslogy have received regulatory
approval in the U.S. or E.U. There are also a nurabether products in clinical development thatdrporate our advanced PEGylation and
advanced polymer conjugate technologies.

On December 31, 2008, we completed the sale ansfémaof certain pulmonary technology rights, dertaulmonary collaboration
agreements and approximately 140 dedicated pulrggreasonnel and operations to Novartis Pharma A& rétained all of our rights to
Amikacin Inhale and our right to receive royalt@snet sales of the Cipro DPI (Cipro Dry Powderalehn, previously called Cipro Inhale)
program with Bayer Schering Pharma AG that we feansd to Novartis as part of the transaction. trgAst 2012, Bayer initiated a global
Phase 3 program called RESPIRE for the Cipro D&dpet candidate in patients with non-cystic fibsdsionchiectasis. The two placebo-
controlled trials, RESPIRE-1 and RESPIRE-2, ar@king up to 600 patients and will evaluate CiprBIas a chronic, intermittent therapy
over a period of 48 weeks.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in California in 1990 and cenporated in Delaware in 1998. We maintain ourcakee offices at 455 Mission
Bay Boulevard South, San Francisco, California 8 H5d our main telephone number is (415) 482-5@00.website is located at
www.nektar.com. The information contained in, aittban be accessed through, our website is nobharhd is not incorporated in, this
Annual Report.

Our Technology Platform

As a leader in the PEGylation field, we have adeanour technology platform to include new advanpalgmer conjugate chemistries
and polymer technologies that can be tailored @ciig and customized ways with the objective dfimjzing and significantly improving the
profile of a wide range of molecules including mangsses of drugs targeting numerous disease &E&ylation has been a highly effective
technology platform for the development of theramsuwvith significant commercial success, such agén’s Neulastd (pegdfilgrastim) and
Roche’s PEGASYS (PEG-interferon alfa-2a). Nearlyphthe PEGylated drugs approved over the lasdii years were enabled with our
PEGylation technology through our collaborationd Acensing partnerships with a number of well-kmootechnology and pharmaceutical
companies. PEGylation is a versatile technology eesult of polyethylene glycol (PEG) being a wat@uble, amphiphilic, non-toxic, non-
immunogenic compound that has been shown to seliedy from the body. Its primary use to date hanbe currently approved biologic drt
to favorably alter their pharmacokinetic or pharodmamic properties. However, in spite of its wjgtesd success in commercial drugs, ther
are some limitations with the first-generation PEEgn approaches that have been used with bidogicese techniques cannot be used
successfully to create small molecule drugs whalid potentially benefit from the application otttechnology. Other limitations of the early
applications of PEGylation technology include sytthoal bioavailability and bioactivity, and its lited ability to be used to fine-tune
properties of the drug, as well as its inabilitypused to create oral drugs.

With our expertise and proprietary technology inGytation, we have created the next generation @®&tion technology. Our
advanced polymer conjugate technology platformesighed to overcome the
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limitations of the first generation of the techngjglatform and to allow the platform to be utilizeith a broader range of molecules across
many therapeutic areas. We have also developedtrabanufacturing processes for generating seconergton PEGylation reagents that
allow us to utilize the full potential of these nevapproaches.

Both our PEGylation and advanced polymer conjutgtbnology platforms have the potential to offee @n more of the following
benefits:

» improve efficacy or safety of a drug as a resub@tter pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, lohgklife and sustained exposure
of the drug;

« improve targeting or binding affinity of a drugits target receptors with the potential to impre¥cacy and reduce toxicity or drug
resistance

» improve solubility of a drug

» enable oral administration of parenterally-admarietl drugs, or drugs that must be administeredviatrously or subcutaneously, and
increase oral bioavailability of small molecul

» prevent drugs from crossing the blood-brain baroereduce their rate of passage into the brhereby limiting undesirable central
nervous system effect

» reduce firstpass metabolism effects of certain drug classdsté potential to improve efficacy, which couldluee the need for oth
medicines and reduce toxici

» reduce the rates of drug absorption and of elironair metabolism by improving stability of the drin the body and providing it wi
more time to act on its targe

- differentially alter binding affinity of a drug fanultiple receptors, improving its selectivity fome receptor over another; &
» reduce immune response to certain macromoleculbstiag potential to prolong their effectivenesshwitpeated dose

We have a broad range of approaches that we mayhese designing our own drug candidates, some aftwére further described
below.

Small Molecule Stable Polymer Conjugates

Our customized approach for small molecule polyomjugates allows for the fine-tuning of the phgsicemical and pharmacological
properties of small molecule oral drugs to potélytiacrease their therapeutic benefit. In addititiis approach can enable oral administratior
of subcutaneously or intravenously delivered smallecule drugs that have low bioavailability wheslicered orally. The benefits of this
approach can also include: improved potency, medifiiodistribution with enhanced pharmacodynangios, reduced transport across specific
membrane barriers in the body, such as the bloaiftarrier. Two primary examples of reducing tgans across the blood-brain barrier are
naloxegol, an orally-available peripherally-actmgjoid antagonist that AstraZeneca has filed apfitios for marketing authorizations, and
NKTR-171, a novel peripherallgeting sodium channel blocker that is currentlg iBhase 1 clinical study for the treatment of npatioic pain
An additional example of the application of memlgramansport, specifically slowing transport acritgsblood-brain barrier is NKTR-181, an
orally-available mu-opioid analgesic molecule tvatplan to initiate Phase 3 clinical studies starin mid-2014, following the completion of
an end-of-Phase 2 meeting with the FDA in the figdf of 2014.

Small Molecule Pro-Drug Releasable Polymer Conjugat

The pro-drug polymer conjugation approach can leel ts optimize the pharmacokinetics and pharmacayes of a small molecule
drug to substantially increase its efficacy andriowp its side effect profile. We are currently gsthis platform with oncolytics, which
typically have sub-optimal half-lives that can
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limit their therapeutic efficacy. With our releasapolymer conjugate technology platform, we bedi¢vat these drugs can be modulated for
programmed release within the body, optimized Higig and increased sustained exposure of actiug tb tumor cells in the body. We are
using this approach with our lead oncolytic drugdidate, etirinotecan pegol, a next-generationitapoerase Il-inhibitor currently in the Phase
3 BEACON clinical study for treatment of metastdifeast cancer.

Large Molecule Polymer Conjugates (Proteins and Fdps)

Our customized approaches with large molecule petyronjugates have enabled numerous successfullRiEGpiologics on the mark
today. Based on our knowledge of the technologylaoldgics, our scientists have designed novel blydable linkers that in many cases can
be used to optimize bioactivity. Through rationalgldesign, a protein or peptide’s pharmacokinetio$ pharmacodynamics can be
substantially improved and its half-life can bengigantly extended. An example of this is BAX 8%blonger-acting (PEGylated) form of a
full-length recombinant factor VIII (rFVIII) protei which is currently being evaluated in Phaseardadl development in collaboration with
Baxter for the treatment of hemophilia A.

Antibody Fragment Polymer Conjugates

This approach uses a large molecular weight PEGugated to antibody fragments in order to potelytimhprove their toxicity profile,
extend their half-life and allow for ease of syrsisawith the antibody. The specially designed PE@aces the function of the fragment
crystallizable (Fc) domain of full length antibosglieith a branched architecture PEG with eitherlstabdegradable linkage. This approach
be used to reduce antigenicity, reduce glomeriltastfon rate, enhance uptake by inflamed tissaes, retain antigen-binding affinity and
recognition. There is currently one approved producthe market that utilizes our technology withamtibody fragment, CIMZI®
(certoluzimab pegol), which was developed by outrga UCB Pharma and is approved for the treatroe@trohn’s Disease, psoriatic arthritis
and ankylosing spondylitis in the U.S. and rheurdaaethritis in the U.S. and E.U.

Our Strategy
The key elements of our business strategy are idesidoelow:

Advance Our Proprietary Clinical Pipeline of Drug &didates that Leverage Our PEGylation and Advand@alymer Conjugate
Platform

Our objective is to create value by advancing eadldrug candidates through various stages otalidievelopment. To support this
strategy, we have significantly expanded and add@eértise to our internal preclinical, clinical @éspment and regulatory departments. A ke
component of our development strategy is to padéiptieduce the risks and time associated with dienglopment by capitalizing on the
known safety and efficacy of approved drugs as agkstablished pharmacologic targets and drugstdi to those targets. For many of our
novel drug candidates, we may seek to study thg cradidates in indications for which the parenigdrhave not been studied or approved.
We believe that the improved characteristics ofdrug candidates will provide meaningful benefipaiients compared to the existing
therapies. In addition, in certain instances weshthe opportunity to develop new treatments foigpést for which the parent drugs are not
currently approved.

Ensure Future Growth of our Proprietary Pipeline tbugh Internal Research Efforts and Advancementadir Preclinical Drug
Candidates into Clinical Trials

We believe it is important to maintain a diverspgtine of new drug candidates to continue to boridhe value of our business. Our
discovery research organization is continuing tntidfy new drug candidates by applying our techgglplatform to a wide range of molecule
classes, including small molecules and large pmetgieptides and antibodies, across multiple tleerépareas. We continue to advance our
most promising research drug candidates into prieeli development with the objective of advancingse early stage research programs to
human clinical studies over the next several years.
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Enter into Strategic and High-Value Partnerships ®ring Certain of Our Drug Candidates to Market

We decide on a drug candidate-by-drug candidatis basv far to advance clinical development (e.cagehl, 2 or 3) and whether to
commercialize products on our own, or seek a parorgpursue a combination of these approachese¥ample, in December 2010, we
decided that we would move etirinotecan pegol (&tsmvn as NKTR102) into Phase 3 clinical development in metastateast cancer prior
completing a collaboration partnership for thisgloandidate. When we determine to seek a partnestmtegy is to enter into collaborations
with leading pharmaceutical and biotechnology conggato fund further clinical development, mandgedlobal regulatory filing process, €
market and sell drugs in one or more geographies.options for future collaboration arrangementgieafrom comprehensive licensing and
commercialization arrangements to co-promotion @development agreements with the structure o€tiaboration depending on factors
such as the structure of economic risk sharingcttse and complexity of development, marketing emahmercialization needs, therapeutic .
and geographic capabilities.

Continue to Build a Leading Intellectual Property $fate in the Field of PEGylation and Polymer Conjatg Chemistry across
Therapeutic Modalities

We are committed to continuing to build on our llegtual property position in the field of PEGylati and polymer conjugate chemistry.
To that end, we have a comprehensive patent syraiitly the objective of developing a patent estateering a wide range of novel inventions
including among others, polymer materials, conjegatormulations, synthesis, therapeutic areaodstof treatment and methods of
manufacture.

Nektar Proprietary Drug Candidates in Clinical Devdopment

The following table summarizes our proprietary decagdidates that are being developed by us orliabzration with other
pharmaceutical companies or independent investigiaide table includes the type of molecule or dthg target indications for the drug
candidate, and the status of the clinical develogrmpeogram.

Drug Candidate Target Indication Status(1)

Naloxegol (orally available periphers-acting Opioid-induced constipation Filed in U.S., E.U., and Canada (Partnered
mu-opioid receptor antagonis with AstraZeneca AB

Etirinotecan pegol (next-generation Locally recurrent or metastatic breast cancerPhase 3
topoisomerase | inhibito

BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale, formerly Gram-negative pneumonias Phase 3 (Partnered with Bayer Healthcare
NKTR-061) LLC)*

NKTR-181 (orally-available mu-opioid Moderate to severe chronic pain Completed Phase 2
analgesic molecule

Etirinotecan pegc Platinun-resistant/refractory ovarian canc Completed Phase

Etirinotecan pegc Non-small cell lung cance ISS Phase

Etirinotecan pegc Bevacizuma-resistant hig-grade gliome ISS Phase

Etirinotecan pegc Small cell lung cance ISS Phase

Etirinotecan pegol Second-line metastatic colorectal cancer in Phase 2

patients with the KRAS gene mutati
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Drug Candidate

Target Indication

Status(1)

Etirinotecan pegol (in combination with 5-
Fluorouracil/leucovorin

NKTR-171 (orally-available peripherally-
acting sodium channel blocke

Naloxegol fixe-dose combinations
(opioid/NKTR-118 combinations

NKTR-192 (mt-opioid analgesic moleculi

NKTR-214 (cytokine immunostimulatory
therapy)

(1) Status definitions are

Gastrointestinal-related solid tumors
Neuropathic pail
Chronic pain without constipation

Migraine and acute cancer pi

Oncology

Completed Phase 1
Phase 1

Research/Preclinical (Partnered with
AstraZeneca AB

Research/Preclinici

Research/Preclinical

Filed — an application for approval and marketing hasféed with the applicable government health autiyo
Phase 3 or Pivotal— product in large-scale clinical trials conductedbtain regulatory approval to market and saldhug (these trials
are typically initiated following encouraging Phdstrial results).

Phase 2— a drug candidate in clinical trials to establiklsing and efficacy in patients.
Phase 1 —a drug candidate in clinical trials, typically ipddthy subjects, to test safety.

Research/Preclinical a drug candidate is being studied in researclvdoy of in vitro studies and/or animal studies
ISS— Investigator sponsored study for which the Comgamyroviding support.
* This drug candidate uses, in part, a liquid aertesdinology platform that was transferred to Ndsasy us in the pulmonary asset sale
transaction that was completed on December 31,.2008art of that transaction, we retained an estetulicense to this technology for

the development and commercialization of this dragdidate originally developed by 1
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Approved Drugs and Drug Candidates Enabled By Our Echnology through Licensing Collaborations

The following table outlines our collaborations lwi# number of pharmaceutical companies that licenséntellectual property and, in
some cases, purchase our proprietary PEGylatioariakst for their drug products. A total of eighbgucts using our PEGylation technology
have received regulatory approval in the U.S. aope. There are also a number of other candidatashave been filed for approval or are in
various stages of clinical development. These bolations generally contain one or more elememisidiing a license to our intellectual
property rights and manufacturing and supply agergmunder which we may receive manufacturing reeemilestone payments, and/or
royalties on commercial sales of drug products.

Primary or Target Drug
Drug Indications Marketer/Partner Status(1)
Neulaste® (pedfilgrastim) Neutropenie Amgen Inc. Approved
PEGASYS® (peginterferon ali-2a) Hepatitis-C F. Hoffmanr-La Roche Ltc Approved
Somaver® (pegvisomant Acromegaly Pfizer Inc. Approved
PEG-INTRON® (peginterferon alfa-Hepatitis-C Merck (through its acquisition of Approved
2b) Scherin-Plough Corporation
Macuger® (pegaptanib sodium Age-related macular degeneratiolaleant Pharmaceuticals Approved
injection) International, Inc
CIMZIA @ (certolizumab pegol Rheumatoid arthriti UCB Pharme Approved*
CIMZIA @ (certolizumab pegol Crohr's diseas: UCB Pharme Approved*
CIMZIA @(certoluzimab pegol Psoriasis/Ankylosing Spondylit UCB Pharme Approved*
MIRCERA® (C.E.R.A.) (Continuou Anemia associated with chronic F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd Approved**
Erythropoietin Receptor kidney disease in patients on
Activator) dialysis and patients not on
dialysis
OMONTYS® (peginesatide) Anemia associated with chronic Affymax, Inc. Approved (currently withdrawn
kidney disease (CKD) in adult from market)
patients on dialysi
LEVADEX @ Migraine Allergan, Inc. Filed for approval in U.S
BAX 855 (PEGylated rFVIII Hemophilia A Baxter Healthcar Phase !
FOVISTA™ Neovascular a¢-related macular Ophthotech Corporation Phase 3
degeneratiol

Cipro Dry Powder Inhaler (Cipro  Cystic fibrosis lung infections ~ Bayer Schering Pharma AG Phase 3***
DPI)

REGL1 Anticoagulation Syste Acute coronary syndrormr Regado Biosciences, In Phase !

Longer-acting blood clotting proteir Hemophilia Baxter Healthcar Research/Preclinici
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(1) Status definitions are

Approved— regulatory approval to market and sell produdaited in one or more of the U.S., E.U. or othamtdes.

Filed — an application for approval and marketing hasféed with the applicable government health auitiyo

Phase 3 or Pivotal— product in large-scale clinical trials conductedbtain regulatory approval to market and saldhug (these trials
are typically initiated following encouraging Phdstrial results).

Research/Preclinical —-a drug candidate is being studied in research lyyofan vitro studies and/or animal studies

* In February 2012, we sold our rights to receiveattigs on future worldwide net sales of CIMZ® effective as of January 1, 20!

**  Amgen Inc. prevailed in a patent lawsuit agaiRsHoffmann-La Roche Ltd (Roche) and as a redthie legal ruling Roche is currently
prevented from marketing MIRCER®A in the U.S. udtily 2014. In February 2012, we sold our righteetteive royalties on future
worldwide net sales of MIRCER® effective as of January 1, 2012 until the agreemadttt Roche is terminated or expir

*** This drug candidate was developed using ourppietary pulmonary delivery technology that wasisferred by us to Novartis in an asset
sale transaction that closed on December 31, 20808art of the transaction, Novartis assumed altsi and obligations for Cipro DPI
(formerly known as Cipro Inhale) under our agreetnevith Bayer Schering Pharma AG; however, we nadteid the rights to receive
royalties on commercial sales of Cipro DPI if thaglcandidate is approve

With respect to all of our collaboration and licerzggreements with third parties, please referetm I1A, Risk Factors, including without
limitation, “We are a party to numerous collabavatagreements and other significant agreementshwdaintain complex commercial terms
that could result in disputes, litigation or inddfization liability that could adversely affect obusiness, results of operations and financial
condition.”

Overview of Selected Nektar Proprietary Drug Develpment Programs and Significant Partnered Drug Devaelpment Programs

Naloxegol and Naloxegol Fixed-Dose Combination Praxris (formerly NKTR-118 and NKTR-19), License Agreement with AstraZene
AB

In September 2009, we entered into a global licaggeement with AstraZeneca AB (AstraZeneca) puntsicawhich we granted
AstraZeneca a worldwide, exclusive, perpetual, ltgyleearing license under our patents and othetlettual property to develop, market and
sell naloxegol and naloxegol fixed-dose combinapiosducts. Naloxegol is an orally-available perigatiig-acting mu-opioid antagonist being
investigated for the treatment of opioid-inducedstgpation (OIC) which is a common side effect tdgqeription opioid medications. Opioids
attach to specific proteins called opioid receptdvben the opioids attach to certain opioid recepito the gastrointestinal tract, constipation
may occur. OIC is a result of decreased fluid gsom and lower gastrointestinal motility due tdad receptor binding in the gastrointestinal
tract. Globally, approximately 40-50% (28-35 mitljaof patients taking opioids for long-term pairvei®p constipation. It is estimated that
approximately 40-50% (11-18 million) of those Ol@fsrers achieve the desired treatment outcomdsauitrent options that include over-the-
counter and prescription laxatives.

AstraZeneca has completed a Phase 3 clinical dewent program for naloxegol, which AstraZenecasddlé KODIAC studies. The
KODIAC studies (KODIAC-04, KODIAC-05, KODIAC-07 andODIAC-08) evaluated the efficacy and safety of naloxdgotreating OIC ir
patients with non-cancer pain. KODIAC-04 and KODIAE were replicate, multicenter- randomized, dodiied, placebo-controlled pivotal
trials of 12 weeks duration that evaluated 12.5amg 25 mg naloxegol administered once-daily. Tlhmgmy endpoint in both trials was
percentage of OIC responders versus placebo ovee#Rs of treatment. The studies enrolled approvain®30 patients each. KODIAC-07
was a three-month safety extension of KODIAC-04.tidee studies were conducted in patients with-camcer pain and documented OIC,
who required daily opioid therapy.
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On November 12, 2012, AstraZeneca reported topeffieacy and safety results from KODIAC-04, -05a07. For both KODIAC-04
and -05, the 25 mg dose of naloxegol demonstragdtically significant results for the primarydgoint. In KODIAC-04, the 12.5 mg dose
naloxegol demonstrated statistically significarsiuilés for the primary endpoint and in KODIAC-05 th25 mg dose did not meet statistical
significance for the primary endpoint. The safatalgses also showed no clinically relevant imbadsnia serious adverse events (SAES),
including externally adjudicated major cardiovasc@vents, across the three treatment arms in K@EA, -05 and -07. The most common
adverse events (AEs) in the naloxegol treatmensanrboth trials were abdominal pain, diarrhea aadsea. In KODIAC-07, the safety
extension of KODIAC-04, the occurrence of AEs a®ES was lower than in KODIAC-04 and -05. All ottmmmmon AEs were distributed
similarly across the three treatment arms. In KODI®4 and -05 for either naloxegol dose, compargaaoebo, there were no significant
differences in change from baseline in mean daiip gcores or mean total daily opioid dose.

KODIAC-08 was an open-label, randomized, 52-weekgiterm safety trial of naloxegol versus usuaéd&iC) in patients with non-
cancer related pain and OIC. This trial was deslgneevaluate the long-term safety and adversetgwrefile of naloxegol in patients taking 25
mg of naloxegol once daily, as compared to UCh#nttial, a total of 534 patients received naloxemgee daily for up to 52 weeks, while 270
patients received UC for OIC during the same treatnperiod. UC was defined as the investigator@ahof an existing laxative treatment
regimen for OIC. On February 26, 2013, AstraZermuaounced positive top-line results from KODIAB: The trial reported no imbalances
SAEs. In addition, there were a low number of majgwverse cardiovascular events, as adjudicated lryd@pendent external committee, and
there was no imbalance of these events acrossagdband UC arms. There were no increases frormibadevels in mean daily pain scores
mean total daily opioid dose in either the naloxegahe UC arm. Additionally, there were no regaof opioid withdrawal AEs which could
attributed to naloxegol. The most commonly repo/A&ss occurring more frequently on naloxegol tharlighincluded abdominal pain,
diarrhea, nausea and headache.

AstraZeneca submitted an NDA filing in the U.S.September 25, 2013 and a Marketing Authorizatiopligation (MAA) filing in the
E.U. in August 2013. The PDUFA date for the nalatdgDA in the US is September 16, 2014. The FDAugently planning to hold an
advisory committee meeting to discuss the cardimas safety and potential additional safety steetyuirements for the peripheral mu-opioid
receptor antagonist class of drugs, including redak The advisory committee meeting, which hachberéginally scheduled for March 10-11,
2014, is being rescheduled due to scheduling atsfINaloxegol is currently considered a Schedutentrolled substance by the U.S. Drug
Enforcement Administration (DEA) based on strudtuetatedness to noroxymorphone. AstraZeneca hadumed the studies necessary to
evaluate the abuse potential and dependence-pragpoiperties of naloxegol in support of obtaingétegontrol. A petition for the decontrol of
naloxegol was submitted to the DEA in March 201@ anbsequently accepted for review. Commerciabnagind launch in the U.S. will be
subject to both FDA approval and DEA schedule deigaition. Please refer to Iltem 1A, Risk Factorsluding without limitation, If we or oul
partners do not obtain regulatory approval for dug candidates on a timely basis, or at all, ¢néfterms of any approval impose significant
restrictions or limitations on use, our businessults of operations and financial condition wél iegatively affected.”

Under the terms of our license agreement, AstraZaengade an initial license payment to us of $12%llon and AstraZeneca has
responsibility for all activities and bears all toassociated with research, development and cooatieation for naloxegol and naloxegol
fixed-dose combination products. For naloxegol hage received $70.0 million and $25.0 million upbe acceptance for review of naloxegol
regulatory approval applications filed by AstraZemevith the FDA and European Medicines Agency (EMA$pectively, in 2013 and are also
entitled to up to an additional $175.0 million upzeTtain regulatory approval and commercial laumdlestones, and $375.0 million in sales
milestones if the product achieves certain annomroercial sales levels.

12



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

If the FDA does not require a future clinical traal other significant studies to assess the casdiowar safety (CV Safety Study) of
naloxegol prior to an approval decision, AstraZenisarequired to pay us a $35.0 million milestdhéhe FDA does require a CV Safety Stu
AstraZeneca may terminate the license agreemehtusitn its entirety or only with respect to itghis in the United States. If AstraZeneca
elects to terminate the license agreement in tiseéy due to a CV Safety Study, we would be reegito repay them the $70.0 million paym
noted above plus accrued interest at 4.5% compaluadieually in four installments in accordance wfitd following payment schedule: $10.0
million plus accrued interest on January 15, 2&1%9.0 million plus accrued interest on January208,6, $20.0 million plus accrued interest
January 15, 2017 and $30.0 million plus accruegf@st on January 15, 2018. If AstraZeneca eledestoinate the license agreement only \
respect to its rights in the U.S., then such regaytramount would be funded through a 50% redudfaron-U.S. royalty amounts otherwise
payable to us until theggregate amount of such royalty reduction eqis@gdtal principal amount of $70.0 million plus aswlated interest :
4.5% compounded annually. If the FDA requires a-approval cardiovascular safety study as a caliid approval of the naloxegol NDA,
then the royalty rate payable to us from net salemloxegol in the U.S. by AstraZeneca would lhuced by two percentage points until the
aggregate accumulated amount of such royalty payreenction is equal to a maximum of $35.0 million.

The remaining $140.0 million of milestone paymearts due upon the commercial launches of naloxegibld U.S. and in the E.U. For
the naloxegol fixed-dose combination products, veeadso eligible to receive significant developmeilestones as well as significant sales
milestone payments if the program achieves ceannual commercial sales levels. For both naloxagdlithe fixed-dose combination
products, we are also entitled to significant deutigit royalty payments, varying by country ofesahd level of annual net sales. Our right to
receive royalties (subject to certain adjustmeintgny particular country will expire upon the laté (a) a specified period of time after the 1
commercial sale of the product in that countrytrthie expiration of patent rights in that partarutountry. AstraZeneca has agreed to use
commercially reasonable efforts to develop onexetjol! fixed-dose combination product and has thktiio develop multiple products which
combine naloxegol with other opioids.

Etirinotecan pegol (NKTR-102, next generation, lofagting topoisomerase | inhibitor)

We are developing etirinotecan pegol (also knowNK$R-102), a next generation topoisomerase | (topohipitor which was designe
using our PEGylation technology. Etirinotecan paga novel macromolecular chemotherapeutic dedigmenhance the anti-cancer effects o
topo | inhibition while minimizing its toxicitiedJnlike irinotecan, which is a first generation tdgahibitor that exhibits a high initial peak
concentration and short half-life, etirinotecan g&gpro-drug design results in a lower initial gencentration of active topo | inhibitor in the
blood. The large etirinotecan pegol molecule igiive when administered. Over time, the body’s retanzymatic processes slowly
metabolize the linkers within the molecule, continsly freeing active drug that then can work tggtanor cell division through topo |
inhibition. In preclinical models, etirinotecan mégchieved a 300-fold increase in tumor conceiatnais compared to irinotecan. Because
etirinotecan pegol is a large molecule, based enlimical studies we believe that it may penetthgeleaky vasculature within the tumor
environment more readily than normal vasculatuoacentrating and trapping etirinotecan pegol indutissue. Clinical studies have shown
that etirinotecan pegol has an extended pharmaeti&iprofile and remains in circulation throughtha entire chemotherapy cycle, providing
sustained exposure to topo | inhibition.

Etirinotecan pegol is currently being evaluated amngle-agent therapy (145 mg/m2 every 21 daya)Rhase 3 open-label, randomized,
multicenter clinical study in patients with metdtdreast cancer. This Phase 3 clinical studyctvinie call the BEACON study (BrEAst
Cancer Outcomes with NKTR-102), was initiated ircBrmber 2011. The BEACON study enrolled approxinya®8l0 patients with metastatic
breast cancer who have had prior treatment withraoycline, taxane and capecitabine in either thigvant or metastatic setting. We
completed enrollment in the BEACON study in latey 2013. This study randomized patients on a 1sisi® receive single-agent etirinotecar
pegol or a single agent chosen from a definedfgglysician’s choice
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alternatives. The physician’s choice single agentside the following: ixabepilone, vinorelbine,rgeitabine, eribulin, or a taxane.
Randomization was stratified by geographic regpriar treatment with eribulin and whether or na fhatient has triple negative breast
cancer. The primary endpoint of the BEACON studgnierall survival, and secondary endpoints inclpdigressiorfree survival and objectiy
tumor response rate. Secondary endpoints and dlgiectlso include clinical benefit rate, duratidiresponse, pharmacokinetic data, safety
profiles, quality-of-life measurements, and pharosmonomic implications. Exploratory objectives o study include collecting specific
biomarker data to correlate with objective tuma@pense rate, progression-free survival, overailisal and selected toxicities. In November
2012, the FDA designated etirinotecan pegol assa Hack development program for the treatmentadiegpts with locally recurrent or
metastatic breast cancer progressing after tredtwiinan anthracycline, a taxane, and capecitaldmeJanuary 14, 2014, we announced that
the Independent Data Monitoring Committee, or thé@) created to provide safety oversight for the BEEM study recommended
continuation of the Phase 3 BEACON study followarginterim data analysis which was performed aftaching 50% of the events needed tc
achieve the primary endpoint of overall survival.

According to the American Cancer Society and Wéttalth Organization, more than 1.4 million womerrldwide are diagnosed with
breast cancer globally every year. The chance &ldping invasive breast cancer at some time im@man’s life is a little less than one in ei
(12%). In 2014, the American Cancer Society estséttere will be 235,030 new cases of breast cam¢le United States. Metastatic breast
cancer refers to cancer that has spread from tasbto distant sites in the body. Anthracyclines @xanes are the among the most active an
widely used chemotherapeutic agents for breastecahat the increased use of these agents at Bnsé@ge of disease often renders tumors
resistant to these drugs by the time the diseasggethereby reducing the number of treatmenbaptfor metastatic disease. There are
currently no FDA-approved topoisomerase | inhilsttar treat breast cancer.

Etirinotecan pegol has also completed a Phasezalistudy in approximately 170 patients with platm-resistant/refractory ovarian
cancer. The Phase 2 clinical study included twespbaThe first phase was an opaipel, randomized, study evaluating two treatmehedule:
of single-agent etirinotecan pegol (145 mg/m2 everylays or every 21 days). Each schedule origifiallowed a twostage Simon design a
a total of 71 patients were initially included hetstudy that was completed in the first half cf@0The second phase was an expansion of
patients in the every 21 day dosing schedule in @owmith platinum-resistant/refractory ovarian cangbo had previously received Doxil
therapy. In September 2013, the FDA advised usaffitase 3 clinical study would be required in otdesupport an NDA filing for
etirinotecan pegol in ovarian cancer; however thé Rlso indicated that a positive interim overalkvival analysis in a Phase 3 clinical study
could potentially support an accelerated NDA filimgpr to completing a Phase 3 clinical study. ikecBmber 2013, we also received scientific
advice and protocol assistance from the EMA indligathat a Phase 3 clinical study would be requicesupport a marketing application for
etirinotecan pegol in ovarian cancer. The EMA ahsbicated that a positive interim over-all surviealalysis in a Phase 3 clinical study could
potentially support a conditional approval of etiriecan pegol for ovarian cancer. We do not pland&e a decision on future development fol
etirinotecan pegol in ovarian cancer until we rewvtae top-line data from the BEACON study.

Ovarian cancer is a significant health problemwomen worldwide. According to the American CanceciSty, in 2014, there will be an
estimated 21,980 new cases of ovarian cancer dsagiand an estimated 14,270 deaths from ovariasecanthe United States. Ovarian
cancer is the ninth most common cancer among woex@hjding non-melanoma skin cancers. It rankh fiitcancer deaths among women,
accounting for more deaths than any other cancéreofemale reproductive system. Historically, lgem 40% of women with ovarian cancer
are cured. According to the World Health Organaatiabout 230,000 women globally are diagnosed geahwith ovarian cancer.

An etirinotecan pegol Phase 2 clinical study wétsaited in June 2008 to evaluate the efficacy afdty of etirinotecan pegol
monotherapy versus irinotecan in second-line matiastolorectal cancer patients with the KRAS mutgene. The Phase 2 clinical study was
designed to enroll 174 patients with metastatioutal
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cancer. In February 2014, we decided to close lemeolt in this study after 80 patients were randemhidue to challenges in recruiting new
patients because the comparator arm of this stidgle-agent irinotecan, is not the common standéoare for second line metastatic
colorectal therapy in the U.S. or E.U. Based otipieary data we have collected to date from thiglg, etirinotecan pegol resulted in
numerically improved overall survival, progressioee survival, objective response rate, and dunatforesponse compared to that observed i
the irinotecan comparator arm. However, due tdainenumber of patients enrolled in this study, veendt expect the results from this study tc
be statistically significant. Further, there arerently patients continuing in the study eitherdvng or in follow-up. Therefore, the data may
change based on future additional data as weleéea8oation and audit procedures that will be parfed on the final completed study data.
Following the conclusion of the study and completid data verification and audit procedures, weentty plan to publish the results from t
study at a scientific meeting.

We also conducted a Phase 1 dose-escalation tlgtizdy which enrolled 26 patients to evaluatdrattecan pegol in combination with
5-Fluorouracil (5-FU)/leucovorin in refractory ssbliumor cancers. The chemotherapy agent 5-FU igmtly used as a part of a combination
treatment regimen for colorectal cancer in comliomadvith irinotecan, which is also known as the FRIRI regimen. On January 18, 2014, we
presented data from this study at the 2014 Gaséstinal Cancers Symposium in San Francisco, GaldoResults from this Phase 1 clinical
study include establishing a dose of 75 mg/m2 iofhetecan pegol in combination with a standardedo&5-FU/leucovorin and demonstrating
clinical activity of etirinotecan pegol in combinat with a standard dose of 5-FU/leucovorin clihiaetivity.

Colorectal cancer is the third most commonly diagribcancer and the third leading cause of canegh dethe U.S. According to the
American Cancer Society, nearly 137,000 new cakeslon and rectal cancer will be diagnosed inth®. in 2014, and about 51,000 people
will die annually of the disease. Worldwide, ove2 million people are diagnosed annually with cettal cancer and, according to the World
Health Organization, there are 690,000 deaths digrfuam colorectal cancers. Most metastatic cotbaécancer patients have recurrence
within two years and require retreatment with chéramapy regimens.

In addition to the clinical studies being condudbgdus, there are also three investigator-initi®bdse 2 studies being conducted for
etirinotecan pegol. On August 7, 2012, we annourcBtase 2 investigator-initiated clinical studyetfinotecan pegol in patients with
bevacizumab (Avastin)-resistant high-grade glioraimdy conducted at the Stanford Cancer Institutdldy 2013, the study completed
enrollment of 20 patients with high-grade gliomaowtad received a median of three prior lines ofahg before enrolling in the study. On
February 5, 2013, we announced a Phase 2 investigéiated clinical study of etirinotecan pegolpatients with metastatic and recurrent
non-small cell lung cancer being conducted at theafason Cancer Center of the University of Penmsyb. On October 24, 2013, we
announced a Phase 2 investigator-initiated clirstady of etirinotecan pegol in patients with relkeg or refractory small-cell lung cancer at the
Roswell Park Cancer Institute.

BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale, formerly NKTR-061), Agement with Bayer Healthcare LLC

In August 2007, we entered into a co-developmédnke and co-promotion agreement with Bayer HeatthLLC (Bayer) to develop a
specially-formulated Amikacin (BAY41-6551, Amikacinhale, formerly called NKTR-061) for the treatm@figram negative pneumonias.
Under the terms of the agreement, Bayer is resplenfsir most future clinical development and comeradization costs, all activities to supp
worldwide regulatory filings, approvals and relatedivities, further development of formulated Amdin and final product packaging for
Amikacin Inhale. We are responsible for all futdexelopment, manufacturing and supply of the nebulilevice for clinical and commercial
use. We have engaged third party contract manutastto perform our device manufacturing obligagidor this program. We are entitled tc
to $50.0 million in development milestone paymexgsvell as sales milestone payments upon achiewasheartain annual sales targets. We
are also entitled to royalties based on annualdwode net sales of Amikacin Inhale. Our right togive these royalties in any particular
country will expire upon the later of ten yeareathe first commercial sale of the
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product in that country or the expiration of cartpatent rights in that particular country, subjectertain exceptions. We share a portion of
these royalties with the Research Foundation oSthée University of New York under a license agreet. The agreement expires in relation
to a particular country upon the expiration ofraljalty and payment obligations between the parééged to such country. Subject to
termination fee payment obligations in certain winstances, Bayer also has the right to terminat@gneement for convenience. In addition,
the agreement may also be terminated by eithey f@rtertain product safety concerns, the produiailure to meet certain minimum
commercial profile requirements or uncured matdaiabches by the other party.

Gram-negative pneumonias are often the result miplications of other patient conditions or surggri@ram-negative pneumonias carry
a mortality risk that can exceed 50% in mechanjeadintilated patients and accounts for a substgmtigoortion of the pneumonias in intensive
care units today. Amikacin Inhale is designed t@abeadjunctive therapy to the current antibiotieréipies administered intravenously as
standard of care. The aerosol generator withim#imilizer for Amikacin Inhale delivers a fine aariosf the antimicrobial agent directly to the
site of infection in the lungs. This drug candides®m be integrated with conventional mechanicatilstars or used as a hand-held ‘off-vent’
device for patients no longer requiring breathiegistance.

In April 2013, Bayer initiated enroliment in a gidliPhase 3 clinical study, which it calls INHALB, évaluate the efficacy and safety of
Amikacin Inhale versus aerosolized placebo in thatment of intubated and mechanically ventilatgtiepts with Gram-negative pneumonia
receiving standard of care intravenous antibiofite global INHALE development program is comprigédwo prospective, randomized,
double-blind, placebo-controlled, large multi-cergbal programs involving centers in North AmesiGouth America, Europe, Japan,
Australia and Asia. The INHALE development progranbeing conducted by Bayer under a Special Pro#ssessment agreement with the
FDA that is intended to support the submissionroN®A if the INHALE clinical studies are successful

NKTR-181 (mu-opioid analgesic molecule for chronpain)

NKTR-181 is an orally-available mu-opioid drug cadate in development as a long-acting analgesicettt chronic pain. NKTR-181 is
designed with the objective to address the ababdity and serious central nervous system (CN& siffects associated with current opioid
therapies. NKTR-181 is a novel mu-opioid analgesatecule created using Nektaiproprietary polymer conjugate technology, whiobvjres
it with a long-acting profile and slows its entntd the CNS. Its potential differentiating propestiare inherent to the design of the new
molecule and as a new molecular structure. NKTRsl8tuse deterrent property does not rely on aditation approach to prevent its
conversion into a more abusable form of an opimidday 2012, the FDA granted Fast Track designatiorihe NKTR-181 development
program.

In 2011, we completed two separate Phase 1 clistodies of NKTR-181. The first study, a singleaastting dose study of NKTR-181
evaluated the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynarh&$0-fold range of single oral doses of NKTREL8 84 healthy subjects at up to 500
mg dose levels. The second study, a multiple-asegritbse study of NKTR-181 evaluated the pharmamiids and pharmacodynamics of
four separate dose cohorts of NKTR-181 (100 mgG-m@) administered orally twice- daily. The studyadled a total of 60 healthy subjects
over an eight-day treatment period, and includptheebo arm (n=3) for each dose cohort. Measurenenhe study included plasma
concentrations-time profiles, reductions in pupgndeter, and a cold pressor test, a model of peéd in healthy subjects to measure central
analgesic activity. In this multiple dose Phasdidiaal study, NKTR-181 exhibited a sustained aealg response. Pupillometry data from the
study demonstrated that NKTR-181's centrally-mextiadpioid effects are dose-dependent and indithétthe molecule enters the brain
slowly, which has the potential to reduce the eujghand other CNS side effects that are associaiddcurrent opioids. NKTR-181 was also
well-tolerated at all doses evaluated in both gtsidi

In June 2012, we initiated a Phase 2 clinical stodgvaluate the efficacy, safety and tolerabitfNKTR-181 in patients with moderate
to severe chronic pain from osteoarthritis of the& The Phase 2 clinical study utilized a doulitedbplacebo-controlled, randomized
withdrawal, enriched enrollment study design. Tiuely
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enrolled 213 opioid-naive patients with osteoatithof the knee who were not getting adequate paief from their current non-opioid pain
medication. Patients who qualified during the biasegberiod entered a titration phase, during withely were titrated on NKTR-181 tablets
administered orally twice-daily until a dose waaaleed that provided a reduction of at least 20%eérpatient’s pain score as compared to the
patient’s own baseline. Patients that achievediévisl of analgesia were then randomized on a aslstio either continue to receive their
analgesic dose of NKTR-181 or to receive placebajfoto 25 days. The primary endpoint of the stwdg the average change in a patient’s
pain score from baseline to the end of the doubitetbrandomized treatment period. Secondary emdpaif the study included quality-of-life
assessment, sleep and motor activity scoring, dsas/éolerability endpoints.

On September 26, 2013, we announced results frinPtiase 2 efficacy study. Of the 295 patientseéhggred the study, only 9
(3%) patients were unable to achieve meaningfui palief with NKTR-181. During the titration phads3 patients (18%) discontinued
treatment because of adverse events, most of velneethose commonly associated with opioids. A tot@13 patients achieved an average
40% reduction in pain and entered the randomizedelof the study. Following the titration periodtients were randomized 1:1 to either
continue to receive their analgesic dose of NKTR-@Bto receive placebo for 21 days. NKTR-181 penfed as expected as an opioid
analgesic throughout the study with patients caiirtig to show a reduction in pain scores throughioeirandomized phase of the study.
However, patients who were randomized to placedadt show the expected increase in pain scoresdxs in similar enriched enroliment,
randomized withdrawal studies. This unusual lack pfacebo rebound caused the Phase 2 study tahmigsimary endpoint in the study,
which was based upon the average change in a pafpain score from pre-randomization baselinentoend of the double-blind, randomized
treatment period of the study. In December 2013meewith the FDA to discuss the results of thedehaclinical study and certain
preliminary considerations for the Phase 3 studygiie We are currently evaluating the appropridtade 3 clinical trial design for NKTR-181
and plan to start a Phase 3 clinical study in nfld4? following the completion of an end-of-Phasaéeting with the FDA planned to occur in
the first half of 2014.

In the first half of 2013, we conducted a humansahiability study, or HAL study, for NKTR-181. TH#AL study was a randomized,
double-blind, placebo- and active-controlled, 5-wayssover trial, that compared the effects ofdltteses of NKTRE81 oral solution (100 m
200 mg, and 400 mg), to the effects of 40 mg ofcoxipne oral solution and placebo. Study particparre 42 healthy adults who were not
currently physically opioid-dependent but had uspiids to attain nomredical effects on at least 10 occasions during#st year and at le¢
once in the 12 weeks before the study. The studycgmants sequentially received the five treatrseatiministered in a randomized, double-
blinded fashion, with each treatment separated\wgshout period. The study also utilized a WilliaBtpiare cross-over design, which uses a
series of randomized sequences for each indiviglugiect. The HAL study compared drug liking betweanh treatment group (oxycodone 40
mg, placebo, and NKTR-181 100 mg, 200 mg, and 480 @n the bipolar VAS scale (0-100), a score ofrislicates that the subject “neither
likes nor dislikes” the drug. In the study, 40 nfgrycodone oral solution resulted in a maximum megug liking score of 85, indicating a
“strong liking” for the effects of oxycodone. Theyzodone liking score was significantly differenbrin placebo as early as 15 minutes after
dosing and peaked at 60 minutes. In the placebptaemaximum mean drug liking score was 50, irtifigathat the subjects neither liked nor
disliked the effects. In this study, NKTR-181 wased similar to placebo in “drug liking” and “femdj high” scores and had highly statistically
significant lower “drug liking” scores and reducteeling high” scores as compared to oxycodondlatases tested (p < 0.0001). On June 19
2013, we presented data from the HAL study at 8822nnual Meeting of The College on Problems afidpbependence in San Diego,
California.

According to a 2011 report from the National AcagleshSciences, chronic pain conditions, such asaasthritis, back pain and cancer
pain, affect at least 100 million adults in the UaBnually and contribute to over $300 billion @& lost productivity. Opioids are considered
to be the most effective therapeutic option fonpaiowever, opioids cause significant problemsploysicians and patients because of their
serious side effects such as respiratory depressidrsedation, as well as the risks they poseddiction, abuse, misuse,
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and diversion. The FDA has cited prescription apamalgesics as being at the center of a majoighbélth crisis of addiction, misuse, abuse
overdose and death. A 2010 report from the Centebisease Control and Prevention notes that emeyg®om visits tied to the abuse of
prescription painkillers was at an all-time hightat point, having increased 111 percent oveptheeding five-year period.

NKTR-171 (neuropathic pain)

NKTR-171 is a novel, orally-available sodium chdrlecker and is being developed as a treatmemdaropathic pain. NKTR-171 is a
new molecular entity that is designed to treat apathic pain by blocking hyperactive neuronal sodzhannels associated with damaged
nerves in the peripheral nervous system. Chronicapathic pain arises from nerves injured or darddnesystemic disease, infection, toxins,
or physical trauma that are in a continuous sthtg/per-excitability, often due to aberrant sodiahannel firing. This hyper-excitability results
in transmission of abnormal pain signals from teaghery to the central nervous system (CNS). ibgdtherapies that block sodium channels
have been shown to provide effective pain relig¢fdre typically associated with significant unwah@NS side effects, including dizziness,
ataxia and somnolence. NKTR-171 is designed to ferigherally-restricted molecule which selectivelgcks hyper-excitable sodium
channels without causing the CNS side effectslimétt usage of existing therapies. In January 2@ldingle-ascending dose Phase 1 clinical
study of NKTR-171 was initiated to assess its pleokinetics, tolerability, and safety in up to &atihy subjects.

NKTR-192 (mu-opioid analgesic molecule for acuteipg

NKTR-192 is a mu-opioid analgesic molecule in préchl development that is intended to be a shotitig analgesic to treat acute pain.
NKTR-192 is also designed to address the abuse liahitil serious CNS side effects associated witteatiopioid therapies. NKTR-192 is
also designed to have slow entry into the CNSdifferentiating properties are inherent to the gesif the new molecule and as a new
molecular structure, NKTR-192 does not rely onraalation approach to prevent its conversion intoae abusable form of an opioid.
NKTR-192 entered Phase 1 clinical development in 20il2anuary 2014, we announced data from the meltiptending dose study for an
oral formulation of NKTR-192. NKTR-192 demonstrateds CNS side effects and achieved the target fjerédr the treatment of acute pain.
However, at the highest doses tested in the sthdye were several subjects who had elevateddineymes. As a result of these data, NKTR-
192 will no longer be developed as an oral formaiatWe are currently exploring an injectable fotation of NKTR-192 in preclinical
development for the treatment of migraine and capa#.

NKTR-214 (cytokine immunostimulatory therapy)

NKTR-214 is an engineered immunostimulatory cytekamd is being developed for the treatment of dalidors. NKTR-214 is
engineered to selectively activate IL-2 receptargygtotoxic T cells that kill tumor cells, with eglvely low affinity for IL-2 receptors on
regulatory T cells that dampen the immune resptms@mors. This receptor selectivity is intendednitrease efficacy and improve safety ovel
existing immunostimulatory cytokine drugs. The prodcandidate is currently in Investigational New® application (IND)-enabling studies
in preparation for clinical studies in cancer paitée

Overview of Select Technology Licensing Collaboratins and Programs

We have a number of product candidates in clirdegklopment and approved products in collaboratiibim our partners that use our
technology or involve rights over which we havegpa$ or other proprietary intellectual propertyaltypical collaboration involving our
PEGylation technology, we license our proprietatgliectual property related to our PEGylation temlbgy or proprietary conjugated drug
molecules in exchange for upfront payments, devetog milestone payments and royalties from saléseofesulting commercial product as
well as sales milestones. In certain cases, wenadgsufacture and supply our proprietary PEGylatiaerials to our partners.
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LEVADEX ®, Agreement with MAP Pharmaceuticals, In¢a wholly-owned subsidiary of Allergan, Inc.)

In June 2004, we entered into a license agreemiémhAP Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (MAP), which includesvorldwide, exclusive licens
to certain of our patents and other intellectuapgrty rights to develop and commercialize a foatiah of dihydroergotamine (DHE) for
administration to patients via the pulmonary orahaelivery route, which resulted in the developt&iEVADEX ®. In 2006, we amended
and restated this agreement. Under the terms afgteement, we have the right to receive certalesttine payments based on development
criteria that are solely the responsibility of MARd royalties based on net sales of LEVADEX . LEMBD®is a self-administered
formulation of DHE using an inhaler device. Ourtigo receive royalties in any particular countil @expire upon the later of (i) 10 years al
first commercial sale in that country, (ii) the éaipon which the licensed know-how becomes knowhdaeneral public, and (iii) expiration
of certain patent claims, each on a country-by-tgupasis. Either party may terminate the agreemapoh a material, uncured default of the
other party. On May 26, 2011, MAP submitted an NidAhe FDA for LEVADEX® . In March of 2012, the FDi&sued a complete response
letter identifying issues relating to chemistry,magacturing and controls deficiencies at a thirdypaanufacturer that needed to be resolved t
the FDA's satisfaction as well as citing the neadadditional time to complete review of inhaleahiity information. In December 2012,
MAP announced that its NDA resubmission for LEVADEMas accepted for filing by the FDA. On March 1, 20Allergan, Inc. completed
merger and acquisition transaction with MAP pursaarwhich MAP become a wholly-owned subsidiaryAlergan. On April 17, 2013, the
FDA issued another complete response letter idemgifissues related to a supplier that providedctir@ster filling unit for LEVADEX® .
Allergan has responded to the FDA's latest compiesponse letter and has stated that it expeetspmnse from the FDA on the NDA for
LEVADEX ®in the second quarter of 2014.

BAX 855 and Long-Acting Therapies for Hemophilia Agreement with Subsidiaries of Baxter Internatiohbnc.

In September 2005, we entered into an exclusivearef, development, license, manufacturing andlgwggpeement with Baxter
Healthcare SA and Baxter Healthcare Corporatioxi@ato develop products with an extended ha#f-fdr the treatment and prophylaxis of
Hemophilia A patients using our proprietary PEGglatechnology. The first product in this collabiiwa, BAX 855, is a longer-acting
(PEGylated) form of a full-length recombinant factdll (rFVIII) protein. BAX 855 is a full-length EGylated longer-acting recombinant
factor VIII (rFVIII) that was developed to increasges half-life of ADVATE (Antihemophilic Factor (Rembinant) Plasma/Albumin-Free
Method). We are entitled to up to $73.0 milliortatal development and sales milestone paymentselss royalties on net sales varying by
product and country of sale. Our right to recelvese royalties in any particular country will expirpon the later of ten years after the first
commercial sale of the product in that countryhar éxpiration of patent rights in certain desigdateuntries or in that particular country.

In 2012, Baxter completed a Phase 1 clinical sfodyBAX 855 that was a prospective, open-label gtassessing the safety, tolerability
and pharmacokinetics of BAX 855 in 19 previoushatied patients age 18 years or older with sever@pleilia A. In January 2013, Baxter
announced the top level results from this Phadital study. This study demonstrated that thé-fii@l (measuring the duration of activity of
the drug in the body) of BAX 855 was approximatel§-fold higher compared to ADVATE. A longer haifiel was achieved in all patients in
the study using BAX 855, no patients developedhitbis to either base molecule, BAX 855 or PEG, angbatients had allergic reactions.
Eleven adverse events were reported in eight gateaross both treatment arms, but none was setreasment-related or resulted in
withdrawal from the study. Baxter commenced pat@mbliment in a Phase 3 clinical study of BAX 883he U.S. in February 2013 and
completed enrolliment in November 2013. The Phad®al study is ongoing and is as a multi-centgren-label study called PROLONG-
ATE and enrolled 146 previously treated adult pasievith severe hemophilia A in order to asses®ffieacy, safety and pharmacokinetics of
BAX 855 for prophylaxis and on-demand treatmentlegding.
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FOVISTA™ (Anti-PDGF Therapy), Agreement with Ophtlech Corporation

In September 2006, we entered into a license, naatwing and supply agreement with (OSI) Eyeteab, (Eyetech) under which we
granted Eyetech a worldwide, exclusive licensesttain of our proprietary PEGylation technologydtevelop, manufacture and commercialize
particular products that use our proprietary PE@ytiareagent linked with the active ingredient mvista™. In July 2007, as a result of a
divestiture agreement between Eyetech and Ophth@ecporation (Ophthotech), Opthotech acquired fEyatech certain technology rights
and other assets owned or controlled by Eyeteeitimglto particular anti-platelet-derived growtletiar aptamers, or anti-PDGFs, including
Fovista™. As a result of this transaction, Ophtbbtassumed the license, manufacturing and suppbeatent between Eyetech and us.
Fovista™ is an anti-PDGF agent administered in doatlon with anti-vascular endothelial growth factanti-VEGF) therapy for the treatme
of neovascular age-related macular degenerationygbAMD). We are entitled to up to $7.5 milliom total development and sales milestone
payments, low- to mid- single-digit royalties ort sales that vary by sales levels and are sulgaeiduction in the absence of patent coverage
and additional consideration if Ophthotech graet$ain third-party commercialization rights to Fetai™. Our right to receive royalties in any
particular country will expire upon the later ofitgears after first commercial sale of the produratxpiration of patent rights in the particular
country. We are the exclusive supplier of all oh@mwtech’s clinical and commercial requirementswf proprietary PEGylation reagent used
in the manufacture of Fovista™.

In June 2012, Ophthotech announced completionpobspective, randomized, controlled Phase 2b dirstudy of 449 patients with wet
AMD comparing Fovista™, administered in combinatwith Lucentis® (ranibizumab injection) anti-VEGFetlapy with Lucenti®
monotherapy. Fovista™ met the pre-specified pringdfizacy endpoint of mean vision gain. Patienteigng the combination of Fovista™
(1.5 mg) and Lucenti® gained a mean of 10.6 letitvssion at 24 weeks on the Early Treatment DihRRetinopathy Study standardized eye
chart, compared to 6.5 letters for patients reogiviucentis monotherapy (p=0.019), representinistcally significant 62% additional
benefit. In September 2013, Ophthotech announcedhttiation of patient enrollment in the first thfree planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical
studies of Fovista™ in combination with anti-VEGTetapy for the treatment of newly diagnosed pagigrth wet AMD. These three studies
plan to enroll a total of approximately 1,866 patgeto evaluate the efficacy and safety of Fovista™

REGL1 Anticoagulation System (pegnivacogin), Agreetheith Regado Biosciences, Inc.

In December 2006, we entered into a license, matwiag and supply agreement with Regado Bioscignce. (Regado), in which we
granted Regado a worldwide, exclusive license t@aaeof our proprietary PEGylation technology. Rdg is using our PEGylation technology
to develop the REG1 Anticoagulation System, or RE@iich is a two-component system comprising adtdéta inhibitor anticoagulant
(pegnivacogin, a single-stranded, nucleic acidrapta and its specific active control agent. REGh&mg developed for use in patients
suffering from acute coronary syndrome, includingse who undergo coronary revascularization praesdwhich include percutaneous
coronary intervention (PCI) and coronary arterydsggrafting. These procedures put patients afaiskerapy-related bleeding
complications. REGL1 is designed to increase thertap#exibility while reducing side effects and jimoving outcomes experienced by patients
in this setting. We are entitled to up to $6.5 imillin total development and sales milestone paysyenid-single-digit royalties on net sales
varying by sales volume and certain additional pewyts if Regado grants any third parties certaintsigo the REG1 product. Our right to
receive royalties in any particular country willpipe upon the later of ten years after first conuigrsale of the product or expiration of patent
rights in the particular country. We are the exislesupplier of all of Regado’s clinical and comugial requirements of our proprietary
PEGylation reagent used in the manufacture of REG1.

Regado has announced the completion of three Rhaisé one Phase 2 clinical studies for REG1. IrPthase 2 study, which involved
640 patients, Regado reported that when comparstmalard of care heparin, REG1 demonstrated bihid and predictable anticoagulant
effect, the ability to precisely modulate or eliraia that effect in real time, as well as severaldrtant clinical and pharmacoeconomic bene
In September 2013, Regado announced the enrollofi¢he first patient in its REGULATE-PCI Phase thidal
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trial that plans to enroll 13,200 patients, desxliby Regado as a PROBE design (Prospective, Raneldn®pen-label, Blinded-Endpoint)
superiority study comparing the effects of REGbitalirudin in patients undergoing PCI electivelyfor the treatment of unstable angina or
non-ST elevated myocardial infarction. The primamgpoint of the REGULATE-PCI trial is efficacy coamgd to bivalrudin based on a
composite set of endpoints including death, nohfatecardial infarction, nonfatal stroke, and urgtmget lesion revascularization through
day three. The principal secondary endpoint istgaf@mpared to bivalrudin as measured by majorditeeevents through day three.

Cipro DPI (formerly known as Cipro Inhale), Agreenm¢ with Bayer Schering Pharma AG Assigned to Novaras of December 31,
2008

We were a party to a collaborative research, dgveémt and commercialization agreement with Bay®&e8og Pharma AG, (Bayer),
related to the development of an inhaled powdentdation of ciprofloxacin delivered by way of a dygwder inhaler, Cipro DPI (formerly
known as Cipro Inhale) for the treatment of chrdaitg infections caused BBseudomonas aeruginosacystic fibrosis patients. On
December 31, 2008, we assigned the agreement tarfioPharma AG in connection with the completibithe pulmonary asset sale
transaction. However, we retained our economia@sten the future potential net sales royaltieSifiro DPI is approved by health authorities
and is successfully commercialized by Bayer. CIpRI has completed Phase 2 clinical developmenthi@treatment of chronic lung
infections. In August 2012, Bayer initiated a Phas#inical development program which it calls RESE for Cipro DPI in patients with non-
cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis. In patients witbrrhiectasis, the bronchial tubes are enlargesywaly mucus to pool and making the area
prone to infection. In the two placebo-controllédls, RESPIRE-1 and RESPIRE-2, Bayer plans toleapoto 600 patients and to evaluate
Cipro DPI as a chronic, intermittent therapy oveeaod of 48 weeks.

Overview of Select Licensing Partnerships for Appreed Products
Neulasta® , Agreement with Amgen, Inc.

In July 1995, we entered into a nerelusive supply and license agreement (the 1998ekgent) with Amgen, Inc., pursuant to which
licensed our proprietary PEGylation technology ¢éaused in the development and manufacture of NewfladNeulast® selectively stimulates
the production of neutrophils that are depletedyiptoxic chemotherapy, a condition called neutrop¢hat makes it more difficult for the
body to fight infections. On October 29, 2010, wieaded and restated the 1995 Agreement by entiatm@ supply, dedicated suite and
manufacturing guarantee agreement (the 2010 Agre@raed an amended and restated license agreerithrAmgen Inc. and Amgen
Manufacturing, Limited (together referred to as Aeng Under the terms of the 2010 Agreement, weaguae the manufacture and supply of
our proprietary PEGylation materials (Polymer Matis) to Amgen in an existing manufacturing suitdoé used exclusively for the
manufacture of Polymer Materials for Amgen in oamafacturing facility in Huntsville, Alabama. Thesipply arrangement is on a non-
exclusive basis (other than the use of the manufiact suite and certain equipment) whereby we i@e o manufacture and supply the
Polymer Materials to any other third party and Amggefree to procure the Polymer Materials from ather third party. Under the terms of
2010 Agreement, we received a $50.0 million upfmement in return for guaranteeing supply of éertmantities of Polymer Materials to
Amgen and the Additional Rights described belovd Amgen will pay manufacturing fees calculated blase fixed and variable components
applicable to the Polymer Materials ordered by Amgead delivered by us. Amgen has no minimum pueclsasnmitments. If quantities of the
Polymer Materials ordered by Amgen exceed specdieghtities (with each specified quantity repreisgna small portion of the quantity that
we historically supplied to Amgen), significant étlthal payments become payable to us in returmyf@mranteeing supply of additional
guantities of the Polymer Materials.

The term of the Agreement runs through Octobe2220. In the event we become subject to a bankyuptinsolvency proceeding, we
cease to own or control the manufacturing facitityduntsville, Alabama, we fail to manufacture angply the Polymer Materials or certain
other events occur, Amgen or its designated thartlypwill have the right to elect, among certaihatoptions, to take title to the dedicated
equipment and access
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the manufacturing facility to operate the manufentyisuite solely for the purpose of manufacturing Polymer Materials (Additional Rights).
Amgen may terminate the 2010 Agreement for conver@ier due to an uncured material default by ukteEparty may terminate the 2010
Agreement in the event of insolvency or bankrupttthe other party.

PEGASYS® , Agreement with F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd

In February 1997, we entered into a license, manufamg and supply agreement with F. Hoffmann-L&RoLtd and Hoffmann-
La Roche Inc. (Roche), under which we granted Rechverldwide, exclusive license to use certainlietéual property related to our
PEGylation materials to manufacture and commemgadi certain class of products, of which PEGASY Sthésonly product currently
commercialized. PEGASYS is approved in the U.3J,. Bnd other countries for the treatment of Hejgafitand is designed to help the
patient’'s immune system fight the Hepatitis C viris a result of Roche exercising a license extansption in December 2009, beginning in
2010 Roche has the right to manufacture all afeitgiirements for our proprietary PEGylation materfar PEGASYS® and we supply raw
materials or perform additional manufacturing,rifaonly on a back-up basis. In connection with iRds exercise of the license extension
option in December 2009, we received a paymen8afGmillion. The agreement expires on the latetasfuary 10, 2015 or the expiration of
our last relevant patent containing a valid cldimAugust 2013, we agreed to deliver additionalrditizs of PEGylation materials used by
Roche to produce PEGASYS and MIRCERA , all of whigtre delivered in the last quarter of 2013, faaltconsideration of
approximately $18.6 million.

Somavert® , Agreement with Pfizer, Inc.

In January 2000, we entered into a license, matwiag and supply agreement with Sensus Drug D@veaémt Corporation
(subsequently acquired by Pharmacia Corp. in 20@1tteen acquired by Pfizer, Inc. in 2003), for BRiEeGylation of Somaveft (pegvisomant),
a human growth hormone receptor antagonist fotrélement of acromegaly. We currently manufactuneproprietary PEGylation reagent for
Pfizer, Inc. on a price per gram basis. The agre¢eepires on the later of ten years from the godifirst marketing authorization in the
designated territory, which occurred in March 2083the expiration of our last relevant patent eaihg a valid claim. In addition, Pfizer, Inc.
may terminate the agreement if marketing authddras withdrawn or marketing is no longer feasitiiee to certain circumstances, and either
party may terminate for cause if certain conditians met.

PEG-Intron ®, Agreement with Merck (through its acdgition of Schering-Plough Corporation)

In February 2000, we entered into a manufacturiysupply agreement with Schering-Plough Corponaifchering) for the
manufacture and supply of our proprietary PEGytatitaterials to be used by Schering in productioa BEGylated recombinant human
interferon-alpha (PEG-Intron). PEG-Intron is a tne@nt for patients with Hepatitis C. Schering waguared by, and became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of, Merck & Co., Inc. We currently maacture our proprietary PEGylation materials for &atg on a price per gram basis. In
December 2010, the parties amended the manufagtanid supply agreement to provide for a transipiam to an alternative manufacturer anc
extension of the term through the successful mamurfig transition or December 31, 2018 at theskaftehe amended agreement provided f
one-time payment and milestone payments as waticasased pricing for any future manufacturing perfed by us.

Macugen® , Agreement with Valeant Pharmaceuticalgémnational, Inc.

In 2002, we entered into a license, manufacturimdyupply agreement with Eyetech, Inc. (subsequectjuired by Valeant
Pharmaceuticals International, Inc. or Valeantyspant to which we license certain intellectualgenty related to our proprietary PEGylation
technology for the development and commercialiratibMacuger? , a PEGylated anti-vascular endothgi@vth factor aptamer currently
approved in the U.S. and E.U. for age-related nzaalggeneration. We currently manufacture our petgry
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PEGylation materials for Valeant on a price penglzsis. Under the terms of the agreement, weradiive royalties on net product sales in
any particular country for the longer of ten yefaoen the date of the first commercial sale of theduct in that country or the duration of pai
coverage. We share a portion of the payments redeinder this agreement with Enzon Pharmaceuticedsywhich ends in 2014. The
agreement expires upon the expiration of our ksivant patent containing a valid claim. In addifivaleant may terminate the agreement if
marketing authorization is withdrawn or marketiegd longer feasible due to certain circumstarmed either party may terminate for cause i
certain conditions are met.

CIMZIA ®, Agreement with UCB Pharma

In December 2000, we entered into a license, matwiag and supply agreement covering our propiyefdEGylation materials for use
in CIMZIA ®(certolizumab pegol) with Celltech Chirgignce Ltd., which was acquired by UCB Pharma (UBB)004. Under the terms of the
agreement, UCB is responsible for all clinical depenent, regulatory, and commercialization expengés have the right to receive
manufacturing revenue on the basis of a fixed gr&regram. We were also entitled to receive rogsltin net sales of the CIMZI®product fol
the longer of ten years from the first commerc@éof the product anywhere in the world or theigtjpn of patent rights in a particular
country. In February 2012, we sold our rights teree royalties on future worldwide net sales ofIZIA ®effective as of January 1, 2012
until the agreement with UCB is terminated or eapifThis sale is further discussed in Note 7 ofh I8 Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data. We share a portion of the patsnee receive from UCB with Enzon Pharmaceutidals, which ends in 2014. The
agreement expires upon the expiration of all of WByalty obligations, provided that the agreenean be extended for successive two yeal
renewal periods upon mutual agreement of the gaiftieaddition, UCB may terminate the agreemenukhio cease the development and
marketing of CIMZIA® and either party may termin&be cause under certain conditions.

MIRCERA ® (C.E.R.A.) (Continuous Erythropoietin Recégr Activator), Agreement with F. Hoffmann-La Rochtd

In December 2000, we entered into a license, matwiag and supply agreement with F. Hoffmann-La&RoLtd and Hoffmann-
La Roche Inc. (Roche), which was amended and sgbtatits entirety in December 2005. Pursuant ¢oafireement, we license our intellectua
property related to our proprietary PEGylation miate for the manufacture and commercializatioRothe’'s MIRCERA® product.
MIRCERA @ is a novel continuous erythropoietin re@ictivator indicated for the treatment of aneagaociated with chronic kidney disease
in patients on dialysis and patients not on dialyss of the end of 2006, we were no longer reguioemanufacture and supply our proprietary
PEGylation materials for MIRCERA under our origimgreement. In February 2012, we entered intol-artahufacturing agreement with
Roche under which we manufactured our propriet&$yation material for MIRCERAR . Roche entered ithie toll-manufacturing
agreement with the objective of establishing ua ascondary back-up source on a non-exclusive.dasger the terms of this agreement,
Roche paid us an up-front payment of $5.0 millitwsga total of $22.0 million in performanbased milestone payments upon our achieve
of certain manufacturing readiness, validation pratiuction milestones, including the delivery oésified quantities of PEGylation materials,
all of which were successfully completed by the ehdanuary 2013. Roche would also pay us additioorsideration for any future orders of
the PEGylation materials for MIRCERA beyond thdiadiquantities ordered as part of the initial agament. In August 2013, we agreed to
deliver additional quantities of PEGylation matkriased by Roche to produce PEGASY¥S and MIRCERAI of avhich were delivered in
the last quarter of 2013, for total consideratibagproximately $18.6 million. Roche may termintiie toll-manufacturing agreement due to
uncured material default by us or for convenienageun certain circumstances and subject to cerita@méial obligations. We were also entitled
to receive royalties on net sales of the MIRCERAodpict. In February 2012, we sold all of our futtights to receive royalties on future
worldwide net sales of MIRCERA effective as of Jaryul, 2012. This sale is further discussed in Nobé Item 8, Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.
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OMONTYS® (Peginesatide), Agreement with Affymax, Inc

In April 2004, we entered into a license, manufantwand supply agreement with Affymax, Inc. (Affa), under which we granted
Affymax a worldwide, non-exclusive license to cartaf our proprietary PEGylation technology to depe manufacture and commercialize
OMONTYS® . OMONTYS® is a synthetic PEGylated peptidismpound that binds to and stimulates the erythietim receptor and thus acts
as an erythropoietin stimulating agent (ESA). tthis only ESA that is peptide-based and its bugjdifocks (amino acids) are arranged in a
different order than erythropoietin (i.e., it hassequence homology to endogenous erythropoidtitd.compound was discovered by Affyrr
and is being co-developed and marketed by Affynmmak Bakeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited (Takddd}larch 2012, the FDA
approved OMONTY® for the treatment of dialysis pats with anemia due to chronic kidney disease (CKIMONTYS® is the first once-
monthly ESA for anemia in CKD for dialysis patiematgilable in the U.S.

On February 23, 2013, Affymax and Takeda annouacedluntary recall of all lots of OMONTYS drug phact to the user level as a
result of new post-marketing reports regardingaseriypersensitivity reactions, including anaphigawhich can be life-threatening or
fatal. The FDA has been notified by Affymax of Eports of anaphylaxis with 3 of those cases rewylti death. The reported serious
hypersensitivity reactions have occurred withim3@utes after such administration of OMONTYS . Thbave been no reports of such
reactions following subsequent dosing, or in pasi@vho have completed their dialysis session. Saaech of the drug, more than 25,000
patients have received OMONTYS in the post-markgesietting.

Effective as of April 1, 2013, Affymax announcedtlit had amended its collaboration agreement Watkeda to transfer regulatory,
manufacturing, and development responsibilitieSGMONTYS® to Takeda. In July 2013, Affymax termindthe license, manufacturing and
supply agreement with us.

Government Regulation

The research and development, clinical testing,ufeanture and marketing of products using our teldgies are subject to regulation by
the FDA and by comparable regulatory agenciesherotountries. These national agencies and otderdk state and local entities regulate,
among other things, research and development @esivdnd the testing (in vitro, in animals, andhirman clinical trials), manufacture, labeling,
storage, recordkeeping, approval, marketing, atbhegtand promotion of our products.

The approval process required by the FDA beformduyxt using any of our technologies may be madkatehe U.S. depends on
whether the chemical composition of the productgrasiously been approved for use in other dosaged. If the product is a new chemical
entity that has not been previously approved, toegss includes the following:

» extensive preclinical laboratory and animal test
» submission of an Investigational New Drug applimat{IND) prior to commencing clinical trial
» adequate and wr-controlled human clinical trials to establish tlaéesy and efficacy of the drug for the intendeddation;

» extensive pharmaceutical development for the clatiaation of the chemistry, manufacturing procasd controls for the active
ingredient and drug product; a

» submission to the FDA of an NDA for approval ofrag] a Biological License Application (BLA) for apgval of a biological product
or a Premarket Approval Application (PMA) or Prek®trNotification 510(k) for a medical device prot¢a 510(k)).

If the active chemical ingredient has been previoapproved by the FDA, the approval process islaimexcept that certain preclinical
tests relating to systemic toxicity normally reeuirfor the IND and NDA or BLA may not be necessétiie company has a right of reference
to such data under section 505(j) of the Federal
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Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA) or is eligilibe approval under Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCAh® biosimilars provisions of the
Public Health Services Act.

Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluationpafduct chemistry and animal studies to assessatety and efficacy of the product and
its chosen formulation. Preclinical safety teststriae conducted by laboratories that comply wittAFI®od laboratory practices (GLP)
regulations. The results of the preclinical testsdrugs, biological products and combination paslisubject to the primary jurisdiction of the
FDA's Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CIDBRCenter for Biologics Evaluation and Resea@BER) are submitted to the FDA as
part of the IND and are reviewed by the FDA befdmeical trials can begin. Clinical trials may ba@0 days after receipt of the IND by the
FDA, unless the FDA raises objections or requitasfication within that period. Clinical trials Wolve the administration of the drug to hea
volunteers or patients under the supervision afalified, identified medical investigator accorditoiga protocol submitted in the IND for FDA
review. Drug products to be used in clinical trisdast be manufactured according to current goodufaaturing practices (cGMP). Clinical
trials are conducted in accordance with protoduds tletail the objectives of the study and thempatars to be used to monitor participant
safety and product efficacy as well as other gatty be evaluated in the study. Each protocoliisrstted to the FDA in the IND.

Apart from the IND process described above, edidical study must be reviewed by an independeriitutidonal Review Board (IRB)
and the IRB must be kept current with respect ¢ostiatus of the clinical study. The IRB considarapng other things, ethical factors, the
potential risks to subjects participating in thaltand the possible liability to the institutiorhere the trial is conducted. The IRB also reviews
and approves the informed consent form to be sidpyettie trial participants and any significant cpes in the clinical study.

Clinical trials are typically conducted in threeqeential phases. Phase 1 involves the initial chiotion of the drug into healthy human
subjects (in most cases) and the product gendsatisted for tolerability, pharmacokinetics, alpsion, metabolism and excretion. Phase 2
involves studies in a limited patient population to

» determine the preliminary efficacy of the produmt $pecific targeted indication
» determine dosage and regimen of administration;
« identify possible adverse effects and safety ri

If Phase 2 trials demonstrate that a product agpedre effective and to have an acceptable spfefile, Phase 3 trials are undertaken tc
evaluate the further clinical efficacy and safetyhe drug and formulation within an expanded ptj@opulation at geographically dispersed
clinical study sites and in large enough trialpttovide statistical proof of efficacy and tolerdtyil The FDA, the clinical trial sponsor, the
investigators or the IRB may suspend clinical &rial any time if any one of them believes that\spatticipants are being subjected to an
unacceptable health risk. In some cases, the FDIARendrug sponsor may determine that Phase 2 &iialnot needed prior to entering Pha
trials.

Following a series of formal meetings and commuiocs between the drug sponsor and the regulagepaes, the results of product
development, preclinical studies and clinical stgdire submitted to the FDA as an NDA or BLA fopraal of the marketing and commerc
shipment of the drug product. The FDA may deny apgiif applicable regulatory criteria are not sé#id or may require additional clinical or
pharmaceutical testing or requirements. Even ihsiata are submitted, the FDA may ultimately detidg the NDA or BLA does not satisfy
all of the criteria for approval. Additionally, trepproved labeling may narrowly limit the conditsoof use of the product, including the
intended uses, or impose warnings, precautionsmraindications which could significantly limitétpotential market for the product. Further,
as a condition of approval, the FDA may impose {moatket surveillance, or Phase 4, studies or nighuation and mitigation strategies.
Product approvals, once obtained, may be withdideompliance with regulatory standards is not rtaiimed or if safety concerns arise after
the product reaches the market. The FDA may requiditional post-marketing clinical testing and phacovigilance programs to monitor the
effect of drug products that have been
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commercialized and has the power to prevent ot fuiire marketing of the product based on theltesd such programs. After approval,
there are ongoing reporting obligations conceriidgerse reactions associated with the productjdimeg expedited reports for serious and
unexpected adverse events.

Each manufacturing establishment producing drudyrbfor the U.S. market must be registered withRDA and typically is inspected
by the FDA prior to NDA or BLA approval of a druggaluct manufactured by such establishment. Estabksts handling controlled
substances must also be licensed by the U.S. Dnfgyd&ment Administration. Manufacturing establigmts of U.S. marketed products are
subject to inspections by the FDA for compliancéhvelGMP and other U.S. regulatory requirementsyTdre also subject to U.S. federal,
state, and local regulations regarding workpladetgaenvironmental protection and hazardous amdrobbed substance controls, among otf

A number of the drugs we are developing are alreguyoved for marketing by the FDA in another famnusing another delivery
system. We believe that, when working with drugsraped in other forms, the approval process fodpots using our alternative drug deliv
or formulation technologies may involve less risklaequire fewer tests than new chemical entiteesHbwever, we expect that our
formulations will often use excipients not currgrapproved for use. Use of these excipients wiluige additional toxicological testing that
may increase the costs of, or length of time ne¢olegain regulatory approval. In addition, as thelate to our products, regulatory procedure
may change as regulators gain relevant experiamceany such changes may delay or increase thefoesjulatory approvals.

For product candidates currently under developragiiting pulmonary technology, the pulmonary indratlevices are considered to be
part of a drug and device combination for deep ldelivery of each specific molecule. The FDA wiltke a determination as to the most
appropriate center and division within the agemat tvill assume primary responsibility for the wiof the applicable applications, which
would consist of an IND and an NDA or BLA where CIRBr CBER are determined to have primary jurisdicior an investigational device
exemption application and PMA or 510(k) where tlem@r for Devices and Radiological Health (CDRHjJésermined to have primary
jurisdiction. In the case of our product candida@BER in consultation with CDRH could be involviedthe review. The assessmen
jurisdiction within the FDA is based upon the primanode of action of the drug or the location of #pecific expertise in one of the cent

Where CDRH is determined to have primary jurisdictover a product, 510(k) clearance or PMA apprisved¢quired. Medical devices
are classified into one of three classes — Cla8$alss 1l, or Class IIl — depending on the degrieesi associated with each medical device
and the extent of control needed to ensure safetyeffectiveness. Devices deemed to pose lowes @sk placed in either Class | or I, which
requires the manufacturer to submit to the FDAenRrrket Notification requesting permission to conuiadly distribute the device. This
process is known as 510(k) clearance. Some lowdasices are exempted from this requirement. Deviemed by the FDA to pose the
greatest risk, such as life-sustaining, life-sugipgror implantable devices, or devices deemedubstantially equivalent to a previously
cleared 510(k) device are placed in Class Ill, néiog PMA approval.

To date, our partners have generally been resgerfsibclinical and regulatory approval procedutas, we may participate in this
process by submitting to the FDA a drug masterdéeeloped and maintained by us which contains etataerning the manufacturing
processes for the inhaler device, PEGylation maltedr drug. For our proprietary products, we prefand submit an IND and are responsible
for additional clinical and regulatory procedures firoduct candidates being developed under an TMiE.clinical and manufacturing,
development and regulatory review and approvalgssgenerally takes a number of years and recghieesxpenditure of substantial resour
Our ability to manufacture and market products, tiveedeveloped by us or under collaboration agre¢sneltimately depends upon the
completion of satisfactory clinical trials and sess in obtaining marketing approvals from the FD@ aquivalent foreign health authorities.

Sales of our products outside the U.S. are sutjdotal regulatory requirements governing clinicals and marketing approval for
drugs. Such requirements vary widely from coundrgauntry.
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In the U.S., under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA rgegnt orphan drug designation to drugs intenddcett a rare disease or condition,
which is generally a disease or condition thatafféewer than 200,000 individuals in the U.S. Thmpany that obtains the first FDA apprc
for a designated orphan drug for a rare diseasgvex marketing exclusivity for use of that drugttee designated condition for a period of
seven years. In addition, the Orphan Drug Act pesifor protocol assistance, tax credits, resegnahis, and exclusions from user fees for
sponsors of orphan products. Once a product reseiyghan drug exclusivity, a second product thabissidered to be the same drug for the
same indication may be approved during the exdlysperiod only if the second product is shown &“blinically superior” to the original
orphan drug in that it is more effective, safeptirerwise makes a “major contribution to patiemetar the holder of exclusive approval
cannot assure the availability of sufficient quikesi of the orphan drug to meet the needs of patisith the disease or condition for which the
drug was designated. Similar incentives also aaélahle for orphan drugs in the E.U.

In the U.S., the FDA may grant Fast Track or Breakigh designation to a product candidate, whitdwal the FDA to expedite the
review of new drugs that are intended for seriauf@threatening conditions and that demonsttagpotential to address unmet medical
needs. Important features of Fast Track or Brealdgjin designation include a potentially reducedicdihnprogram and close, early
communication between the FDA and the sponsor cagnfmimprove the efficiency of product development

Patents and Proprietary Rights

We own more than 175 U.S. and 500 foreign patemdssanumber of pending patent applications thaecegarious aspects of our
technologies. We have filed patent applications, glan to file additional patent applications, caneg various aspects of our PEGylation and
advanced polymer conjugate technologies and oyrgtary product candidates. More specifically, patents and patent applications cover
polymer architecture, drug conjugates, formulatjionsthods of making polymers and polymer conjugatethods of administering polymer
conjugates, and methods of manufacturing polymedspalymer conjugates. Our patent portfolio corggiatents and patent applications that
encompass our PEGylation and advanced polymer gatguechnology platforms, some of which we acalineour acquisition of Shearwater
Corporation in June 2001. Our patent strategy fédegatent applications on innovations and imgnoents to cover a significant majority of
the major pharmaceutical markets in the world. @ahg patents have a term of twenty years frometdiest priority date (assuming all
maintenance fees are paid). In some instances)tgatens can be increased or decreased, dependlithg daws and regulations of the country
or jurisdiction that issued the patent.

In January 2002, we entered into a Cross-Licendeoption Agreement with Enzon Pharmaceuticals, (Bozon), pursuant to which we
and Enzon provided certain licenses to selectetiomsrof each party’s PEGylation patent portfoliocertain cases, we have the option to
license certain of Enzon’s PEGylation patents & in our proprietary products or for sublicensethird parties in each case in exchange for
payments to Enzon based on manufacturing proéit&enue share or royalties on net sales if a desidmaoduct candidate is approved in one
or more markets.

On December 31, 2008, we completed the sale ddioeasets related to our pulmonary business, iassd¢echnology and intellectual
property to Novartis Pharma AG and Novartis Phaeuticals Corporation (together referred to as Nisjaior a purchase price of $115.0
million in cash (Novartis Pulmonary Asset Sale)ctmnection with the Novartis Pulmonary Asset Sateof December 31, 2008, we entered
into an exclusive license agreement with Novartiarfha AG. Pursuant to the exclusive license agregivartis Pharma AG grants back to
us an exclusive, irrevocable, perpetual, royaleefand worldwide license under certain specifiematights and other related intellectual
property rights acquired by Novartis from us in Navartis Pulmonary Asset Sale, as well as ceftaprovements or modifications thereto 1
are made by Novartis. Certain of such patent rights other related intellectual property rightaitelo our development program for inhaled
vancomycin or are necessary for us to satisfy cec@ntinuing contractual obligations to third pest including in connection with
development, manufacture, sale, and commerciaizactivities related to BAY41-6551 partnered vBiyer Healthcare LLC.
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We also rely on trade secret protection for ouffid@mtial and proprietary information. No assuranae be given that we can
meaningfully protect our trade secrets. Others mdgpendently develop substantially equivalent hanftial and proprietary information or
otherwise gain access to, or disclose, our tradet®e Please refer to Item 1A, Risk Factors, idicig but not limited to “We rely on trade
secret protection and other unpatented proprietghys for important proprietary technologies, amy loss of such rights could harm our
business, results of operations and financial ¢amrdf In certain situations in which we work witltugs covered by one or more patents, our
ability to develop and commercialize our technodsginay be affected by limitations in our accegbése proprietary drugs. Even if we beli
we are free to work with a proprietary drug, wertatrguarantee that we will not be accused of, ¢erdgned to be, infringing a third party’s
rights and be prohibited from working with the drugfound liable for damages. Any such restrictionaccess or liability for damages would
have a material adverse effect on our businessitses operations and financial condition.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldgy companies, such as ours, are uncertain amdvim complex legal and factual
issues. There can be no assurance that patentsatletssued will be held valid and enforceabla aourt of law. Even for patents that are helc
valid and enforceable, the legal process assocwatbcobtaining such a judgment is time consuming eostly. Additionally, issued patents
be subject to opposition or other proceedingsdhatresult in the revocation of the patent or nesiahce of the patent in amended form (and
potentially in a form that renders the patent wihcommercially relevant or broad coverage). Furtber competitors may be able to
circumvent and otherwise design around our pat&wvsn if a patent is issued and enforceable, becd@&selopment and commercialization of
pharmaceutical products can be subject to subatatgiays, patents may expire early and providg ardhort period of protection, if any,
following the commercialization of products encosged by our patent. We may have to participateterfierence proceedings declared by th
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, which could teiguh loss of the patent and/or substantial aosist Please refer to Item 1A, Risk Factors,
including without limitation, “If any of our pendinpatent applications do not issue, or are deemadid following issuance, we may lose
valuable intellectual property protection.”

U.S. and foreign patent rights and other propnetaghts exist that are owned by third parties egidte to pharmaceutical compositions
and reagents, medical devices and equipment arttbdeefor preparation, packaging and delivery ofrptaceutical compositions. We cannot
predict with any certainty which, if any, of thedghts will be considered relevant to our technglbg authorities in the various jurisdictions
where such rights exist, nor can we predict wittiagety which, if any, of these rights will or még asserted against us by third parties. We
could incur substantial costs in defending oursebs@d our partners against any such claims. Funtbrey, parties making such claims may be
able to obtain injunctive or other equitable relighich could effectively block our ability to ddee or commercialize some or all of our
products in the U.S. and abroad and could resuttéraward of substantial damages. In the eveatatdim of infringement, we or our partners
may be required to obtain one or more licenses tiord parties. There can be no assurance thatwelbtain a license to any technology that
we determine we need on reasonable terms, if atraihat we could develop or otherwise obtainratiéive technology. The failure to obtain
licenses if needed may have a material adverseteffeour business, results of operations and fiiahcondition. Please refer to Item 1A, Risk
Factors, including without limitation, “We may no¢ able to obtain intellectual property licenséatesl to the development of our drug
candidates on a commercially reasonable basitaif.&

It is our policy to require our employees and cdtasits, outside scientific collaborators, sponsaesarchers and other advisors who
receive confidential information from us to execatafidentiality agreements upon the commencemeainployment or consulting
relationships with us. These agreements provideathaonfidential information developed or madetum to the individual during the course
of the individual’s relationship with us is to begkt confidential and not disclosed to third paréesept in specific circumstances. The
agreements provide that all inventions conceivedrgmployee shall be our property. There can kesaorance, however, that these
agreements will provide meaningful protection oe@uhte remedies for our trade secrets in the efamtauthorized use or disclosure of such
information.
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Customer Concentrations

Our revenue is derived from our collaboration agreets with partners, under which we may receivdraghresearch payments,
milestone payments based on clinical progressJa&my progress or net sales achievements, rogadtienanufacturing revenue. Roche, UCB
Pharma, AstraZeneca, and Bayer represented 28%, 2% and 10% of our revenue, respectively, fentbar ended December 31, 2013. Nc
other collaboration partner accounted for more tha#b of our total revenue during the year endedebdser 31, 2013.

Backlog

Pursuant to our collaboration agreements, we matwriand supply our proprietary PEGylation matsrimventory is produced and
sales are made pursuant to customer purchase dodeleivery. The volume of our proprietary PEGQida materials actually ordered by our
customers, as well as shipment schedules, arecsubjrequent revisions that reflect changes ithlthe customers’ needs and our
manufacturing capacity. In our partnered prograrher® we provide contract research services, therséces are typically provided under a
work plan that is subject to frequent revisiong ttfeange based on the development needs and sfahesprogram. The backlog at a particulal
time is affected by a number of factors, includaofpeduled date of manufacture and delivery andlderent program status. In light of
industry practice and our own experience, we ddetieve that backlog as of any particular datedsgcative of future results.

Competition

Competition in the pharmaceutical and biotechnolioglystry is intense and characterized by aggressisearch and development and
rapidly-evolving science, technology, and standafdsedical care throughout the world. We frequentmpete with pharmaceutical
companies and other institutions with greater faialn research and development, marketing and,sal@sufacturing and managerial
capabilities. We face competition from these congmnot just in product development but also iraarguch as recruiting employees,
acquiring technologies that might enhance ourgtiti commercialize products, establishing relathips with certain research and academic
institutions, enrolling patients in clinical trigd®d seeking program partnerships and collabomatigth larger pharmaceutical companies.

Science and Technology Competition

We believe that our proprietary and partnered pectslwill compete with others in the market on tlsib of one or more of the following
parameters: efficacy, safety, ease of use and\estace intense science and technology compefitaom a multitude of technologies seeking
to enhance the efficacy, safety and ease of uapmbved drugs and new drug molecule candidatesimber of the drug candidates in our
pipeline have direct and indirect competition frtarge pharmaceutical companies and biopharmacéuatioapanies. With our PEGylation and
advanced polymer conjugate technologies, we believbave competitive advantages relating to factoch as efficacy, safety, ease of use
and cost for certain applications and molecules.cdfestantly monitor scientific and medical devel@mts in order to improve our current
technologies, seek licensing opportunities whepr@miate, and determine the best applicationsfimrtechnology platforms.

In the fields of PEGylation and advanced polymenrjegate technologies, our competitors include Biolgkec Inc., Savient
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Dr. Reddy’s Laboratoried, LEnzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Mountain View Rfaeuticals, Inc., SunBio Corporation,
NOF Corporation, and Novo Nordisk A/S (assets fatyieeld by Neose Technologies, Inc.). Several othemical, biotechnology ar
pharmaceutical companies may also be developingyREEGN technology, advanced polymer conjugatenietdgy or technologies intended to
deliver similar scientific and medical benefitsnSoof these companies license intellectual propar®EGylation materials to other
companies, while others apply the technology tateréheir own drug candidates.
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Product and Program Specific Competition
Naloxegol (formerly NKTR-118) (orally-available pigrheral opioid antagonist)

There are no once-daily oral drugs that act spetifi to block or reverse the action of opioidsreneptors in the gastrointestinal tract
which are approved specifically for the treatmemoid-induced constipation (OIC) or opioid bovasisfunction (OBD) in patients with
chronic, non-cancer pain. The only approved treatrfar opioid-induced constipation in adults wittrgnic, non-cancer pain is a twice daily
oral therapy called AMITIZA (lubiprostone), whicleta by specifically activating CIC-2 chloride chafmin the gastrointestinal tract to
increase secretions. AMITIZA is marketed by Sucarmharmaceuticals and Takeda. There is also a sarmuts treatment known as
methylnaltrexone bromide marketed by Salix Pharm@écals, Ltd under a license from Progenics Phaeugicals, Inc. Methylnaltrexone
bromide is indicated for the treatment of opioidded constipation only in patients with advandle@s$s who are receiving palliative care,
when response to laxative therapy has not beeitieuff. Other therapies used to treat OIC and Oltlude over-the-counter laxatives and
stool softeners, such as docusate sodium, sendani#inof magnesia. These therapies do not addhessnderlying cause of constipation as a
result of opioid use and are generally viewed afféctive or only partially effective to treat tegmptoms of OIC and OBD.

There are a number of companies developing potgrrdducts which are in various stages of clinid@elopment and are being
evaluated for the treatment of OIC and OBD in défg patient populations. Potential competitorduide Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in
collaboration with Salix Pharmaceuticals, Ltd., @GulPharmaceuticals, Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc, Migharma Int. Limited, Theravance, Ir
Develco Pharma, Sucampo Pharmaceuticals, Inc.Takelda Pharmaceutical Company Limited.

Etirinotecan pegol (NKTR-102, next-generation, loragting topoisomerase | inhibitor)

There are a number of chemotherapies and canaapths approved today and in various stages atalidevelopment for breast and
ovarian cancers including but not limited to: Absiar (paclitaxel protein-bound particles for injébdtasuspension (albumin bound)), Afinitor
(everolimus), DoxiP (doxorubicin HCI), Ellenée (epbicin), GemzaP (gemcitabine), Halaven (eribulidgrceptin® (trastuzumab),
Hycamtin® (topotecan), Ixempfa (ixabepilone), Naug® (vinolrebine), Paraplatih (carboplatin), TaRgpaclitaxel) and Taxotere
(docetaxel). These therapies are only partiallgatife in treating breast and ovarian cancer. Mal@rmaceutical or biotechnology companies
with approved drugs or drugs in development fos¢heancers include Bristol-Meyers Squibb CompaisaiEInc., Roche Holding Group
(including its Genentech subsidiary), GlaxoSmithi€lplc, Pfizer, Inc., Eli Lilly & Co., Johnson & Boson, Sanofi Aventis S.A., and many
others. There are currently no drugs in Phase 8ldement to specifically treat metastatic breasteain all receptor types following
anthracycline, taxane and capecitabine therapitherethe adjuvant or metastatic setting.

There are also a number of chemotherapies and rctirerapies approved today and in clinical develepnfor the treatment of colorec
cancer. Approved therapies for the treatment areatal cancer include Eloxatin (oxaliplatin), Caogar® (irinotecan), Avastif
(bevacizumab), Zaltrap (Ziv-afilbercept), Stivafygegorafenib), Erbitu® (cetuximab), Vectibix (panitumab), Xelod& (capecitabine),
Adrucil ® (fluorouracil), and Wellcovorit  (leucovonnThese therapies are only partially effectivér@ating the disease. There are a number
of drugs in various stages of preclinical and clhidevelopment from companies exploring cancematbies or improved chemotherapeutic
agents to potentially treat colorectal cancerhéise drugs are approved, they could be competitiveetirinotecan pegol if it is approved by
government health authorities. These include prtsdincdevelopment from Bristol-Myers Squibb CompaPRfjzer, Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc,
Antigenics, Inc., F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd, Nova®i&, Cell Therapeutics, Inc., Neopharm Inc., Meclit&kesearch Ltd, Alchemia Limited,
Enzon Pharmaceuticals Inc. and many others.
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BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale, formerly NKTR-061)

There are currently no approved drugs on the méoketdjunctive treatment or prevention of gram-atége pneumonias in mechanically
ventilated patients which are also administeredhgapulmonary route. The current standard of saledes approved intravenous antibiotics
which are partially effective for the treatmenteither hospital-acquired pneumonia or ventilat@eagted pneumonia in patients on
mechanical ventilators. These drugs include drhgsfall into the categories of antipseudomonaheggsporins, antipseudomonal
carbepenems, beta-lactam/beta-lactamase inhibéotipseudomonal fluoroquinolones, such as cipxaftin or levofloxacin, and
aminoglycosides, such as amikacin, gentamycinlmataycin.

BAX 855 (PEGylated rFVIII)

There are other long-acting Factor VII programkate-stage development for hemophilia A patientsgBn Idec Inc. has completed a
Phase 3 development program for ELOCTATE, a recoattifactor VIII Fc fusion protein, which is des@ghto be longer acting than current
treatments available for hemophilia A patients.g&o Idec Inc. submitted a Biologics License Applmato the FDA for marketing approval
of ELOCTATE during the first quarter of 2013. Indiiibon, Bayer Healthcare has an ongoing Phasen&alidevelopment program for
BAY94-9027, a PEGylated Factor VIII molecule, whistalso designed to be longer acting than cutreatments available for hemophilia A
patients. ELOCTATE and BAY94-9027, if approved aalth authorities, will be competitive to BAX 855bthe longer-acting Factor VIII
market, if BAX 855 successfully completes PhasérBoal development and is approved by health attiles.

NKTR-181(mu-opioid analgesic molecule for chroniain)

There are numerous companies developing pain tiesrdpsigned to have less abuse potential primiwigugh formulation technologi
and techniques applied to existing pain theratesential competitors include Acura Pharmaceutjdats, Collegium Pharmaceutical, Inc.,
Egalet Ltd, Elite Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Endo He&lblutions Inc., KemPharm, Inc., Pfizer, Inc.,due Pharma L.P., and Signature
Therapeutics, Inc.

Research and Development
Our total research and development expenditurebeatisaggregated into the following significamieyg of expenses (in millions):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Third party and direct materials costs 105.€ 65.€ 50.4
Personnel, overhead and other c 69.C 68.¢ 59.t
Stoclk-based compensation and deprecia 15.4 14.5 16.€
Research and development expe $190.( $148.’ $126.¢

Manufacturing and Supply

We have a manufacturing facility located in HunltsyiAlabama that is capable of manufacturing PEE®d derivatives and starting
materials for active pharmaceutical ingredientsIE\PThe facility is also used to produce APIsuport the early phases of clinical
development of our proprietary drug candidates. fl#ity and associated equipment are designedpedated to be consistent with all
applicable laws and regulations.

As we do not maintain the capability to manufacfimeshed drug products, we utilize contract maetdeers to manufacture the finished
drug product for us. We source drug starting malefor our manufacturing activities from one orrmeuppliers. For the drug starting
materials necessary for our proprietary
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drug candidate development, we have agreementidaupply of such drug components with drug mastufars or suppliers that we believe
have sufficient capacity to meet our demands. Handvom time to time, we source critical raw maiksrand services from one or a limited
number of suppliers and there is a risk that ihsswepply or services were interrupted, it wouldeniatly harm our business. In addition, we
typically order raw materials and services on apase order basis and do not enter into long-temicedted capacity or minimum supply
arrangements. We utilize the services of contraarufacturers to manufacture APIs required for lpteases of clinical development and
eventual commercialization for us under all apgiledaws and regulations.

Environment

As a manufacturer of PEG reagents for the U.S. atavke are subject to inspections by the FDA fanpliance with cGMP and other
U.S. regulatory requirements, including U.S. feflestmte and local regulations regarding environtalgorotection and hazardous and
controlled substance controls, among others. Enmental laws and regulations are complex, charegguéntly and have tended to become
more stringent over time. We have incurred, and omatinue to incur, significant expenditures toweaswve are in compliance with these laws
and regulations. We would be subject to signifiqgaemialties for failure to comply with these lawsl aagulations.

Employees and Consultants

As of December 31, 2013, we had 445 employeeshafw337 employees were engaged in research aradogewent, commercial
operations and quality activities and 108 employeee engaged in general administration and busidegelopment. Of the 445 employees,
363 were located in the United States and 82 vamated in India. We have a number of employees vt advanced degrees, such as Ph
None of our employees are covered by a collectargdining agreement, and we have experienced nlo stoppages. We believe that
maintain good relations with our employees.

To complement our own expert professional staffutize specialists in regulatory affairs, pharmeigilance, process engineering,
manufacturing, quality assurance, clinical develephand business development. These individualsdecscientific advisors as well as
independent consultants.

Available Information

Our website address ldtp://www.nektar.com The information in, or that can be accessed tjinpour website is not part of this annual
report on Form 10-K. Our annual reports on FornKl@uarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current repon Form 8-K and amendments to
those reports are available, free of charge, dhrough our website as soon as reasonably pratgiedter we electronically file such material
with, or furnish it to, the Securities Exchange @oission (SEC). The public may read and copy anyerias we file with the SEC at the
SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Wag#trin D.C. 20549. Information on the operationhaf Public Reference Room can
obtained by calling 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maiistain Internet site that contains reports, proxyiaformation statements and other
information regarding our filings atww.sec.gov
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table sets forth the names, agespasitions of our executive officers as of Februairy 2014:

Name Age Position

Howard W. Robir 61 Director, President and Chief Executive Offi

John Nicholsor 62 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

Robert A. Medve, M.D 48 Senior Vice President and Chief Medical Offi

Stephen K. Doberstein, Ph. 55  Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Offi

Gil M. Labrucherie, J.D 42  Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr

Maninder Hora, Ph.D 60 Senior Vice President, Pharmaceutical Developmedt a
Manufacturing Operatior

Jillian B. Thomset 48 Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Accoun@xiicer

Howard W. Robirhas served as our President and Chief Executivieddfince January 2007 and has served as a meiber board of
directors since February 2007. Mr. Robin serve@lasf Executive Officer, President and a directoBiona Therapeutics, Inc., a biotechnol
company, from July 2001 to November 2006 and framudry 2001 to June 2001, served as their Chiefdiipg Officer, President and as a
director. From 1991 to 2001, Mr. Robin was CorpenNice President and General Manager at Berlex tadbies, Inc. (Berlex), a
pharmaceutical products company that is a subgid&chering, AG, and from 1987 to 1991 he sea&¥ice President of Finance and
Business Development and Chief Financial OfficeBeflex. From 1984 to 1987, Mr. Robin was DireabBusiness Planning and
Development at Berlex. He was a Senior Associatie sithur Andersen & Co. prior to joining Berlex.rMRobin serves as a director of the
Biotechnology Industry Organization, the world’'sgast biotechnology industry trade organizatiord aiso serves as a director of BayBio, a
non-profit trade association serving the Northeatif6rnia life sciences community. He received BiS. in Accounting and Finance from
Fairleigh Dickinson University in 1974.

John Nicholsorhas served as our Senior Vice President and ChiahEial Officer since December 2007. Mr. Nichol$oined the
Company as Senior Vice President of Corporate [@veént and Business Operations in October 200%vasdappointed Senior Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer in Decemi@d 72 Before joining Nektar, Mr. Nicholson spentyars in various executive roles at
Schering Berlin, Inc., the U.S. management holdiogpany of Bayer Schering Pharma AG, a pharma@uwianpany. From 1997 to
September 2007, Mr. Nicholson served as ScherimfnBac.’s Vice President of Corporate Developmand Treasurer. From 2001 to
September 2007, he concurrently served as Presifi&uahering Berlin Insurance Co., and from Febr2207 through September 2007, he
also concurrently served as President of Bayerrh&hemicals and Schering Berlin Capital Corp. Nicholson holds a B.B.A. from the
University of Toledo.

Robert A. Medve, M.has served as our Senior Vice President and Cheefiddl Officer since June 2011 and previously s&ag&our
Vice President Drug Development and Medical Affaitsen he joined Nektar in March 2011 until June22@rom November 2006 to March
2011, he was Chief Medical and Regulatory OffigeeurAxon, Inc., a privately held biotechnologymuany developing drug candidates for
the treatment of pain and CNS disorders. From /806 to November 2006, Dr. Medve served as Cotpdfie President, Science, Rese:
and Development for Lifetree Clinical Research, tredeafter served in a consulting capacity frametio time. From May 2003 to November
2005, Dr. Medve served as Senior Vice PresidentgMrevelopment and Chief Medical and Regulatoryo@fffor Metaphore
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a biotechnology company ldeirgg drug candidates for pain and inflammatiomrr January 1998 to May 2003, he
served in various leadership positions at Johnsdol&son, a pharmaceutical company, most recentixacutive Director of Pediatric Drug
Development. From May 1996 to January 1998, heeskirvthe medical affairs group at Knoll PharmaimalitCompany, a wholly-owned
pharmaceutical subsidiary of BASF acquired by Abbhaboratories in 2001, most recently as Direcfaviedical Affairs. Prior to joining
industry, Dr. Medve served
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as the Director of Pediatric Pain Management astfuotor of Anesthesiology at the State UniversitjNew York at Buffalo (SUNY) and also
completed a Pain Management Fellowship at SUNYcétepleted his residency in anesthesia at Thoméasrsef University Hospital and
served as a surgical intern at Mercy Health Systdedical Center. Dr. Medve received his M.D. froeffdrson Medical College and received
his B.S. in Biology from the Pennsylvania Stateugnsity.

Stephen K. Doberstein, Ph.bas served as our Senior Vice President and Chiehf#fic Officer since January 2010. From Octope08
through December 2009, Dr. Doberstein served as Fresident, Research at Xoma (US) LLC, a pubtielged clinical stage biotechnology
company. From July 2004 until August 2008, he sgta® Vice President, Research at privately held Pime Therapeutics, Inc., a clinical
stage biotechnology company. From September 206iLJuty 2004, Dr. Doberstein was Vice Presidergs®arch at privately held Xencor,
Inc., a clinical stage biotechnology company. Fii#87 to 2000, he held various pharmaceutical rebgawsitions at Exelixis, Inc. (Exelixis)
publicly traded clinical stage biotechnology compaprior to working at Exelixis, Dr. Doberstein wasioward Hughes Postdoctoral Fellow
and a Muscular Dystrophy Association Senior PogttatFellow at the University of California, Betkg. Dr. Doberstein received his Ph.D.
Biochemistry, Cell and Molecular Biology from thehihs Hopkins University School of Medicine and reed a B.S. in Chemical Engineering
from the University of Delaware.

Gil M. Labrucheriehas served as our Senior Vice President, Generaisgband Secretary since April 2007, responsiifiall aspects ¢
our legal affairs. Mr. Labrucherie served as oweJPresident, Corporate Legal from October 200&utin April 2007. From October 2000 to
September 2005, Mr. Labrucherie was Vice Preside@orporate Development at E2open. While at E2pptnLabrucherie was responsible
for global corporate alliances and merger and aitipuis. Prior to E2open, he was the Senior DireotdCorporate Development at AltaVista
Company, an Internet search company, where heegpemnsible for strategic partnerships and mergatsaaquisitions. Mr. Labrucherie sen
on the General Counsel Committee of the Biotechmoladustry Organization, the world’s largest bajtaology industry trade organization.
Mr. Labrucherie began his career as an associdkeioorporate practice of the law firm of WilsoonSini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C.

Mr. Labrucherie received his J.D. from the Berkdley School and a B.A. from the University of Caiifia Davis.

Maninder Hora, Ph.Dhas served as our Senior Vice President, PharmeakeDevelopment and Manufacturing Operations siiagust
2010. From December 2008 to July 2010, he was Riesident, Product and Quality Operations at Faietech Corporation, a clinical stage
biotechnology company, which was acquired by Abbatioratories in April 2010. From July 2006 to Dexteer 2008, Dr. Hora served in
various management capacities at PDL Biopharma, dngiopharmaceutical company, most recently ag Yresident, Product Operations.
From 1986 to 2006, Dr. Hora held positions of ilasiag responsibility with Chiron Corporation (Chirand now Novartis), a pharmaceutical
company, serving most recently at Chiron as Viasiglent of Process and Product Development. Dralderved as a key member of various
teams that successfully registered eight drug@ocines in the U.S. and Europe during his 20-y&raure at Chiron. Dr. Hora has also held
positions at Wyeth Pharmaceuticals and GlaxoSmittekplc prior to joining Chiron. Dr. Hora completais Ph.D. in Bioengineering from the
Indian Institute of Technology, Delhi, India, andsva Fulbright Scholar at the University of Waskong and received his B.S. in chemistry
from the University of Jabalpur.

Jillian B. Thomsefas served as our Senior Vice President, Finant€haref Accounting Officer since February 2010.RriMlarch 200¢
through March 2008, Ms. Thomsen served as our Fiesident Finance and Corporate Controller and #nil 2008 through January 2010
she served as our Vice President Finance and @bafunting Officer. Before joining Nektar, Ms. Theen was Vice President Finance and
Deputy Corporate Controller of Calpine Corporaticmm September 2002 to February 2006. Ms. Thomsencertified public accountant and
previously was a senior manager at Arthur Andetdd? where she worked from 1990 to 2002, and sfieethin audits of multinational
consumer products, life sciences, manufacturingesnellgy companies. Ms. Thomsen holds a Mastercobéntancy from the University of
Denver and a B.A. in Business Economics from Calor@ollege.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

We are providing the following cautionary discussaf risk factors, uncertainties and assumptioas\we believe are relevant to our
business. These are factors that, individuallyndhe aggregate, we think could cause our actsaltseto differ materially from expected and
historical results and our forward-looking statetseMVe note these factors for investors as perdhiifeSection 21E of the Exchange Act and
Section 27A of the Securities Act. You should ustind that it is not possible to predict or idgnéfl such factors. Consequently, you should
not consider this section to be a complete disoussi all potential risks or uncertainties that nsaypstantially impact our business. Moreover,
we operate in a competitive and rapidly changingrenment. New factors emerge from time to time &nsl not possible to predict the impact
of all of these factors on our business, financtaldition or results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Business
Drug development is a long and inherently uncertgimocess with a high risk of failure at every stagédevelopment.

We have a number of proprietary drug candidatespanhered drug candidates in research and develapranging from the early
discovery research phase through preclinical tgstivd clinical trials. Preclinical testing and @l studies are long, expensive and highly
uncertain processes. It will take us, or our callaltive partners, several years to complete clisitalies. The start or end of a clinical study is
often delayed or halted due to changing regulatequirements, manufacturing challenges, requirieical trial administrative actions, slower
than anticipated patient enroliment, changing saeaslof care, availability or prevalence of usa abmparator drug or required prior therapy,
clinical outcomes, or our and our partners’ finahconstraints.

Drug development is a highly uncertain scientificlanedical endeavor, and failure can unexpectettiyroat any stage of preclinical and
clinical development. Typically, there is a higheraf attrition for drug candidates in preclinieald clinical trials due to scientific feasibility,
safety, efficacy, changing standards of medicat eaud other variables. The risk of failure incred®e our drug candidates that are based on
new technologies, such as the application of ouaaded polymer conjugate technology to small mdéscuncluding naloxegol, etirinotecan
pegol (also known as NKTR-102), NKTR-181, NKTR-18KTR-171 and other drug candidates currently stdvery research or preclinical
development. The failure of one or more of our dragdidates could have a material adverse effeouiobusiness, financial condition and
results of operations.

If we or our partners do not obtain regulatory apgval for our drug candidates on a timely basis, arall, or if the terms of any
approval impose significant restrictions or limit@ins on use, our business, results of operationsldimancial condition will be
negatively affected.

We or our partners may not obtain regulatory aparéor drug candidates on a timely basis, or ataglthe terms of any approval (which
in some countries includes pricing approval) mapase significant restrictions or limitations on uBeug candidates must undergo rigorous
animal and human testing and an extensive reviesgss for safety and efficacy by the U.S. Food@ndy Administration (FDA) and
equivalent foreign government health authoritidse Time required for obtaining regulatory decisi@ngncertain and difficult to predict. The
FDA and other U.S. and foreign health authoritiagehsubstantial discretion, at any phase of dewedop, to terminate clinical studies, require
additional clinical development or other testinglay or withhold registration and marketing appt@rd mandate product withdrawals,
including recalls. Further, health authorities htéhe discretion to analyze data using their ownhoadlogies that may differ from those used
by us or our partners which could lead such autilesrto arrive at different conclusions regarding safety or efficacy of a drug candidate. In
addition, undesirable side effects caused by auy dandidates could cause us or regulatory auid®tid interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials
and could result in a more restricted label ordékay or denial of regulatory approval by regulatauthorities.
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Even if we or our partners receive regulatory aparof a product, the approval may limit the indezhuses for which the drug may be
marketed. Our partnered drugs that have obtairpdatry approval, and the manufacturing procefsethese products, are subject to
continued review and periodic inspections by théARIDd other regulatory authorities. Discovery freath review and inspection of previot
unknown problems may result in restrictions on regell products or on us, including withdrawal olatkef such products from the market,
suspension of related manufacturing operationsmoie restricted label. The failure to obtain tiynedgulatory approval of product candidates
any product marketing limitations or a product witlwal would negatively impact our business, rasoftoperations and financial condition.

If the FDA requires a cardiovascular safety studgrfnaloxegol, it could have a material adverse ingb@n the naloxegol program and
our business prospects and financial condition.

The FDA is exploring whether there is any evideottpotential elevated cardiovascular risk possikelgted to the class of mu-opioid
antagonist drugs and naloxegol is a mu-opioid antesg AstraZeneca completed a 52-week, long-terntrolled safety trial of naloxegol as
part of the Phase 3 naloxegol development progfdm.FDA’s general safety concern is based on data 6ther mu-opioid antagonist
programs that may indicate increased cardiovascislaassociated with opioid withdrawal or the gutaism of the delta subtype of the opioid
receptor, for which the FDA has not yet made aalesnnection between these mechanisms and elevatdidvascular risk. The FDA is
currently planning to hold an advisory committeestirgg for the purposes of reviewing the cardioviescsafety study requirements for
peripheral mu-opioid receptor antagonists includiatpxegol. The advisory committee meeting, whiall been originally scheduled for
March 10-11, 2014, is being rescheduled due todidhmngy conflicts.

We amended our license agreement with AstraZermeeatér into a risk sharing arrangement in the ethext pre-approval or post-
approval cardiovascular safety studies are requiyettie FDA for naloxegol. The amendment provides if the FDA requires a cardiovascl
safety study as a condition to approval of nalokegad, as a result, AstraZeneca terminates itseageat with us in its entirety, we would be
required to repay AstraZeneca the $70.0 millionreeeived upon the FDA's acceptance for review efrthloxegol NDA plus accrued interest
at 4.5% compounded annually. If AstraZeneca electsrminate the agreement only with respect tbdense agreement rights in the U.S. due
to a pre-approval cardiovascular safety study, st amount would be paid through a 50% reduatfaron-U.S. royalty amounts otherwise
payable to us until the aggregate amount of sugaltyreduction equals the total principal amouin$00.0 million plus accumulated interes
4.5% compounded annually. On the other hand, iFDA determines a pre-approval cardiovascular gafetdy of naloxegol is not required,
AstraZeneca is obligated to pay us an addition&lG#illion milestone payment. However, if the FB#quires a post-approval cardiovascular
safety study as a condition to regulatory appravedn the royalty rate payable to us from net salemloxegol in the U.S. by AstraZeneca
would be reduced by two percentage points untibilgregate amount of such royalty payment redudi@gual to a maximum of $35.0
million.

Even with success in previously completed clinit@ls, the risk of clinical failure for any drug endidate remains high prior to
regulatory approval.

A number of companies have suffered significanbuegeen failures in late stage clinical studiestdfactors such as inconclusive
efficacy or safety, even after achieving positigsults in earlier clinical studies that were satitfry both to them and to reviewing governrr
health authorities. While etirinotecan pegol, Antikalnhale, and BAX 855 have each demonstratedipesiesults from earlier clinical studi
there is a substantial risk that Phase 3 clinizalysoutcomes for these drug candidates from Igpg&ent populations will not demonstrate
positive efficacy, safety or other clinical outcavmifficient to support regulatory filings and amslé regulatory approval. Phase 3 clinical st
outcomes remain very unpredictable and it is péess$iiat one or more of these Phase 3 clinical studould fail at any time due to efficacy,
safety or other important clinical findings or régfory requirements. If one or more of these draigdidates fail in Phase 3 clinical studies, it
would have a material adverse effect on our busjrfasancial condition and results of operations.
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We are a party to numerous collaboration agreemeatsl other significant agreements which contain cplex commercial terms that
could result in disputes, litigation or indemnifigan liability that could adversely affect our buséss, results of operations and
financial condition.

We currently derive, and expect to derive in the$eeable future, all of our revenue from collaboraagreements with biotechnology
and pharmaceutical companies. These collaboratjsgeanents contain complex commercial terms, inolgrdi

clinical development and commercialization obligati that are based on certain commercial reasaregdgoerformance standards
that can often be difficult to enforce if disputesse as to adequacy of our par’s performance

research and development performance and reimberdgeshligations for our personnel and other resssiedlocated to partnered di
candidate development prograr

clinical and commercial manufacturing agreemensyesof which are priced on an actual cost basipffoducts supplied by us to our
partners with complicated cost allocation formwas methodologie:

intellectual property ownership allocation betwesrand our partners for improvements and new inwestdeveloped during the
course of the collaboratio

royalties on drug sales based on a number of convalgables, including net sales calculations, gaphy, scope of patent claim
coverage, patent life, generic competitors, bunglédng and other factors; ai

indemnity obligations for intellectual property iiimMgement, product liability and certain other olai

We are a party to certain significant agreementduding an asset purchase agreement with Noyartisuant to which we sold a
significant portion of our pulmonary business & &md of 2008, the worldwide exclusive license agrent with AstraZeneca related to the
further development and commercialization of nagmteand the purchase and sale agreement with RBh&e Trust (RPI) related to the sale
of our royalty interests in UCB’s CIMZI& and RocBeéMIRCERA® that we completed in February 2012. Eaictnese agreements contains
complex representations and warranties, covenatsna@emnification obligations. If we breach anyoof agreements with Novartis,
AstraZeneca, RPI or any third party agreements atgobby these complex transactions, such a breadt cesult in substantial future liability
and harm our financial condition.

From time to time, we have informal dispute resolutliscussions with third parties regarding thprapriate interpretation of the
complex commercial terms contained in our agreesn@ne or more disputes may arise or escalatesifuthre regarding our collaboration
agreements, transaction documents, or thary license agreements that may ultimately rasudbstly litigation and unfavorable interpretat
of contract terms, which would have a material asweffect on our business, financial condition erslilts of operations.
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We have substantial future capital requirements atibre is a risk we may not have access to suffitieapital to meet our current
business plan. If we do not receive substantial@stione payments from our existing collaboration agments, execute new high value
collaborations or other arrangements, or are unaliteraise additional capital in one or more finarmyg transactions, we would be
unable to continue our current level of investmeintresearch and development.

As of December 31, 2013, we had cash and investniembarketable securities valued at approxima262.0 million, of which $25.0
million was restricted in relation to our 12.0% mersecured notes, and indebtedness of approxiyn@1&0.8 million. The indebtedness
includes approximately $125.0 million in seniorwex notes due July 2017, but excludes our lomg-tbility relating to the sale of future
royalties. While this royalty obligation liabilityill not generally be settled in cash, we expedieaequired to make a cash payment of $7.0
million in 2014, as a certain performance targetdsexpected to be met. While we believe thataaish position will be sufficient to meet our
liquidity requirements through at least the nextdénths, our future capital requirements will deghp@pon numerous unpredictable factors,
including:

 the cost, timing and outcomes of clinical studied eegulatory reviews of our proprietary drug caiaties that we have licensed to our
collaboration partners —important examples inclodixegol that has been licensed to AstraZenecakaaim Inhale that has been
licensed to Bayer, and BAX 855 that is being depetbby Baxter under an intellectual property ligefrem us;

 if and when we receive potential milestone paymantsroyalties from our existing collaborationthié drug candidates subject to
those collaborations achieve clinical, regulatarg@ammercial succes

 the progress, timing, cost and results of our cihdevelopment programs — in particular our PI8aB&ACON study for etirinotecan
pegol and our clinical studies for NK*-181;

» the success, progress, timing and costs of ourteffo implement new collaborations, licenses ahémtransactions that increase our
current net cash, such as the sale of additionaltpinterests held by us, term loan or other dgldngements, and the issuance of
securities

 the outcome of the regulatory review process amangercial success of drug products for which weeatéled to receive royalties
(e.g., naloxegol being developed by AstraZene

» the number of patients, enrollment criteria, priynand secondary endpoints, and the number of elisktidies required by the
government health authorities in order to consideapproval our drug candidates and those of olialooration partners

» our general and administrative expenses, capifsmditures and other uses of cash;

 disputes concerning patents, proprietary rightéicense and collaboration agreements that nedgtivgact our receipt of milestone
payments or royalties or require us to make sigaifi payments arising from licenses, settlemedigrae judgments or ongoing
royalties.

A significant multi-year capital commitment is réigad to advance our drug candidates through thewsistages of research and
development in order to generate sufficient dateniable high value collaboration partnerships wigmificant upfront payments or to
successfully achieve regulatory approval. In thenéwe do not enter into any new collaborationmnthips with significant upfront payments
and we choose to continue our later stage reseatilevelopment programs, we may need to pursaading alternatives, including dilutive
equity-based financings, such as an offering ofvedible debt or common stock, which would dilute percentage ownership of our current
common stockholders and could significantly lower market value of our common stock. If sufficieapital is not available to us or is not
available on commercially reasonable terms, it@woatuire us to delay or reduce one or more ofesearch and development programs. If wi
are unable to sufficiently advance our researchdmwvelopment programs, it could substantially imgia value of such programs and result ir
a material adverse effect on our business, findnoiadition and results of operations.
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While we have conducted numerous experiments udatgpratory and home-based chemistry techniques thave not been able to
convert NKTR-181 into a rapid-acting and more abuma opioid, there is a risk that in the future adknique could be discovered to
convert NKTR-181 into a rapid-acting and more abuma opioid, which would significantly diminish thealue of this drug candidate.

An important objective of our NKTR-181 drug devetognt program is to create a unique opioid molethdé does not rapidly enter a
patient’s central nervous system and thereforgh@potential to be less susceptible to abusedhiamative opioid therapies. To date, we hav
conducted numerous experiments using laboratonjhante-based chemistry techniques that have bedneuttaconvert NKTR-181 into a
rapidly-acting, more abusable form of opioid. le fature, an alternative chemistry technique, pge@@ method of administration, or
combination thereof, may be discovered to enaldectimversion of NKTR-181 into a more abusable apiihich could significantly and
negatively impact the potential of NKTR-181.

If we are unable to establish and maintain collakadion partnerships on attractive commercial ternw)r business, results of
operations and financial condition could suffer.

We intend to continue to seek partnerships withrplageutical and biotechnology partners to fundréigoo of our research and
development capital requirements. The timing of wellaboration partnerships is difficult to preditiie to availability of clinical data, the
outcomes from our clinical studies, the numberateptial partners that need to complete due ditigeand approval processes, the definitive
agreement negotiation process and numerous otpeediotable factors that can delay, impede or presignificant transactions. If we are
unable to find suitable partners or to negotiateaboration arrangements with favorable commerteiths with respect to our existing and
future drug candidates or the licensing of ourlietéual property, or if any arrangements we negetior have negotiated, are terminated, it
could have a material adverse effect on our busjriegmncial condition and results of operations.

Preliminary and interim data from our clinical stuigs that we announce or publish from time to tinesubject to audit and
verification procedures that could result in matatichanges in the final data and may change as mpsgient data becomes available.

From time to time, we publish preliminary or intardata from our clinical studies. For example, \aeehannounced preliminary topline
data from our Phase 2 clinical study for NKTR-1Bieliminary data remains subject to audit confiforatind verification procedures that may
result in the final data being materially differérdm the preliminary data we previously publishederim data is also subject to the risk that
one or more of the clinical outcomes may materielignge as patient enroliment continues and mdrenpalata becomes available. As a
result, preliminary and interim data should be \éewith caution until the final data are availataterial adverse changes in the final data
could significantly harm our business prospects.

Delays in clinical studies are common and have mamauses, and any significant delay in clinical sted being conducted by us or o
partners could result in delay in regulatory apprals and jeopardize the ability to proceed to comaialization.

We or our partners may experience delays in cliticas of drug candidates. Etirinotecan pegapatients with metastatic breast cancer
and BAX 855 are currently in Phase 3 clinical sésdiand Bayer has initiated Phase 3 clinical dgveémt of BAY41-6551 with the first
patient enrolled in April 2013. A Phase 2 clinistildy for etirinotecan pegol in patients with medée colorectal cancer is still open for
enrollment. We are currently evaluating the regeatinounced results from our Phase 2 efficacyadinstudy for NKTR-181 and are in the
planning stage for a Phase 3 clinical study for RKT81 including continuing consultations with leegdi the pain clinical trial field and
interactions with the FDA. Because it is unlikehat we will be able to identify a single causetfie NKTR-181 Phase 2 study not meeting its
primary efficacy endpoint, there is increased nskffectively designing a Phase 3 clinical studyglemonstrate the efficacy of NKTR-181.
These
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and other of our planned clinical studies may regib on time, have an effective design, enrollfiGgant number of patients or be completed
on schedule, if at all. Our clinical trials for aof/our product candidates could be delayed faaréety of reasons, including:

» delays in obtaining regulatory approval to commeactinical study
» delays in reaching agreement with applicable healthorities on a clinical study desig
 imposition of a clinical hold following an inspeati of our clinical trial operations or trial sitbg the FDA or other health authoritie

* suspension or termination of a clinical study byaus partners, the FDA or foreign health authesitilue to adverse side effects of a
drug on subjects in the tric

» delays in recruiting suitable patients to partitépa a trial;

» delays in having patients complete participatioa tnial or return for po-treatment follov-up;
« clinical sites dropping out of a trial to the detent of enrollment rate

» delays in manufacturing and delivery of sufficisapply of clinical trial materials; ar

» changes in health authorities policies or guidaqicable to our drug candidat:

If initiation or completion of any of the plannelihécal studies are delayed for our drug candid&esny of the above reasons or
otherwise, the approval process could be delayddtanability to commercialize and commence salébase drug candidates could be
materially harmed, which could have a material aslveffect on our business, financial condition ersililts of operations.

The commercial potential of a drug candidate in ddepment is difficult to predict. If the market szfor a new drug is significantly
smaller than we anticipate, it could significantind negatively impact our revenue, results of opas and financial condition.

It is very difficult to estimate the commercial potial of product candidates due to important feectnich as safety and efficacy comps
to other available treatments, including potergiteric drug alternatives with similar efficacy files, changing standards of care, third party
payer reimbursement standards, patient and phypgiceferences, drug scheduling status, the avhilabf competitive alternatives that may
emerge either during the long drug developmentgs®or after commercial introduction, and the abélity of generic versions of our
successful product candidates following approvagibyernment health authorities based on the expiraif regulatory exclusivity or our
inability to prevent generic versions from comingtarket by asserting our patents. If due to onaare of these risks the market potential for
a drug candidate is lower than we anticipatedpula significantly and negatively impact the compi@rterms of any collaboration partnership
potential for such drug candidate or, if we haveady entered into a collaboration for such drutdidate, the revenue potential from royalty
and milestone payments could be significantly digfied and would negatively impact our businessnfimal condition and results of
operations.

We may not be able to obtain intellectual propelitenses related to the development of our drug daates on a commercially
reasonable basis, if at all.

Numerous pending and issued U.S. and foreign patgrts and other proprietary rights owned by thedties relate to pharmaceutical
compositions, methods of preparation and manufexgtuand methods of use and administration. We @igmredict with any certainty which,
any, patent references will be considered relet@matr or our collaboration partnetschnology or drug candidates by authorities invidugous
jurisdictions where such rights exist, nor can wedjct with certainty which, if any, of these righwill or may be asserted against us by t
parties. In certain cases, we have existing licRse&ross-licenses with third parties, howeverstepe and adequacy of these licenses is ven
uncertain and can change substantially during
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long development and commercialization cycles fotdzhnology and pharmaceutical products. Therebeamo assurance that we can obtain
license to any technology that we determine we m@eeasonable terms, if at all, or that we cowdatlop or otherwise obtain alternate
technology. If we are required to enter into arl®ewith a third party, our potential economic bierier the products subject to the license will
be diminished. If a license is not available on omercially reasonable terms or at all, we may begmted from developing and selling the
drug, which could significantly harm our businegsults of operations, and financial condition.

If any of our pending patent applications do notsise, or are deemed invalid following issuance, waynfiose valuable intellectual
property protection.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldyy companies, such as ours, are uncertain atudvim complex legal and factual
issues. We own more than 175 U.S. and 500 foreagenps and a number of pending patent applicatlatscover various aspects of our
technologies. There can be no assurance that pdterithave issued will be held valid and enforteaba court of law. Even for patents that
are held valid and enforceable, the legal procsessaated with obtaining such a judgment is timesoming and costly. Additionally, issued
patents can be subject to opposition or other gdiogs that can result in the revocation of themadr maintenance of the patent in amended
form (and potentially in a form that renders théepawithout commercially relevant and/or broademge). Further, our competitors may be
able to circumvent and otherwise design arouncpatents. Even if a patent is issued and enforcebbtause development and
commercialization of pharmaceutical products casuigect to substantial delays, patents may exgairly and provide only a short period of
protection, if any, following the commercializatiof products encompassed by our patents. We may toguarticipate in interference
proceedings declared by the U.S. Patent and Tra#te@ffice, which could result in a loss of the p#tand/or substantial cost to us.

We have filed patent applications, and plan todilielitional patent applications, covering variosexts of our PEGylation and advancet
polymer conjugate technologies and our propriepaogluct candidates. There can be no assurancthéhpatent applications for which we
apply would actually issue as patents, or do sh eaimmercially relevant and/or broad coverage. ddhwerage claimed in a patent application
can be significantly reduced before the paterdsaed. The scope of our claim coverage can beairit our ability to enter into licensing
transactions with third parties and our right toaige royalties from our collaboration partnershisce publication of discoveries in scientific
or patent literature often lags behind the datsuch discoveries, we cannot be certain that we therérst inventor of inventions covered by
our patents or patent applications. In additioeretis no guarantee that we will be the first ke & patent application directed to an invention.

An adverse outcome in any judicial proceeding iming intellectual property, including patents, abslbject us to significant liabilities
to third parties, require disputed rights to betised from or to third parties or require us teseassing the technology in dispute. In those
instances where we seek an intellectual propasgnse from another, we may not be able to obtaititense on a commercially reasonable
basis, if at all, thereby raising concerns on duility to freely commercialize our technologiespyoducts.

We are involved in legal proceedings and may inaubstantial litigation costs and liabilities thatilvadversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

From time to time, third parties have asserted,raag in the future assert, that we or our partidrgge their proprietary rights, such as
patents and trade secrets, or have otherwise kdamir obligations to them. The third party oftexsds its assertions on a claim that its paten
cover our technology platform or drug candidatethat we have misappropriated its confidential mppietary information. Similar assertions
of infringement could be based on future paterds ey issue to third parties. In certain of oureagents with our partners, we are obligated
to indemnify and hold harmless our collaboratiorntmers from intellectual property infringement, guat liability and certain other claims,
which could cause us to incur substantial costsliabdity if we are called upon to defend oursed\and our partners against any claims. If a
third party obtains injunctive or other equitabdéief against us or our partners, they could eiffett prevent us, or our partners,
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from developing or commercializing, or deriving eenwe from, certain drugs or drug candidates int& and abroad. Costs associated with
litigation, substantial damage claims, indemnifimatclaims or royalties paid for licenses from thparties could have a material adverse effec
on our business, financial condition and resultspsrations.

Third-party claims involving proprietary rights other matters could also result in substantialesatint payments or substantial damage
to be paid by us. For instance, a settlement niggiire us to enter a license agreement under wiéctvould pay substantial royalties or ot
compensation to a third party, diminishing our feteconomic returns from the related drug. In Ddm&m2013, we entered into a litigation
settlement with the Research Foundation of theeSdatversity of New York (SUNY) pursuant to whiclevagree to the payment of a total of
$12 million in future installments and certain atterms and conditions in exchange for the fuktaske of certain breach of contract claims by
SUNY. In October 2011, we entered into a settlemelated to trade secret and breach of contragalion where we agreed to make an
upfront payment of $2.7 million and a future cogént payment of $3.0 million if a certain drug calade receives FDA approval. In 2006, we
entered into a litigation settlement related tardellectual property dispute with the UniversitiyAdlabama in Huntsville pursuant to which we
paid $11.0 million and agreed to pay an additi®i4l.0 million in equal $1.0 million installmentsenen years ending with the last payment
due on July 1, 2016.

In addition, from time to time, we may in the fuguassert claims against third parties, based oimg&ment of our proprietary rights or
otherwise. Any such claims may not ultimately becassful, and we may incur substantial costs atuililies in pursuing them.

Our manufacturing operations and those of our coaftt manufacturers are subject to laws and other govmental regulatory
requirements, which, if not met, would have a masdradverse effect on our business, results of ag@&ms and financial condition.

We and our contract manufacturers are require@iitain cases to maintain compliance with curremtdgmanufacturing practices
(cGMP), including cGMP guidelines applicable tohaetpharmaceutical ingredients, and with laws agltations governing manufacture and
distribution of controlled substances, and areexitip inspections by the FDA, DEA or comparableraxes in other jurisdictions to confirm
such compliance. We anticipate periodic regulatospections of our drug manufacturing facilitiesldane manufacturing facilities of our
contract manufacturers for compliance with applieabgulatory requirements. Any failure to followdadocument our or our contract
manufacturers’ adherence to such cGMP and othey éandl governmental regulations or satisfy otherufaaruring and product release
regulatory requirements may disrupt our abilityrteet our manufacturing obligations to our custonlees to significant delays in the
availability of products for commercial use or @il study, result in the termination or hold odliaical study or delay or prevent filing or
approval of marketing applications for our produéailure to comply with applicable laws and regiolas may also result in sanctions being
imposed on us, including fines, injunctions, cpénalties, failure of regulatory authorities torgrenarketing approval of our products, delays,
suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license cation, seizures or recalls of products, operatasgrictions and criminal prosecutions, any
of which could harm our business. The results e$¢hinspections could result in costly manufactucinanges or facility or capital equipment
upgrades to satisfy the FDA that our manufactuang quality control procedures are in substantalgiance with cGMP. Manufacturing
delays, for us or our contract manufacturers, pendesolution of regulatory deficiencies or suspamswould have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations and finhnoiadition.

If we or our contract manufacturers are not able tnanufacture drugs or drug substances in sufficieqiantities that meet applicable
quality standards, it could delay clinical studiegsult in reduced sales or constitute a breachoof contractual obligations, any of
which could significantly harm our business, finama condition and results of operations.

If we or our contract manufacturers are not ableaémufacture and supply sufficient drug quantitieseting applicable quality standards
required to support large clinical studies or comuia¢ manufacturing in a
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timely manner, we risk delaying our clinical stugl@ those of our collaboration partners, redudingy sales by our collaboration partners or
breaching contractual obligations. As a resultcmeld incur substantial costs and damages, anateegtueven eliminate product or royalty
revenue. In some cases, we rely on contract matwfiag organizations to manufacture and supply gmaegluct for our clinical studies and
those of our collaboration partners. Pharmaceuti@aiufacturing of drugs and devices involves sigaift risks and uncertainties related to the
demonstration of adequate stability, sufficientification of the drug substance and drug proding,itlentification and elimination of
impurities, optimal formulations, process and atiedyy methods validations, device performance drallenges in controlling for all of these
variables. We have faced and may in the future $ageificant difficulties, delays and unexpectegenses as we validate third party contract
manufacturers required for drug and device suppbupport our clinical studies and the clinicabéts and products of our collaboration
partners. Failure by us or our contract manufacsui@ supply drug product or devices in sufficignantities that meet all applicable quality
requirements could result in supply shortages €oratinical studies or the clinical studies and coencial activities of our collaboration
partners. Such failures could significantly andenatly delay clinical trials and regulatory subsi@ns or result in reduced sales, any of whick
could significantly harm our business prospectsiilte of operations and financial condition.

Building and validating large scale clinical or amercial-scale manufacturing facilities and processecruiting and training qualified
personnel and obtaining necessary regulatory apfs @y complex, expensive and time consuming. émpidist we have encountered challenge:
in scaling up manufacturing to meet the requiremefifarge scale clinical trials without making nifaghtions to the drug formulation, which
may cause significant delays in clinical developtm&e experienced repeated significant delaysdrtiag the Phase 3 clinical development
program for Amikacin Inhale as we sought to finaland validate the device design with a demonstredapability to be manufactured at
commercial scale. Drug/device combination prodacgsparticularly complex, expensive and time-coriagrio develop due to the number of
variables involved in the final product design litting ease of patient and doctor use, maintenafcknical efficacy, reliability and cost of
manufacturing, regulatory approval requirementsstaddards and other important factors. There goes to be substantial and unpredictable
risk and uncertainty related to manufacturing amgp$y until such time as the commercial supply ohaivalidated and proven.

Our revenue is exclusively derived from our collabtion agreements, which can result in significafitictuation in our revenue from
period to period, and our past revenue is therefoi@ necessarily indicative of our future revenue.

Our revenue is derived from our collaboration agreets, from which we receive contract research gays) milestone payments based
on clinical progress, regulatory progress or nkfssachievements, royalties and manufacturing réxe8ignificant variations in the timing of
receipt of cash payments and our recognition ofmere can result from significant milestone paymeéated on the execution of new
collaboration agreements, the timing of clinicalammes, regulatory approval, commercial launchtaedachievement of certain annual sales
thresholds. The amount of our revenue derived ftolfaboration agreements in any given period wélbeind on a number of unpredictable
factors, including our ability to find and maintanitable collaboration partners, the timing of tlegiotiation and conclusion of collaboration
agreements with such partners, whether and wheor war collaboration partners achieve clinical,ulegpry and sales milestones, the timing
of regulatory approvals in one or more major mavkegimbursement levels by private and governmayers, and the market introduction of
new drugs or generic versions of the approved dasgyell as other factors. Our past revenue gertefeam collaboration agreements is not
necessarily indicative of our future revenue. Iy ahour existing or future collaboration partné&gs to develop, obtain regulatory approval
for, manufacture or ultimately commercialize angdurct candidate under our collaboration agreenmemtbusiness, financial condition, results
of operations and prospectus could be materialiyaiversely affected.
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If our partners, on which we depend to obtain regtibry approvals for and to commercialize our parteed drug candidates, are not
successful, or if such collaborations fail, the ddepment or commercialization of our partnered dregndidates may be delayed or
unsuccessful.

When we sign a collaborative development agreemelitense agreement to develop a drug candidateaypharmaceutical or
biotechnology company, the pharmaceutical or blotetogy company is generally expected to:

design and conduct large scale clinical stuc
prepare and file documents necessary to obtainrgmeant approvals to sell a given drug candidatd{a
market and sell the drugs when and if they areayat.

Our reliance on collaboration partners poses a eumbrisks to our business, including risks that:

we may be unable to control whether, and the extewhich, our partners devote sufficient resoutoethe development programs or
commercial marketing and sales effo

disputes may arise or escalate in the future veisipect to the ownership of rights to technologintallectual property developed with
partners

disagreements with partners could lead to delaysritermination of, the research, developmentonmercialization of product
candidates or to litigation or arbitration proce;

contracts with our partners may fail to provideaith significant protection, or to be effectivelgferced, in the event one of our
partners fails to perforn

partners have considerable discretion in electihgtier to pursue the development of any additipraduct candidates and may
pursue alternativtechnologies or products either on their own azdhaboration with our competitor

partners with marketing rights may choose to detmteer resources to the marketing of our partnereducts than they do to prodc
of their own development or product-licensed from other third partie

the timing and level of resources that our partdedicate to the development program will affeettiming and amount of revenue
receive;

we do not have the ability to unilaterally termmaigreements (or partners may have extension ewsdmights) that we believe are
not on commercially reasonable terms or consistéthtour current business stratey

partners may be unable to pay us as expectec

partners may terminate their agreements with ugtenally for any or no reason, in some cases thighpayment of a termination fee
penalty and in other cases with no terminationpkesalty.

Given these risks, the success of our current atde partnerships is highly unpredictable andhaare a substantial negative or positive
impact on our business. We have entered into amidion agreements in the past that have been guésty terminated, such as our
collaboration agreement with Pfizer, Inc. for tlevelopment and commercialization of inhaled insthist was terminated by Pfizer, Inc. in
November 2007. If other collaboration agreemengssaspended or terminated, our ability to commEbzeigertain other proposed prodi
candidates could also be negatively impacted. dfcollaborations fail, our product development ommercialization of product candidates
could be delayed or cancelled, which would negétivapact our business, results of operations amahtial condition.
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If we are unable either to create sales, marketiagd distribution capabilities or to enter into ageenents with third parties to perform
these functions, we will be unable to commercialgr products successfully.

We currently have no sales, marketing or distrimuttapabilities. To commercialize any of our drtlgs receive regulatory approval for
commercialization, we must either develop intesaés, marketing and distribution capabilities,akhivould be expensive and time
consuming, or enter into collaboration arrangemeiitfs third parties to perform these services. & éecide to market our products directly,
must commit significant financial and manageriglaerces to develop a marketing and sales forcetedfimical expertise and with supporting
distribution, administration and compliance cagtibg. Factors that may inhibit our efforts to coemeialize our products directly or indirectly
with our partners include:

» our inability to recruit and retain adequate nurshereffective sales and marketing person
* the inability of sales personnel to obtain access tpersuade adequate numbers of physicians torysescribe our product

* the lack of complementary products or multiple preidoricing arrangements may put us at a competdisadvantage relative to
companies with more extensive product lines;

» unforeseen costs and expenses associated witingraat sustaining an independent sales and magketganization

If we, or our partners through our collaborationgre not successful in recruiting sales and markegipersonnel or in building a sales
and marketing infrastructure, we will have difficty commercializing our products, which would advetg affect our business, results
of operations and financial condition.

To the extent we rely on other pharmaceutical otdahnology companies with established sales, rtiagkand distribution systems to
market our products, we will need to establish mxaihtain partnership arrangements, and we mayeaable to enter into these arrangements
on acceptable terms or at all. To the extent treenter into co-promotion or other arrangementg ramenues we receive will depend upon the
efforts of third parties, which may not be succelkahd are only partially in our control. In theeew that we market our products without a
partner, we would be required to build a salesraadketing organization and infrastructure, whichuldarequire a significant investment and
we may not be successful in building this orgamizeand infrastructure in a timely or efficient nmam.

We purchase some of the starting material for drugysd drug candidates from a single source or a lied number of suppliers, and
the partial or complete loss of one of these supmicould cause production delays, clinical triadldys, substantial loss of revenue and
contract liability to third parties.

We often face very limited supply of a critical ramaterial that can only be obtained from a singtea limited number of, suppliers,
which could cause production delays, clinical tdalays, substantial lost revenue opportunity ertreat liability to third parties. For example,
there are only a limited number of qualified supgi and in some cases single source supplierydaaw materials included in our
PEGylation and advanced polymer conjugate drug diéations. Any interruption in supply or failure poocure such raw materials on
commercially feasible terms could harm our busirmwsdelaying our clinical trials, impeding commeication of approved drugs or
increasing our costs.

We rely on trade secret protection and other unpatsl proprietary rights for important proprietaryethnologies, and any loss of such
rights could harm our business, results of operat®and financial condition.

We rely on trade secret protection for our confid@rand proprietary information. No assurance loamgiven that others will not
independently develop substantially equivalent ictarftial and proprietary information or otherwissrgaccess to our trade secrets or disclos
such technology, or that we can meaningfully prioter trade secrets. In addition, unpatented pedgny rights, including trade secrets and
know-how, can be difficult to
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protect and may lose their value if they are indelesitly developed by a third party or if their smyris lost. Any loss of trade secret protectior
or other unpatented proprietary rights could haumbusiness, results of operations and financiatlitmn.

We expect to continue to incur substantial losseslaegative cash flow from operations and may nehéave or sustain profitability it
the future.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, we reponed lass of $162.0 million. If and when we achigvefitability depends upon a
number of factors, including the timing and recaigni of milestone payments and royalties receitieel timing of revenue under our
collaboration agreements, the amount of investm&atmake in our proprietary product candidatestaadegulatory approval and market
success of our product candidates. We may not leet@lachieve and sustain profitability.

Other factors that will affect whether we achiewe gustain profitability include our ability, alooe together with our partners, to:
» develop drugs utilizing our technologies, eithetdpendently or in collaboration with other pharmaical or biotech companie

« effectively estimate and manage clinical developneests, particularly the cost of the BEACON stuaayl the clinical studies for
NKTR-181;

» receive necessary regulatory and marketing appsg

e maintain or expand manufacturing at necessaryde

» achieve market acceptance of our partnered progc

 receive royalties on products that have been aplawnarketed or submitted for marketing approvéhwegulatory authorities; ar
» maintain sufficient funds to finance our activiti

If government and private insurance programs do mobvide payment or reimbursement for our partnerptbducts or proprietary
products, those products will not be widely acceptehich would have a negative impact on our bussseresults of operations and
financial condition.

In both domestic and foreign markets, sales ofpauinered and proprietary products that have redeiggulatory approval will depend
part on market acceptance among physicians anehpatipricing approvals by government authorities the availability of payment or
reimbursement from third-party payers, such as gowent health administration authorities, managed providers, private health insurers
and other organizations. Such third-party payegsrarreasingly challenging the price and cost ¢iffeness of medical products and services.
Therefore, significant uncertainty exists as tofheing approvals for, and the payment or reimbovent status of, newly approved healthcare
products. Moreover, legislation and regulationgetfhg the pricing of pharmaceuticals may chanderbaegulatory agencies approve our
proposed products for marketing and could furthmeit lpricing approvals for, and reimbursement aft products from government authorities
and third-party payers. A government or thipasty payer decision not to approve pricing forpmvide adequate coverage and reimburser
of, our products would limit market acceptancewaflsproducts.

We depend on third parties to conduct the clini¢ahls for our proprietary product candidates anchg failure of those parties to fulfil
their obligations could harm our development andmmercialization plans.

We depend on independent clinical investigatorstragt research organizations and other thady service providers to conduct clini
trials for our proprietary product candidates. Wiy heavily on these parties for successful exeoudf our clinical trials. Though we are
ultimately responsible for the results of their
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activities, many aspects of their activities argdral our control. For example, we are responsitiefsuring that each of our clinical trials is
conducted in accordance with the general investigal plan and protocols for the trials, but theependent clinical investigators may
prioritize other projects over ours or communidagelies regarding our products to us in an untimepner. Third parties may not complete
activities on schedule or may not conduct our céhtrials in accordance with regulatory requireteea our stated protocols. The early
termination of any of our clinical trial arrangent®rthe failure of third parties to comply with tregyulations and requirements governing
clinical trials or our reliance on results of tsdhat we have not directly conducted or monitaead hinder or delay the development,
approval and commercialization of our product ceatés and would adversely affect our businessitsesiuoperations and financial condition.

Significant competition for our polymer conjugatehemistry technology platforms and our partnered apdbprietary products and
product candidates could make our technologies, guiots or product candidates obsolete or uncompeditiwhich would negatively
impact our business, results of operations and firedal condition.

Our PEGylation and advanced polymer conjugate cteyrplatforms and our partnered and proprietaodpcts and product candidates
compete with various pharmaceutical and biotechmotimmpanies. Competitors of our PEGylation angpelr conjugate chemistry
technologies include Biogen Idec Inc., Savient Rtzeneuticals, Inc., Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Ltchz& Pharmaceuticals, Inc., SunBio
Corporation, Mountain View Pharmaceuticals, Inmybl Nordisk A/S (formerly assets held by Neose hedbgies, Inc.), and NOF
Corporation. Several other chemical, biotechnolagg pharmaceutical companies may also be devel@ii@ylation technologies or
technologies that have similar impact on targegdnolecules. Some of these companies license oiderthe technology to other companies,
while others are developing the technology forrma use.

There are several competitors for our proprietaodpct candidates currently in development. For Kewin Inhale, the current standard
of care includes several approved intravenous iatitb for the treatment of either hospital-acqdipmeumonia or ventilator-associated
pneumonia in patients on mechanical ventilators.naoxegol, there are currently several altermatherapies used to address opioid-induced
constipation (OIC) and opioid-induced bowel dystimt (OBD), including subcutaneous Relistor (metimdrexone bromide), oral Amitizia
(lubiprostone), and oral and rectal over-the-coulaeatives and stool softeners such as docusdtarapsenna and milk of magnesia. In
addition, there are a number of companies devejppatential products which are in various stagediofcal development and are being
evaluated for the treatment of OIC and OBD in défe patient populations, including Cubist Pharnagicals, Inc., Progenics Pharmaceuticals
Inc. in collaboration with Salix Pharmaceuticalsl L. Mundipharma Int. Limited, Sucampo Pharmacaigicinc., Develco Pharma, Alkermes,
Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc, Theravance, Inc., andd&@a Pharmaceutical Company Limited. For etirinategegol, there are a number of
chemotherapies and cancer therapies approved &ohin various stages of clinical development faaist and ovarian cancers, including, bu
not limited to: Abraxané& (paclitaxel protein-boupatticles for injectable suspension (albumin boynéfiinitor ® (everolimus), Doxil®
(doxorubicin HCI), Ellenc® (epirubicin), GemZar fggtabine), Halavef (eribulin), Hercepfin (trastomb), Hycamtir® (topotecan),
Ixempra® (ixabepilone), Navelbirfe (vinolrebine),daiib, Paraplati® (carboplatin), Taxdl (paclitaxahd Taxoter€ (docetaxel). Major
pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies with apgd drugs or drugs in development for these carinetude, but are not limited to,
Bristol-Meyers Squibb Company, Eli Lilly & Co., Ree, GlaxoSmithKline plc, Johnson and Johnson, Rflre. Eisai, Inc., and Sanofi
Aventis S.A. There are approved therapies forthattnent of colorectal cancer, including Elox&tinxgliplatin), Camptosat (irinotecan),
Avastin® (bevacizumab), Zaltr&p (Ziv-afilberceptjivarga® (regorafenib), ErbituX (cetuximab), VeckiBi(panitumumab), Xeloda
(capecitabine), Adruc# (fluorouracil) and Wellcaw® (leucovorin). In addition, there are a numbgdiugs in various stages of preclinical
and clinical development from companies exploriagaer therapies or improved chemotherapeutic agemstentially treat colorectal cancer,
including, but not limited to, products in develogm from Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, Pfizer, If@laxoSmithKline plc, Antigenics, Inc.,
F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd, Novartis AG, Cell Therapes, Inc., Neopharm Inc., Meditech Research Btdhemia Limited, and Enzon
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
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There can be no assurance that we or our partriksuacessfully develop, obtain regulatory appievar and commercialize next-
generation or new products that will successfutlgnpete with those of our competitors. Many of cumpetitors have greater financial,
research and development, marketing and sales,fawunting and managerial capabilities. We face oetitipn from these companies not just
in product development but also in areas suchasiteng employees, acquiring technologies thathhgnhance our ability to commercialize
products, establishing relationships with certasearch and academic institutions, enrolling pttienclinical trials and seeking program
partnerships and collaborations with larger phaeutical companies. As a result, our competitors magceed in developing competing
technologies, obtaining regulatory approval or gejmmarket acceptance for products before we des&lievelopments could make our
products or technologies uncompetitive or obsolete.

If product liability lawsuits are brought againsts) we may incur substantial liabilities.

The manufacture, clinical testing, marketing anlé s medical products involve inherent producbiligy risks. If product liability costs
exceed our product liability insurance coverageway incur substantial liabilities that could haveevere negative impact on our financial
position. Whether or not we are ultimately sucadgsfany product liability litigation, such litigemn would consume substantial amounts of
financial and managerial resources and might résualtlverse publicity, all of which would impair oousiness. Additionally, we may not be
able to maintain our clinical trial insurance ooghct liability insurance at an acceptable cosd ill, and this insurance may not provide
adequate coverage against potential claims ordosse

Our future depends on the proper management of eurrent and future business operations and theirsagiated expenses.

Our business strategy requires us to manage oungsssto provide for the continued developmentoténtial commercialization of our
proprietary and partnered drug candidates. Outegfyaalso calls for us to undertake increased resemd development activities and to
manage an increasing number of relationships vattngrs and other third parties, while simultangomsnaging the capital necessary to
support this strategy. Our decision to bear a nitgjor all of the clinical development costs ofrigtotecan pegol substantially increases our
future capital requirements. If we are unable tmage effectively our current operations and anyvijtove may experience, our business,
financial condition and results of operations mayablversely affected. If we are unable to effetfimeanage our expenses, we may find it
necessary to reduce our personnel-related costsghreductions in our workforce, which could haran operations, employee morale and
impair our ability to retain and recruit talent.rthermore, if adequate funds are not availablemag be required to obtain funds through
arrangements with partners or other sources thatratpuire us to relinquish rights to certain of technologies, products or future economic
rights that we would not otherwise relinquish ajuiee us to enter into other financing arrangementanfavorable terms.

We are dependent on our management team and kelyrtieal personnel, and the loss of any key manageemployee may impair oL
ability to develop our products effectively and magrm our business, operating results and financiandition.

Our success largely depends on the continued ssroeicour executive officers and other key persbrriee loss of one or more members
of our management team or other key employees cmuldusly harm our business, operating resultdiaadcial condition. The relationships
that our key managers have cultivated within odustry make us particularly dependent upon theitinaed employment with us. We are ¢
dependent on the continued services of our techp@aonnel because of the highly technical nabfi@ur products and the regulatory appr
process. Because our executive officers and keyasmegs are not obligated to provide us with cordgthservices, they could terminate their
employment with us at any time without penalty. tdenot have any post-employment noncompetitioneagests with any of our employees
and do not maintain key person life insurance pegion any of our executive officers or key empks/e

48



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

Because competition for highly qualified technicpkrsonnel is intense, we may not be able to attaud retain the personnel we need
to support our operations and growth.

We must attract and retain experts in the areafiro€al testing, manufacturing, research, regulatnd finance, and may need to attract
and retain marketing and distribution experts agnaktbp additional expertise in our existing pergnwe face intense competition from other
biopharmaceutical companies, research and acadiestittitions and other organizations for qualifigetsonnel. Many of the organizations
with which we compete for qualified personnel hgveater resources than we have. Because compdttiskilled personnel in our industry
intense, companies such as ours sometimes expetiggit attrition rates with regard to their skilleshployees. Further, in making employn
decisions, job candidates often consider the valdle stock options they are to receive in corinaatith their employment. Our equity
incentive plan and employee benefit plans may eatffective in motivating or retaining our emploge® attracting new employees, and
significant volatility in the price of our stock madversely affect our ability to attract or retgimalified personnel. If we fail to attract new
personnel or to retain and motivate our currensquanel, our business and future growth prospectiid®e severely harmed.

If earthquakes or other catastrophic events stril@yr business may be harmed.

Our corporate headquarters, including a substgmtidlon of our research and development operatianeslocated in the San Francisco
Bay Area, a region known for seismic activity angogential terrorist target. In addition, we owgifgies for the manufacture of products us
our PEGylation and advanced polymer conjugate t@olgies in Huntsville, Alabama and own and leadiees in Hyderabad, India. There are
no backup facilities for our manufacturing operatidocated in Huntsville, Alabama. In the evenaofearthquake or other natural disaster,
political instability, or terrorist event in any tifese locations, our ability to manufacture angpsumaterials for drug candidates in
development and our ability to meet our manufanfugbligations to our customers would be signiftadisrupted and our business, result
operations and financial condition would be harn@dr collaborative partners may also be subjectatastrophic events, such as earthquakes
floods, hurricanes and tornadoes, any of whicha&bakm our business, results of operations anddiahcondition. We have not undertaken a
systematic analysis of the potential consequernceartbusiness, results of operations and finamciatlition from a major earthquake or other
catastrophic event, such as a fire, sustainedofogewer, terrorist activity or other disaster, atainot have a recovery plan for such disasters.
In addition, our insurance coverage may not badafft to compensate us for actual losses fromimteyruption of our business that may
occur.

We have implemented certain anti-takeover measuvasich make it more difficult to acquire us, evehdugh such acquisitions may
be beneficial to our stockholders.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation amgdaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, daukke it more difficult for a third
party to acquire us, even though such acquisitioag be beneficial to our stockholders. These akidver provisions include:

» establishment of a classified board of directohghat not all members of the board may be eleatee time

 lack of a provision for cumulative voting in theetion of directors, which would otherwise allowgdehan a majority of stockholders
to elect director candidate

« the ability of our board to authorize the issuaoftthlank check” preferred stock to increase thenber of outstanding shares and
thwart a takeover attemg

 prohibition on stockholder action by written consehereby requiring all stockholder actions taiéleen at a meeting of stockholde

 establishment of advance notice requirements forimations for election to the board of director§@mrproposing matters that can be
acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meeteuyd

« limitations on who may call a special meeting ofc&holders
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Further, provisions of Delaware law relating toibess combinations with interested stockholders disgourage, delay or prevent a
third party from acquiring us. These provisions raiso discourage, delay or prevent a third padynfacquiring a large portion of our
securities or initiating a tender offer or proxyntest, even if our stockholders might receive aryuen for their shares in the acquisition over
the then-current market prices. We also have agghahcontrol severance benefit plan, which prowifte certain cash severance, stock awarc
acceleration and other benefits in the event oypleyees are terminated (or, in some cases, resigspecified reasons) following an
acquisition. This severance plan could discouratygrd party from acquiring us.

The price of our common stock is expected to remaatatile.

Our stock price is volatile. During the year en@etember 31, 2013, based on closing prices on R&IMQ Global Select Market, o
stock price ranged from $13.96 to $7.54 per sh&keexpect our stock price to remain volatile. Aigsr of factors may have a significant
effect on the market price of our common stockluding:

« announcements of data from, or material developsnenbur clinical studies and those of our colla@bion partners, including data
regarding efficacy and safety, delays in clinicavelopment, regulatory approval or commercial I

e announcements by collaboration partners as to fifeis or expectations related to drug candidatdsapproved drugs in which we
have a substantial economic inter

» announcements regarding terminations or disputderusur collaboration agreemer
« fluctuations in our results of operatiol

» developments in patent or other proprietary rigimsliuding intellectual property litigation or enirgg into intellectual property license
agreements and the costs associated with thosegaments

« announcements of technological innovations or f@xapeutic products that may compete with our aggtroducts or products
under developmen

» announcements of changes in governmental regulaffenting us or our competitor

« litigation brought against us or third parties tbamn we have indemnification obligatior
* public concern as to the safety of drug formulagideveloped by us or othe

» our financing needs and activities; ¢

» general market condition

The indenture governing the senior secured noteposes significant operating and financial restriotis on us and our subsidiaries
that may prevent us from pursuing certain businegsportunities and restrict our ability to operataiobusiness.

The indenture governing the senior secured noteaites covenants that restrict our and our subsédiaability to take various actions,
such as:

 incur or guarantee additional indebtedness or id&galified capital stock or cause certain of suisidiaries to issue preferred stc
» pay dividends or distributions, redeem equity ies¢s or subordinated indebtedness or make ceyf@s bf investment:

» create or incur liens

« transfer, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of ags®l issue or sell equity interests in certaiowfsubsidiaries
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* incur restrictions on certain of our subsidiariasility to pay dividends or other distributionstt@ Company or to make intercompany
loans or asset transfe

» enter into transactions with affiliate

e engage in any business other than businesses atf@dhe same, similar, ancillary or reasonablyteel&o our business as of July 11,
2012; anc

e consummate a merger, consolidation, reorganizatidrusiness combination, or sell, assign, trangfase or otherwise dispose of all
or substantially all of our asse

In addition, the indenture governing the senioused notes contains a financial maintenance coieegniring us to maintain a $25.0
million segregated cash reserve account until JuB015 to be applied to interest payments on titesnin the event of a default, subject to
certain conditions. This indenture also requiresatsto permit, thereafter and through the quateting June 30, 2017, the aggregate balance
of our unrestricted cash and cash equivalentsagnikl of any two consecutive fiscal quarters tebg than $25.0 million, subject to certain
conditions. Our ability to comply with these covatgawill likely be affected by many factors, incind events beyond our control, and we may
not satisfy those requirements. Our failure to clymnmpth our debt-related obligations could resaltain event of default under our other
indebtedness and the acceleration of our othebiedeess, in whole or in part, could result in @@ne of default under the indenture goverr
the senior secured notes.

The restrictions contained in the indenture govegrihe senior secured notes could also limit ouitgko plan for or react to market
conditions, meet capital needs or otherwise regiric activities or business plans and adversdégctabur ability to finance our operations,
enter into acquisitions or to engage in other esgractivities that would be in our interest.

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties
California

We lease a 102,283 square foot facility in the Mis8ay Area of San Francisco, California (Missi®ay Facility), under an operating
lease which expires in 2020. In November 2010, weed into the Mission Bay Facility relocating allaur functions from the San Carlos,
California facility (San Carlos Facility), includgnour corporate headquarters and research andogeveht for our PEGylation and advanced
polymer conjugate technology operations. In Decerdbél, we expanded our lease of the Mission Bayjlifato include an additional 24,0(
square feet of space, which will expire in 2020tluesame date as the original lease agreemetitddvission Bay Facility.

Our lease for approximately 100,000 square fe#t@San Carlos Facility is under a capital leasihkvbxpires in 2016. We have
subleased all of the San Carlos Facility.

Alabama

We currently own four facilities consisting of apgimately 165,000 square feet in Huntsville, Alalaamvhich house laboratories as well
as administrative, clinical and commercial manufanog facilities for our PEGylation and advancedypter conjugate technology operations
as well as manufacturing of APIs for early clinistidies.

In July 2012, we consolidated our U.S.-based rebeactivities into our Mission Bay Facility and sed use of one of our buildings
located in Huntsville that was dedicated to redeaxtivities. We are currently seeking a buyettifierland and building.
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India

We own a research and development facility comgjstif approximately 88,000 square feet, near Hymitalndia. In addition, we lease
approximately 504 square feet of office space idétgbad, India, under a one-year operating leateniti expire in 2014.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

From time to time, we are subject to legal procegsli including the proceedings described spedyitedlow. We are not currently a
party to or aware of any proceedings that we belig¥ have, individually or in the aggregate, ataeral adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

On November 18, 2009, the Research Foundationedbthte University of New York, or SUNY filed artiaa against us in the United
States District Court for the Northern Districtidéw York. SUNY sought to recover amounts it allegetlas owed pursuant to a technology
licensing contract between us and SUNY. On Decer@®eP013, we entered into a Settlement AgreemahRelease (the “Settlement”) with
SUNY. Under the terms of the Settlement, SUNY aditeedismiss the action with prejudice and relistpuall rights it may have had to a
portion of future development and regulatory midest payments payable to us under the Co-Developmieense and Co-Promotion
Agreement, dated August 1, 2007, between us (andutasidiaries) and Bayer Healthcare LLC, as am@éin@dated to the inhaled amikacin
program in exchange for (i) a $5 million paymenédun April 1, 2014; (ii) a $5 million payment due danuary 1, 2015, (iii) a series of four
$500,000 payments each due on April 1, 2014, Jgriu&015, January 1, 2016, and January 1, 20%pentively; and (iv) certain other terms
and conditions.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters aragslier Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock trades on The NASDAQ Global Selantket under the symbol “NKTR.” The table belowsstorth the high and low
closing sales prices for our common stock as redash The NASDAQ Global Select Market during thequs indicated.

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 201

1st Quarte $ 8.22 $ 5.6¢
2nd Quarte 8.14 6.41
3rd Quarte 10.7¢ 7.9¢
4th Quartel 10.8: 5.9¢
Year Ended December 31, 201

1st Quarte $11.0¢ $ 7.5¢
2nd Quarte 11.7¢ 8.8:
3rd Quarte 13.9¢ 10.4¢
4th Quartel 12.5¢ 8.9¢

Holders of Record
As of February 20, 2014, there were approximatély Rolders of record of our common stock.

Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently expect to retaiy fature earnings for use in the
operation and expansion of our business and dantiipate paying any cash dividends on our comstook in the foreseeable future.

There were no sales of unregistered securitiegrsrd were no common stock repurchases made dinengear ended December 31,
2013.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Information regarding our equity compensation plas®f December 31, 2013 is disclosed in Item ¥ty Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stdd&hMatters” of this Annual Report on Form 10-kdas incorporated herein by
reference from our proxy statement for our 2014uahmeeting of stockholders to be filed with theCSfirsuant to Regulation 14A not later
than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year @by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Performance Measurement Comparison

The material in this section is being furnished ahdll not be deemed “filed” with the SEC for pusps of Section 18 of the Exchange
Act or otherwise subject to the liability of thagcsion, nor shall the material in this section kerded to be incorporated by reference in any
registration statement or other document filed lith SEC under the Securities Act or the Exchangfeéxcept as otherwise expressly stat
such filing.

The following graph compares, for the five yearigeiended December 31, 2013, the cumulative tédakbolder return (change in stock
price plus reinvested dividends) of our commonlisteith (i) the NASDAQ Composite Index, (ii) the NAAQ Pharmaceutical Index, (iii) the
RGD SmallCap Pharmaceutical Index, (iv) the NASDBi@technology Index and (v) the RDG SmallCap Bittealogy Index. Measurement
points are the last trading day of each of ouraligears ended December 31, 2009, December 31, P@&b@mber 31, 2011, December 31,
2012 and December 31, 2013. The graph assume$libatwas invested on December 31, 2008 in the canstuzk of the Company, the
NASDAQ Composite Index, the Nasdaq Pharmaceuticis, the RGD SmallCap Pharmaceutical Index, th&DNAQ Biotechnology Inde
and the RDG SmallCap Biotechnology Index and assuwiavestment of any dividends. The stock priagopmance in the graph is not
intended to forecast or indicate future stock ppegormance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Maktar Therapeutics, the NASDAQ Composite Index, the RDG SmallCap Pharmaceutical Index,
the NASDAL Biotechnology Index, the NASDACQ Phammaceutical Index,
and tha RDG SmallCap Biotechnology Index
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Dat:

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(In thousands, except per share information)

The selected consolidated financial data set foetbw should be read together with the consolidétexhcial statements and related
notes, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis oRaial Condition and Results of Operations,” areldther information contained herein.

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Statements of Operations Data
Revenue
Product sale $ 44,84¢ $ 35,39¢ $ 24,86 $ 27,41 $ 30,11¢
Royalty revenut 1,14¢ 4,87¢ 10,32° 7,25¢ 5,17z
Non cash royalty revenue related to sale of futayalties® 22,05t 10,79: — — —
License, collaboration and other revel 80,87 30,12} 36,28¢ 124,37. 36,641
Total revenus 148,92: 81,19: 71,48( 159,03¢ 71,93:
Total operating costs and expen 269,05:; 222,39. 195,41 187,29« 167,06.
Loss from operation (120,13() (141,20) (123,93) (28,25%) (95,137
Non-cash interest expense on liability related to séleiture

royalties® (22,309 (18,057 — — —
Interest and other income (expense), (17,329 (12,19) (9,029 (8,8072) (7,640
Provision (benefit) for income tax 2,24¢ 40€ 1,01¢ 881 (259
Net loss $(162,01) $(171,85Y $(133,97%) $(37,939) $(102,519
Basic and diluted net loss per sh® $ (140 $ (150 $ (119 $ (0.40 $ (11)
Weighted average shares outstanding used in congpliisic an

diluted net loss per sha® 115,73. 114,82( 112,94. 94,07¢ 92,77

As of December 31
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Balance Sheet Data
Cash, cash equivalents and investm $ 262,02¢ $ 302,190 $ 41493t $ 31593 $ 396,21:
Working capital $ 159,66. $ 236,090 $ 1,17« $ 289,87: $ 260,65(
Total asset $ 434527 $ 497,79C $ 606,55( $ 521,22! $ 575,51
Deferred revenu $ 106,04¢ $ 11844 $ 127,83. $ 14534 $ 192,37
Convertible subordinated not $ — $ — $ 214,95 $ 21495 $ 214,95!
Senior secured not $ 125,000 $ 125000 $ — $ — $ —
Liability related to the sale of future royalti® $ 12852( $ 131,266 % — $ — $ —
Other lon¢-term liabilities $ 2577 $ 20012 $ 21,74 $ 2258 $ 23,34
Accumulated defici $(1,732,39)  $(1,570,38) $(1,398,52) $(1,264,54) $(1,226,60)
Total stockholder equity (deficit) $ (89,90 $ 47,01t $ 19781 $ 90,66: $ 102,36

(1) InFebruary 2012, we sold all of our rightgegeive future royalty payments on net sales of SCBMZIA ®and Roche’s MIRCERA .
As described in Note 7 to our Consolidated Findrifatements, this royalty sale transaction has beeorded as a liability that
amortizes over the estimated royalty payn
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period. As a result of this liability accountingies though the royalties from UCB and Roche arattechdirectly to the purchaser of
these royalty interests starting in the secondtquaf 2012, we will continue to record revenuetfagse royalties
(2) Basic and diluted net loss per share is based tioweighted average number of common shares adista

The following discussion contains forward-lookirtgtements that involve risks and uncertainties. @ctual results could differ
materially from those discussed here. Factors tiwald cause or contribute to such differences ide|lbut are not limited to, those discussed
in this section as well as factors described in fPaltem 1A — Risk Factors.”

Item 7. Managemen's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation
Overview
Strategic Direction of Our Business

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical compawelbping a pipeline of drug candidates that wilimir PEGylation and advanced
polymer conjugate technology platforms, which agsigned to enable the development of new moleeultties that target known mechanis
of action. Our current proprietary pipeline is caiapd of drug candidates across a number of thatapareas including oncology, pain, anti-
infectives, and immunology. Our research and dgraknt activities involve small molecule drugs, jgd and other biologic drug candida
We create innovative drug candidates by using oopretary advanced polymer conjugate technologiesexpertise to modify the chemical
structure of pharmacophores to create new moleeuldties. Polymer chemistry is a science focusethe synthesis or bonding of polymer
architectures with drug molecules to alter the props of a molecule when it is bonded with polysaédditionally, we may utilize establish
pharmacologic targets to engineer a new drug catgieglying on a combination of the known propertéthese targets and our proprietary
polymer chemistry technology and expertise. Ougdrandidates are designed to improve the overattfite and use of a drug for patients by
improving the metabolism, distribution, pharmaceiios, pharmacodynamics, héfe and/or bioavailability of drugs. Our objectii®to apply
our advanced polymer conjugate technology platftrereate new drug candidates in multiple therdpeueas that address large potential
markets.

Our most advanced proprietary product candidatexagol (formerly known as NKTR-118), is an oralipberal opioid antagonist
which has completed Phase 3 clinical studies asdban filed for regulatory approvals in the U3J).Eand Canada for the treatment of opioid-
induced constipation (OIC) in patients with non-@anpain. We are a party to an exclusive worldviickense agreement with AstraZeneca AB
(AstraZeneca) for the global development and cororakzation of naloxegol and naloxegol fixed-dosenbination products (formerly known
as NKTR-119). The core Phase 3 clinical developmensgram for naloxegol, which AstraZeneca callsKIi@DIAC program, is comprised of
four clinical trials which are designed to investig the safety and efficacy of naloxegol for tlatment of OIC in patients with non-cancer
related pain. The outcome and timing of the nalokeggulatory review events will have a substantigact on our financial condition as we
are entitled to up to $35.0 million in regulatorylestones and $140.0 million in commercial laundlestones, as well as up to $75 million of
payments related to the naloxegol fixed-dose coatluin program. The naloxegol fixed-dose combinatomygram is an early stage research
and development program that is designed to comkarieus opioids with naloxegol AstraZeneca is ogsgible for all clinical, regulatory and
commercialization costs for both the naloxegol dragdidate and all drug candidates within the regox fixed-dose combination program.

On November 12, 2012, AstraZeneca announced pesadp-line results for naloxegol from two Phasdfi@@&cy and safety clinical trials
and from a safety extension trial (KODIAC-04, -@Bd -07). On February 26, 2013, AstraZeneca anrealpositive top-line results from the
long-term safety study (KODIAC-08) of naloxegolpatients with OIC. On September 25, 2013, the EM#ified AstraZeneca that it had
accepted for review the naloxegol regulatory aparapplication filed by AstraZeneca in August 20A8.a result, we were
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entitled to a $25.0 million payment from AstraZeagwhich was received on September 30, 2013. OteByer 16, 2013, AstraZeneca filed
an NDA with the FDA for naloxegol, which was acaagpfor review by the FDA on November 16, 2013, kasyiin a $70.0 million milestone
payment to Nektar from AstraZeneca in November 20ftBe FDA does not require a future clinicabtror other significant studies to assess
the cardiovascular safety (“CV Safety Study”) ofaxa&gol prior to an approval decision, AstraZeniscabligated to pay us an additional $35.0
million. If the FDA does require a CV Safety StudystraZeneca may terminate the license agreeméhtusiin its entirety or only with respe

to its rights in the United States. If AstraZenetzcts to terminate the license agreement in tisstyndue to a CV Safety Study, we will be
required to repay them the $70.0 million we recéipkis accrued interest at 4.5% compounded annimalbur installments in accordance w
the following payment schedule: $10.0 million paccrued interest on January 15, 2015, $10.0 mifias accrued interest on January 15,
2016, $20.0 million plus accrued interest on Jaynd&r 2017 and $30.0 million plus accrued intecgsfanuary 15, 2018. If AstraZeneca elect
to terminate the license agreement only with retstgeits rights in the U.S., then such repaymendamt would be funded through a 50%
reduction of non-U.S. royalty amounts otherwisegidg to us until the aggregate amount of such tpyatiuction equals the total principal
amount of $70.0 million plus accumulated interést.8% compounded annually. If the FDA require®stfapproval cardiovascular safety
study as a condition to approval of the naloxegdA\then the royalty rate payable to us from nésaf naloxegol in the U.S. by
AstraZeneca would be reduced by two percentagesuoittil the aggregate accumulated amount of soglty payment reduction is equal t
maximum of $35.0 million. We will be entitled to 40.0 million in commercial launch milestone paynseifinaloxegol is approved by the Fl
and EMA and commercial launch is achieved in th®.dnd one major country in the E.U. As a reshiét, KDA’s determination as to whether
to require a CV Safety Study prior to an approwekdnination and the decisions of both the FDA B, with regard to the marketing
applications currently filed for naloxegol is ccii to our financial position as well as our futbresiness prospects.

Our second most advanced proprietary drug candidttmotecan pegol (also known as NKTR-102), ieeatgeneration topoisomeras
inhibitor. Etirinotecan pegol is currently beingadvated as a single-agent therapy in a Phase 3lapeh randomized, multicenter clinical
study in patients with metastatic breast canceis Phase 3 clinical study, which we call the BEACE&Ndy (BrEAst Cancer Outcomes with
NKTR-102), enrolled approximately 850 patients with asédtic breast cancer that have previously recareadment with an anthracycline, a
taxane, and capecitabine. We completed enrolinmetiiei BEACON study in late July 2013. On January2D44, we announced that the
Independent Data Monitoring Committee, or the DMf@ated to provide safety oversight for the BEACSMy recommended continuatior
the Phase 3 BEACON study following an interim datalysis which was performed after reaching 50¥hefevents needed to achieve the
primary endpoint of overall survival. The BEACON@&y will require a substantial investment over tiegt two years.

Our third most advanced proprietary drug candidsdt€TR-181, is a novel mu-opioid analgesic drug ddatk for chronic pain
conditions. The molecule has been designed to aalew rate of entry into the brain, which is exgedo reduce the attractiveness of the
molecule as a target of abuse and reduce otheuserentral nervous system-related side effect$) as sedation and respiratory depression,
which are commonly associated with standard ogloédapies. In May 2012, the development programNi§TR-181 for the treatment of
moderate to severe chronic pain was granted FaskTesignation by the FDA. On June 19, 2013, wmanced positive data from a human
abuse liability study of NKTR-181. On September 2®] 3, we announced preliminary topline resultstfiaPhase 2 clinical study of NKTR-
181 in patients with moderate to severe chronio fr@im osteoarthritis of the knee. The Phase 2ystititized a double-blind, placebo-
controlled, randomized withdrawal study designdsess the efficacy, safety and tolerability of NKTI&L. Of the 295 patients that entered the
study, only 9 (3%) patients did not achieve meafuingain relief with NKTR-181. During the titratioperiod, 53 (18%) patients discontinued
treatment because of adverse events, most of velneethose commonly associated with opioids. A tot&13 patients achieved an average
40% reduction in pain and entered the randomizedglof the study. In this study, NKTR-181 perforrasdxpected as an opioid analgesic
throughout the study. However, patients who weneloaized to the placebo arm did not show the exgeicicrease in pain scores observed ir
similar enriched enrollment, randomized withdrastaldies. This
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lack of a placebo rebound caused the Phase 2 siudiss the primary endpoint, which was the avedgange in a patient’s pain score from
baseline to the end of the double-blind, randomizeatment period. In December 2013, we met withRDA to discuss the results of the
Phase 2 clinical study and certain preliminary aerations for the Phase 3 clinical study desige. ake currently evaluating the appropriate
Phase 3 clinical study design for NKTR-181 and ekpe start a Phase 3 clinical study in mid-2014.

We have a significant collaboration with Bayer Hieehre LLC (Bayer) to develop BAY41-6551 (Amikadnhale, formerly known as
NKTR-061), which is an inhaled solution of amikacin,aamninoglycoside antibiotic. Bayer has initiatedhea$e 3 clinical development of
BAY41-6551 with the first patient enrolled in Ap&lD13. We originally developed the liquid aerostidlation platform and Amikacin Inhale
and entered into a collaboration agreement witheBay August 2007 to further advance the drug aiateis development and potential
commercialization. In 2011, Bayer achieved agred¢mith the FDA on the design of the planned Phasknical studies of BAY41-6551
under the Special Protocol Assessment processsthrdended to support the submission of an ND#éf ongoing Phase 3 clinical study is
successful.

We also have a significant collaboration with Baxtealthcare to identify and develop PEGylated draigdidates with the objective of
providing new long-acting therapies for hemophiléients. Under the terms of this collaboration,ane providing a license to our PEGylation
intellectual property, technology and expertisextBais responsible for all clinical developmenieTfirst drug candidate in this collaboration,
BAX 855, is a longer-acting (PEGylated) form ofuéi4ength recombinant factor VIII (rFVIII) proteiwhich has completed Phase 1 clinical
development in patients with Hemophilia A. In Fedliqu2013, Baxter initiated a Phase 3 multi-cerdpgn-label clinical study called
PROLONG-ATE in previously treated adult patientshwdevere hemophilia A to assess the efficacytywafed pharmacokinetics of BAX 855
for prophylaxis and on-demand treatment of bleed®ry November 13, 2013, Baxter announced thatdtdwanpleted enrollment of 146
patients in the PROLONG-ATE clinical study. If BA865 is approved by health authorities and is sisfutlg commercialized by Baxter, this
will represent a substantial royalty revenue opputy for us, subject to significant risks and umnamties relating to the outcome of the
ongoing Phase 3 clinical study, the health authoegulatory review process, and if approved, sgbeat commercial success.

While the late stage clinical development prograiescribed above are key elements of the futureessaaf our company, we believe i
critically important that we continue to make sualogial investments in our earlier-stage drug caatgighipeline. In January 2014, we initiated ¢
single-ascending dose Phase 1 clinical study of RKV1. Further, we have several drug candidatessiearch that we are preparing to
advance into the clinic in future years. While vedidve that our substantial investment in researchdevelopment has the potential to create
significant value if one or more of our drug cared&bs demonstrate positive clinical results andiveaegulatory approval in one or more m
markets, drug research and development is an inthgrencertain process and there is a high riskaifdire at every stage prior to approval and
the timing and outcome of clinical trial resulte axtremely difficult to predict. Clinical develomt successes and failures can have a
disproportionate positive or negative impact on sgientific and medical prospects, financial praspefinancial condition, and market value.

Historically, we have entered into a number ofdise and supply contracts under which we manufattame supplied our proprietary
PEGylation reagents on a cost-plus or fixed prizgid Our current strategy is to manufacture apglglPEGylation reagents to support our
proprietary drug candidates or our third-party &lotirators where we have a strategic development@mdhercialization relationship or where
we derive substantial economic benefit.

Key Developments and Trends in Liquidity and CapiResources

As of December 31, 2013, we estimated that we hbghat twelve months of working capital to fund aurrent business plans. At
December 31, 2013, we had approximately $262.0anilh cash and investments in marketable secsyititwhich $25.0 million was
restricted in relation to our 12.0% senior securetks, and
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$160.8 million in indebtedness. The indebtednesisidies $125.0 million in aggregate principal amaafit2.0% senior secured notes due
July 15, 2017, but excludes our long-term liabit#yating to the sale of future royalties underBuechase and Sale Agreement with RPI
Finance Trust. As is further described in Note @uo Consolidated Financial Statements, this rgyatiligation liability will generally not be
settled in cash, but we expect to make a cash payofi€7.0 million in 2014 as a specified worldwi2@13 net sales threshold of MIRCERA
is not expected to be met.

On January 28, 2014, we completed the issuanceaadf 9,775,000 shares of our common stock witkgproceeds of approximately
$117.2 million. Additionally, we incurred approxitety $0.6 million in legal and accounting feesinfj fees, and other offering expenses.

Results of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011
Revenue (in thousands, except percentages)

Percentagt Percentagt
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
Year Ended December 31 (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease
2013 vs. 2012 vs. 2013 vs. 2012 vs.
2013 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
Product sales $ 44,84¢ $35,39¢ $24,86¢ $ 9,441 $10,53¢ 27% 42%
Royalty revenut 1,14¢ 4,87¢ 10,32 (3,726) (5,457 (76)% (53)%
Non cash royalty revenue relatec
sale of future royaltie 22,05¢ 10,79: — 11,26 10,79: >10(% 10C%
License, collaboration and other
revenue 80,87: 30,12; 36,28¢ 50,74t (6,167) >100% A7)%
Total revenue $148,92: $81,19: $71,48( $67,73( $ 9,711 83% 14%

Our revenue is derived from our collaboration agreets, under which we may receive product salesmaw, royalties, license fees,
milestone payments or contract research paymesteriie is recognized when there is persuasive maédiat an arrangement exists, deli
has occurred, the price is fixed or determinalié, @ollection is reasonably assured. The amounpfybnt fees received under our license anc
collaboration agreements allocated to continuiniggabons, such as manufacturing and supply comaeniitsy are recognized ratably over our
expected performance period under the arrangersra.result, there may be significant variationthia timing of receipt of cash payments
and our recognition of revenue. We make our bashate of the period over which we expect to fubilir performance obligations. Given the
uncertainties in research and development collagiomis significant judgment is required by us téedmine the performance periods.

Product sales
Product sales include fixed price and cost-plusufenturing and supply agreements with our collationgpartners. The timing of
shipments is based solely on the demand and reageiires of our collaboration partners and is notiiatéhroughout the year.

Product sales increased for the year ended Dece3ith@013 compared to the year ended Decembei032, @imarily as a result of an
$9.0 million increase in product sales to one ofallaboration partners. Product sales increaseithg the year ended December 31, 2012
compared to the year ended December 31, 201 1emsik of increased product demand from a numbeuptollaboration partners.
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We currently expect product sales to decrease autiiety in 2014 as compared to 2013 due to deerbpasoduct demand from our
collaboration partners.

Royalty revenue and non-cash royalty revenue retate sale of future royalties

We receive royalty revenue from certain of our @iodration partners based on their net sales of @giat products. Royalty revenue
received in cash decreased during the year endeeniiier 31, 2013 compared to the year ended Dece3tp2012 and decreased during the
year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the gpdadddecember 31, 2011 primarily as a result oktie of our rights to receive t
royalties from product sales of UCB’s CIMZIA andéde’'s MIRCERA® as is further described below. Rdgalfrom CIMZIA® and
MIRCERA @ recognized after the royalty sale transactook effect are presented on a separate revigreuigem entitled “Non-cash royalty
revenue related to sale of future royalties.” Wpest royalty revenue received in cash to decrea2814 as compared to 2013.

In February 2012, we sold all of our rights to ieeduture royalty payments on CIMZIA and MIRCERA As described in Note 7 to
our Consolidated Financial Statements, this roysdfg transaction has been recorded as a liathiittyamortizes over the estimated royalty
payment period. As a result of this liability acoting, even though the royalties from UCB and Roateeremitted directly to the purchaser of
these royalty interests, we will continue to recardenue for these royalties. During the year ergiecember 31, 2013 and 2012, we
recognized $22.1 million and $13.5 million, respesly, in aggregate royalties from net sales of I ®and MIRCERA® ,of which the $2.
million recognized in the three months ended M&th2012 was retained by us as these amountseaddtdim product sales in the fourth
guarter of 2011. We expect non-cash royalties fnetnsales of CIMZIA and MIRCERA to decrease sliglitl 2014 as compared to 2013.

License, collaboration and other revenue

License, collaboration and other revenue inclutlesécognition of upfront payments and milestongnents received in connection w
our license and collaboration agreements and raiselduresearch and development expenses. The fdiedse, collaboration and other
revenue depends in part upon the estimated amtiotizaeriod of the upfront payments, the achievenoémilestones, the continuation of
existing collaborations, the amount of reimburseskarch and development work, and entering intoaulaboration agreements, if any.

License, collaboration and other revenue increésethe year ended December 31, 2013 comparecktpahr ended December 31, 2012
primarily as a result of the recognition of a $2fillion payment from AstraZeneca achieved in Seyiiter 2013 on the acceptance for review
by the EMA of the naloxegol regulatory approval leggiion filed by AstraZeneca, the recognition dX0.0 million milestone achieved upon
the start of the Amikacin Inhale Phase 3 cliniciall toy Bayer in April 2013, the recognition of $7million related to the delivery of additional
quantities of our proprietary PEGylation reagenRthe in the fourth quarter of 2013, and the raitamn of the remaining $6.7 million
deferred revenue balance related to our agreem#nidffymax as a result of the termination of tleafreement.

License, collaboration and other revenue for ther y|ded December 31, 2012 decreased compareel yedh ended December 31, 2011
primarily due to the recognition in 2011 of a $mdlion license fee from an agreement signed int&maper 2011.

We expect license, collaboration and other revém@®14 will be significantly impacted by the outce and timing of the naloxegol
regulatory review events. In particular, in the mvealoxegol is approved by the FDA, we would expegecognize as revenue the $70.0
million payment received from AstraZeneca in Novem®013 and we would be entitled to a $35.0 milliaifestone payment. If these
activities occur in 2014, our license, collaboratand other revenue in 2014 will increase signifigafrom 2013.
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The timing and future success of our drug developrpegrams and those of our collaboration partasgssubject to a number of risks
and uncertainties. See “Part |, Item 1A — Risk Begtfor discussion of the risks associated with tbmplex nature of our collaboration
agreements.

Revenue by geography

Revenue by geographic area is based on locatiomgrgfartners. The following table sets forth raxeby geographic area (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

United States $ 42,53¢ $34,59: $37,89¢
Europe 106,38t 46,60( 33,58¢
Total revenue $148,92: $81,19: $71,48(

The increase in revenue attributable to Europeantcies for the year ended December 31, 2013 coedgarthe year ended
December 31, 2012 is primarily attributable to @ased milestone and royalty revenues from ouriegi§uropean collaboration partners,
including the $25.0 million milestone payment frévstraZeneca described above. The increase in revatttibutable to European countries
for the year ended December 31, 2012 comparedctpaar ended December 31, 2011 is primarily atisible to increased product sales and
royalty revenues from our existing European coltakion partners.

Cost of goods sold (in thousands, except percenggge

Percentagt Percentagt
Year Ended December 31

Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/

(Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease

2013 vs. 2012 vs. 2013 vs. 2012 vs.

2013 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Cost of goods sold $38,50¢ $30,42¢ $21,89: $ 8,081 $ 8,53 27% 39%
Product gross prof 6,331 4,971 2,97 1,36¢ 1,99¢ 27% 67%

Product gross margi 14% 14% 12%

Cost of goods sold and product gross profit inadaturing the year ended December 31, 2013 compatée year ended December 31
2012 primarily due to the $9.4 million increasepimoduct sales in the year ended December 31, 20hpared to the year ended December 31
2012. Product gross margin in the year ended DeeeBih 2013 was consistent with the year ended bkee31, 2012.

Cost of goods sold increased during the year ebaegmber 31, 2012 compared to the year ended Dexe3tth2011 primarily due to
the $10.5 million increase in product sales in 201 increase in product gross margin during ter ynded December 31, 2012 compared 1
the year ended December 31, 2011 is primarily dube decreased cost per unit in 2012 resulting frcreased manufacturing activity and
improved overhead absorption.

We expect product gross margin to fluctuate inreifperiods depending on the level and mix of mattufang orders from our customers
due to the predominantly fixed cost base associatddour manufacturing activities. We currentlypext product gross margin to decrease in
2014 as compared to 2013 as a result of the aatagpreduction in product sales.
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Research and development expense (in thousandss@xeercentages)

Percentag: Percentage
Year Ended December 31
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease
2013 vs. 2012 vs. 2013 vs. 2012 vs.
2013 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
Research and development expense $190,01(  $148,67! $126,76¢ $41,33: $21,90¢ 28% 17%

Research and development expense consists prinsaclinical study costs, direct costs of outsideaarch, materials, supplies, licenses
and fees as well as personnel costs (includingisaldenefits, and stock-based compensation).aResand development expense also
includes certain overhead allocations consistingupfport and facilities-related costs.

Research and development expense increased daoerygar ended December 31, 2013 compared to thegdad December 31, 2012
primarily due to the etirinotecan pegol (NKTR-1##)ase 3 BEACON clinical study initiated in Decemd@t 1 as well as the NKTR-181
Phase 2 clinical study initiated in July 2012. tldiion, during the year ended December 31, 20E3regorded a charge of $11.3 million
resulting from the settlement of a dispute with Research Foundation of the State University of Ne@nk related to our collaboration with
Bayer to develop inhaled amikacin (see Note 8 toGnnsolidated Financial Statements).

The increase in research and development expensigefgear ended December 31, 2012 compared tgetireended December 31, 2011
is primarily attributable to the $15.2 million ire&se in direct research and development prograts, @substantial portion of which is
attributable to our etirinotecan pegol Phase 3 BBAGstudy as well as the NKTR-181 Phase 2 clinitady In addition, research and
development expense increased due to a $6.2 mifiease in salaries and employee benefits raguitom increased headcount to support
our expanded clinical development activities.

We utilize our employee and infrastructure resosi@eross multiple development and research progrBinesfollowing table shows
expenses incurred for clinical and regulatory sasj clinical supplies, and preclinical study suppoovided by third parties as well as direct
materials costs for each of our drug candidates.t&hle also presents other costs and overheadsting®of personnel, facilities and other
indirect costs (in thousands):

Cslltr::g;‘l Year Ended December 31

Status®) 2013 2012 2011
Etirinotecan pegol (NKTR-102) (topoisomerase | bittir-polymer conjugate® Phase! ¢ 44,66¢ $ 31,65( $ 13,10¢
BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale® Phase ! 26,71¢ 13,51: 11,38¢
NKTR-181 (mt-opioid analgesic molecule for chronic pa Phase : 22,95! 13,537 9,74
NKTR-171 (neuropathic pait Phase : 3,63¢ 43z —
NKTR-192 (mt-opioid analgesic molecule for acute pe Preclinica 2,691 2,67¢ 3,10(¢
Other product candidati Various 4,901 3,831 13,05¢
Total third party and direct materials co 105,56 65,63¢ 50,40:
Personnel, overhead and other c 68,99: 68,78: 59,43:
Stoclk-based compensation and deprecia 15,45( 14,25¢ 16,93:
Research and development expe $190,01( $148,67¢ $126,76¢

(1) Clinical Study Status definitions are providedhe thart found in Part |, ltem 1. Busine
(2)  Inaddition, during the year ended December 31120& made $11.2 million of prepayments to cen@ndors in our BEACON stud
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(3) We partnered this program with Bayer Healthd¢dr€ in August 2007. As part of the Novartis Pulnaon Asset Sale in 2008, we
retained an exclusive license to this technologytie development and commercialization of thigydrandidate

We expect research and development expense tcadedre2014 as compared to 2013 and to continoeaiove the 2012 level. We p
to continue to advance etirinotecan pegol in thaese8 BEACON study for metastatic breast cancewfich we expect the clinical study to
continue through early 2015. The clinical developtremsts for the BEACON clinical study will conti@tio be significant. We estimate that
total third party and direct material costs over life of the BEACON study will be approximately®10 million, of which $64.7 million was
incurred through the end of 2013. We have alsoietlior have ongoing studies being conducted foinetecan pegol, including investigator-
initiated clinical studies, in bevacizumab (Avagtiasistant high-grade glioma, colorectal cancestastatic and recurrent non-small cell lung
cancer, and ovarian cancer. We are unable to dstitin@ timing or costs to complete the clinicalelepment for etirinotecan pegol across all
the potential oncology indications.

In addition to our etirinotecan pegol developmaestivities, in 2014, we plan to commence Phaser8aai studies for NKTR-181 and we
also plan to continue to advance the developmeNKafR-171.

In addition, we plan to continue to make subst&itizestments to support the clinical and commémianufacturing preparation and
scale-up for the nebulizer devices to supply Bégethe Amikacin Inhale program. Under our colladtizn agreement with Bayer, we are
responsible for all clinical and commercial suppfythe nebulizer devices for this drug candidate. 8 not expect to have any significant
future research and development costs associatbcalpoxegol or the naloxegol fixetbse combination products as AstraZeneca is reipe
for all further development and commercializati@sts for these drug candidates.

In addition to our drug candidates that we plahawe in clinical development during 2014 and beyovel believe it is vitally important
to continue our substantial investment in a divgipeline of new drug candidates to continue tddbthie value of our drug candidate pipeline
and our business. Our discovery research orgaoizegiidentifying new drug candidates by applying BEGylation technology platform to a
wide range of molecule classes, including smallaooles and large proteins, peptides and antiboaiesss multiple therapeutic areas. We
to continue to advance our most promising earlgaesh drug candidates into preclinical developmsétit the objective to advance these early
stage research programs to human clinical studiestbe next several years.

Our expenditures on current and future preclingeal clinical development programs are subject to@rous uncertainties in timing and
cost to completion. In order to advance our drugdadates through clinical development, each druglchate must be tested in numerous
preclinical safety, toxicology and efficacy studi®@ge then conduct clinical studies for our drugdidates that take several years to complete.
The cost and time required to complete clinicallsrimay vary significantly over the life of a cliai development program as a result of a
variety of factors, including but not limited to:

* the number of patients required for a given clihgtady design
 the length of time required to enroll clinical syuysharticipants
» the number and location of sites included in theichl studies

* the clinical study designs required by the healiharities (i.e. primary and secondary end poista/all as the size of the study nee
to demonstrate efficacy and safety outcom

* the potential for changing standards of care fertérget patient populatio
» the competition for patient recruitment from conifpet drug candidates being studied in the sanréazl setting:
 the costs of producing supplies of the product @hatds needed for clinical trials and regulatorgraissions
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 the safety and efficacy profile of the drug canthgl
» the use of clinical research organizations to assgth the management of the trials; ¢
* the costs and timing of, and the ability to secapgrovals from government health authorit

Furthermore, our strategy includes the potentiardgéring into collaborations with third partiesp@articipate in the development and
commercialization of some of our drug candidatehsas those collaborations that we have alreadylied for naloxegol and Amikacin
Inhale. In these situations, the clinical developtrgrogram and process for a drug candidate anddtmmated completion date will largely be
under the control of that third party and not under control. We cannot forecast with any degreeestainty which of our drug candidates will
be subject to future collaborations or how suchragements would affect our development plans dtalapquirements.

The risks and uncertainties associated with owgareh and development projects are discussed mldyerf Item 1A — Risk Factors. As
a result of the uncertainties discussed above reveirgable to determine with any degree of certaiméyduration and completion costs of our
research and development projects, anticipated lstimp dates or when and to what extent we wileree cash inflows from a collaboration
arrangement or the commercialization of a drug whatd.

General and administrative expense (in thousands;ept percentages)

Percentagt Percentagt
Year Ended December 31
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease
2013 vs. 2012 vs. 2013 vs. 2012 vs.
2013 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
General and administrative expense $40,53: $41,61¢ $46,76( $ (1,089) $ (5,14¢) (3)% (11)%

General and administrative expense includes thieof@iministrative staffing, business developmeardrketing, finance, and legal
activities. General and administrative expensengptiie year ended December 31, 2013 was conswtitnthe year ended December 31, 2(
General and administrative expense decreased diméngear ended December 31, 2012 compared toetireended December 31, 2011
primarily as a result of a $2.7 million paymentightion incurred in 2011 related to the settlenwrea commercial litigation matter as well as a
$2.1 million decrease in non-cash stock-based cosgi®wn expense in 2012 as compared to 2011. |4, 204 expect general and
administrative expenses to be consistent with 2013.

Interest income (in thousands except percentages)

Percentag: Percentage
Year Ended December 31
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease
2013 vs. 2012 vs. 2013 vs. 2012 vs.
2013 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
Interest income $732 $2,31¢ $2,24¢ $ (1,587 $ 71 (68)% 3%

Interest income for the year ended December 313 B@treased as compared to the year ended Dec8int#0912 as a result of lower
average cash and investment balances as well asplaet of lower interest rates earned on our itaest balances. Interest income for the
year ended December 31, 2012 was consistent wathighr ended December 31, 20
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Interest expense (in thousands except percentages)

Percentag! Percentage
Year Ended December 31

Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/

(Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease

2013 vs. 2012 vs. 2013 vs. 2012 vs.

2013 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
Interest expense $18,45: $15,48¢ $10,22: $ 2,96¢ $ 5,26¢€ 19% 52%
Non-cash interest expense on liability

related to sale of future royalti $22,30¢ $18,05° $ — $ 4,252 $18,057 24% 10C%

The increase in interest expense for the year ebéedmber 31, 2013 compared to the year ended heredi, 2012 and the year endec
December 31, 2011 is attributable to the interegerse recorded on the senior secured notes wadigs2012. On July 11, 2012, we issued
$125.0 million of 12% senior secured notes matuangluly 15, 2017. In connection with this transagtwe retired a principal amount of
$42.5 million of our $215.0 million in aggregatenmipal amount of 3.25% convertible subordinateteaan exchange for $42.5 million in
principal amount of 12% senior secured notes. Vaicethe remaining $172.4 million in principal anbof convertible subordinated notes in
full at maturity on September 28, 2012.

The increase in non-cash interest expense onitialelated to sale of future royalties for the yeaded December 31, 2013 compared tc
the year ended December 31, 2012 and the year @wminber 31, 2011 is attributable to the royadig $ransaction that we completed in
2012. On February 24, 2012, we sold all of ourtsgb receive future royalty payments on CIMAA avMtRCERA ® in exchange for $124.0
million. As described in Note 7 to our Consolidatédancial Statements, this royalty sale transadti@s been recorded as a liability that
amortizes over the estimated royalty payment pa®@€IMZIA® and MIRCERA® royalties are remitted ditlgdo the purchaser. We impute
interest on the transaction and record interestres at the effective interest rate, which we aiilyeestimate to be approximately 17%. There
are a number of factors that could materially affbe estimated interest rate and we will assésse#timate on a periodic basis. As a result,
future interest rates could differ significantlydaany such change in interest rate will be adjuptedpectively.

We expect interest expense and non-cash interpstieg in 2014 to be consistent with 2013.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our operations primarily througdenue from product sales, royalties and collabmratgreements, as well as public
and private placements of debt and equity. At Ddimm81, 2013, we had approximately $262.0 milliocash and investments in marketable
securities, of which $25.0 million was restrictedélation to our 12.0% senior secured notes, 4608 million in indebtedness. The
indebtedness includes $125.0 million in aggregétejpal amount of 12.0% senior secured notes diyelb, 2017, but excludes our lohgrm
liability relating to the sale of future royaltiess is further described in Note 7 to our ConsdbkdaFinancial Statements, this royalty obligation
liability will not generally be settled in cash,thwe expect to make a payment of $7.0 million i12@s a specified worldwide 2013 net sales
threshold of MIRCERA® is not expected to be met.

On January 28, 2014, we completed the issuanceaadf 9,775,000 shares of our common stock fasgproceeds to the Company of
approximately $117.2 million. Additionally, we inced approximately $0.6 million in legal and accting fees, filing fees, and other offering
expenses.

As of December 31, 2013, we estimated that we hbshat twelve months of working capital to fund aurrent business plans. We
expect the clinical development of our proprietdnyg candidates, including etirinotecan pegol (&sown as NKTR-102), Amikacin Inhale,
NKTR-181, and NKTR-171, will require significant investnt in order to continue to advance in clinicatelepment with the objective of
entering into
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a collaboration partnership or obtaining regulatampproval. However, we have no credit facility ay ather sources of committed capital. In
addition, while in the past we have received a nemab significant payments from license and coltaltion agreements and other significant
transactions, we do not currently anticipate comipdenew transactions with substantial upfront payts in the neaterm. Our current busine
plan is also subject to significant uncertaintied &sks as a result of, among other factors, es@&being higher than anticipated, unplanned
expenses, cash receipts being lower than anticipatel the need to satisfy contingent liabilitiesJuding litigation matters and
indemnification obligations.

The availability and terms of various financingeattatives substantially depend on the successlorgaf our drug development
programs, including naloxegol, etirinotecan pe@#X 855, Amikacin Inhale, NKTR-181, and NKTR-171hd& availability and terms of
financing alternatives and any future significaayments from existing or new collaborations alleleghon the positive outcome of ongoing or
planned clinical studies, whether we or our padrae successful in obtaining health authority eypgls in major markets, and if approved, the
commercial success of these drugs. In the evemtonet enter into any new collaboration partnershifth significant upfront payments or do
not receive the naloxegol milestone payments audsed above, we would likely be required to pufswncing alternatives. In the event we
determine to pursue financing alternatives, ouedfje would be to first explore financing alteiimas that are not dilutive to the ownership of
our common stock security holders. However, if ddative financing alternatives are not availaldeus on commercially reasonable terms or
at all, we could be required to pursue dilutiveiggbased financing alternatives such as an offeahconvertible debt or common stock. If we
do not receive substantial milestone payments fsamexisting collaboration agreements, execute mgiw-value collaborations or other
arrangements, or are unable to raise additionafadap one or more financing transactions, we widolog unable to continue our current level of
investment in research and development.

Due to the potential for continued uncertaintyha tredit markets in 2014 and thereafter, we mageence reduced liquidity with
respect to some of our investments in marketaldergees. These investments are generally helddturity, which, in accordance with our
investment policy, is less than two years. Howeiféhe need arises to liquidate such securitidereematurity, we may experience losses on
liquidation. At December 31, 2013, the average timmaturity of the investments held in our poiitiokas approximately five months and the
maturity of any single investment did not exceed gear. To date we have not experienced any lityigues with respect to these securities,
but if such issues arise, we may be required td boine, or all, of these securities until matuhtie believe that, even allowing for potential
liquidity issues with respect to these securities, remaining cash and investments in marketaldlergies will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated cash needs for at least the next twalweths.

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows used in operating activities for theryaaded December 31, 2013 totaled $38.5 millioncivincludes $158.3 million of net
operating cash uses as well as $15.2 million faarést payments on our senior secured notes, lhadféset by the receipt of $135.0 million 1
milestones from collaboration agreements. We exjeattcash flows used in operating activities, edilg upfront and milestone payments
received, if any, will increase in 2014 as a resfiihcreased spending on our proprietary reseanchdevelopment programs.

Cash flows used in operating activities for theryaaded December 31, 2012 totaled $129.8 millidmnictvincludes $148.3 million of net
operating cash uses, partially offset by the rea#i$18.5 million from collaboration agreement®tNperating cash uses also include $6.7
million in interest payments on our convertible sudinated notes retired in full on September 28,20

Cash flows used in operating activities for therysaded December 31, 2011 totaled $113.7 millidmnictvincludes $7.0 million for semi-
annual interest payments on our convertible subatdd notes, $11.2 million of prepayments to cenandors in our BEACON study, and
$125.0 million of other net operating cash uses,
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partially offset by the receipt of $29.5 milliorofn collaboration agreements, of which $16.5 milkees included in accounts receivable at
December 31, 2010 resulting from an upfront paynobtigation arising from an amendment to one ofroanufacturing and supply
agreements.

Cash flows from investing activities

We paid $4.1 million, $10.6 million, and $9.7 nolti to purchase property and equipment in the yerzded December 31, 2013, 2012,
and 2011, respectively. We expect our capital edjperes in 2014 to increase significantly as coragao 2013rimarily as a result of our pli
to build commercial manufacturing capability foettevices for the Amikacin Inhale program.

Cash flows used in financing activities

On February 24, 2012, we sold all of our rightseiceive future royalty payments on CIMZFA and MIRRA® in exchange for $124.0
million. As part of this sale, we incurred approxitely $4.4 million in transaction costs. During thear ended December 31, 2013, we made :
$3.0 million payment to the purchaser of these lt@smbecause the minimum 2012 MIRCERA net salesstiold was not met.

On July 11, 2012, we issued $125.0 million of ses&xured notes maturing on July 15, 2017. Asqgfattis transaction, we incurred
approximately $4.5 million in issuance costs. Inmection with this transaction, we retired the gipal amount of $42.5 million of our $215.0
million in aggregate principal amount of converilslubordinated notes in exchange for $42.5 milligprincipal amount of the senior secured
notes. In addition, $25.0 million of the proceeds1 the senior secured notes issuance is requirkd maintained in a restricted account until
July 1, 2015. On September 28, 2012, we repaideimaining $172.4 million in principal amount of tbenvertible subordinated notes.

On January 24, 2011, we completed a public offeoihgur common stock with gross proceeds of appnaxely $220.4 million. As part
of the public offering, we incurred approximately.& million in legal and accounting fees, filing# and other offering expenses.

We received proceeds from issuance of common s&ated to our employee option and stock purch&sespf $8.2 million,
$4.1 million, and $4.5 million in the years endeeicember 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

On January 28, 2014, we completed the issuancsaadf 9,775,000 shares of our common stock fosgyproceeds to the Company of

approximately $117.2 million. Additionally, we inced approximately $0.6 million in legal and accting fees, filing fees, and other offering
expenses.

Contractual Obligations (in thousands)

Payments Due by Perioc

2-3Yrs
<=1Yr 2015- 4-5Yrs

Total 2014 2016 2017-2018 2019+
Obligations @
12% Senior secured notes due July 2017, includiteyest $185,00( $15,00( $30,00( $140,00( $ —
Operating lease® 28,221 2,55¢ 9,64z 10,22« 5,79¢
Capital leases, including intere®) 14,48: 5,16¢ 9,31¢ — —
Purchase commitmen® 12,59( 12,59( — — —
Litigation settlements, including intere 15,00( 6,50( 8,00( 50C —

$255,29: $41,81¢ $56,95¢ $150,72: $5,79¢

(1) The above table does not include certain commnits and contingencies which are discussed in 8lofdtem 8. Financial Statements
and Supplementary Dat
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(2) In November 2010, we moved into our Mission Bagility, which includes our corporate headquarterd a research and developmen
center. Under the terms of the sublease we enitet@avith Pfizer Inc. on September 30, 2009 for khission Bay Facility, we will
begin making non-cancelable lease payments in 206december 28, 2011, we amended the lease Midston Bay Facility to
include an additional 24,002 square feet of spdoéer the terms of the amendment, beginning JarLe2912, we began making lease
payments for this additional space. The subleadiscsissed in Note 6 of Item 8. Financial Stateshant Supplementary Da

(3) These amounts primarily result from capitakkabligations arising from our office space leas201 Industrial Road in San Carlos,
California. In November 2010, we ceased use ofghéce as a result of the relocation of all of@alifornia functions to our Mission
Bay Facility. We have subleased all of the SandZaFacility. This is further discussed in Note 6tefn 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Dati

4 Substantially all of this amount was subjecvp@n purchase orders as of December 31, 2018#ratissued under existing contracts.
This amount does not represent any minimum conteactination liabilities for our existing contrac

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not utilize off-balance sheet financing agements as a source of liquidity or financing.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation and presentation of financial states in conformity with U.S. Generally Acceptedcaanting Principles (GAAP)
requires management to make judgments, estimatkassumptions that affect the reported amountss#ta and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effitheancial statements and the reported amountsvehues and expenses during the reporting
period.

We base our estimates on historical experienceandrious other assumptions that we believe teeasonable under the circumstan
the results of which form our basis for making jodmts about the carrying value of assets andiligsithat are not readily apparent from
other sources, and evaluate our estimates on asirangasis. Actual results may differ materiallgrfr those estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. We have determinedftiiahe periods in this report, the following acating policies and estimates are critical in
understanding our financial condition and resultewr operations.

Revenue Recognition

License, collaboration and other research revesueciognized based on the facts and circumstarfi@egb contractual agreement and
includes amortization of upfront fees. We defeome under contractual agreements when we haveefustiligations that indicate that a
separate earnings process has not been complgidntfees are recognized ratably over the explgogeformance period under each
arrangement. Management makes its best estim#te gieriod over which we expect to fulfill our pahance obligations, which may include
technology transfer assistance, clinical develograetivities, or manufacturing activities througie tcompletion of clinical development or the
termination or expiration of the collaboration agreent. Given the complexities and uncertaintiesotiiboration arrangements, significant
judgment is required by management to determineltination of the performance peric

As of December 31, 2013, we had $23.5 million deded upfront fees related to two collaborationeggnents that are being amortized
over 11 to 19 years, or an average of 15.2 yearsolir collaboration agreements, our performandgations may span the life of the
agreement. For these, the shortest reasonablelpsitioe end of the development period (estimatdabt4 to 8 years) and the longest period is
the contractual life of the agreement, which isegally 10-12 years from the first commercial s@é/en the statistical probability of drug
development success in the bio-pharmaceutical indudrug development programs have
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only a 5% to 10% probability of reaching commersiatcess. If we had determined a longer or shan@rtization period was appropriate,
annual upfront fee amortization for these agreementld be as low as $2.2 million or as high as@dillion as compared to the $2.4 million
recognized in the year ended December 31, 2013.

As of December 31, 2013, we also had $80.7 miltibdeferred upfront fees related to seven licemsmufacturing and supply
agreements that are being amortized over periods & to 10 years. Our performance obligationstese agreements may include technolog
transfer assistance and/or bagkmanufacturing and supply services for a spetifieriod of time; therefore, the time estimateddmplete thi
performance obligations related to licenses iseeitipecified or is much shorter than the collabonahagreements. We may experience dela
the execution of technology transfer plans, whigymesult in a longer amortization period for apglile agreements.

Our original estimates are periodically evaluateddtermine if circumstances have caused the dstima change and if so, amortization
of revenue is adjusted prospectively.

In addition, at the inception of each new multiplement arrangement or the material modificatioaroéxisting multiple-element
arrangement, we allocate arrangement considerttiah units of accounting based on the relatidérgeprice method, generally based on our
best estimate of selling price (ESP). The objeadivESP is to determine the price at which we wdrddsact a sale if the product or service
was sold on a stanalone basis. We determine ESP for the elementsrieallaboration arrangements by considering migitipctors including
but not limited to, technical complexity of the fl@mance obligation and similarity of elementshoge performed under previous
arrangements. Since we apply significant judgmeitriiving at the ESPs, any material changes wsigldificantly affect the allocation of the
total consideration to the different elements afdtiple element arrangement.

Clinical Trial Accruals

We record accruals for the estimated costs of tiical study activities performed by third parti&e generally accrue costs associated
with the start-up and reporting phases of the cdinstudies ratably over the estimated duratiothefstart-up and reporting phases. If the actue
timing of these phases varies from the estimateyiledjust the accrual prospectively. We gengraltcrue costs associated with the treatr
phase of clinical studies based on the total esticheost of the treatment phase on a per patiesis had we expense the per patient cost ra
based on patient enroliment in the studies. Inifipaircumstances, such as for certain time-baseds, we recognize clinical trial expenses
using a methodology that we consider to be molea#fe of the timing of costs incurred. Advancep@nts for goods or services that will be
used or rendered for future research and developauotinities are capitalized as prepaid expensds@erognized as expense as the related
goods are delivered or the related services aferpsed.

Stock-Based Compensation

We use the Black-Scholes option valuation mode&fmh respective grant to determine the estimaieadlue of stock options on the
date of grant (grant date fair value) and commonkspurchased under our Employee Stock Purchase(P&PP). We expense the estimated
fair value of each award, as adjusted by the estidhlaistorical forfeiture rate, ratably over thewegted service period of the award. The Black
Scholes option pricing model requires the inputighly subjective assumptions. Because our empletaek options have characteristics
significantly different from those of traded optgmrand because changes in the subjective inpuingsisuns can materially affect fair value
estimates, in management’s opinion, the existinget®omay not provide a reliable single measurdefair value of our employee stock
options or common stock purchased under our ESP&ddition, management continually assesses thenggi®ns and methodologies used to
calculate the estimated fair value of stock-basedpensation. Circumstances may change and additdateamay become available over time,
which could result in changes to the assumptionsnagthodologies, and which could materially impaat fair value determination, as well as
our stock-based compensation expense.
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In addition, for awards that vest upon the achiesmnof performance milestones, we estimate thengperiod based on our evaluation
of the probability of achievement of each respectihilestone and the related estimated date of aetment.

Non-cash Interest Expense on Liability Related tal& of Future Royalties

In February 2012, we sold all of our rights to ieeduture royalty payments from sales of the CIMZland MIRCERA® drug products
marketed by UCB and Roche, respectively. Althoughane required to make payments to the purchasgirooertain situations, including the
event of our breach of a representation, warrangogenant in the Purchase and Sale Agreemengithedt rise to a liability in accordance with
the terms and conditions of such agreement, tyialtypsale transaction was recorded as a liak{iltyyalty Obligation) that we will amortize
using the interest method over the estimated fith® Purchase and Sale Agreement. As a resuliwete interest on the transaction and
record interest expense at the estimated intesitst©ur estimate of the interest rate under theesgent is based on the amount of royalty
payments to be received by RPI over the life ofdtrangement and payments we may be required te toaRPI under the agreement. We
periodically assess the expected royalty paymen&Pt from UCB and Roche using a combination ofdnisal results and forecasts from
market data sources. To the extent such paymentgraater or less than our initial estimates otithang of such payments is materially
different than our original estimates, we will ppestively adjust the amortization of the Royaltyli@&tion. There are a number of factors that
could materially affect the amount and timing ofatty payments from CIMZI& and MIRCERA , most of igh are not within our control.
Such factors include, but are not limited to, chaggtandards of care, the introduction of commefiroducts, manufacturing or other delays,
biosimilar competition, intellectual property matteadverse events that result in health authariposed restrictions on the use of the drug
products, and other events or circumstances thatti@ reduced royalty payments from CIMZPA andRGERAZ® , all of which would result
in a reduction of non-cash royalty revenue and cash interest expense over the life of the Roy@ltligation. Conversely, if sales of CIMZI
®and MIRCERA® are higher than expected, non-cashltsoyevenue and non-cash interest expense woutdegyreater over the term of the
Royalty Obligation. If we had determined that thiefest rate used in 2013 should have been onergage point higher than our current
estimate of 17%, the non-cash interest expensgnézd in the year ended December 31, 2013 wouwld mcreased by $1.5 million.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting StandardarBidssued a new accounting standard that williregbe presentation of certain
unrecognized tax benefits as a reduction to defdee assets rather than as a liability when apetating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss.
or a tax credit carryforward exists. This guidargceffective for our interim and annual periodsibegg January 1, 2014. We do not believe
the adoption of this guidance will have a matarigact on our consolidated financial statements.

ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk
Interest Rate and Market Risk

The primary objective of our investment activitisgo preserve principal while at the same time imé&ing yields without significantly
increasing risk. To achieve this objective, we Btia liquid, high quality debt securities. Our @stments in debt securities are subject to
interest rate risk. To minimize the exposure duart@dverse shift in interest rates, we inveshortsterm securities and maintain a weighted
average maturity of one year or less.

A hypothetical 50 basis point increase in interasts would result in an approximate $0.5 milli@tiitase, less than 1%, in the fair value
of our available-for-sale securities at December2B1 3. This potential change is based on sertyitivialyses performed on our investment
securities at December 31, 2013. Actual results may
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differ materially. The same hypothetical 50 basigipincrease in interest rates would have resutteh approximate $0.4 million decrease,
less than 1%, in the fair value of our availabledale securities at December 31, 2012.

Due to the potential for continued uncertaintytia tredit markets in 2014, we may experience ratiligaidity with respect to some of
our investments in marketable securities. Thesesitments are generally held to maturity, whictess Ithan two years. However, if the need
arises to liquidate such securities before matuwty may experience losses on liquidation. As afddeber 31, 2013, we held $198.0 millior
available-for-sale investments, excluding moneykaafunds, with an average time to maturity of fimenths. To date we have not
experienced any liquidity issues with respect wsthsecurities, but should such issues arise, webmeequired to hold some, or all, of these
securities until maturity. We believe that, evelowing for potential liquidity issues with respeotthese securities, our remaining cash, cash
equivalents, and investments will be sufficientrteet our anticipated cash needs for at least tkietwelve months. Based on our available
cash and our expected operating cash requirenveatsurrently do not intend to sell these securiiesr to maturity and it is more likely than
not that we will not be required to sell these siieis before we recover the amortized cost basisordingly, we believe there are no other-
than-temporary impairments on these securitieshand not recorded any provisions for impairment.

Foreign Currency Risk

The majority of our revenue, expense, and capitethpasing activities are transacted in U.S. dalldmswvever, since a portion of our
operations consists of research and developmeinitast outside the United States, we have entaredtransactions in other currencies,
primarily the Indian Rupee, and we therefore atgexu to foreign exchange risk.

Our international operations are subject to rigkscal of international operations, including, Imat limited to, differing economic
conditions, changes in political climate, differitax structures, other regulations and restrictiansl foreign exchange rate volatility. We do
not utilize derivative financial instruments to nage our exchange rate risks.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of NektaerBpeutics

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Nektar Therapeutics as of Decemb&t(3B and 2012, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehefs$s, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and casiw# for each of the three years in the perio
ended December 31, 2013. These financial stateraemthe responsibility of the Company’s managem@ut responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digs in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referealbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of Nektar
Therapeutics at December 31, 2013 and 2012, ancbtieolidated results of its operations and ité ¢lsvs for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2013, in conformity Wwit8. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), Nektar
Therapeutics’ internal control over financial refiag as of December 31, 2013, based on critergbéished in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@mgtions of the Treadway Commission (1992 Framkwand our report dated
February 27, 2014 expressed an unqualified opitfiereon.

/s/ ERNST& Y OUNGLLP

Redwood City, California
February 27, 2014
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of NektaerBpeutics

We have audited Nektar Therapeuticdernal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2013, based on criteria establishedt@mrial
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cassion (1992 Framework) (the
COSO criteria). Nektar Therapeutics’ managemergsponsible for maintaining effective internal cohbver financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accomgagyManagement’s Annual Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our r@sgibility is to express an opinion on the comparigternal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtagasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordxe@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinadgutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezeéssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableasmesuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (&ajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witibaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasaabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanveterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Nektar Therapeutics maintainedglimaterial respects, effective internal contregofinancial reporting as of December 31,
2013, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Nektar Therapeutics as of DeaeBih@013 and 2012, and the related consolidatgdreents of operations, comprehensive
loss, stockholdergquity (deficit), and cash flows for each of theethyears in the period ended December 31, 20Nekifar Therapeutics ai
our report dated February 27, 2014 expressed amalifigd opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & Y OUNGLLP

Redwood City, California
February 27, 2014
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31
2013 2012
(In thousands, excep
par value information)

ASSETS

Current asset:

Cash and cash equivale $ 39,06 $ 2543

Shor-term investment 197,95¢ 251,75

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of nil at Ember 31, 2013 and 20: 2,22¢ 5,80¢

Inventory 13,45 18,26¢

Other current asse 5,17¢ 13,36!

Total current asse 257,88: 314,63:
Restricted cas 25,00( 25,00(
Property and equipment, r 66,974 72,21t
Goodwill 76,501 76,50:
Other asset 8,17( 9,44:
Total asset $ 434,52 $ 497,79(

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 9,11¢ $ 2,86:

Accrued compensatic 14,25¢ 8,77:

Accrued expense 6,24: 8,00¢

Accrued clinical trial expens 16,90¢ 17,50(

Deferred revenue, current porti 23,66¢ 21,89¢

Interest payabl 6,917 7,08:

Liability related to the sale of future royaltiesirrent portior 7,00( 3,00(¢

Other current liabilitie: 14,12 9,41/

Total current liabilities 98,221 78,53’

Senior secured not 125,00( 125,00(

Capital lease obligations, less current por 8,04¢ 11,601
Liability related to receipt of refundable mileseopaymen 70,00( —

Liability related to the sale of future royaltidsss current portio 121,52( 128,26t

Deferred revenue, less current port 82,38¢ 96,55

Other lon¢-term liabilities 19,25¢ 10,81:

Total liabilities 524,43( 450,77:

Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder' equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, 10,000 shares authorized, $0.p@0%alue; no shares designated, issued
or outstanding at December 31, 2013 and - — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 300,000 authoriz&6,494 shares and 115,259 she

issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 ar?] 28dpectively 11 11

Capital in excess of par val 1,643,66! 1,617,74
Accumulated other comprehensive I (1,187 (357)
Accumulated defici (1,732,39) (1,570,38)

Total stockholder equity (deficit) (89,909 47,01¢
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity (deficit) $ 434,52 $ 497,79

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31

2012

2011

(In thousands, except per share information

2013
Revenue
Product sale $ 44,84¢
Royalty revenut 1,14¢
Non-cash royalty revenue related to sale of future li@s 22,05¢
License, collaboration and other revel 80,87
Total revenue 148,92:
Operating costs and expens
Cost of goods sol 38,50¢
Research and developmt 190,01(
General and administrati\ 40,53:
Impairment of lon-lived asset: —
Total operating costs and expen 269,05:
Loss from operation (120,130)
Non-operating income (expenst
Interest incomt 73z
Interest expens (18,459
Non-cash interest expense on liability related to e&leiture royalties (22,309
Other income (expense), r 392
Total nor-operating expense, n (39,639
Loss before provision for income tax (159,769
Provision for income taxe 2,24¢
Net loss $(162,01))
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (140
Weighted average shares outstanding used in congpligisic and diluted net loss per st 115,73.

$ 35,39¢
4,87¢
10,79:
30,12
81,19:

30,42¢
148,67
41,61«
1,67¢
222,39.

(141,20)

2,31t
(15,489
(18,05
98¢
(30,24¢)
(171,44
40€

$(171,85))

$ (150
114,82(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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$ 24,86
10,321

36,28¢
71,48(

21,89:
126,76t
46,76(

195,41
(123,93)

2,24¢
(10,229

(1,04
(9,029)
(132,96()
1,01¢
$(133,979)

$ (119
112,94
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)
Net loss $(162,01) $(171,85Y $(133,979)
Other comprehensive income (los
Net unrealized gain (loss) on availe-for-sale investment (26¢) 1,20¢ (789)
Income tax provision (benefit) on unrealized gainawailabl-for-sale investment 47C (470 —
Net foreign currency translation gain (lo (1,026 10 (1,28¢)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of (8249) 74€ (2,079
Comprehensive los $(162,83) $(171,109 $(136,049)

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)

Accumulated Other

Capital in Total
Common Par Excess of Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Value Par Value Income/(Loss) Deficit Equity (Deficit)
(In thousands)

Balance at December 31, 20 94,517 $ 9 $1,354,23; $ 96¢ $(1,264,54) $ 90,66:
Sale of common stock, net of issuance costs of

$617 19,00( 2 219,78: — — 219,78
Shares issued under equity compensation | 96¢ — 4,53( — — 4,53(
Stocl-based compensatic — — 18,88¢ — — 18,88t
Other comprehensive lo — — — (2,079 — (2,07))
Net loss — — — — (133,979 (133,979
Balance at December 31, 20 114,48! 11 1,597,42 (1,209 (1,398,52) 197,81:
Shares issued under equity compensation | 774 — 4,117 — — 4,117
Stoclk-based compensatic — — 16,19¢ — — 16,19¢
Other comprehensive incor — — — 74€ — 74€
Net loss — — — — (171,859 (171,85)
Balance at December 31, 20 115,25¢ 11 1,617,74. (357) (1,570,38i) 47,01¢
Shares issued under equity compensation | 1,23¢ — 8,20¢ — — 8,20¢
Stoclk-based compensatic — — 17,70¢ — — 17,70¢
Other comprehensive lo — — — (829 — (829
Net loss — — — — (162,01) (162,01)
Balance at December 31, 20 116,49: $ 11 $1,643,66! $ (1,180  $(1,732,39) $ (89,909

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $(162,01)  $(171,85)  $(133,979)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Non-cash royalty revenue related to sale of future li@s (22,055 (20,79) —
Non-cash interest expense on liability related to e&leiture royalties 22,30¢ 18,057 —
Stoclk-based compensatic 17,70¢ 16,19¢ 18,88t
Depreciation and amortizatic 14,27" 14,50¢ 14,95:
Impairment of lon-lived asset: — 1,67¢ —
Other nor-cash transactior 664 84t 1,35¢
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivable, n 3,57¢ (867) 20,16+
Inventory 4,817 (5,619 (5,390
Other asset 6,42: 6,031 (12,267
Accounts payabl 6,19¢ (122 (3,389
Accrued compensatic 5,481 (4,039 3,55¢
Accrued expense (1,91%) 1,49t 1,01z
Accrued clinical trial expens (595) 5,54 (297
Deferred revenu (12,399 (9,389 (17,516
Interest payabl (16€) 5,27¢ —
Liability related to receipt of refundable mileseopaymen 70,00( — —
Other liabilities 9,16¢ 3,27¢ (949
Net cash used in operating activit (38,527 (129,756 (113,74)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Maturities of investment 319,18: 307,88 383,05
Purchases of investmer (268,06 (164,665 (695,37)
Sales of investmen 2,881 5,37¢ 210,08¢
Restricted cas — (25,000 —
Purchases of property and equipir (4,097 (10,587 (9,729
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 49,90¢ 113,02( (111,95)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of capital lease obligatic (2,997) (2,437 (1,97¢)
(Repayment of) proceeds from sale of future rogsjtnet of $4.4 million of transaction
costs in 201: (3,000 119,58t —
Proceeds from issuance of senior secured notesf $dt5 million of issuance cos — 77,94( —
Repayment of convertible subordinated n¢ — (172,40° —
Proceeds from shares issued under equity compengating 8,20¢ 4,117 4,53(
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance ¢ — — 219,78
Net cash provided by financing activiti 2,21¢ 26,80: 222,33!
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equts: 32 60 91€
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 13,63( 10,12¢ (2,447%)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 25,43’ 15,31: 17,75t
Cash and cash equivalents at end of ' $ 39,06 $ 25,43 $ 15,31
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for intere: $ 17,59( $ 9,62( $ 10,277
Cash paid for income tax $ 1,01¢ $ 1,021 $ 957
Supplemental schedule of nc-cash investing and financing activities
Retirement of convertible subordinated notes irharge for senior secured no $ — $ 42,54t $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

Note 1 — Organization and Summary of Significant Acounting Policies
Organization

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical compaadbuartered in San Francisco, California and pwated in Delaware. We are
developing a pipeline of drug candidates thatagithur PEGylation and advanced polymer conjugatentdogy platforms with the objective to
improve the benefits of drugs for patients.

Our research and development activities have reduignificant resources to date and are expeotedritinue to require significant
resources. As a result, we expect to continuedarigubstantial losses and negative cash flows &ipenations in the future. We have financed
our operations primarily through cash from licegsioollaboration and manufacturing agreements disasdinancing transactions. At
December 31, 2013, we had approximately $262.0anilh cash, cash equivalents and investments nketeble securities, of which $25.0
million was restricted, and $160.8 million in indettness. The indebtedness includes $125.0 mili@ggregate principal amount of 12.0%
senior secured notes due July 15, 2017, but exsladelongterm liability relating to the sale of future rogiak. As is further described in Nc
7, this royalty obligation liability will not be #tbed in cash, but we expect to make a paymen¥di #illion to the royalty purchaser in 2014 as
a certain specified worldwide net sales thresh6BIRCERA ® is not expected to be met.

Basis of Presentation, Principles of Consolidatiamd Use of Estimate

Our consolidated financial statements include thanfcial position, results of operations and césivd of our whollyewned subsidiarie
Nektar Therapeutics (India) Private Limited and tdek herapeutics UK, Ltd. (Nektar UK). All intercgany accounts and transactions h
been eliminated in consolidation.

Our consolidated financial statements are denomihiait U.S. dollars. Accordingly, changes in exclearages between the applicable
foreign currency and the U.S. dollar will affecettranslation of each foreign subsidiary’s finahoésults into U.S. dollars for purposes of
reporting our consolidated financial results. Ttatisn gains and losses are included in accumulatieer comprehensive income (loss) in the
stockholders’ equity (deficit) section of the balarsheet. To date, such cumulative translationstmjents have not been material to our
consolidated financial position. Aggregate groseifyn currency transaction gains (losses) recomegperations for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 were not material

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith U.S. generally accepted accounting priresplGAAP) requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities and discsiicontingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the repontecuats of revenues and expenses during the regqréiriod. Actual results could differ
materially from those estimates. On an ongoingshag evaluate our estimates, including thoseeélat deferred revenue recognition peric
inventories, the impairment of investments, theampent of goodwill and longjved assets, contingencies, estimated interestresgpfrom ou
liability related to our sale of future royaltietpck-based compensation, and ongoing litigatiomragst other estimates. We base our estimat
on historical experience and on other assumptisgisthanagement believes are reasonable underrtiienstances. These estimates also form
the basis for making judgments about the carryaiges of assets and liabilities when these valtesat readily apparent from other sources.

Reclassifications

Certain items previously reported in specific fioi@h statement captions have been reclassifiednéoem to the current period
presentation. Such reclassifications do not mdtgirapact previously reported total revenue, opi@galoss or net loss or total assets, liabili
or stockholders’ equity (deficit).
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Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments, and Faalde of Financial Instruments

We consider all investments in marketable secsritigth an original maturity of three months or ledsen purchased to be cash
equivalents. Investments in securities with renmgjninaturities of less than one year, or where mi@nt is to use the investments to fund
current operations or to make them available foremt operations, are classified as short-termstents.

Investments are designated as available-for-sal@emncarried at fair value, with unrealized gaind losses reported in stockholders’
equity (deficit) as accumulated other comprehenisizeme (loss). The disclosed fair value relateduncash equivalents and investments is
based primarily on the reported fair values in jpeiod-end brokerage statements, which are basethdket prices from a variety of industry
standard data providers and generally represenédymices for similar assets in active marketsaae been derived from observable market
data. We independently validate these fair valis@sguavailable market quotes and other information.

Interest and dividends on securities classifiedwaslable-for-sale, as well as amortization of ptens and accretion of discounts to
maturity, are included in interest income. Realigaths and losses and declines in value of avaifdrtsale securities judged to be other-than
temporary, if any, are included in other incomep@nse). The cost of securities sold is based ospéeific identification method.

Accounts Receivable and Significant Customer Contations

Our customers are primarily pharmaceutical andelsimtology companies that are located in the U.& Eamope. Our accounts receiva
balance contains billed and unbilled trade recdesfrom product sales and royalties, as wellrag tand materials based billings from
collaborative research and development agreemfitesn appropriate, we provide for an allowance faulatful accounts by reserving for
specifically identified doubtful accounts. We geairdo not require collateral from our customét&e perform a regular review of our
customers’ payment histories and associated aiisHitWe have not experienced significant credisks from our accounts receivable. At
December 31, 2013, three different customers repted 30%, 28%, and 28%, respectively, of our atisoreceivable. At December 31, 2012,
four different customers represented 38%, 27%, aA#11%, respectively, of our accounts receivable.

Inventory and Significant Supplier Concentratior

Inventory is generally manufactured upon receidiraf purchase orders from our collaboration pasn&ventory includes direct
materials, direct labor, and manufacturing overheadi cost is determined on a first-in, ficatt basis. Inventory is valued at the lower of @
market and defective or excess inventory is writtewn to net realizable value based on historigpegence or projected usage. Inventory
related to research and development activitiegpemsed when purchased.

We are dependent on our suppliers and contract factowers to provide raw materials, drugs and desviaf appropriate quality and
reliability and to meet applicable contract andutatpry requirements. In certain cases, we relgingle sources of supply of one or more
critical materials. Consequently, in the event thaiplies are delayed or interrupted for any reasonability to develop and produce our drug
candidates or our ability to meet our supply olligzs could be significantly impaired, which colldve a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openat

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Majpraements are capitalized, while maintenance apdirs are expensed when incur
Manufacturing, laboratory and other equipment anarelciated using the straight-line method genemibr estimated useful lives of three to
seven years. Leasehold improvements and buildiregdepreciated using the straidime method over the shorter of the estimated udiééuor
the remaining term of the lease.
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We periodically review our property and equipmentrecoverability whenever events or changes icuanstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. Generatlyingpairment loss would be recognized if the cagyamount of an asset exceeds the su
the discounted cash flows expected to result fioenuse and eventual disposal of the asset.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the price pai@dfother entity over the fair value of the assetpired and liabilities assumed in a
business combination. We test for impairment inftueth quarter of each year using an October 1surement date, as well as at other times
when impairment indicators exist or when eventsiooe circumstances change that would indicatec#ineying amount may not be fully
recoverable.

We are organized in one reporting unit and havéueted the goodwill for the Company as a wholeoraer to test for goodwill
impairment, we first assess qualitative factorddtermine whether it is more likely than not the fair value of our single reporting unit is |
than its carrying amount and, if so, we perfornva-step goodwill impairment test. The first stegentifying a potential impairment, compares
the fair value of the reporting unit with its cang amount. If the carrying amount exceeds its¥alue, the second step compares the book
value of our assigned goodwill to its implied faue. We did not recognize any goodwill-relateghinment charges during 2013, 2012, or
2011.

Revenue Recognitio

We enter into arrangements with pharmaceuticaltaotchnology collaboration partners that may imeahultiple deliverables. Our
arrangements may contain one or more of the fofigvelements: upfront fees, contract research anelaigment, milestone payments,
manufacturing and supply payments, royalties, ax@he fees. Each deliverable in the arrangemeniailkiated to determine whether it meets
the criteria to be accounted for as a separateofiaitcounting or whether it should be combinedwither deliverables. Revenue is recognize
separately for each element.

At the inception of each new multiple-element agement or the material modification of an existingltiple-element arrangement, we
allocate all consideration received under multigiement arrangements to all units of accountingdas the relative selling price method,
generally based on our best estimate of sellingeiESP). The objective of ESP is to determingtiee at which we would transact a sale if
the product or service was sold on a stand-aloeis b&/e determine ESP for the elements in our lootiaion arrangements by considering
multiple factors including, but not limited to, tedcal complexity of the performance obligation amiilarity of elements to those performed
under previous arrangements. Since we apply seamfijudgment in arriving at the ESPs, any matefhiahge in our estimates would
significantly affect the allocation of the totalrideration to the different elements of a multiglement arrangement.

Product sale:

Product sales are primarily derived from cost-@lod fixed price manufacturing and supply agreemeittsour collaboration partners
and revenue is recognized when there is persuasidence that an arrangement exists, delivery bagroed, the price is fixed or determinal
and collection is reasonably assured. We havexpareenced any significant returns from our custame

Royalty revenue

Generally, we are entitled to royalties from ourtpars based on the net sales of their approvegsdhat are marketed and sold in one o
more countries where we hold royalty rights. Weoggze royalty revenue when the cash is receivedhan the royalty amount to be received
is estimable and collection is reasonably assikéth respect to the non-cash royalties relatedate sf future royalties described at Note 7,
revenue is recognized when estimable, otherwisentee is recognized during the period in whichrtiated royalty report is received, which
generally occurs in the quarter after the appliegisbduct sales are made.
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License, collaboration and oth

Upfront fees received by us in license and collabon arrangements that include future obligati@ush as manufacturing and supply
obligations, are recognized ratably over our exgabgierformance period under each respective amaggte \WWe make our best estimate of the
period over which we expect to fulfill our performee obligations, which may include technology tfanassistance, research activities, clir
development activities, and manufacturing actigifiem development through the commercializatiothefproduct. Given the uncertainties of
these collaboration arrangements, significant jueiginis required to determine the duration of thégomance period.

Contingent consideration received from the achiex@mf a substantive milestone is recognized ieiitirety in the period in which the
milestone is achieved, which we believe is consistéth the substance of our performance undewratious license and collaboration
agreements. A milestone is defined as an evetttdf)can only be achieved based in whole or inglier on the entitg performance or on t
occurrence of a specific outcome resulting fromehgty’s performance, (ii) for which there is stdrgtive uncertainty at the date the
arrangement is entered into that the event wik&igeved, and (iii) that would result in additiopalyments being due to the entity. A milestons
is substantive if the consideration earned fromattidevement of the milestone is consistent withpmrformance required to achieve the
milestone or the increase in value to the collati@maresulting from our performance, relates sotelpur past performance, and is reasonable
relative to all of the other deliverables and pagtaevithin the arrangement.

Our license and collaboration agreements with @aumgrs provide for payments to us upon the achiewnt of development milestones,
such as the completion of clinical trials or regoitg submissions, approvals by health authorities, commercial launches of drugs. Given the
challenges inherent in developing and obtainingllegry approval for drug products and in achiewiognmercial launches, there was
substantial uncertainty whether any such milesteovmsdd be achieved at the time of execution of ¢Heensing and collaboration agreements
In addition, we evaluated whether the developmalgstones meet the remaining criteria to be comeiisubstantive. As a result of our
analysis, we consider our remaining developmergstohes under all of our license and collaboraagmeements to be substantive and,
accordingly, we expect to recognize as revenuagdytayments received from such milestones onlpdfa@s each milestone is achieved.

Our license and collaboration agreements with oepartners also provide for contingent paymentsstdased solely upon the
performance of the respective partner. For suckimmgent amounts we expect to recognize the paynsntevenue when earned under the
applicable contract, which is generally upon coripleof performance by the respective partner, g that collection is reasonably assured

Our license and collaboration agreements with @uners also provide for payments to us upon thesgement of specified sales
volumes of approved drugs. We consider these patgtetoe similar to royalty payments and we wittagnize such sales-based payments
upon achievement of such sales volumes, providatcthllection is reasonably assured.

Shipping and Handling Cost
We recognize costs related to shipping and handiimoduct to customers in cost of goods sold.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation arrangements include spiiitin grants and restricted stock unit (RSU) @samder our equity incentive
plans, as well as shares issued under our Empstgek Purchase Plan (ESPP), through which emplayegspurchase our common stock
discount to the market price.

We use the Black-Scholes option valuation modetterrespective grant to determine the estimateddtue of the option on the date of
grant (grant date fair value) and the estimatedvialiue of common stock
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purchased under the ESPP. The Black-Scholes opticimg model requires the input of highly subjeetassumptions. Because our employee
stock options have characteristics significantffedéent from those of traded options, and becats@ges in the subjective input assumptions
can materially affect the fair value estimate, iamagement’s opinion, the existing models may novide a reliable single measure of the fair
value of our employee stock options or common sakhased under the ESPP. Management will contmassess the assumptions and
methodologies used to calculate the estimated/édire of stock-based compensation. Circumstancgschenge and additional data may
become available over time, which could resultiammges to these assumptions and methodologiesyléod could materially impact our fair
value determination.

We expense the value of the portion of the optioaveard that is ultimately expected to vest basethe historical forfeiture rate on a
straight line basis over the requisite servicequirin our Consolidated Statements of Operatiomsafwards that vest upon the achievement o
performance milestones, we estimate the vestinggéased on our evaluation of the probability ciiavement of each respective milestone
and the related estimated date of achievementk®tased compensation expense for purchases urelBiSAP is recognized over the
respective six-month purchase period. Expense ata@ue allocated among inventory, cost of goodd, sekearch and development expense,
and general and administrative expense based daribon of the applicable employee. Stock-basmdmensation charges are non-cash
charges and as such have no impact on our repeatdflows.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development costs are expensed adhand include salaries, benefits and other dipgraosts such as outside services,
supplies and allocated overhead costs. We perfesearch and development for our proprietary druglidates and technology development
and for certain third parties under collaboratigne@ments. For our proprietary drug candidatesoandnternal technology development
programs, we invest our own funds without reimbomset from a third party.

We record accruals for the estimated costs of tical trial activities performed by third partied/e generally accrue costs associated
with the start-up and reporting phases of the cihirials ratably over the estimated durationhef $tart-up and reporting phases. We generall
accrue costs associated with the treatment phadenimfal trials based on the total estimated adshe treatment phase on a per patient basis
and we expense the per patient cost ratably oeeestimated patient treatment period based onmpaieoliment in the trials. In specific
circumstances, such as for certain time-based,aestsecognize clinical trial expenses using a wédhogy that we consider to be more
reflective of the timing of costs incurred. Advarm@yments for goods or services that will be ugsegdered for future research and
development activities are capitalized as prepambrses and recognized as expense as the relaidd g@ delivered or the related services
are performed.

Net Loss Per Shar

Basic net loss per share is calculated based ondlghted-average number of common shares outstgualdiring the periods presented.
For all periods presented in the Consolidated Btetts of Operations, the net loss available to comatockholders is equal to the reportec
loss. Basic and diluted net loss per share arsahee due to our historical net losses and the nemgent to exclude potentially dilutive
securities which would have an anti-dilutive effentnet loss per share. The weighted average séthetentially dilutive securities has been
excluded from the diluted net loss per share catmn and is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Stock options 12,95¢ 13,97( 11,33¢
Convertible subordinated not — — 9,98¢
Total 12,95¢ 13,97( 21,327
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Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the liability moelt Under this method, deferred tax assets ahilities are determined based on
differences between the financial reporting andrégorting bases of assets and liabilities andregasured using enacted tax rates and law
are expected to be in effect when the difference®agpected to reverse. Realization of deferredsmets is dependent upon future earning
timing and amount of which are uncertain. We re@ra@luation allowance against deferred tax assetduce their carrying value to an
amount that is more likely than not to be realizéthen we establish or reduce the valuation allowaetated to the deferred tax assets, our
provision for income taxes will increase or decegasspectively, in the period such determinatiomade.

We utilize a two-step approach to recognize andseneauncertain tax positions. The first step isvaluate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the weight of avaikalevidence indicates that it is more likely thar that the position will be sustained upon ta
authority examination, including resolution of teld appeals or litigation processes, if any. Tloogeé step is to measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount that is more than 50% likely of gaiealized upon ultimate settlement.

Comprehensive loss

Comprehensive loss is the change in stockholdergtye (deficit) from transactions and other eveasl circumstances other than those
resulting from investments by stockholders andithistions to stockholders. Our other comprehensigceme (loss) is comprised of net loss,
gains and losses from the foreign currency traiosiaif the assets and liabilities of our India aid subsidiaries, and unrealized gains and
losses on investments in available-for-sale saearit

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting StandardarBidssued a new accounting standard that williregbe presentation of certain
unrecognized tax benefits as a reduction to defdere assets rather than as a liability when apetating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss,
or a tax credit carryforward exists. This guidaizeffective for our interim and annual periodsibegng January 1, 2014. We do not believe
the adoption of this guidance will have a matdrigdact on our consolidated financial statements.

Note 2 — Cash and Investments in Marketable Securés
Cash and investments in marketable securitiesydivg cash equivalents and restricted cash, di@las (in thousands):

Estimated Fair Value at

December 31 December 31

2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalents $ 39,067 $ 25,43
Shor-term investment 197,95¢ 251,75
Restricted cas 25,00( 25,00(
Total cash and investments in marketable secu $ 262,02¢ $ 302,19

We invest in liquid, high quality debt securiti€ur investments in debt securities are subjeattierést rate risk. To minimize the
exposure due to an adverse shift in interest ratesnvest in securities with maturities of two y®ar less and maintain a weighted average
maturity of one year or less. As of December 31,228nd 2012, all of our investments had contraanatlrities of one year or less and were
classified as short-term.
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Gross unrealized gains and losses were not signifiat either December 31, 2013 or 2012. Duringydas ended December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011, we sold available-for-sale secsritéaling $2.9 million, $5.4 million and $210.1lkwin respectively, and realized gains and
losses were not significant in any of those periods

Restricted cash of $25.0 million is required tont@ntained in a separate account until July 1, 20ider the terms of our 12% Senior
Secured Notes due July 2017 (see Note 5).

Our portfolio of cash and investments in marketagleurities includes (in thousands):

Fair
Value Estimated Fair Value at
Hierarchy December 31 December 31

Level 2013 2012
Corporate notes and bonds 2 $ 138,51! $ 241,15
U.S. corporate commercial pag 2 59,44« 3,99(
Obligations of U.S. government agenc 2 — 6,10¢
Obligations of U.S. states and municipalii 2 — 1,504
Available-for-sale investmenti 197,95¢ 252,76(
Money market fund 1 26,45 22,48
Cash, including restricted ca N/A 37,61« 26,945
Total cash and investments in marketable secu $ 262,02 $ 302,19

Level 1— Quoted prices in active markets for identical tssee liabilities.

Level 2— Inputs other than Level 1 that are observablegeitlirectly or indirectly, such as quoted pricesdimilar assets or liabilities; quot
prices in markets that are not active; or otheuigphat are observable or can be corroboratedbgreable market data for substantially the
full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3— Unobservable inputs that are supported by littte@market activity and that are significant te fair value of the assets or
liabilities.

All of our investments are categorized as Level LLevel 2, as explained in the table above. Weauserket approach to value our Level
2 investments. During the years ended Decembe2®13 and 2012, there were no transfers between lleared Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, we had letter aficegrangements in favor of a landlord and cent@ndors totaling $2.4 million.
These letters of credit are secured by investmarganilar amounts.

Note 3 — Inventory
Inventory consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31

2013 2012
Raw materials $ 3,941 $ 7,48¢
Work-in-process 6,14¢ 6,661
Finished good 3,35¢ 4,11¢
Inventory $13,45: $18,26¢
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Note 4 — Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the followingtfiausands):

December 31

2013 2012
Building and leasehold improvements $ 71,30¢ $ 72,18(
Laboratory equipmer 26,621 27,14
Manufacturing equipmer 23,69¢ 20,87
Furniture, fixtures and other equipmt 23,23t 21,91«
Depreciable property and equipment at « 144,86: 142,11¢
Less: accumulated depreciati (84,149 (72,66¢)
Depreciable property and equipment, 60,71: 69,45(
Constructio~in-progress 6,261 2,76¢
Property and equipment, r $ 66,97« $ 72,21¢

Building and leasehold improvements include our ufiacturing, research and development and admitiigréacilities and the related
improvements to these facilities. Laboratory anchufiacturing equipment include assets that supgaitt bur manufacturing and research and
development efforts. Construction-in-progress idekiassets being built to enhance our manufactaridgesearch and development efforts.
Property and equipment includes certain assetsrachihrough capital leases (see Note 6).

In July 2012, we consolidated our U.S.-based rebeactivities into our existing San Francisco fiacihnd ceased use of and plan to sell
one of our buildings located in Huntsville, Alabathat was dedicated to research activities. Th@ameement of this consolidation plan in
March 2012 triggered the recognition of a $1.7 immllimpairment charge relating to these assetsaryéar ended December 31, 2012.

Depreciation expense, including depreciation oétsacquired through capital leases, for the yeaded December 31, 2013, 2012, and
2011 was $13.0 million, $13.8 million, and $15.0limn, respectively.

Note 5 — Senior Secured Notes

On July 11, 2012, we issued $125.0 million in aggte principal amount of senior secured notes (Bé&tes) with the entire principal
amount due on July 15, 2017. The Senior Notes ibeznest at 12.0% per annum payable in cash semiadly in arrears on January 15 and
July 15 of each year, beginning January 15, 20h®&. Jenior Notes are secured by a first-priority b@ substantially all of our assets. In
connection with this transaction, we retired $4®i8ion of principal amount of our convertible subdinated notes due September 2012 in
exchange for the same principal amount of Senidedland received the remaining proceeds in cash algproximately $4.5 million in
transaction costs. We used the proceeds from shanee of the Senior Notes and our existing casépay the remaining $172.4 million in
principal amount of our convertible subordinatetiesdn full at maturity on September 28, 2012.

The Senior Notes contain customary covenants, divoducovenants that limit or restrict our abilityincur liens, incur indebtedness, and
make certain restricted payments, but do not cortavenants related to future financial performafregarticular, $25.0 million of the
proceeds is required to be maintained in a resttiaccount until July 1, 2015 and is classifiedeatricted cash on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. From July 1, 2015 through the quarter gntlime 30, 2017, the aggregate balance of ourtuioted cash and cash equivalents at the
end of any two consecutive fiscal quarters is neiliio be at least $25.0 million, subject to certainditions. The Senior Notes are callable by
us at any time, subject to certain prepayment prereiand conditions. If we experience certain charig®ntrol events, the holders of the
Senior Notes will have the right to require us toghase all or a portion of the Senior Notes atr@hmse price in cash equal to 101% of the
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principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unp#ierést to the date of purchase. In addition, uyEstain asset sales, we may be required to
offer to use the net proceeds thereof to purchaise ©f the Senior Notes at 100% of the principabant thereof, plus accrued and unpaid
interest to the date of purchase.

As of December 31, 2013, based on a discountedflagtanalysis using Level 3 inputs including fircdal discount rates, we believe the
$125.0 million carrying amount of our 12% Senioc@ed Notes due July 2017 is consistent with fisviaue.

Note 6 — Leases
Capital Leases

We lease office space at 201 Industrial Road inGanhos, California under a capital lease arrangegménder the terms of the lease, rent
increases up to 3% annually and the lease termmdgte is October 5, 2016. As of November 29, 20E0ceased use of this space as a resu
of the relocation of our San Carlos operations@rgorate headquarters to San Francisco, Califof@a result of our relocation, an
impairment test was performed for the building agldted leasehold improvements located in San €afls a result of this impairment test,
recorded an impairment charge of $12.6 million@@ As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the grossiatrof assets recorded under capital
leases was $2.3 million and the recorded valubesd assets, net of depreciation, was $1.0 méli@h$1.4 million, respectively.

We have subleased all of the San Carlos facility Have not been relieved of any obligations urderterms of this lease. Our future
minimum rental receipts under the San Carlos tgalibleases total $7.4 million as of December281_3.

Future minimum payments for our capital leaseseateinber 31, 2013 are as follows (in thousands):

Years ending December &

2014 $ 5,16¢
2015 5,28(
2016 4,03¢
Total minimum payments requirt 14,48:
Less: amount representing inter (2,899
Present value of future minimum lease paym 11,58t
Less: current portio (3,536
Capital lease obligation, less current pori $ 8,04¢

Operating Lease

On September 30, 2009, we entered into an operstiblgase (Sublease) with Pfizer, Inc. for a 102 ffiare foot facility located in
San Francisco, California (Mission Bay Facilityypdh completion of construction of the Mission BacHity, we moved in on November 29,
2010. The Mission Bay Facility includes a reseasti development center with biology, chemistry,rptecology, and clinical development
capabilities, as well as all of the functions poaxgly located in San Carlos, California, includmg corporate headquarters.

Under the terms of the Sublease, we will begin mgikion-cancelable lease payments in 2014, aftesxhieation of our free rent period
on August 1, 2014. The Sublease term is 114 mootmmencing in August 2010 and terminating on Jgn84, 2020. Monthly base rent will
escalate over the term of the sublease at vandassals. In addition, throughout the term of thiblgase, we are responsible for paying certai
costs and expenses specified in the Subleasegdinglinsurance costs and a pro rata share of apgmtpenses and applicable taxes for the
Mission Bay Facility.
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On December 28, 2011, we expanded our lease dfligson Bay Facility to include an additional 24208quare feet of space. The lease
term commenced on December 28, 2011 and ends aaryadil, 2020. Monthly base rent will escalate dierterm of the lease at various
intervals.

Our future minimum lease payments for our operdtages at December 31, 2013 are as follows (instnads):

Years ending December &

2014 $ 2,65¢
2015 4,75(
2016 4,89:
2017 5,03
2018 5,18
2019 and thereaftt 5,79¢
Total future minimum lease paymel $28,22:

We recognize rent expense on a straight-line lms@&sthe lease period. For the years ended Dece®ih@013, 2012, and 2011, rent
expense for all our operating leases, includingMission Bay Facility, was approximately $2.9 nahi, $2.8 million, and $2.4 million,
respectively.

Note 7 — Liability Related to Sale of Future Royales

On February 24, 2012, we entered into a Purchas&ale Agreement (the Purchase and Sale AgreemightiRPI Finance Trust (RPI),
an affiliate of Royalty Pharma, pursuant to whioh sold, and RPI purchased, our right to receivaltpypayments (the Royalty Entitlement)
arising from the worldwide net sales, from andradenuary 1, 2012, of (a) CIMZIA , under Nektaitehse, manufacturing and supply
agreement with UCB Pharma (UCB), and (b) MIRCERAInder Nektar's license, manufacturing and suppheamgent with F. Hoffmann-

La Roche Ltd and Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. (togetleéenred to as Roche). We received aggregate caskguls for the Royalty Entitlement of
$124.0 million. As part of this sale, we incurrgzgbeoximately $4.4 million in transaction costs, athiwill be amortized to interest expense (
the estimated life of the Purchase and Sale Agreeméhough we sold all of our rights to receiayalties from the CIMZIA? and MIRCER/
®products, as a result of our ongoing manufactuaimg) supply obligations related to the generatiothe$e royalties, we will continue to
account for these royalties as revenue and recahe$i124.0 million in proceeds from this transactas a liability (Royalty Obligation) that
will be amortized using the interest method overdbktimated life of the Purchase and Sale Agreement

The following table shows the activity within thability account during the year ended Decembei2813 and for the period from the
inception of the royalty transaction on February 282 (inception) to December 31, 2013 (in thodsn

Period from

Year ended inception to

December 31 December 31

2013 2013

Liability related to sale of future royalties—beging balance $ 131,26t $ —
Proceeds from sale of future royalt — 124,00(
Non-cash interest expense recogni. 22,30¢ 40,36¢
Non-cash CIMZIA® and MIRCERA® royalty revenue (22,055 (32,84¢)
Payments from Nektar to R (3,000 (3,000
Total liability related to sale of future royaltias of December 31, 20 128,52( 128,52(
Less: current portio (7,000 (7,000
Liability related to sale of future royalties, lesgrent portior $ 121,52( $ 121,52(
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As a result of this liability accounting, even tighuthe royalties from UCB and Roche are remittedaty to RPI starting with royalties
arising from product sales in the first quarte2612, we will continue to recognize revenue foistheoyalties. During the year ended
December 31, 2012, we recognized royalties fronsakds of CIMZIA® and MIRCERA upon notification of the actual royalty amount, ohn
occurs in the quarter after such sales are madindthe year ended December 31, 2013, we begeectgnize royalties based on estimate
the net sales made in each period, which resuited increase in non-cash royalty revenue of $4ll&min the year ended December 31,
2013. During the years ended December 31, 2012@h8, we recognized $22.1 and $10.8 million, respely, in non-cash royalties from net
sales of CIMZIA® and MIRCERA®

As royalties are remitted to RPI from Roche and U@ balance of the Royalty Obligation will beesffively repaid over the life of the
agreement. In order to determine the amortizatfch@Royalty Obligation, we are required to estienthe total amount of future royalty
payments to be received by RPI and payments weequared to make to RPI as noted below, if anyy ¢he life of the agreement. The sum of
these amounts less the $124.0 million proceedse&ved will be recorded as interest expense tnelife of the Royalty Obligation. Since
inception, our estimate of this total interest exqeeresulted in an effective annual interest rhgproximately 17%. We periodically assess
estimated royalty payments to RPI from UCB and Raahd to the extent such payments are greates®than our initial estimates, or the
timing of such payments is materially differentrit@ur original estimates, we will prospectivelystjthe amortization of the Royalty
Obligation. There are a number of factors that @ onhterially affect the amount and timing of roygayments from CIMZIA and
MIRCERA ®, most of which are not within our contr8uch factors include, but are not limited to, aiag standards of care, the introduction
of competing products, manufacturing or other del&josimilar competition, intellectual property tteas, adverse events that result in
governmental health authority imposed restrictionshe use of the drug products, and other evertsaumstances that could result in
reduced royalty payments from CIMZIA and MIRCERAall, of which would result in a reduction of non-basyalty revenues and the non-
cash interest expense over the life of the Roy@liigation. Conversely, if sales of CIMZI& and MIERA ® are more than expected, the
non-cash royalty revenues and the non-cash intexpsinse recorded by us would be greater oveethedf the Royalty Obligation.

Pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement, ioh\V2r13, we were required to pay RPI $3.0 milliecduse worldwide net sales of
MIRCERA @ for the 12 month period ended December2B1,2 did not reach a required threshold. Furtheemoe are required to make an
additional payment of up to $7.0 million if the sgieed worldwide net sales threshold of MIRCERA fbe 12 month period ended
December 31, 2013 is not achieved. We have congdltig it is probable that the minimum 2013 MIRCER#et sales threshold will not be
met and, therefore, we expect to make the $7.0omiayment to RPI described above in early 201 [iability for this expected $7.0 millic
payment is included in current liabilities on owrBolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2013.

In addition, the Purchase and Sale Agreement gRiRtghe right to receive certain reports and othfarmation relating to the Royalty
Entitlement and contains other representationsaardanties, covenants and indemnification obligatithat are customary for a transaction of
this nature. In particular, if we breach our obligas under the Purchase and Sale Agreement, wd beuwequired to pay damages to RPI that
are not limited to the purchase price we receivetthé sale transaction.

Note 8 — Commitments and Contingencies
Royalty Expenst

We have third party licenses that require us torpgslties based on our sales of certain prodund#oa on our recognition of royalty
revenue under certain of our collaboration agregmétoyalty expense, which is reflected in cogjadds sold in our Consolidated Statement:
of Operations, was approximately $4.1 million, $&#lion, and $1.8 million for the years ended Dater 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011,
respectively. The overall maximum amount of thesigations is based upon sales of the applicalidywts by our collaboration partners and
cannot be reasonably estimated.
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Purchase Commitment

In the normal course of business, we enter int@uarfirm purchase commitments related to contnaufacturing, clinical developme
and certain other items. As of December 31, 20165¢ commitments were approximately $12.6 milladhof which are expected to be paid in
2014.

Legal Matters

From time to time, we are involved in lawsuits,iadiions, claims, investigations and proceedirgssisting of intellectual property,
commercial, employment and other matters, whickean the ordinary course of business. We makeigioms for liabilities when it is both
probable that a liability has been incurred andaim@unt of the loss can be reasonably estimatezh Svisions are reviewed at least quar
and adjusted to reflect the impact of settlemegbtiations, judicial and administrative rulingsyae of legal counsel, and other information
and events pertaining to a particular case. Lithgais inherently unpredictable. If any unfavorahléng were to occur in any specific period,
there exists the possibility of a material advenggact on the results of operations of that peaodn our cash flows and liquidity.

On November 18, 2009, the Research Foundationeobtate University of New York (SUNY) filed an amtiagainst us in the United
States District Court for the Northern Districtdéw York. SUNY sought to recover amounts it allegatlas owed pursuant to a technology
licensing contract between us and SUNY. On Decerd®eR013, we entered into a Settlement AgreemmahRelease (Settlement) with
SUNY. Under the terms of the Settlement, SUNY agiteedismiss the action with prejudice and relistpuall rights it may have had to a
portion of future development and regulatory midest payments payable to us under the Co-Develophieenhse and Co-Promotion
Agreement, dated August 1, 2007, between us (andudasidiaries) and Bayer Healthcare LLC, as aminedated to the inhaled amikacin
program in exchange for (i) a $5.0 million paymeuaé on April 1, 2014; (ii) a $5.0 million paymenielon January 1, 2015, (iii) a series of
four $500,000 payments each due on April 1, 20adudry 1, 2015, January 1, 2016, and January T, 284pectively; and (iv) certain other
terms and conditions. As a result of the Settlemeatrecorded a charge of $11.3 million to researahdevelopment expense during the year
ended December 31, 2013 which reflects the estinage present value of the $12.0 million settlengEyments using an 8% annual discount
rate. As of December 31, 2013, the $5.5 milliorrent portion of the $11.3 million settlement liatyilis included in other current liabilities in
our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Indemnification Obligations

During the course of our normal operating actigitiwe have agreed to certain contingent indemuidinabligations as further described
below. The term of our indemnification obligatiaeggenerally perpetual. There is generally no tidin on the potential amount of future
payments we could be required to make under timelgarinification obligations. To date, we have netimed significant costs to defend
lawsuits or settle claims based on our indemnificatbligations. If any of our indemnification ogditions is triggered, we may incur
substantial liabilities. Because the aggregate anofuany potential indemnification obligation istra stated amount, the overall maximum
amount of any such obligations cannot be reasoregilgnated. No liabilities have been recordedliese obligations on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2013 or 2012.

Indemnifications in Connection with Commercial Agegnents

As part of our collaboration agreements with outers related to the license, development, matwfa@and supply of drugs based on
our proprietary technologies and drug candidatesgenerally agree to defend, indemnify and holdnless our partners from and against thir
party liabilities arising out of the agreement,liring product liability (with respect to our adties) and infringement of intellectual property
to the extent the intellectual property is devetbpg us and licensed to our partners.

91



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

As part of the sale of our royalty interest in @MZIA ®and MIRCERAZ® products, we and RPI made representations and migsaanc
entered into certain covenants and ancillary ages¢snwhich are supported by indemnity obligatigdditionally, as part of our pulmonary
asset sale to Novartis in 2008, we and Novartisemagresentations and warranties and entered éntaiic covenants and ancillary agreement
which are supported by an indemnity obligationtha event it is determined that we breached cedfthe representations and warranties or
covenants and agreements made by us in any suednagnts, we could incur substantial indemnificalialpilities depending on the timing,
nature, and amount of any such claims.

Indemnification of Underwriters and Initial Purchasrs of our Securitie:

In connection with our sale of equity and seniaused debt securities, we have agreed to defeddminify and hold harmless our
underwriters or initial purchasers, as applicabtewell as certain related parties from and agamsain liabilities, including liabilities under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Director and Officer Indemnifications

As permitted under Delaware law, and as set forthuir Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylaws indemnify our directors,
executive officers, other officers, employees, atiter agents for certain events or occurrencesthgtarise while in such capacity. The
maximum potential amount of future payments we @¢dd required to make under this indemnificationriBmited; however, we have
insurance policies that may limit our exposure aray enable us to recover a portion of any futurewmts paid. Assuming the applicability of
coverage, the willingness of the insurer to asscaverage, and subject to certain retention, lasgdiand other policy provisions, we believe
any obligations under this indemnification would be material, other than an initial $1,000,000ipeident for securities related claims and
$500,000 per incident for non-securities relatedes retention deductible per our insurance poktywever, no assurances can be given that
the covering insurers will not attempt to dispute validity, applicability, or amount of coveragéhoeut expensive litigation against these
insurers, in which case we may incur substangdlilities as a result of these indemnification géations.

Note 9 — Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock

We have authorized 10,000,000 shares of Prefemak Svith each share having a par value of $0.0002011, 3,100,000 shares were
previously designated Series A Junior Participafineferred Stock (Series A Preferred Stock) in eation with our Share Purchase Rights
Plan (Rights Plan) that expired on June 1, 2011March 30, 2012, we filed a certificate of elimiioat of the Series A Preferred Stock. As of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, no preferred sharateaignated, issued or outstanding.

Common Stock

On January 24, 2011, we completed the issuanceaadf 19,000,000 shares of our common stockrfmssgproceeds to the Company
approximately $220.4 million. Additionally, we inced approximately $0.6 million in legal and accting fees, filing fees, and other offering
expenses.

On January 28, 2014, we completed the issuanceaadf 9,775,000 shares of our common stock fasgproceeds to the Company of
approximately $117.2 million. Additionally, we inced approximately $0.6 million in legal and accting fees, filing fees, and other offering
expenses.

92



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

Equity Compensation Plan

At December 31, 2013, we had 28,609,480 reservaatsiof common stock, all of which are reservedssuance under our equity
compensation plans as summarized in the followatet (share number in thousands):

Number of Securities Remainini

Number of Securities to b Weighted-Average Available for Issuance Under

Exercise Price of Equity Compensation Plans
Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options (Excluding Securities Reflected
Outstanding Options in Column(a))
Plan Category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holde
(1) 14,93¢ $ 8.7€ 7,95¢
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holde 5,71¢ $ 9.84 —
Total 20,65¢ $ 9.0¢ 7,954

(1) Includes shares of common stock available for futssuance under our ESPP as of December 31,

2012 Performance Incentive Plan

Our 2012 Performance Incentive Plan (2012 Plan)adapted by the Board of Directors on April 4, 2@H2 was approved by our
stockholders on June 28, 2012. On the date of &pprany shares of our common stock that were abtglfor issuance under all other
previously existing stock plans (the 2008 Equitydntive Plan, the 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, d&ed2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive
Plan) became available for issuance under the P02 In addition, 5,300,000 new shares were madiable for award grants under the 2
Plan. No new awards were granted under any of iqus stock plans after June 28, 2012. Any shafreemmon stock subject to
outstanding awards under the previous stock plaaiseixpire, are cancelled, or otherwise terminaseg time after December 31, 2011 are
available for award grant purposes under the 2042. P

The purpose of the 2012 Plan and our other incemtians is to attract, motivate, retain, and revedrekctors, officers, employees, and
other eligible persons through the grant of awarts$incentives for high levels of individual perfance and increasing the value of our
business, as well as to further align the intereStavard recipients and our stockholders. The Z0aR authorizes stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, performastoek, stock units, stock bonuses, dividend eqeival other similar rights to purchase or
acquire shares, and other forms of awards grantddroominated in our common stock or units of thepganys common stock, as well as ¢
bonus awards. Directors, officers, or employeed,aantain consultants and advisors may receivedasvander the 2012 Plan. In 2012 and
2013, the requisite service period for stock optigranted to our employees under the 2012 Plareli&svall other previously existing stock
plans was generally four years; the requisite serperiod for stock options granted to our directeas generally one year.

The maximum number of shares of our common stoakrtay be issued or transferred pursuant to awardsr the 2012 Plan is
10,347,140 shares, plus any shares subject taaadiay awards under the previous stock plans dpitee are cancelled, or otherwise termi
for any reason. Generally, shares that are sutgjemtunderlie awards which expire or for any reaae cancelled or terminated, are forfeited,
fail to vest, or for any other reason (except fuares exchanged by a participant or withheld tothayexercise price of an award granted and
related tax withholding obligations) are not paidielivered under the 2012 Plan will again be @amé for subsequent awards under the 2012
Plan. Shares issued in respect of any award, tihara stock option or stock appreciation righanged under the 2012 Plan will be counted
against the plan’s share limit as 1.5 shares feryesne share actually issued in connection wighatlvard.
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The 2012 Plan will terminate on April 3, 2022, wsdearlier terminated by the Board of Directorse fraximum term of a stock option
stock appreciation right under the 2012 Plan istejgars from the date of grant. The per shareceseprice of an option generally may not be
less than the fair market value of a share of tmegany’s common stock on the Nasdaq Global Seleck&t on the date of grant.

Other Equity Incentive Plans

In addition to the 2012 Plan, we have other equitgntive plans under which options granted remaistanding but no new options n
be granted either as a result of the approval®2012 Plan or plan expiration. These plans incl(ifi¢he 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (2008
Plan) which was adopted by the Board of Directard/mrch 20, 2008 and approved by our stockholderdume 6, 2008; (ii) the 2000 Equity
Incentive Plan (2000 Plan) which was adopted byBibard of Directors on April 19, 2000 by amendimgl aestating our 1994 Equity Incenti
Plan, and which expired on February 9, 2010; aifjdife 1998 Non©fficer Equity Incentive Plan which was adoptedadoy Board of Director
on August 18, 1998, and which was amended andeésitaits entirety and renamed the 2000 Non-Offieguity Incentive Plan on June 6,
2000 (2000 Non-Officer Plan).

Pursuant to the 2008 Plan and the 2000 Plan, weégusly granted or issued incentive stock optianernployees and officers and non-
qualified stock options, rights to acquire resattstock, restricted stock units, and stock bontsemployees, officers, non-employee
directors, and consultants. Pursuant to the 2000-®ificer Plan, we previously granted or issued-goalified stock options, rights to acquire
restricted stock and stock bonuses to employees@mgliltants who are neither officers nor directdrilektar. The maximum term of a stock
option under all of these plans is eight years.

Restricted Stock Unit

RSU awards have been granted under the 2008 R2000 Plan and the 2000 Non-Officer Plan andettéed by delivery of shares of
our common stock on or shortly after the date thiards vest. We did not grant any RSU awards dufieg/ears ended December 31, 2013,
2012 or 2011 and no RSUs are outstanding at Deae®ih@013. RSU awards are similar to restrictedlstn that they are issued for no
consideration; however, the holder generally isamitled to the underlying shares of common staafid the RSU award vests. Also, because
the RSU awards are granted for $0.01 per shargrtre-date fair value of the award is equal toitikensic value of our common stock on the
date of grant.

Beginning with shares granted during 2005, each B&&rd depletes the pool of options available fangunder our equity incentive
plans by a ratio of 1:1.5.

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

In February 1994 our Board of Directors adopted the Employee Stagklfase Plan (ESPP) pursuant to section 423(ihediternal
Revenue Code of 1986. Under the ESPP, 1,500,008ssbour common stock have been authorized $oraisce. The terms of the ESPP
provide eligible employees with the opportunityatmguire an ownership interest in Nektar throughigipation in a program of periodic payr
deductions for the purchase of our common stoclkplByees may elect to enroll or re-enroll in the PS# a semi-annual basis. Stock is
purchased at 85% of the lower of the closing poicehe first day of the enrollment period or th&t lday of the enrollment period.

401(k) Retirement Plan

We sponsor a 401(k) retirement plan whereby ekgérhployees may elect to contribute up to the tesfs@0% of their annual
compensation or the statutorily prescribed anrimat hllowable under Internal Revenue Service ratjohs. The 401(k) plan permits us to
make matching contributions on behalf of all paptnts, up

94



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

to a maximum of $3,000 per participant. For theryemded December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, wegméea $1.0 million, $0.9 million, and
$0.9 million, respectively, of compensation expeinseonnection with our 401(k) retirement plan.

Change in Control Severance Plan

On December 6, 2006, our Board of Directors apptav€hange of Control Severance Benefit Plan (G#0)PThis CIC Plan has
subsequently been amended a number of times bBaand of Directors with the most recent amendmentring on April 5, 2011. The CIC
Plan is designed to make certain benefits availabtrir eligible employees in the event of a chamigeontrol of Nektar and, following such
change of control, an employee’s employment witlorua successor company is terminated in certanipd circumstances. We adopted the
CIC Plan to support the continuity of the businesthe context of a change of control transactidre CIC Plan was not adopted in
contemplation of any specific change of controhsaction.

Under the CIC Plan, in the event of a change ofrobnf Nektar and a subsequent termination of @yiplent initiated by us or a
successor company other than for Cause (as défirted CIC Plan) or initiated by the employee fdB@od Reason Resignation (as defined in
the CIC Plan) in each case within twelve monthkfaihg a change of control transaction, (i) the&tixecutive Officer would be entitled to
receive cash severance pay equal to 24 monthsshks® plus annual target incentive pay, the extensf employee benefits over this
severance period and the full acceleration of ulegesutstanding equity awards, and (ii) our Sewioe Presidents and Vice Presidents
(including Principal Fellows) would each be entitle receive cash severance pay equal to twelvahadrase salary plus annual target
incentive pay, the extension of employee benefits this severance period and the full accelerasfamvested outstanding equity awards. In
the event of a change of control of Nektar andtesequent termination of employment initiated by @mnpany or a successor company other
than for Cause within twelve months following a e of control transaction, all other employeesid@ach be entitled to receive cash
severance pay equal to 6 months base salary s r@ata portion of annual target incentive pag, ¢iitension of employee benefits over this
severance period and the full acceleration of sach employee’s unvested outstanding equity awahdder the CIC Plan, as amended, non-
employee directors would also be entitled to falteleration of vesting of all outstanding stock edgan the event of a change of control
transaction.

Note 10 — License and Collaboration Agreements

We have entered into various collaboration agreesnaoluding license agreements and collaboratgearch, development and
commercialization agreements with various pharmécaland biotechnology companies. Under thesaboliation arrangements, we are
entitled to receive license fees, upfront paymeanikestone payments, royalties, sales milestormeg payments for the manufacture and supply
of our proprietary PEGylation materials and/or reimsement for research and development actividib®f our collaboration agreements are
generally cancelable by our partners without sigaift financial penalty. Our costs of performinggh services are generally included in
research and development expense, except thatfoogtoduct sales to our collaboration partneesiacluded in cost of goods sold.
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In accordance with our collaboration agreementstagegnized license, collaboration and other regeasufollows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

Partner Agreement 2013 2012 2011
AstraZeneca AB Naloxegol (NKTF-118) and naloxegol fixed-dose

combination program (NKT-119) $25,01¢ $ 59 $ 2,49¢
Roche PEGASYS®and MIRCERA® 18,38: 7,14¢ 5,131
Bayer Healthcare LL( BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale 15,29: 2,971 2,99:
Affymax, Inc. OMONTYS® 7,14¢ 2,82¢ 3,83¢
Amgen, Inc. Neulaste® 5,03¢ 5,00( 5,00(
Baxter Healthcar BAX 855 (Hemophilia] 1,70z 6,23¢ 5,64¢
Other 8,29t 5,88¢ 11,18¢
License, collaboration and other revel $80,87: $30,127  $36,28¢

As of December 31, 2013, our collaboration agreegseith partners included potential future paymédatsievelopment milestones
totaling approximately $144.3 million, including ammts from our agreements with Baxter and Bayecrilzesd below. In addition, we are
entitled to receive up to $175.0 million and $7&illion of contingent payments related to NKTR-1di&8d NKTR-119, respectively, based on
development and regulatory events to be pursuedamgleted solely by AstraZeneca.

AstraZeneca AE: naloxegol (NKTR-118) and naloxegol fixed-dose lioation program (NKTR-119)

In September 2009, we entered into a license agneewith AstraZeneca AB (AstraZeneca), as amengefistraZeneca and us in
August 2013, under which we granted AstraZenecaréddwide, exclusive, perpetual, royalty-bearingd @ablicensable license under our
patents and other intellectual property to devetogrket, and sell naloxegol (formerly known as NKTE8) and naloxegol fixed-dose
combination program (formerly known as NKTR-119%traZeneca is responsible for all costs associaittdresearch, development and
commercialization and is responsible for all dregelopment and commercialization decisions for xedol and the naloxegol fixed-dose
combination program. AstraZeneca paid us an upfagment of $125.0 million, which we received ie fourth quarter of 2009 and which
was fully recognized as of December 31, 2010. ABexfember 31, 2013, we are entitled to receiveougntadditional $175.0 million and $7!
million of contingent payments related to naloxegiodl the naloxegol fixed-dose combination prognaspectively, based on development
events to be pursued and completed solely by AstvaZa, as described below.

On September 25, 2013, the European Medicines Ag@idA) notified AstraZeneca that it had acceptedreview the naloxegol
regulatory approval application filed by AstraZeaét August 2013. As a result, we were entitled ®25.0 million payment from
AstraZeneca, which was received on September 38 a0d was fully recognized as revenue in the gaded December 31, 2013.

On September 16, 2013, AstraZeneca filed a New Byyglication (NDA) with the United States Food abdig Administration (FDA)
for naloxegol, which was accepted for review by BI¥A on November 16, 2013, resulting in a $70.0iarimilestone payment to us from
AstraZeneca in November 2013. We cannot recogeizenue for this payment until it is no longer refable and, as a result of the potential
for repayment of the $70.0 million (as describelbbg, we have recorded this amount in the line itkmbility related to receipt of refundable
milestone payment” on our Consolidated Balance Sdteleecember 31, 2013. If the FDA does not reqaifieture clinical trial or other
significant studies to assess the cardiovascufatysgCV Safety Study) of naloxegol prior to an epyal decision, AstraZeneca is obligated to
pay us an additional $35.0 million. If the FDA daeguire a CV Safety Study, AstraZeneca may tertaittee license agreement with us in its
entirety or
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only with respect to its rights in the United Stat AstraZeneca elects to terminate the licemgeament in its entirety due to a CV Safety
Study, we would be required to repay them the $idlilon payment plus accrued interest at 4.5% coumgled annually in four installments
accordance with the following payment schedule:@hdillion plus accrued interest on January 1552@&L0.0 million plus accrued interest
January 15, 2016, $20.0 million plus accrued irsieo@ January 15, 2017 and $30.0 million plus amtinterest on January 15, 2018. If
AstraZeneca elects to terminate the license agneeomty with respect to its rights in the U.S.,nreich repayment amount would be funded
through a 50% reduction of non-U.S. royalty amoutkerwise payable to us until the aggregate amoiusiich royalty reduction equals the
total principal amount of $70.0 million plus accuated interest at 4.5% compounded annually. IfRB& requires a post-approval
cardiovascular safety study as a condition to agdrof the naloxegol NDA, then the royalty rate gble to us from net sales of naloxegol in
the U.S. by AstraZeneca would be reduced by twogrgage points until the aggregate accumulated atofisuch royalty payment reduction
is equal to a maximum of $35.0 million.

We will be entitled to the remaining $140.0 milliohcontingent payments if naloxegol is approvedhi®/FDA and EMA and
commercial launch is achieved in the U.S. and oantountry in the European Union. In addition, ave also entitled to sales milestone
payments and royalties based on annual worldwitlsales of naloxegol and naloxegol fixed-dose cotiion products.

Roche: PEGASY® and MIRCERA

In February 1997, we entered into a license, manuifilmg and supply agreement with Roche, under fwhie granted Roche a
worldwide, exclusive license to certain intelledtpeoperty related to our proprietary PEGylationtengls used in the manufacture and
commercialization of PEGASYS . As a result of Roelercising a license extension option in Decen20€9, Roche has the right to
manufacture all of its requirements for our proganig PEGylation materials for PEGASYS and we perfadditional manufacturing, if any,
only on an as-requested basis. In connection withB's exercise of the license extension optidbénember 2009, we received a payment o
$31.0 million. As of December 31, 2013, we haveedefd revenue of approximately $10.3 million redatie this agreement, which we expec
recognize through December 2015, the period thraugbh we are required to provide back-up manufanguand supply services related to
PEGASYS® .

In February 2012, we entered into a toll-manufastuagreement with Roche under which we will mantifee the proprietary
PEGylation material used by Roche to produce MIREEPRRoche entered into the toll-manufacturing agreet with the objective of
establishing us as a secondary back-up supply saur@a non-exclusive basis. Under the terms ofalimanufacturing agreement, Roche |
us an upfront payment of $5.0 million and an addii $22.0 million in performance-based milestoagnpents upon our achievement of
certain manufacturing readiness, validation andipction milestones, including the delivery of sfiieci quantities of PEGylation materials, all
of which were completed as of January 2013. RodHealso pay us additional consideration for antufe orders of the PEGylation materials
for MIRCERA® beyond the initial quantities manufa@d through January 2013. Roche has the righttoinate the toll-manufacturing
agreement due to an uncured material default by us.

We analyzed the milestone payments under the agreeand determined that they did not meet ther@ifer revenue recognition under
the milestone method as a result of our continuagufacturing obligations. We have identified oack-up manufacturing obligation through
December 2016 and the delivery of PEGylation malespecified in the agreement in 2012 and ear 832 the units of accounting in the
arrangement. We made our best estimate of theggtices for these deliverables and have allodaedotal $27.0 million consideration to
these items based on the relative selling pricdnatetAs of December 31, 2013, we have deferredmevef approximately $16.1 million,
which we expect to recognize through December 205estimated end of our obligations under thisagent.

In August 2013, we agreed to deliver additionalmditi@s of PEGylation materials used by Roche twpce PEGASY 8 and MIRCERA
®, all of which were delivered in the last quarté2613, for total
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consideration of $18.6 million. We determined tthegtse incremental activities should be considenehrial modification of the existing
PEGASYS® and MIRCERA -related arrangements descrilbede. As a result, we allocated the $18.6 miltonsideration to each of these
arrangements and determined the amounts to bemizedlgor deferred based on the estimated selliicgpof the undelivered obligations. As
of December 31, 2013, we have deferred revenupmbaimately $6.9 million related to these actesti which we expect to recognize througt
December 2016, the estimated end of our obligatimier the modified arrangements.

Bayer Healthcare LLC: BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale)

In August 2007, we entered into a co-developmé@senke and co-promotion agreement with Bayer HeatthLLC (Bayer) to develop a
specially-formulated inhaled Amikacin. We are rasgible for development and manufacturing and supptiie nebulizer device included in
the Amikacin product. Bayer is responsible for nfastire clinical development and commercializatimsts, all activities to support worldwi
regulatory filings, approvals and related actigfiturther development of Amikacin Inhale and fipedduct packaging and distribution. In the
years prior to 2013, we received an upfront paymés0.0 million in 2007 and milestone payment$28.0 million, of which $10.0 milliol
was recorded as a liability to Bayer for the reingament of its costs of the Phase 3 clinical trial.

As a result of the start of the Phase 3 clinidal try Bayer in the treatment of intubated and na@étally ventilated patients with Gram-
negative pneumonia in April 2013, we achieved a@hdillion development milestone, which was recdie@d recognized as revenue in the
second quarter of 2013. The receipt of this milestalso triggered the payment of our $10.0 milbbfigation to Bayer described above, wh
was paid in June 2013.

In addition, we are entitled to receive a totalipfto $50.0 million for development milestones upghievement of certain development
objectives, as well as sales milestones upon aetient of annual sales targets and royalties basedmual worldwide net sales of Amikacin
Inhale. As of December 31, 2013, we have defemgdnue of approximately $22.5 million related tis tgreement, which we expect to
recognize through December 2026, the estimatedtadr obligations under this agreement.

Affymax, Inc.: OMONTYS®

In April 2004, we entered into a license, manufentyand supply agreement with Affymax, Inc. (Affgeg under which we provided
Affymax with a worldwide, non-exclusive license @maertain of our proprietary PEGylation technologylevelop, manufacture and
commercialize OMONTYS® (peginesatide).

On March 27, 2012, the FDA approved OMONTYS totteg@emia in patients with chronic kidney diseaseliatysis and OMONTYS®
sales were initiated in the second quarter of 2@PFebruary 23, 2013, Affymax and Takeda Pharmazd Company Limited (Takeda)
announced a voluntary recall of all lots of OMONTY¥ Slrug product as a result of new post-marketipgres regarding serious
hypersensitivity reactions, including anaphylaxibjch can be lifehreatening or fatal. Effective as of April 1, 20 3fymax announced that
had amended its collaboration agreement with Taketi@nsfer regulatory, manufacturing, and devedept responsibilities for OMONTYS
to Takeda. In July 2013, Affymax terminated thefise, manufacturing and supply agreement with Mekta

We have received milestone and related paymentsruou agreement with Affymax and, as a resulheftermination of our agreement
with Affymax and our related performance obligaspwe recognized the remaining $6.7 million of defeé revenue from this agreement in
year ended December 31, 20

Amagen, Inc.: Neulasta®

In October 2010, we amended and restated an exstipply and license agreement by entering intqpaly, dedicated suite and
manufacturing guarantee agreement (the amenderkataded agreement) and a
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license agreement with Amgen Inc. and Amgen Martufaw, Limited (together referred to as Amgen).ddnthe terms of the amended and
restated agreement, we guarantee the manufactdrsuaply of our proprietary PEGylation materialslgffner Materials) to Amgen in an
existing manufacturing suite to be used exclusivehthe manufacture of Polymer Materials for Amd#re Manufacturing Suite) in our
manufacturing facility in Huntsville, Alabama (tRacility). This supply arrangement is on a non-esitle basis (other than the use of the
Manufacturing Suite and certain equipment) whengbyare free to manufacture and supply the Polymeehitls to any other third party and
Amgen is free to procure the Polymer Materials framy other third party. Under the terms of the adeeihand restated agreement, we receive
a $50.0 million payment in the fourth quarter of.@0n return for our guaranteeing the supply ofaiarquantities of Polymer Materials to
Amgen including without limitation the Additionalights described below and manufacturing fees tfeatalculated based on fixed and
variable components applicable to the Polymer Niateordered by Amgen and delivered by us. Amgenrftaminimum purchase
commitments. If quantities of the Polymer Materialdered by Amgen exceed specified quantities,ifsignt additional payments become
payable to us in return for our guaranteeing thmpluof additional quantities of the Polymer Magdsi

The term of the amended and restated agreemenberdstober 29, 2020. In the event we become sutgecbankruptcy or insolvency
proceeding, we cease to own or control the Facilty fail to manufacture and supply or certain otheents, Amgen or its designated third
party will have the right to elect, among certalines options, to take title to the dedicated equiphand access the Facility to operate the
Manufacturing Suite solely for the purpose of mawctiiring the Polymer Materials (the Additional Rigjh Amgen may terminate the amendec
and restated agreement for convenience or due tioeured material default by us. Our researchifadil Huntsville, Alabama that we propc
to sell is a different building and location frohmat of the Facility described here.

As of December 31, 2013, we have deferred revehapproximately $34.2 million related to this agremt, which we expect to
recognize through October 2020, the estimated éondroobligations under this agreement.

Baxter Healthcare: BAX 855/Hemophilia

In September 2005, we entered into an exclusiveareh, development, license and manufacturing apglyg agreement with Baxter
Healthcare SA and Baxter Healthcare Corporatiogettrer referred to as Baxter) to develop produesigthed to improve therapies for
Hemophilia A patients using our PEGylation techggloUnder the terms of the agreement, we are edtit research and development funt
and are responsible for supplying Baxter with éguirements for our proprietary materials. Bax$enesponsible for all clinical development,
regulatory, and commercialization expenses. Theagent is terminable by the parties under custo@mgditions.

Under the terms of our agreement with Baxter, veeeautitled to up to $28.0 million of developmentesiones related to Hemophilia A
upon achievement of certain development objectiagsyell as sales milestones upon achievementfadusales targets and royalties base
annual worldwide net sales of products resultimgnfthis agreement. This Hemophilia A program inesi8AX 855, which is currently in a
Phase 3 clinical study initiated in February 2Qb3prior years, we received an upfront payment4b03nillion related to the Hemophilia A
programs. As of December 31, 2013, we do not heyeficant deferred revenue related to this agregme

Other

In addition, as of December 31, 2013, we have ahaurof collaboration agreements, including ouratmtiration partners UCB,
Ophthotech Corp., and Regado Biosciences, Incemtlich we are entitled to up to a total of $6®iBion of development milestones upon
achievement of certain development objectives, elkag sales milestones upon achievement of arsalesd targets and royalties based on net
sales of commercialized products, if any. Howegearen the current phase of development of the piatigoroducts under these collaboration
agreements, we cannot estimate the probabilitymang) of achieving these milestones.
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Note 11 — Stock-Based Compensation

We issue stock-based awards from our equity ineemtians, which are more fully described in Not&®ck-based compensation
expense was recognized as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Cost of goods sold $ 1,291 $ 1,49¢ $ 1,26¢
Research and developmt 7,91C 7,082 7,941
General and administratiy 8,501 7,621 9,67¢
Total stocl-based compensatic $17,70¢ $16,19¢ $18,88¢

As of December 31, 2013, total unrecognized comg@ns costs of $23.4 million related to unvestetktbased compensation
arrangements are expected to be recognized assxpear a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.

Black-Scholes Assumptions

The following tables list the Black-Scholes optipricing model assumptions used to calculate thevidue of employee and director
stock options. Stock-based compensation resultmg bur ESPP was not material in the years endegbker 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 201 December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Average risk-free interest rate 0.S% 0.€% 1.€%
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Average volatility facto 61.2% 62.2% 63.£%
Average weighted average
expected life 5.2 year 5.0 year 4.9 year

The average risk-free interest rate is based ot/tBetreasury yield curve in effect at the timeyodnt for periods commensurate with the
expected life of the stock-based award. We havemgaid dividends, nor do we expect to pay divideindhe foreseeable future; therefore, we
used a dividend yield of 0.0%. Our estimate of exge volatility is based on the daily historicalding data of our common stock at the tim
grant over a historical period commensurate withdkpected life of the stock-based award.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, aitj @@ estimated the weighted-average expectetid$ed on the contractual and
vesting terms of the stock options, as well aohisicancellation and exercise data.
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The table below presents a summary of stock opgtativity under our equity incentive plans (in thands, except for price per share and
contractual life information):

Weighted-
Weighted-
Average Average Aggregate
Number Exercise Remaining
of Price Contractual Intrinsic
Shares per Share Life (in Years) Value(1)
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 18,99¢ $ 9.0¢
Options grante: 3,47( 9.4z
Options exercise (1,049 7.07
Options forfeited & cancele (769 12.7¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 20,65¢ $ 9.0€ 4.3t $56,26¢
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 20,35: $ 9.07 4.31 $55,45¢
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 15,51¢ $ 9.0¢ 3.6¢4 $43,28"

(1) Aggregate intrinsic value represents the défifiee between the exercise price of the option laedlbsing market price of our common
stock on December 31, 201

The weighted-average grant-date fair value peresbfioptions granted during the years ended DeceB81he2013, 2012, and 2011 was
$4.95, $3.92, and $5.22, respectively. The totainsic value of options exercised during the yearded December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011
was $4.5 million, $1.9 million, and $3.7 milliorespectively. The estimated fair value of optionsted during the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012, and 2011 was $14.1 million, $15.7 prilliand $18.1 million, respectively.

RSU Awards

We issued RSU awards to certain officers and enggleyThe RSU awards granted in 2006 vested upaevachent of pre-determined
performance milestones, of which the last perforreamilestone was met in 2013. The RSU awards giant2007 through 2010 had a time-
based vesting schedule. There were no RSU awaadsegkin 2013, 2012, or 2011. There were no, 120&8d 136,080 RSU awards
outstanding at December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2@%pectively. We expensed the grant date fair vafiliee RSU awards ratably over the
expected service or performance period.

Note 12 — Income Taxes
Income (loss) before provision for income taxedudes the following components (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Domestic $(161,06%) $(174,25%) $(135,88()
Foreign 1,30(C 2,80¢ 2,92(
Loss before provision for income tax $(159,769) $(171,449) $(132,96()

101



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

Provision for Income Taxe:
The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Current:

Federa $ — $ (137) $ —

State 1 1 1

Foreign 1,83¢ 1,02¢ 921
Total Current 1,83¢ 892 922
Deferred:

Federa 422 (422) —

State 49 (49 —

Foreign (65 (16) 96
Total Deferrec 40€ (487) 96
Provision for income taxe $2,24¢ $ 40¢€ $1,01¢

Income tax provision related to continuing openagidiffers from the amount computed by applyingstautory income tax rate of 35%
to pretax loss as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
U.S. federal provision (benefi

At statutory rate $(55,919 $(60,007) $(46,53¢)
State taxe 50 (48) 1
Change in valuation allowan 55,04: 47,34¢ 48,95¢
Foreign tax inclusiol — 6,51( —
Non-cash interest expense on liability related to s&feiture royalties 7,80¢ 6,32( —
Foreign tax differentia (20) (227) (129
Research credi (6,277 (597) (893%)
Other 1,557 1,10( (389
Provision for income taxe $ 2,24 $ 40€ $ 1,01¢
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Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilitie

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettess and credit carryforwards and temporary diffees between the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities for financial reportingrposes and the amounts used for income tax pwsp8amificant components of our deferred
tax assets for federal and state income taxessa@laws (in thousands):

December 31

2013 2012
Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 391,38! $ 351,35«
Research and other crec 61,70’ 52,76¢
Deferred revenu 35,58¢ 39,52:
Sale of future royaltie 28,05' 39,75(
Stoclk-based compensatic 25,96: 23,74¢
Capitalized research expen: 17,681 7,192
Reserves and accrus 14,68¢ 8,77¢
Property and equipme 8,58( 8,48
Other 2,53¢ 2,77¢
Deferred tax assets befcvaluation allowanc: 586,19( 534,36:
Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass (586,049 (534,269
Total deferred tax asse 15C 95
Total deferred tax liabilitie — —
Net deferred tax asse $ 15C $ 95

Realization of our deferred tax assets is depenggmn future earnings, if any, the timing and amafrwhich are uncertain. Because of
our lack of U.S. earnings history, the net U.Sedefd tax assets have been fully offset by a valmailowance. The valuation allowance
increased by $51.8 million and $43.6 million durthg years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, tegbhgcThe valuation allowance
includes approximately $35.6 million of income tzenefit at both December 31, 2013 and Decembe2@I2 related to stock-based
compensation and exercises prior to the implemientaff the accounting guidance for stock-based eamation that will be credited to
additional paid in capital when realized.

Undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaryridia are considered to be permanently reinvestedaccordingly, no deferred
U.S. income taxes have been provided thereon. dmtribution of those earnings in the form of disdis or otherwise, we would be subjet
U.S. income tax. As of December 31, 2013, U.S.nmetaxes have not been provided on a cumulatie¢ adt1.7 million of such earnings. At
the present time it is not practicable to estintigeamount of U.S. income taxes that might be playidthese earnings were repatriated.

Net Operating Loss and Tax Credit Carryforwar

As of December 31, 2013, we had a net operatirgydasyforward for federal income tax purposespgfreximately $1,029.7 million,
portions of which will begin to expire in 2018. Wad a total state net operating loss carryforwéi@pproximately $614.6 million, which will
begin to expire in 2014. Utilization of some of flegleral and state net operating loss and credigfoawards are subject to annual limitations
due to the “change in ownership” provisions of iternal Revenue Code of 1986 and similar statgigians. The annual limitations may
result in the expiration of net operating lossed eredits before utilization.

We have federal research credits of approximatg8/Smillion, which will begin to expire in 2019 dustate research credits of
approximately $20.9 million which have no expiratidate. We have federal orphan drug credits of&dillion which will begin to expire in
2026. These tax credits are subject to the samtations discussed above.
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Unrecognized tax benefits

We have incurred net operating losses since inmep@ur policy is to include interest and penaltidated to unrecognized tax benefit
any, within the provision for income taxes in ttmmsolidated statements of operations. If we aratenadly able to recognize our uncertain
positions, our effective tax rate would be redud#d. currently have a full valuation allowance agaiour U.S. net deferred tax asset which
would impact the timing of the effective tax ratmnkefit should any of these uncertain tax positimm$avorably settled in the future. Any
adjustments to our uncertain tax positions woutditeén an adjustment of our net operating losegrcredit carry forwards rather than
resulting in a cash outlay.

We file income tax returns in the U.S., Califorrddabama, India and the U.K. The 2009 and 2010/&ars were previously under audit
by the IRS. These audits were completed and weévest@o change letters. The 2005 through 2010 ¢éaxs/were previously under audit in
Alabama. These audits were completed with no ctat@the tax liability. Because of net operatingsks and research credit carryovers,
substantially all of our domestic tax years rengpen and subject to examination. We are curremitien examination in India for the fiscal
years ending 2009 through 20:

We have the following activity relating to unrecégd tax benefits (in thousands):

December 31

2013 2012 2011
Beginning balance $14,06° $13,57¢ $13,05¢
Tax positions related to current ye
Additions:
Federa 477 28¢ 297
State 381 302 221
Reductions — — —
Tax positions related to prior ye
Additions:
Federa 63€ 37 —
State — — —
Foreign 80z — —
Reductions — — —
Settlement: — — —
Lapses in statute of limitatior — (139) —
Ending balanc: $16,36 $14,06" $13,57¢

Although it is reasonably possible that certainegognized tax benefits may increase or decreaséwtite next twelve months due to
examination changes, settlement activities, expinatof statute of limitations, or the impact ooagnition and measurement considerations
related to the results of published tax casestmraimilar activities, we do not anticipate anyngicant changes to unrecognized tax benefits
over the next twelve months. During the years erdecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, no signific#tetést or penalties were recognized
relating to unrecognized tax benefits.

Note 13 — Segment Reporting

We operate in one business segment which focusappying our technology platforms to improve tlefprmance of established and
novel medicines. We operate in one segment becaudausiness offerings have similar economics @ghdraharacteristics, including the
nature of products and manufacturing processesstgpcustomers, distribution methods and regulsgorvironment. We are comprehensively
managed as one business segment by our Chief Bs@Qifficer and his management team. Within our buginess segment we have two
components, PEGylation technology and pulmonaryrtelogy.
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Our revenue is derived primarily from clients i tpharmaceutical and biotechnology industries. BothCB, AstraZeneca, and Bayer
represented 28%, 21%, 17% and 10% of our reverspectively, for the year ended December 31, 2R&8enue from UCB, Roche and
Affymax represented 30%, 23%, and 11% of our reeenespectively, for the year ended December 312 2Revenue from UCB and Roche
represented 27% and 16% of our revenue, respegtieelthe year ended December 31, 2011.

Revenue by geographic area is based on the losatfoour partners. The following table sets foslienue by geographic area (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
United States $ 42,53¢ $34,59: $37,89¢
Europe 106,38t 46,60( 33,58¢
Total revenue $148,92: $81,19: $71,48(

At December 31, 2013, $57.3 million, or approxinha&8%, of the net book value of our property agdipment was located in the
United States and $7.7 million, or approximatel94l 2vas located in India. At December 31, 2012, $6@illion, or approximately 87%, of the
net book value of our property and equipment waatkd in the United States and $9.7 million, oregimately 13%, was located in India.

Note 14 — Subsequent Event

On January 28, 2014, we completed the issuancsaadf 9,775,000 shares of our common stock fasgyproceeds to the Company of
approximately $117.2 million. Additionally, we inced approximately $0.6 million in legal and accting fees, filing fees, and other offering
expenses.

Note 15 — Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unautkd)

The following table sets forth certain unauditeduerly financial data. In our opinion, the unaadiinformation set forth below has been
prepared on the same basis as the audited infanmatid includes all adjustments necessary to présey the information set forth herein.
We have experienced fluctuations in our quarteults and expect these fluctuations to continudkerfuture. Due to these and other factors,
we believe that quarter-tpaarter comparisons of our operating results vatllme meaningful, and you should not rely on osults for any on
quarter as an indication of our future performai@ertain items previously reported in specific fingl statement captions have been
reclassified to conform to the current period pnéation. Such reclassifications have not materiatipacted previously reported total revent
operating loss or net loss. All data is in thousaexicept per share information.

Fiscal Year 2012 Fiscal Year 2012
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Qs Q4
Product sales $11,81( $10,32¢ $1467: $ 8,04 $ 6,94t $ 9694 $ 8,35¢ $10,40¢
Total revenue $23,00c $33,86: $60,90¢ $31,14¢ $17,94¢ $23,68 $1841. $21,14¢
Cost of goods sol $11.66. $ 5011 $1287. $ 896( $ 8707 $ 7,202 $ 7,228 $ 7,29(
Research and development expet $45,61¢ $52,23( $4391¢ $48,24¢ $35,08 $33,20. $34,01¢ $46,37!
Operating los: $(45,100 $(32,607) $ (6,52F) $(35,899) $(37,93) $(26,98Y) $(32,90() $(43,38))
Net loss $(55,069) $(42,749) $(16,549) $(47,659) $(41,097) $(34,28Y) $(43,54) $(52,92¢)

Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (04f $ (037) $ (01Hh $ (041) $ (036) $ (0300 $ (0.3 $ (0.49
(1) Quarterly loss per share amounts may not totdiéo/ea-to-date loss per share due to round
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéunting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedure
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetiesigned to ensure that information requindaetdisclosed in our Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) reports is réed, processed, summarized and reported withititteeperiods specified in the SEC’s
rules and forms, and that such information is aadated and communicated to management, includimgbief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timekcisions regarding required financial disclosure.

As of the end of the period covered by this repsé,carried out an evaluation, under the supenviaiod with the participation of our
management, including the Chief Executive Officad ¢he Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveaad the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to &g Act Rule 13a-15. Based upon, and as of tleeadathis evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officemcluded that our disclosure controls and procesiwexe effective. Accordingly,
management believes that the financial statemeotgded in this report fairly present in all ma#ériespects our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows for the periods presented

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rule 1385(f). Our internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaas®iregarding tl
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacet of financial statements for external purpogeadcordance with GAAP.

Our management has assessed the effectivenessinferal control over financial reporting as océdmber 31, 2013. In making its
assessment of internal control over financial répgr management used the criteria describddtarnal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadrike Treadway Commission (1992 Framework).

Based on our evaluation under the framework desdribinternal Control — Integrated Frameworlour management concluded that
our internal control over financial reporting wdfeetive as of December 31, 2013.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioi@l reporting as of December 31, 2013 has beditegliby an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their repaijch is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We continuously seek to improve the efficiency affdctiveness of our internal controls. This resuitrefinements to processes
throughout the Company. There was no change inéemnal control over financial reporting duringethuarter ended December 31, 2013,
which was identified in connection with our managet’s evaluation required by Exchange Act Rules13d) and 15d-15(f) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, our internal control over financigporting.

Inherent Limitations on the Effectiveness of Contrds

Our management, including the Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, does not expect tha disclosure controls and
procedures or our internal control over financedarting will prevent all error and
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all fraud. A control system, no matter how well ceived and operated, can provide only reasonabteabsolute, assurance that the objective:
of the control system are met. Because of the arttdimitations in all control systems, no evaloatdf controls can provide absolute assur:
that all control issues and instances of fraudnif, within the company have been detected. Thment limitations include the realities that
judgments in decision making can be faulty and lbinaakdowns can occur because of simple error staike. Additionally, controls can |
circumvented by the individual acts of some persbysollusion of two or more people or by managenmverride of the control. The design
of any system of controls also is based in parhugertain assumptions about the likelihood of fetewents, and there can be no assurance th
any design will succeed in achieving its statedgjaader all potential future conditions. Over timentrols may become inadequate becau
changes in conditions, or the degree of compliavitethe policies or procedures may deteriorateeaBese of the inherent limitations in a cost-
effective control system, misstatements due tare@nrdraud may occur and not be detected.

ltem 9B.  Other Information
None.
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PART IlI

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govere

Information relating to our executive officers ragd by this item is set forth in Part | — Item fitbis report under the caption
“Executive Officers of the Registrant” and is inporated herein by reference. The other informatigjuired by this Item is incorporated by
reference from the definitive proxy statement for 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be fikeith the SEC pursuant to Regulation 1
(Proxy Statement) not later than 120 days afteetitkof the fiscal year covered by this Form 10riler the captions “Corporate Governance
and Board of Directors,” “Proposal 1 — Electionifectors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial OwnersRigporting Compliance.”

Information regarding our audit committee finan@apert will be set forth in the Proxy Statemendemthe caption “Audit Committee,”
which information is incorporated herein by referen

We have a Code of Business Conduct and Ethicscaiyidi to all employees, including the principal@xere officer, principal financial
officer and principal accounting officer or contes| or persons performing similar functions. Thed€ of Business Conduct and Ethics is
posted on our website aivw.nektar.com Amendments to, and waivers from, the Code of Bess Conduct and Ethics that apply to any of
these officers, or persons performing similar fiored, and that relate to any element of the codshi€s definition enumerated in Item 406(b)
of Regulation S-K will be disclosed at the websitielress provided above and, to the extent reqbirexbplicable regulations, on a current
report on Form 8-K.

As permitted by SEC Rule 10b5-1, certain of ourceiee officers, directors and other employees lavmay set up a predefined,
structured stock trading program with their brotesell our stock. The stock trading program all@soker acting on behalf of the executive
officer, director or other employee to trade owccktduring blackout periods or while such executffecer, director or other employee may be
aware of material, nonpublic information, if thade is performed according to a pre-existing ceahtiastruction or plan that was established
with the broker when such executive officer, dioeair employee was not aware of any material, nblipinformation. Our executive officers,
directors and other employees may also trade ouk stutside of the stock trading programs set ufeuiRRule 10b5-1 subject to our securities
trading policy.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatio
The information required by this Item is includedhe Proxy Statement and incorporated herein teyence.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aianagement and Related Stockholder Mattt
The information required by this Item is includedthie Proxy Statement and incorporated herein teyance.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions abatector Independence
The information required by this Item is includedthie Proxy Statement and incorporated herein teyence.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Servict
The information required by this Item is includedhe Proxy Statement and incorporated herein teyence.
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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Scheduls
(a) The following documents are filed as part of tiepart:
(1) Consolidated Financial Statemen

The following financial statements are filed astpdithis Annual Report on Form 10-K under ItemR8rfancial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”

Page
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfting 73
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 20 3GiP 75
Consolidated Statements of Operations for eacheoftiree years in the period ended December 3B 76
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Lossafdr ef the three years in the period ended DeceBhe201: 77
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity (Deficit) for each of the three years in ffexiod ended December 31, 2( 78
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for eacheoftiree years in the period ended December 3B 79
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statems 80

(2) Financial Statement Schedule

All financial statement schedules have been omlttsthuse they are not applicable, or the informatgjuired is presented in our
consolidated financial statements and notes themsder Iltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(3) Exhibits.

Except as so indicated in Exhibit 32.1, the follogvexhibits are filed as part of, or incorporatgddference into, this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Exhibit
Number Description of Documents
2.1(1 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 20, 290shdbetween Nektar Therapeutics, a Delaware catipa, AeroGen,
Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned sdilasy of Nektar Therapeutics, Novartis Pharmacailgi€orporation, a
Delaware corporation, and Novartis Pharma AG, asSworporation.
3.1(2 Certificate of Incorporation of Inhale Therapewigstems (Delaware), In
3.2(3 Certificate of Amendment of the Amended Certificaténcorporation of Inhale Therapeutic Systems,
3.34 Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Nektar Tipenatics.
3.4(5 Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Nektar Thpenatics AL, Corporation with and into Nektar Therafics.
3.5(6 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Nektar Therapet
4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 314,35.
4.2(4 Specimen Common Stock certifica
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Exhibit
Number Description of Documents
4.3(8) Indenture dated July 11, 2012 by and between Né@ktarapeutics and Wells Fargo Bank, National Asg@mi, including
the form of 12.0% Senior Secured Note due 2!
10.1(9) Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended andeceste
10.2(10) 2000 Nor-Officer Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and tedta+
10.3(10) 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restatt
10.4(10) 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restatt
10.5(11) 2012 Performance Incentive Plan.
10.6(18) Forms of Equity Award Agreements under the 2012dPerance Incentive Plan.+
10.7(18) Amended and Restated Compensation Plan fo-Employee Directors.+
10.8(12) 401(k) Retirement Plan.+
10.9(10) Discretionary Incentive Compensation Policy.
10.10(10 Amended and Restated Change of Control SeveramefiBBlan.++
10.11(13 Form of Severance Letter for executive officershef company.+-
10.12(1) Amended and Restated Letter Agreement, executedt®#® on December 1, 2008, with Howard W. Robir
10.13(2) Amended and Restated Letter Agreement, executedti®i on December 1, 2008, with John Nicholsor
10.14(14 Letter Agreement, executed effective on Decembef@09, with Stephen K. Doberstein, Ph.D
10.15(13 Amended and Restated Built-to-Suite Lease betwesktal Therapeutics and BMR-201 Industrial Road Ld&ted
August 17, 2004, as amended on January 11, 2003uynd 9, 2007
10.16(16 Sublease, dated as of September 30, 2009, by awede Pfizer, Inc. and Nektar Therapeutic
10.17(15 Settlement Agreement and General Release, dated3dyr2006, by and between The Board of Trustedsediniversity o

Alabama, The University of Alabama in HuntsvilleeRar Therapeutics AL Corporation (a wholly-ownethsdiary of
Nektar Therapeutics), Nektar Therapeutics and ltoMHarris.

10.18(14 Co-Development, License and Co-Promotion Agreenuaied August 1, 2007, between Nektar Therape(dios its
subsidiaries) and Bayer Healthcare LLC, as amenc

10.19(1) Exclusive Research, Development, License and Matwifag and Supply Agreement, by and among Nektar A
Corporation, Baxter Healthcare SA, and Baxter Hhealte Corporation, dated September 26, 2005, asdeder

10.20(1) Exclusive License Agreement, dated December 318 20&tween Nektar Therapeutics, a Delaware coriporand
Novartis Pharma AG, a Swiss corporatio

10.21(14 Supply, Dedicated Suite and Manufacturing GuaraAgreement, dated October 29, 2010, by and amotgakle
Therapeutics, Amgen Inc. and Amgen Manufacturingyited.+

10.22(16 License Agreement by and between AstraZeneca ABNmktiar Therapeutics, dated September 20, 2C

10.23(7) 12% Senior Secured Notes due 2017 Purchase Agreeiatea July 3, 2012, by and among Nektar Therégseand the

purchasers named there
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Exhibit
Number Description of Documents

10.24(18 Pledge and Security Agreement dated July 11, 26 Hreended by the Amendment to Pledge and Secugityefnent date
as of February 28, 2013, by and between Nektarapeertics and Wells Fargo Bank, National Associa

10.25(8) Escrow and Deposit Account Control Agreement ddtdd 11, 2012 among Nektar Therapeutics, Wells &-&ank,
National Association, as collateral agent, and ¥/Elrgo Bank, National Association, as escrow ai

10.26(17 Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of FebrdaP022, between Nektar Therapeutics and RPI Fangst.+

10.27(18 Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement dated as guau8, 2013, by and between Nektar TherapeutidAatraZeneca
AB.+

10.28(19 Employment Transition and General Release Agreenesetd as of February 11, 2014, by and betweenaN@kierapeutic
and Rinko Ghost

10.29(19 Term Loan and Security Agreement dated as of Octop2013, by and between Nektar Therapeuticspa®wer, and
AstraZeneca AB, as lender and as ag

21.1(19) Subsidiaries of Nektar Therapeuti

23.1(19) Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfing.

24 Power of Attorney (reference is made to the sigrapage)

31.1(19) Certification of Nektar Therapeut’ principal executive officer required by Rule -14(a) or Rule 15-14(a).

31.2(19) Certification of Nektar Therapeut’ principal financial officer required by Rule 1-14(a) or Rule 15-14(a).

32.1* Section 1350 Certification:

101** The following materials from Nektar Therapeuticsirual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Deaar3h, 2013,

formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reportingngaage): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Chdated
Statements of Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statet:1of Comprehensive Loss, (iv) Consolidated Statds of
Stockholder Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flawmsl, (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

+ Confidential treatment with respect to specifictipns of this Exhibit has been requested, antl pactions are omitted and have been
filed separately with the SE!

++ Management contract or compensatory plan or arraege

* Exhibit 32.1 is being furnished and shall notdeemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18haf Securities Exchange Act of 1934, a:
amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilityhafttsection, nor shall such exhibit be deemed todmporated by reference in any
registration statement or other document filed utlde Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or tloeiees Exchange Act, except as
otherwise stated in such filin

**  XBRL information is filed herewith

(1) Incorporated by reference to the indicated leiklm Nektar Therapeutics’ Annual Report on For@K for the year ended December 31,

2008.

(2) Incorporated by reference to the indicated leiklm Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report oniiRak0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
1998.

(3) Incorporated by reference to the indicated leiklm Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report oniiRak0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2000.

(4) Incorporated by reference to the indicated extiibltektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Formr-K, filed on January 23, 200
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(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)

(11)
(12)

(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)

(19)

Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikiti Nektar Therapeutics’ Annual Report on ForfaKL for the year ended December 31,
2009.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated exfiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Formr-K, filed on April 11, 2011
Incorporated by reference to the indicated exfiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Forrr-K, filed on July 10, 201z
Incorporated by reference to the indicated exfiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Forrr-K, filed on July 11, 201z
Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikinh Nektar Therapeutics’ Registration Statem@mform S-8 (No. 333-98321), filed on
August 19, 2002

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedtakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Annual Report on FatfK for the year ended December 31,
2011.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated exfiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Formr-K, filed on July 3, 2012

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriRal0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2004.

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriral0-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 200

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedtakin Nektar Therapeutics Annual Report on FordaKlLfor the year ended December 31,
2010.

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedlakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriRal0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2006.

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orrRal0-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 200

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedtakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriaal0-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2012.

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedtakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriral0-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 201

Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1931 Rgistrant has duly caused this report to besdigm its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized, in the City and Courft$§an Francisco, State of California on February2224.

By: /s/  JOHNN ICHOLSON
John Nicholson
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Office

By: /s/  JiLLIAN B. T HOMSEN
Jillian B. Thomsen
Senior Vice President, Finance and Chi
Accounting Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSON BY THESE PRESENTS, that each penstiose signature appears below constitutes andrappmhn Nicholson
and Jillian B. Thomsen and each of them, as hireotrue and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agenith full power of substitution and
resubstitution, for him or her and in his or hemea place and stead, in any and all capacitiesgtoany and all amendments to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, witheatibits thereto and other documents in connedhierewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneyfadt and agents and each of them, full poweraartority to do and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary taohe th connection therewith, as fully to all inteand purposes as he or she might or could ¢
in person, hereby ratify and confirming all thaidlsattorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of thentheir or his or her substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue héreo

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, as amended, this report has sigared by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title. Date
/s/ HowarDW. ROBIN Chief Executive Officer, President and Director February 27, 2014
Howard W. Robin (Principal Executive Officer
/s/ JOHNN ICHOLSON Senior Vice President and Chief Financial February 27, 2014
John Nicholson Officer (Principal Financial Officet
/s/ JiLLiaN B. T HOMSEN Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief February 27, 2014
Jillian B. Thomsen Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting
Officer)
/s/ ROBERTB. CHESS Director, Chairman of the Board of Directors February 27, 2014

Robert B. Chess

/s/ R.ScotTG REER Director February 27, 2014
R. Scott Greer
/s/ JOSEPHJ. KRIVULKA Director February 27, 2014
Joseph J. Krivulka
/'s/ CHRISTOPHERA. K UEBLER Director February 27, 2014
Christopher A. Kuebler
/s/ LutzL INGNAU Director February 27, 2014
Lutz Lingnau
/s/ SusaNW ANG Director February 27, 2014
Susan Wang
/s/ RoyA. W HITFIELD Director February 27, 2014

Roy A. Whitfield

/s/ DENNISL. W INGER Director February 27, 2014
Dennis L. Winger
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Except as so indicated in Exhibit 32.1, the follogvexhibits are filed as part of, or incorporatgddference into, this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Exhibit
Number Description of Documents
2.1(2) Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 20, 2§0dbetween Nektar Therapeutics, a Delaware catipa,
AeroGen, Inc., a Delaware corporation and whollyaed subsidiary of Nektar Therapeutics, NovartisrPlageuticals
Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and Novartiarfha AG, a Swiss corporatior
3.1(2) Certificate of Incorporation of Inhale Therapeuigstems (Delaware), In
3.2(3) Certificate of Amendment of the Amended Certificaténcorporation of Inhale Therapeutic Systems,
3.3(4) Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Nektar Tlpenatics.
3.4(5) Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Nektar Thenatics AL, Corporation with and into Nektar Thezapcs.
3.5(6) Amended and Restated Bylaws of Nektar Therapel
4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, $id,35.
4.2(4) Specimen Common Stock certifica
4.3(8) Indenture dated July 11, 2012 by and between Né@ktarapeutics and Wells Fargo Bank, National Asg@si, including
the form of 12.0% Senior Secured Note due 2!
10.1(9) Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended andeceste
10.2(10) 2000 Nor-Officer Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and tedta+
10.3(10) 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restatt
10.4(10) 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restat
10.5(11) 2012 Performance Incentive Plan.
10.6(18) Forms of Equity Award Agreements under the 2012dPerance Incentive Plan.+
10.7(18) Amended and Restated Compensation Plan fo-Employee Directors.+
10.8(12) 401(k) Retirement Plan.+
10.9(10) Discretionary Incentive Compensation Policy.
10.10(10 Amended and Restated Change of Control SeveramefiBBlan.++
10.11(13 Form of Severance Letter for executive officershaf company.+-
10.12(1) Amended and Restated Letter Agreement, executedt®#® on December 1, 2008, with Howard W. Robir
10.13(2) Amended and Restated Letter Agreement, executedti®i on December 1, 2008, with John Nicholsor
10.14(14 Letter Agreement, executed effective on Decembef@09, with Stephen K. Doberstein, Ph.D
10.15(13 Amended and Restated Built-to-Suite Lease betwesktal Therapeutics and BMR-201 Industrial Road Ld&ted
August 17, 2004, as amended on January 11, 2003uynd9, 2007
10.16(16 Sublease, dated as of September 30, 2009, by aweddye Pfizer Inc. and Nektar Therapeutic
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Exhibit
Number

10.17(15

10.18(14

10.19(1)

10.20(1)

10.21(14

10.22(16
10.23(7)

10.24(18

10.25(8)

10.26(17
10.27(18

10.28(19
10.29(19

21.1(19)
23.1(19)
24
31.1(19)
31.2(19)
32.1*
101**

Statements

Description of Documents

Settlement Agreement and General Release, dated3lyr2006, by and between The Board of Trustedsedfiniversity o
Alabama, The University of Alabama in Huntsvillee®ar Therapeutics AL Corporation (a wholly-ownethsdiary of
Nektar Therapeutics), Nektar Therapeutics and ltoNHarris.

Co-Development, License and Co-Promotion Agreendated August 1, 2007, between Nektar Therape(aiod its
subsidiaries) and Bayer Healthcare LLC, as amenc

Exclusive Research, Development, License and Matwifag and Supply Agreement, by and among Nektar A
Corporation, Baxter Healthcare SA, and Baxter Hiealte Corporation, dated September 26, 2005, asdedetr

Exclusive License Agreement, dated December 318 20€&ween Nektar Therapeutics, a Delaware coriporsnd
Novartis Pharma AG, a Swiss corporatio

Supply, Dedicated Suite and Manufacturing GuaraAgreement, dated October 29, 2010, by and amothgake
Therapeutics, Amgen Inc. and Amgen Manufacturingited.+

License Agreement by and between AstraZeneca AB\ahktlar Therapeutics, dated September 20, 2C

12% Senior Secured Notes due 2017 Purchase Agreeiatea July 3, 2012, by and among Nektar Therégseand the
purchasers named there

Pledge and Security Agreement dated July 11, 26 reended by the Amendment to Pledge and Secugityeinent date
as of February 28, 2013, by and between Nektarapeeitics and Wells Fargo Bank, National Associa

Escrow and Deposit Account Control Agreement ddtdd 11, 2012 among Nektar Therapeutics, Wells &-&ank,
National Association, as collateral agent, and ¥/Elrgo Bank, National Association, as escrow ai

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of Febrda®022, between Nektar Therapeutics and RPI Faangst.+

Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement dated as guau8, 2013, by and between Nektar TherapeutidAatraZeneca
AB.+

Employment Transition and General Release Agreeneset] as of February 11, 2014, by and betweenaN@kierapeutic
and Rinko Ghosf

Term Loan and Security Agreement dated as of Octdp2013, by and between Nektar Therapeuticspa®wer, and
AstraZeneca AB, as lender and as ag

Subsidiaries of Nektar Therapeuti

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking.

Power of Attorney (reference is made to the sigmapage)

Certification of Nektar Therapeut’ principal executive officer required by Rule -14(a) or Rule 15-14(a).
Certification of Nektar Therapeut’ principal financial officer required by Rule 1-14(a) or Rule 15-14(a).
Section 1350 Certification:

The following materials from Nektar Therapeuticsirdial Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Deaarith, 2013,
formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reportingngaage): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Chaasted
Statements of Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statet:1of Comprehensive Loss, (iv) Consolidated Statds of
Stockholder Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flawmsl, (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme
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*%

(1)
(2)
(3)

(4)
()

(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)

(11)
(12)

(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)

Confidential treatment with respect to specifictipns of this Exhibit has been requested, antl pactions are omitted and have been

filed separately with the SE!

Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage

Exhibit 32.1 is being furnished and shall notde=med to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18haf Securities Exchange Act of 1934, a:
amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilityhafttsection, nor shall such exhibit be deemed tiod@porated by reference in any
registration statement or other document filed unlde Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or tleaustees Exchange Act, except as
otherwise stated in such filin

XBRL information is filed herewith

Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikith Nektar Therapeutics’ Annual Report on ForfaKL for the year ended December 31,
2008.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikimh Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report ontadk0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
1998.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikimh Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report ontadk0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2000.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated exliibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Formr-K, filed on January 23, 200
Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikiti Nektar Therapeutics’ Annual Report on ForfaKL for the year ended December 31,
2009.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated extiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Formr-K, filed on April 11, 2011
Incorporated by reference to the indicated exfiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Forrr-K, filed on July 10, 201z
Incorporated by reference to the indicated exfiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Forrr-K, filed on July 11, 201z
Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikih Nektar Therapeutics’ Registration Staten@mform S-8 (No. 333-98321), filed on
August 19, 200z

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Annual Report on FatfK for the year ended December 31,
2011.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated exfiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Formr-K, filed on July 3, 2012

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkekin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orrral 0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2004.

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedtakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriral0-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 200

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedtakin Nektar Therapeutics Annual Report on FordaKlfor the year ended December 31,
2010.

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriRal0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2006.

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedtakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriral0-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 200

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedtakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriaal0-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2012.

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriRal0-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 201

Filed herewith
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Exhibit 10.28

EMPLOYMENT TRANSITION AND GENERAL RELEASE AGREEMENT

This Employment Transition and General Release égent (“Agreement’) is entered between Rinko Ghoshy@u " or “ Employe€”)
and Nektar Therapeutics, a Delaware corporatiaa ‘(tbompany”).

1. Resignation Date and Transition Period.

(a) Resignation Date. You agree to resign as an at-will employee of@benpany on March 15, 2014 (th&&signation Date€),
unless you and the Company mutually agree to ardifit Resignation Date.

(b) Title and Duties. From the Effective Date of this Agreement (as daditn Section 8(h) below) through the Resignati@teD
(referred to herein as theTtansition Period”), your duties and responsibilities will includmyt are not limited to, providing transition
assistance and performing other duties as assignéte Senior Vice President of Human ResourcéseoCompany. The current expectatio
that you will be working on specified collaboratipartnering activities during the Transition Peritite scope of which will be defined by the
Senior Vice President of Human Resources. Duriedrttansition Period, (i) you will not supervise doyges or have any employees report to
you and you will work remotely and will only be réced to be o-site at Nektar facilities as is agreed in advdretsveen you and the Senior
Vice President of Human Resources; and (ii) youli vdlve no authority to represent the Company ta tharties or to bind the Company to any
contractual obligations, whether written, oral miplied, or represent that you have such authaiitless authorized to do so in writing by an
officer of the Company. During the Transition Pdrigou shall continue to abide by all of the Comparpolicies and procedures in effect fr
time to time and perform your job duties in gootthféo the best of your abilities.

(c) Compensation and Benefits During the Transition Period, you will be paidyatr current base salary subject to applicable
withholdings and deductions, payable on the Comisatystomary payroll dates. Effective February@14 your base salary will increase by
three percent (3%) from $455,100 to $468,753 peuan If eligible, you may continue to participatethe Company’s benefit plans, subject tc
the terms and conditions of those plans includifthaut limitation the Company’s Change of ContreM8rance Benefit Plan. Stock options,
restricted stock units, and equity incentivesnij,avill continue to vest, pursuant to the termsi§ applicable equity incentive plans (the “
Plans”) and any agreements issued to you pursuant to glans (the ‘Option Agreements). During the Transition Period, you will not earn
any bonus or performance-based incentive compensatotwithstanding any provision to the contrarany incentive compensation or bonus
plan.

2. Employee Acknowledgementsyou acknowledge: (a) receipt of all compensatiod benefits due through the date of this Agreemen
as a result of services performed for the Compéjyyou have reported to the Company any and alkwelated injuries incurred during
employment; (c) the Company properly provided aavke of absence because of your or a family membeglth condition, and you have not
been subjected to any improper treatment, conduattions due to a request for or taking such le



3. Consideration.In consideration of your promises in this Agreememi your agreement to sign a supplemental resigndate release
in the form attached to this Agreement after yatiual Resignation Date, the Company will pay to yfoeigross amount of $204,795, subje:
applicable deductions and withholdings, less anguarthdue for a negative paid time off balance plyafier this Agreement becomes
effective as described below in Section 8(h).

4. Release.

(a) General Release In exchange for the consideration described abpwme personally and for your heirs, executors,
administrators, successors and assigns, herebyadigrend completely release the Company and isisiiaries, successors, predecessors an
affiliates, and its and their respective partnerembers, directors, officers, employees, stockhs|dareholders, agents, attorneys,
predecessors, insurers, affiliates and assignsf(alhom are referred to throughout this AgreenantReleased Partie¥, from any and all
claims, demands, actions, causes of action, slataages, losses, expenses, liabilities, and oldiggtboth known and unknown, individually
or as part of a group action, that arise out afrerin any way related to events, acts, conduaipossions occurring at any time through the
date you sign this Agreement. This general rel@agades, but is not limited to, to all matterdamv, equity, contract, tort, or pursuant to
statute, including but not limited to (i) any artlcdaims under Title VIl of the Civil Rights Actfd 964, the Americans with Disabilities Act,
and the Age Discrimination in Employment ActADEA "), (ii) any and all claims relating to, or arisifiggm, any right to receive or purchase
equity of the Company, including, without limitaticany claims for fraud, misrepresentation, brezfdiduciary duty, breach of duty under
applicable state corporate law, and securitiedfrand (jii) any and all claims under any statéederal law or any other federal, state or local
statute, rule, ordinance, or regulation.

You are releasing all rights under section 154thefCalifornia Civil Code. Section 1542 provideda@®ows:
A general release does not extend to claims wiietcteditor does not know or suspect to exist snohniher favor at the time of executing
the release, which if known by him or her must haagerially affected his or her settlement with dedtor.

You intend these consequences even as to claintafages that may exist as of the date this Agreeimexecuted that you do not know
exist and which if known, would materially affeawyr decision to execute this Agreement, regardi€sghether the lack of knowledge is the
result of ignorance, oversight, error, negligencary other cause.

You represent that you have no lawsuits, claimsctions pending in your name, or on behalf of aimgioperson or entity, against the Release
Parties or any of them.

Confidential Page



(b) Exclusions from General ReleaseThe above release does not waive claims: (infmployment or workers’ compensation,
(ii) for vested rights under ERISA-covered emplopeaefit plans as applicable on the date you signAgreement, (iii) that may arise after
you sign this Agreement, and (iv) which cannotdleased by private agreement. Nothing in this Ages® prevents you from filing a char
or complaint with or from participating in an intiggtion or proceeding conducted by any federatestr local agency charged with the
enforcement of any employment laws, including kattlmited to the Equal Employment Opportunity Cormesion (“EEOC”) and the
National Labor Relations Boar“ NLRB "), although by signing this release you are waivights to individual relief based on claims asse
in such a charge or complaint.

5. Confidentiality. Except as disclosed in the Company'’s filings with Securities and Exchange Commission, the pragsid this
Agreement shall be held in strictest confidencedny and shall not be publicized or disclosed in sm@nner whatsoever by you at any time to
any person other than your lawyer or accountagtve@rnmental agency, or your immediate family withitne prior written consent of an
officer of the Company, except as necessary inlegsl proceedings directly related to the provisiand terms of this Agreement, to prepare
and file income tax forms, or as required by couder after reasonable notice to the Company. Ngthi this Agreement shall prevent you
from providing information to the NLRB upon requestr shall this provision prevent Employee fronereising Employee’s rights under
Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act. Yamd the Company specifically disclaim any inten¢émber into this Agreement in exchange
for a promise not to reveal to any government gnitiicluding any court or agency, conduct that ddug construed as a violation of federal

6. Proprietary Information. You acknowledge access to and receipt of confidehtisiness and proprietary information regardirey t
Company and its clients while working. This infotina may be in a variety of paper and electroniof® You agree not to make any such
information known to any member of the public anddmply with all applicable ethical responsibégirelated to client confidences and
secrets. You further agree to maintain and notrdgsiny such information in your possession, angtorn to the Company prior to the
Resignation Date all confidential and proprietarfprmation and all other Company property, as aslbll copies or excerpts of any property,
files or documents obtained as a result of employméth the Company, except those items that the @y specifically agrees in writing to
permit you to retain.

7. Non-DisparagementYou agree to refrain from any disparaging statemahbut Nektar or any of the other Released Pantésding,
without limitation, the Company’s directors, offiseemployees, customers, collaboration partneisnbss, products, research, services, or
methods of doing business. Similarly, Nektar agthasits executive officers and directors shatimake any disparaging statements to any
third party about you. Notwithstanding the foregpiit shall not be a violation of this Section T &ther party to enforce the terms of this
Release, initiate or engage in any legal proceettiemforce any provision of this Release, providéhful statements in response to a
subpoena, Court order or arbitral order, or prowidéhful information to a governmental agency @amoection with any governmental,
regulatory or administrative agency proceeding.
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8. Advice of Counsel, Consideration and Revocatio®ther Information . You acknowledge and agree that:

(a) your waiver and release of rights under thiseggent are voluntary, and that you are actingoaf ywn free will in executing this
Agreement;

(b) through this Agreement, you are releasing takeésed Parties from any and all claims, includigg discrimination claims, that you
may have against any of the Released Parties;

(c) your waiver and release, as set forth in thgsefment, do not apply to any rights or claims thay arise after the date you sign this
Agreement;

(d) the Company hereby advises you that, befor@rgjgthis Agreement, you should consult with aomtty, although you may choose
voluntarily not to do so;

(e) you have twenty-one (21) days to consider wdretih sign this Agreement, although you may chamdentarily to sign it earlier;
(f) changes to this Agreement, whether materiatnnaterial, do not restart the running of the twene (21) day consideration period;

(g) you may challenge the knowing and voluntarjurebf this release under the Older Workers Bemgbtection Act and the ADEA
before a court, the EEOC, the NLRB, or any othdefal, state, or local agency charged with theresfaent of any employment laws;

(h) you have seven (7) days following the date sign this Agreement to revoke it by delivering wait notice to the Company’s General
Counsel at the address below. If the revocatioiogexxpires on a weekend or holiday, you will hawil the end of the next business day to
revoke it. This Agreement will become effectivetbe eighth day after you sign this Agreement, mediyou do not revoke this Agreement (“
Effective Date”); and

Gil M. Labrucherie, General Counsel
Nektar Therapeutics

455 Mission Bay Boulevard South
San Francisco, CA 94158

(415) 339-5322 (fax)

9. Governing Law and Jurisdiction; Entire Agreement Modification. This Agreement shall be governed by California \aithout
reference to its conflicts of law principles. Youadathe Company each hereby irrevocably and undondity submit to the exclusive
jurisdiction of (i) the United States District Codior the Northern District of California, and (if)e state courts located in the County of
Francisco, for purposes of any claim, action, sujproceeding arising out of this Agreement, angt@ghat all claims in respect thereof shal
heard and determined only in such courts. This Agwent, the Plans, the Option Agreements, the Ermapldygreement between you and the
Company executed by on April 24, 2001 (thermployee Agreemeri), and the Indmenity Agreement dated as of Novan2ile 2008 between
you and the Company (I Indemnity Agreement), if any, constitute the complete and only agreatrbetween you and the Company on
these subjects. In entering this Agreement, yownateelying on any promise or representation,temitor oral, other than those expressly
contained in this Agreement. Any prior agreemeetsveen or
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directly involving you and the Company are supegsoly this Agreement, except for your Indemnity égment, Employee Agreement, the
Plans, and the Option Agreements. This Agreemegtnmoaibe modified except in a writing signed bytbgou and the Company’s Senior Vice
President and General Counsel. This Agreement bimallthe heirs, personal representatives, sucteasa assigns of both you and the
Company, and inure to the benefit of both you dedReleased Parties, their heirs, successors aighasAny determination that a provision
of this Agreement is invalid or unenforceable, inale or in part, will not affect any other provisiof this Agreement, and the provision in
question shall be modified by the court so as toelpelered enforceable in accordance with the irgktite parties to the extent possible. The
headings in this Agreement are provided for refeeesnly and shall not affect the substance ofAlgieement. This Agreement may be signed
in counterpart.

If this Agreement is acceptable to you, please bgjow and return the original to Human Resourcesrdoefore February 20, 2014. The
Company’s offer to enter this Agreement will autdicelly expire if we do not receive the fully exéed Agreement by the aforementioned
date.

In exchange for the promises contained in this Agrent, the Company promises to provide the bersditforth in this Agreement.

N EKTAR T HERAPEUTICS

/s/ Dorian Hirth Dated: February 11, 2014
D ORIAN H IRTH
SVP, HuMAN R ESOURCES

Employee has read and understood this Agreemegnis #fiis Agreement waiving valuable rights, andhagiedges that this Agreement is fil
and binding.

R INkO G HOSH

/s/ Rinko Ghosl Dated: February 10, 2014
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GENERAL RELEASE

This General Release Releas€) is entered into between Rinko Ghosty@u” or “ Employee’) and Nektar Therapeutics, a Delaware
corporation (the Company”).

1. Resignation Date Your last day of employment with the Company iarbh 15, 2014 (Resignation Daté).
2. Accrued Salary and Paid Time Off.

(a) Accrued Salary. The Company will pay me on the Resignation D#itaczrued and unpaid salary through the Resigndiiate
subject to applicable payroll deductions and witdhng.

(b) Accrued Paid Time Off. The Company will pay me any accrued and unusatitipae off earned by me through the
Resignation Date, subject to applicable payrolludéidn and withholding.

3. Employee Acknowledgementsrou acknowledge: (a) receipt of all compensatiod benefits due through the Resignation Date, as
result of services performed for the Company; (@) have reported to the Company any and all wdd¢ed injuries incurred during
employment; (c) the Company properly provided aave of absence because of your or a family membeglth condition, and you have not
been subjected to any improper treatment, conduattions due to a requdst or taking such leave; and (d) the terms andlitaoms of this
Release satisfies in full all of the Company’s gations under the letter agreement between youten@ompany dated March 30, 2009 (the “
Severance Letter Agreeme”).

4. Stock Options.Pursuant to the applicable Equity Incentive PlaRIén ") and the stock option notices and agreementsitiagthave
been issued to you thereunder if any (collectiviidg,“ Option Agreements) and the Severance Letter Agreement, your righexercise the
Options as to vested shares, if any, shall enchemarlier of (i) twelve (12) months following yoResignation Date, or (ii) the expiration of
term of your Options. The Options also continuesimain subject to all other terms and conditionthefOption Agreements. In the event of
any conflict between the terms of the Plan, OpAAgneements, Options and this Agreement, the terfrtisedPlan, Option Agreements, and
Options will control.

5. Consideration.You acknowledge and agree that the consideratienginder this Release is in addition to anythifwgatue to which
you already were entitled. In consideration of ypromises in this Release, after this Release besa@tiective as described below
Section 12(h):

() Lump Sum Severance The Company will pay to you the gross amount®#3230, subject to applicable deductions and
withholding, less any amount due for a negativel piane off balance. This payment will be made witfive (5) business days following the
Effective Date defined in Section 12(h).
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(b) COBRA Payments. If you are eligible for and meet all requiremeiaistimely election of COBRA coverage, the Compavily
pay certain premiums for you and your dependemtisig medical, dental, and vision plan COBRA coverdgough the end of the calendar
month in which your Severance Period (as defingtiénPlan) ends (March, 201provided, however, that the Company may cease paying
premiums for such continuation coverage at any timebecome eligible for similar group coverage dioal, dental, or vision, as applicable)
from another employer. No provision of this Releaglkaffect the continuation coverage rules un@&BRA, except that the Company’s
payment of COBRA premiums, if any, will be creditslpayment by you for purposes of payments redjfinreCOBRA coverage.

(c) Laptop Computer . On or before the Resignation Date, you will retyour Company issued laptop computer to the IT
department. Company IT personnel will assist yoretrieving any personal data and contacts fronr Jaqutop computer. You will also be
given a substantially comparable laptop computéihécone currently issued to you that you may Kebpwing the Resignation Date.

(d) Outplacement Services To assist you in your job search, the Companypay for outplacement services to be providedhs
Company’s outplacement services provider duringstk€6) months following your Resignation Dategyided that you must initiate your
request for outplacement services no later thaethronths following your Resignation Date.

6. Release.

(a) General Release In exchange for the consideration described abgwe, personally and for your heirs, executors,
administrators, successors and assigns, herebyaiigrend completely release the Company and isisiiaries, successors, predecessors an
affiliates, and its and their respective partnerembers, directors, officers, employees, stockhs|dareholders, agents, attorneys,
predecessors, insurers, affiliates and assignsf(alhom are referred to throughout this ReleaseRsleased Partie¥, from any and all
claims, demands, actions, causes of action, slataages, losses, expenses, liabilities, and oldiggtboth known and unknown, individually
or as part of a group action, that arise out afrerin any way related to events, acts, conduaipossions occurring at any time through the
date you sign this Release. This general releabades, but is not limited to, to all matters imwJaquity, contract, tort, or pursuant to statute,
including but not limited to (i) any and all claimader Title VIl of the Civil Rights Act of 1964h¢ Americans with Disabilities Act, and the
Age Discrimination in Employment Act @DEA "), (i) any and all claims relating to, or arising frpemy right to receive or purchase equit
the Company, including, without limitation, any ics for fraud, misrepresentation, breach of fidociduty, breach of duty under applicable
state corporate law, and securities fraud, andafily and all claims under any state or federaldaany other federal, state or local statute,,
ordinance, or regulation.

You are releasing all rights under section 154thefCalifornia Civil Code. Section 1542 provideda@®ws:

A general release does not extend to claims wiietcteditor does not know or suspect to exist $nohniher favor at the time of executing
the release, which if known by him or her must haagerially affected his or her settlement with dedtor.
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You intend these consequences even as to claintfoages that may exist as of the date this Reis@&s®cuted that you do not know exist
and which if known, would materially affect yourdilsion to execute this Release, regardless of vehéltie lack of knowledge is the result of
ignorance, oversight, error, negligence or anyrothese.

You represent that you have no lawsuits, claimsctions pending in your name, or on behalf of atmgioperson or entity, against the Release
Parties or any of them.

(b) Exclusions from General Release The above release does not waive claims: (iuf@mployment or workers’ compensation,
(ii) for vested rights under ERISA-covered emplopeaefit plans as applicable on the date you signRelease, (iii) that may arise after you
sign this Release, and (iv) which cannot be rekbageprivate agreement. Nothing in this Releasggnts you from filing a charge or comple
with or from participating in an investigation aiogeeding conducted by any federal, state or lagahcy charged with the enforcement of any
employment laws, although by signing this release gre waiving rights to individual relief based@aims asserted in such a charge or
complaint.

(c) Release of Claims by the CompanyThe Company hereby unconditionally releases, @gmiand discharges any and all claims
causes of action, or charges whatsoever, knowmlamawn, that arose at any time prior to and throthghdate of this Release, or that may
hereafter accrue in favor of the Company, agaiost grising from any act or omission you commitbe@mitted prior to the date of this
Agreement in connection with your employment witb Company. Notwithstanding any provision of theddase, the Company does not
hereby release you for any (i) claims or obligagianising out of this Agreement, (ii) any past,ger& or future claims or obligations arising ou
of the Employee Agreement between you and the Coynegecuted by you on April 24, 2001Employment Agreemeril), and (iii) any past,
present or future conduct that would bar you frageimnification under Section 4 of the Indmenity égment dated as of November 20, 2008
between you and the Companyiftiemnity Agreement).

7. Confidentiality. Except as disclosed in the Company'’s filings with Securities and Exchange Commission, the pragsib this
Release shall be held in strictest confidence hwamd shall not be publicized or disclosed in amyner whatsoever by you at any time to any
person other than your lawyer or accountant, agorental agency, or your immediate family withdug prior written consent of an officer of
the Company, except as necessary in any legal @dougs directly related to the provisions and teofthis Release, to prepare and file inc
tax forms, or as required by court order afterseable notice to the Company. Nothing in this Re¢eshall prevent you from providing
information to the National Labor Relations Boakl RB) upon request, nor shall this provision prevemployee from exercising Employse’
rights under Section 7 of the National Labor Reladi Act. You and the Company specifically disclainy intent to enter into this Release in
exchange for a promise not to reveal to any govemrantity, including any court or agency, condhet could be construed as a violation of
federal law.
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8. Proprietary Information. You acknowledge access to and receipt of confidehtisiness and proprietary information regardirey t
Company and its clients while working. This infoina may be in a variety of paper and electronioni® You agree not to make any such
information known to any member of the public anddmply with all applicable ethical responsibégirelated to client confidences and
secrets.

9. Return of Company Property.You agree that, on the Resignation Date, you willim to the Company all Company documents (an
all copies thereof) and other Company propertyaarypossession or control, including, but not ladito: Company files, email, electronic
messages, notes, memoranda, correspondence, agteednaft documents, notebooks, logs, drawingsrds, plans, proposals, reports,
forecasts, financial information, sales and markginformation, research and development infornmatieersonnel information, specifications,
computer-recorded information, tangible propertg aquipment, computers, smart phones, cell phqraggrs, credit cards, entry cards,
identification badges and keys; and any materibéng kind that contain or embody any proprietarganfidential information of the
Company (and all reproductions thereof in wholéngrart). If you have used any personal computawnes, or electronic system to receive,
store, review, prepare or transmit any Companyidential or proprietary data, materials or inforioat you agree to provide the Company
with a computer-useable copy of such informatiod #ren permanently delete and expunge such Congmarfidential or proprietary
information from those systems. You agree to previte Company access to my system as requestedifypthat the necessary copying ani
deletion is done. You agree not to retain any papetectronic copies of any Company documentsatat including but not limited to email
and electronic messages) other than this Releabethar documents evidencing your employment @tatiip with the Company. Company
personnel will assist you in transferring your emtrcell phone number to a private account estadadidy you with a telecommunications
carrier.

10. Non-DisparagementYou agree to refrain from any disparaging statemabbut Nektar or any of the other Released Parties
including, without limitation, the Company’s direcs, officers, employees, customers, collaborgb@antners, business, products, research,
services, or methods of doing business. Simil&tktar agrees that its executive officers and tlirscshall not make any disparaging
statements to any third party about you. Notwithdiag the foregoing, it shall not be a violationtlis Section 10 for either party to enforce
terms of this Release, initiate or engage in aggllproceeding to enforce any provision of thiseask, provide truthful statements in respons:
to a subpoena, Court order or arbitral order, owide truthful information to a governmental ageirtgonnection with any governmental,
regulatory or administrative agency proceeding.

11. Non-Solicitation of Employeesl agree that, for twelve (12) months following fResignation Date, | shall not, directly or inditgct
(e.g. through directing a recruiting firm to targ@impany employees), without prior written cons#rthe Company, solicit or induce any
employee of the Company to leave the employ ofabmpany.
12. Advice of Counsel, Consideration and Revocatip®ther Information . You acknowledge and agree that:
(a) your waiver and release of rights under thileB& are voluntary, and that you are acting of wan free will in executing this
Release;
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(b) through this Release, you are releasing thed®eld Parties from any and all claims, including @digcrimination claims, that y:
may have against any of the Released Parties;

(c) your waiver and release, as set forth in tlekeRse, do not apply to any rights or claims thay arise after the date you sign this
Release;

(d) the Company hereby advises you that, befor@rgigthis Release, you should consult with an a#gy although you may choao
voluntarily not to do so;

(e) you have twenty-one (21) days to consider wdretih sign this Release, although you may chooketarily to sign it earlier;

(f) changes to this Release, whether material anaterial, do not restart the running of the twemtye (21) day consideration
period;

(g) you may challenge the knowing and voluntaryurebf this release under the Older Workers Betgbitection Act and the
ADEA before a court, the EEOC, the NLRB, or anyestfederal, state, or local agency charged withetifercement of any employment laws;

(h) you have seven (7) days following the date sign this Release to revoke it by delivering writteotice to the Company’s
General Counsel at the address below. If the reimtperiod expires on a weekend or holiday, yoll vave until the end of the next business
day to revoke it. This Release will become effextivm the eighth day after you sign this Releassjiged you do not revoke this Release (*
Effective Date”):

Gil M. Labrucherie, General Counsel
Nektar Therapeutics

455 Mission Bay Boulevard South
San Francisco, CA 94158

(415) 339-5322 (fax)

13. Cooperation. You agree to cooperate as reasonably necessdefanse of any actual or potential obligationinelademand,
judgment, recovery, dispute, lawsuit, subpoenarievgnce (collectivel** Disputes”) initiated or currently in progress against then@pany,
even if you are not named as a party. Such coaparsitall include, without limitation, making yoetgavailable, upon reasonable notice, to
the Company and its counsel to provide informataating to such Disputes and appearing for dejoosit trial, settlement negotiations, or
other activities in defense of the Disputes asestpd by the Company and/or its counsel. The Coynwidhpay you a fee of $250.00 per hour
for each hour of assistance given to the Compansuaunt to the terms of this paragraph and the Cagnpél reimburse you for all associated
reasonable expenses. In addition, you agree thatwibnot knowingly encourage, counsel, or asaisf attorneys or their clients in the
presentation or prosecution of any disputes, difiees, grievances, claims, charges, or complaynéy third party against
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any of the Released Parties, unless under a subpoerther court order to do so or as related thjréa the ADEA waiver in this Agreement.
You agree both to immediately notify the Compangmupeceipt of any such subpoena or court ordert@ifigrnish, within three (3) business
days of its receipt, a copy of such subpoena aratburt order. If approached by anyone for couaseksistance in the presentation or
prosecution of any disputes, differences, grievancaims, charges, or complaints against anyeRbleased Parties, you shall state no more
than that you cannot provide counsel or assistavigvithstanding anything to the contrary, nothinghis Agreement prevents you from
providing truthful information with respect to abyspute including in governmental, regulatory oméwistrative agency proceeding

14. Governing Law and Jurisdiction; Entire Agreemert; Modification. This Release shall be governed by California latheit
reference to its conflicts of law principles. Yoadathe Company each hereby irrevocably and undondity submit to the exclusive
jurisdiction of (i) the United States District Codior the Northern District of California, and (if)e state courts located in the County of
Francisco, for purposes of any claim, action, sujproceeding arising out of this Release, andeatirat all claims in respect thereof shall be
heard and determined only in such courts. Thisdelsets forth the entire agreement between yothar@ompany. In entering this Release,
you are not relying on any promise or represematigitten or oral, other than those expressly amad in this Release. Any prior agreeme
between or directly involving you and the Comparg superseded by this Release, except for the flar@ption Agreements, Employment
Agreement, and the Indmenity Agreement. This Releaay not be modified except in a writing signedobth you and the Company’s Senior
Vice President and General Counsel. This Releaalklshd the heirs, personal representatives, ssms and assigns of both you and the
Company, and inure to the benefit of both you dedReleased Parties, their heirs, successors aighasAny determination that a provision
of this Release is invalid or unenforceable, in lehar in part, will not affect any other provisiofithis Release, and the provision in question
shall be modified by the court so as to be renderddrceable in accordance with the intent of theigs to the extent possible. The headinc
this Release are provided for reference only aadl sbt affect the substance of this Release. Release may be signed in counterparts.

[ Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank
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If this Release is acceptable to you, please simmbbetween March 15, 2014 and April 5, 2014, @eidrn the original to Human Resources
on or before April 5, 2014. The Company'’s offeettter this Release will automatically expire if daenot receive the fully executed Release
by the aforementioned date. The Company will noeptthis Release if it is signed or returned bef@mur Resignation Date.

In exchange for the promises contained in this &&ethe Company promises to provide the benéfitogh in this Release.
N EKTAR T HERAPEUTICS
By: Dated

D ORIAN H IRTH
SVP, HuMAN R ESOURCES

Employee has read and understood this Releass, thignRelease waiving valuable rights, and ackadgeés that this Release is final and
binding.

R INkO G HOSH

Dated
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TERM LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
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TERM LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

Term Loan and Security Agreement dated as of Octop2013 among Nektar Therapeutics, a Delawangoeation (“_ Borrower’), the
Guarantors from time to time party hereto, the &adrom time to time party hereto (collectivelyet’ Lenders and each, individually, a “
Lender”) and AstraZeneca AB, a Swedish corporation, a&natpr the Lenders (in such capacity, “ Agént

IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual covenants and undkirigs herein contained, Loan Parties, Lendersf@aiht hereby agree as
follows:

|. DEFINITIONS.

1.1. Accounting TermsAs used in this Agreement, the Other Documenengrcertificate, report or other document maddetivered
pursuant to this Agreement, accounting terms nfibel@ in Section 1.2r elsewhere in this Agreement and accounting tgranly defined in
Section 1.20 the extent not defined, shall have the respectieanings given to them under GAAP.

1.2. General TermsFor purposes of this Agreement the following teshall have the following meanings:

“ Affiliate ” of any Person shall mean (a) any Person whialegcty or indirectly, is in control of, is contrelll by, or is under
common control with such Person, or (b) any Pergoo is a director, managing member, general padgnefficer (i) of such Person, (ii) of
any Subsidiary of such Person or (iii) of any Perdescribed in clause (a) above. For purposessti#inition, control of a Person shall mean
the power, direct or indirect, (x) to vote 10% oone of the Voting Stock of such Person or othes®es performing similar functions for any
such Person, or (y) to direct or cause the diraatithe management and policies of such Persothwhby ownership of Voting Stock,
contract or otherwise.

“ Agent” shall have the meaning set forth in the preanblihis Agreement and shall include its succesandsassigns.

“ Agreement’ shall mean this Term Loan and Security Agreemasithe same may be amended, restated, suppleneented
otherwise modified from time to time.

“ Applicable Law” shall mean all laws, rules and regulations afie to the Person, conduct, transaction, covexher
Document or contract in question, including all laggble common law and equitable principles; atiyisions of all applicable state, federal
and foreign constitutions, statutes, rules, regutat treaties, directives and orders of any Gawemtal Body, and all orders, judgments and
decrees of all courts and arbitrators.

“ Assignment Agreemeritshall have the meaning set forth_in Section 19.3(

“ AstraZeneci” shall mean AstraZeneca AB, a Swedish corpora



“ Bankruptcy Codé shall mean the United States Bankruptcy Codel{23.C. §101 et seq.), as amended from time to éintkany
successor statute.

“ Beneficial Owner’ shall have the meaning assigned to such ternuie R3d-3 and Rule 13d-5 under the Exchange Ackemx
that in calculating the beneficial ownership of gayticular “person” (as that term is used in Seci3(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), such
“person” will be deemed to have beneficial ownegusfi all securities that such “person” has thetrighacquire by conversion or exercise of
other securities, whether such right is currentlgreisable or is exercisable only after the passégene.

“ Board of Directors’ shall mean: (a) with respect to a corporatioe, board of directors of the corporation or any cotte®
thereof duly authorized to act on behalf of sucardp(b) with respect to a partnership, the Bodrmimectors of the general partner of the
partnership; (c) with respect to a limited lialyiltompany, the managing member or members or amyatling committee of managing
members thereof; and (d) with respect to any deegson, the board or committee of such Personrgpavsimilar function.

“ Borrower” shall have the meaning set forth in the preanbliéhis Agreement and shall extend to all permitedcessors and
assigns of such Person.

“ Business Day shall mean any day other than Saturday or Sundaylegal holiday on which commercial banks athanzed or
required by law to be closed for business in NewkYblew York.

“ Capital Lease Obligatiohmeans, at the time any determination is to been#ite amount of the liability in respect of a ¢tabpi
lease that would at that time be required to béal@®ed on a balance sheet prepared in accordaitbeGAAP, and the Stated Maturity thereof
shall be the date of the last payment of rent graher amount due under such lease prior to teedate upon which such lease may be
prepaid by the lessee without payment of a penalty.

“ Capital StocK’ shall mean: (a) in the case of a corporationpoaate stock; (b) in the case of an associatidruemess entity, any
and all shares, interests, participations, rightstiber equivalents (however designated) of coteostock; (c) in the case of a partnership or
limited liability company, partnership interestshigther general or limited) or membership interemtst (d) any other interest or participatiol
a Person that confers on a Person the right tiveeeeshare of the profits and losses of, or diatibns of assets of, the issuing Person, but
excluding from all of the foregoing any debt setiesi convertible into Capital Stock, whether or soth debt securities include any right of
participation with Capital Stock.

“ Change in Law shall mean the occurrence, after the date ofAlgieement, of any of the following: (a) the adoptior taking
effect of any Applicable Law, (b) any change in @pplicable Law or in the administration, inter@gon, implementation or application
thereof by any Governmental Body or (c) the makingssuance of any request, rule, guideline orctive (whether or not having the force of
law) by any Governmental Body.



“ Change of Contrgl shall mean the occurrence of any of the following

(a) the direct or indirect sale, lease, transfenveyance or other disposition, in one or a serigslated transactions, of (i) all or
substantially all of the properties or assets efBlorrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whotajoPerson other than the Borrower or a
Guarantor; or (ii) assets of the Borrower or anpsdiary of the Borrower to a Person other thanBbgower or a Guarantor for a purchase
price equal to more than 50% of the consolidatéal assets of the Borrower (based upon the Borreweost recent audited balance sheet);

(b) the adoption of a plan relating to, or the aoence of, the liquidation, dissolution or winding of the Borrower;

(c) the consummation of any transaction (includimighout limitation, any merger or consolidatiothe result of which is that any
“person” or “group” (each as defined above) becothesBeneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, ofore than 50% of the Voting Stock of the
Borrower, measured by voting power rather than remalb shares;

(d) the Borrower consolidates with, or merges witlinto, any Person, or any Person consolidates witmerges with or into, the
Borrower, or the Borrower consummates an exchahgbares, recapitalization, reorganization, busiregsnbination or other similar event, in
any such event pursuant to a transaction followihgch the holders of Voting Stock immediately préiog such consolidation, merger,
exchange, recapitalization, reorganization, busimesnbination or similar event either (a) no lonigeid a majority of the Voting Stock of the
Borrower or (b) no longer have the ability elechajority of the Board of Directors of the Borrower;

(e) the first day on which a majority of the mensbef the Board of Directors of the Borrower are @ontinuing Directors.

“ Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 198@h@same may be amended or supplemented fromditmaé, and any
successor statute of similar import, and the ratesregulations thereunder, as from time to timeffiact.

“ Collateral” shall mean all of the Loan Parties’ right, tilad interest, whether now owned or hereafter aeduand wherever
located, in, to and under the License Agreemenluding all proceeds thereof.

“ Compliance Certificaté shall mean a compliance certificate to be sigbgdhe Chief Financial Officer or President of Biwer,
which shall state that, based on an examinatidiicgerit to permit such officer to make an informsdtement, to such officer’'s knowledge, no
Default or Event of Default exists, or if such it the case, specifying such Default or Event diaDk, its nature, when it occurred, whether it
is continuing and the steps being taken by Loatidzawith respect to such default.

“ Consents' shall mean all filings and all licenses, permisnsents, approvals, authorizations, qualificatiand orders of
Governmental Bodies and other third parties, doimestforeign, necessary (including to avoid a tichbr breach under any agreement,
instrument, other document, license, permit or o#whorization) for the execution, delivery orfpemance of this Agreement and the Other
Documents, including any Consents required undexpglicable federal, state or other Applicable Law
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“ Continuing Directors shall mean, as of any date of determination, meynber of the Board of Directors of the Borroweiowh
(a) was a member of such Board of Directors orttfiective Date, or (b) was nominated for electiorelected to such Board of Directors with
the approval of a majority of the Continuing Dirst who were members of such Board of Directoth@time of such nomination or election.

“ Conversion Daté shall mean the date on which AstraZeneca exeséiseight to terminate the License Agreement pains to
Section 18.4(a), subparagraph (d) thereof as eceéin the Effective Date, either in whole or wigéispect to the United States only.

“ Default” shall mean an event, circumstance or conditioictyhwith the giving of notice or passage of timeoth, would
constitute an Event of Default.

“ Dollar " and the sign “ $ shall mean lawful money of the United States ofiékica.

“ Domestic Subsidiary shall mean any Subsidiary of Borrower that isamged and existing under the laws of the UnitedeStor
any state or commonwealth thereof or under the t#vtise District of Columbia.

“ Effective Date” shall mean the date hereof.
“ Event of Default’ shall have the meaning set forth_in Article X
“ Exchange Act shall have the mean the Securities Exchange At984, as amended.

“ EATCA " shall mean Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Cad®f the date of this Agreement (or any amemdediccessor
version that is substantively comparable and nderialy more onerous to comply with), any currenfuture regulations or official
interpretations thereof and any agreements entetegursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code amglintergovernmental agreement
between the United States and one or more oth@argmental authorities that is entered into in otddacilitate compliance with the
foregoing.

“ Foreign Lendef shall mean any Lender that is organized unde’ghglicable Laws of a jurisdiction other than tlivatvhich
Borrower is resident for tax purposes. For purp@dekis definition, the United States, each Sthtreof and the District of Columbia shall be
deemed to constitute a single jurisdiction.

“ GAAP " shall mean generally accepted accounting priesifih the United States of America in effect fromet to time.

“ Governmental Body shall mean any nation or government, any statttoer political subdivision thereof or any entiguthority,
agency, division or department exercising the lagjie, judicial, regulatory or administrative fuimns of or pertaining to a government.

4



“ Guarantor” shall mean any Person who may hereafter guargrageent or performance of the whole or any pathef
Obligations and “ Guarantotsshall mean, collectively, all such Persons.

“ Guaranty” shall mean any guaranty of the Obligations of®awer executed by a Guarantor in favor of Agentif®benefit and
for the ratable benefit of Lenders, in form andstabce satisfactory to Agent (including the guaramder_Article XVI).

“ Health Registration Approvdlshall have the meaning set forth in the Licengge&ment.

“ Hedding Obligations means, with respect to any specified Personptiligations of such Person under:

(a) interest rate swap agreements (whether froedftr floating or from floating to fixed), interasite cap agreements and interest
rate collar agreements;

(b) other agreements or arrangements designedriagadnterest rates or interest rate risk; and

(c) other agreements or arrangements designeategbisuch Person against fluctuations in currexchange rates or commaodity
prices.

“ Indebtednes’ means, with respect to any specified Person, atgbitedness of such Person (excluding accrued eapeteferre
or prepaid revenue, trade payables and guaramteeseéd in the ordinary course of business andmspect of borrowed money), whether ol
not contingent:

(a) in respect of borrowed money;

(b) evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or simg&ruments;

(c) all obligations for the reimbursement of anyigdr on any letter of credit, banker’'s acceptancsimilar credit transaction;
(d) representing Capital Lease Obligations;

(e) representing the balance deferred and unpaltegiurchase price of any property or servicesmore than six months after
such property is acquired or such services are et or

(f) representing any Hedging Obligation,

if and to the extent any of the preceding itemhdpthan letters of credit and Hedging Obligatiomelld appear as a liability upon a balance
sheet of the specified Person prepared in accoedaith GAAP. In addition, the term “Indebtedness¢ludes all Indebtedness of others
secured by a Lien on any asset of the specifiesoRgwhether or not such Indebtedness is assumttelspecified Person) and, to the extent
not otherwise included, the guarantee by the sigeicferson of any Indebtedness of any other Péatbar than by endorsement of negotiable
instruments for collection in the ordinary courgduosiness).



“Lender” and “ Lenders’ shall have the meaning ascribed to such terrhémpreamble to this Agreement and shall includé eac
Person which becomes a transferee, successorign afsny Lender.

“ License Agreemeritshall mean the License Agreement, dated as ofe®dper 20, 2009, by and between AstraZeneca and
Borrower, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Licéxggeement, dated as of August 8, 2013, and asdugimended from time to time by
parties thereto.

“ Lien " shall mean any mortgage, deed of trust, pledgpothecation, assignment, security interest, lighether statutory or
otherwise), claim or encumbrance, as securityptiioly any conditional sale or other title retentamgreement, or any lease having substantiall
the same economic effect as any of the foregoing.

“ Loan Parties shall mean, collectively, Borrower and Guarant@fsny) and “ Loan Party shall mean, individually, Borrower
and each Guarantor (if any).

“ Material Adverse Effect shall mean a material adverse effect on (a) itmentcial condition, results of operations, assmtsjness
or properties of the Loan Parties, taken as a wlfb)ehe ability of the Loan Parties, taken ashol®, to duly and punctually pay or perform
Obligations in accordance with the terms therem)f Agent’s Liens on the Collateral or the prionitfysuch Liens or (d) the practical realization
of the benefits of Agent’'s and each Lender’s rigittd remedies under this Agreement and the Otheuments taken as a whole.

“ Milestone Dat€’ shall mean the date on which the Milestone Paytrisepaid.

“ Milestone Paymerit shall mean the $70,000,000 milestone paymentigayay AstraZeneca to Borrower pursuant to Secfidn
(b)(i) of the License Agreement.

“ Obligations” shall mean and include any and all loans, advenebts, liabilities, obligations, covenants antied owing by any
Loan Party to Lenders or Agent of any kind or natpresent or future (including any interest acgguhereon and fees and expenses incurrec
after maturity, or after the filing of any petitiéam bankruptcy, or the commencement of any insalyereorganization or like proceeding
relating to any Loan Party, whether or not a cl&mpost-filing or post-petition interest or feesexpenses is allowed in such proceeding),
whether or not evidenced by any note, guarantyttegranstrument, in each case, arising under tigiement and the Other Documents and
any amendments, extensions or renewals thereof.

“ Offset Royalties’ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a

“ Other Documents shall mean the Term Note, any Guaranty and awnlyadiother agreements, instruments and documents,
including guaranties, pledges, powers of attoreepsents or other similar agreements and all athi¢ings heretofore, now or hereafter
executed by any Loan Party and/or delivered to Ageany Lender in respect of the transactionsermptated by this Agreement. For the
avoidance of doubt, the parties hereby agree lieat icense Agreement does not constitute an “Cloeument”.
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“ Other Taxes shall mean all present or future stamp or docuargrtaxes or any other excise or property taxearges or similar
levies arising from any payment made hereundendeuany Other Document or from the executionyveeji or enforcement of, or otherwise
with respect to, this Agreement or any Other Doautme

“ Payment Daté shall mean the last day of each Period.

“ Payment Office’ shall mean initially the office of the Agent lest in_Section 15.6thereafter, such other office of Agent, if any,
which it may designate by notice to Borrower andach Lender to be the Payment Office.

“ Period” shall have the meaning set forth_in Section.2.1

“ Permitted Dispositiori shall mean a disposition of Specified Collatératonnection with a royalty monetization transaectivith
respect to licenses or sublicenses of the inteigdgiroperty of the Borrower or any of its Subsiig, including but not limited to sales of
royalty streams, royalty bonds and other royaltyaficings, synthetic royalty and revenue interestsactions and hybrid monetization
transactions.

“ Permitted Encumbrancésshall mean (a) Liens securing the Borrowgel2% Senior Secured Notes due 2017 and Lienslthabt
continue after the Conversion Date on any replacésn& refinancings thereof; provid#tht such replacements or refinancings shall ne¢ la
final maturity date earlier than the obligationsnigereplaced or refinanced or a principal amourexpess of the principal amount of the
obligations secured on the Effective Date plus amgyniums or fees incurred in connection with swgglacements or refinancings, (b) Liens
taxes, assessments or governmental charges osdlaatare not yet delinquent or that are beingestad in good faith by appropriate
proceedings promptly instituted and diligently coatd;_providedhat any reserve or other appropriate provisiois asquired in conformity
with GAAP has been made therefor, (c) Liens on &pgcified Collateral in connection with a Permitiidposition, and (d) Liens on proceeds
of the License Agreement consisting of cash ortassmjuired with any such cash.

“ Person’ shall mean any individual, sole proprietorshigrtpership, corporation, business trust, jointlsmampany, trust,
unincorporated organization, association, limifadility company, limited liability partnership, stitution, public benefit corporation, joint
venture, entity or Governmental Body (whether fatiestate, county, city, municipal or otherwiseslirding any instrumentality, division,
agency, body or department thereof).

“ Register” shall have the meaning set forth_in Section 18.3(

“ Required Lenders shall mean Lenders holding more than fifty peto@®%) of the outstanding Term Loan; providkdt, if the
Conversion Date has not occurred, “Required Leriddrall mean Agent.
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“ Royalty Term Daté shall mean the earlier of (a) the date of expirabf the royalty term for the first Stand-AloneoBuct, as
determined under Section 7.9(a) of the License d&ment as in effect on the Effective Date and (ihaevent the License Agreement is
terminated in whole pursuant to the terms therbef effective date of such termination.

“ SEC” shall mean the Securities and Exchange Commissi@my successor thereto.

“ Specified Collateral shall mean all royalties payable by AstraZenecBarrower under the License Agreement (other than
any such royalties payable on and after the Coiei3ate).

“ StandAlone Product shall have the meaning set forth in the Licengge®ment.

“ Stated Maturity’ means, with respect to any installment of priatipn any series of Indebtedness, the date on whe&epayment
of principal was scheduled to be paid in the doauatéon governing such Indebtedness as of theldatof, and will not include any
contingent obligations to repay, redeem or repwsetany such principal prior to the date originaltheduled for the payment thereof.

“ Subsidiary” of any Person shall mean (a) a corporation oeoéntity of which more than 50% of the Capitalcktbaving
ordinary voting power (other than Capital Stockihgwsuch power only by reason of the happeningadrgingency and after giving effect to
any voting agreement or stockholders’ agreementipte in the election of directors of such corpiorator other Persons performing similar
functions for such entity, is owned, directly odiirectly, by such Person and (b) any partnershith@ sole general partner or the managing
general partner of which is such Person or (ii)ahly general partners of which are that Personaaredor more Subsidiaries of that Person (ol
any combination thereof).

“ Taxes” shall mean all present or future taxes, leviegasts, duties, deductions, withholdings (includiagkup withholding),
assessments, fees or other charges imposed byamyr@nental Body, including any interest, addititmsax or penalties applicable thereto;
provided, however, that Taxes shall not include Other Taxes

“ Term Loan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section.2.1
“ Term Note” shall have the meaning set forth_in Section.2.1
“ Transfere€ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 15.3(

“ Uniform Commercial Codé shall have the meaning set forth_in Section.1.3

“Voting Stock” of any specified Person as of any date shall meauCapital Stock of such Person that is at the @ntiled to vote
in the election of the Board of Directors of su@rdan.



1.3._Uniform Commercial Code Termall terms used herein and defined in the Unif@emmercial Code as adopted in the State of
New York from time to time (th* Uniform Commercial Codé&) shall have the meaning given therein unlessrettse defined herein. Without
limiting the foregoing, the terms “instruments” dtlments” and “proceeds” as and when used in theriggion of Collateral shall have the
meanings given to such terms in Article 9 of thefahm Commercial Code. To the extent the definitafrany category or type of collateral is
expanded by any amendment, modification or revisiaime Uniform Commercial Code, such expandedhitefn will apply automatically as
of the date of such amendment, modification orsiewi.

1.4. Certain Matters of Constructioifhe terms “herein”, “hereof” and “hereunder” asttier words of similar import refer to this
Agreement as a whole and not to any particulai@ggbaragraph or subdivision. Unless otherwiseviged, all references herein to Articles,
Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be constauegfer to Articles and Sections of, and Exhilitel Schedules to, this Agreement. Any
pronoun used shall be deemed to cover all gendélterever appropriate in the context, terms usedimén the singular also include the plural
and vice versa. All references to statutes ande@leegulations shall include any amendments oesamna any successor statutes and
regulations. Unless otherwise provided, all refeesnto any instruments or agreements to which Aigemparty, including references to any of
the Other Documents, shall include any and all fications or amendments thereto and any and adinsibns or renewals thereof. All
references herein to the time of day shall meanithe in New York, New York. Whenever the wordsciunding” or “include” shall be used,
such words shall be understood to mean “includivithout limitation” or “include, without limitatioh Any Lien referred to in this Agreement
or any of the Other Documents as having been aéatavor of Agent, any agreement entered inté\ggnt pursuant to this Agreement or
of the Other Documents, any payment made by or formls received by Agent pursuant to or as contatag by this Agreement or any of the
Other Documents, or any act taken or omitted ttaken by Agent, shall, unless otherwise expresslyiged, be created, entered into, made ©
received, or taken or omitted, for the benefit@raunt of Agent and Lenders.

[I. TERM LOAN; PAYMENTS.

2.1. Term Loan Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreet, on the Conversion Date, the Milestone Paysieait convert to a
$70,000,000 term loan from the Lenders to Borroftlee “ Term Loar!’), which Term Loan shall be payable in annualatistents
commencing on January 15, 2015 in the amountsdt thelow on the last day of each period set fodlow (each, a * Perig, subject
Section 2.2below and subject further to acceleration that wegur after the occurrence of an Event of Defanttar this Agreement. If the
Conversion Date occurs on any date after Janugrgh, amortization payments for all prior Peri¢dsluding accrued interest from the
Conversion Date) shall become due and payableefifth (5th) Business Day following the Conversioate.
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Period Amortization Payment
Conversion Date through January 15, 2015 $10,000,000 plu
accrued interest
for such Period
January 16, 2015 through January 15, 2016 $10,000,000 plu
accrued interest
for such Period
January 16, 2016 through January 15, 2017 $20,000,000 plu
accrued interest
for such Period
January 16, 2017 through January 15, 2018 $30,000,000 plu
accrued interest
for such Period

The Term Loan shall be evidenced by one or morersdgpromissory notes (collectively, the * Term &9tin substantially the form attached
hereto as Exhibit A

2.2. Repayment

(a) The Term Loan shall be due and payable as gedvin_Section 2.4nd in the Term Note. Notwithstanding the foregoing
sentence, Section 2, br anything in this Agreement to the contranthié Conversion Date has occurred by reason obZstreca’s
termination of the License Agreement with respedht United States only, the Term Loan shall lpaick(and such payment shall be applied
first to accrued interest and then to principal)offgetting 50% of any royalties (but not includiagy milestone payments) (such 50% of
royalties, the “ Offset Royalti€$ that would otherwise be payable by AstraZzen@cBdrrower under the License Agreement (which Qffse
Royalties shall reduce the Term Loan dollar folalchnd be deemed to have been paid in full byaXstneca to Borrower under the License
Agreement), and any amount of the Term Loan thaaies outstanding after the Royalty Term Date diedome due and payable within th
(30) days of the Royalty Term Date; providedt if the Royalty Term Date is prior to Januaby 2018 and such outstanding amount exceeds
$10 million, then such outstanding amount shalihséead be payable pursuant to the amortizatioadidk set forth in Section 2uhtil fully
paid (it being understood that (i) if such outsiagcamount on a given Payment Date is less thaartatization payment set forth in
Section 2.%or such date, such lesser amount will be due &nifl §uch outstanding amount on the Royalty TéDate is greater than the
amortization payments set forth_in Section farlall future Periods, then the amount of suchesgcshall be paid within thirty (30) days after
Royalty Term Date).

(b) Except as provided in Section 2.2(a)l payments of principal, interest and other ants payable hereunder, or under any o
Other Documents, shall be made to Agent at the Bayfffice not later than 4:00 P.M. (New York timm) the due date therefor in lawful
money of the United States of America in federaldfsior other funds immediately available to Ag&urrower shall pay principal, interest,
and all other amounts payable hereunder, or underedated agreement, without any deduction whatsgéncluding, but not limited to, any
deduction for any setoff or counterclaim.
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(c) Each payment (including each prepayment) by@®eer on account of the principal of and interastite Term Loan shall be
applied pro rata in accordance with each Lendeppagrtionate share of the Term Loan.

2.3. PrepaymentsBorrower, at its option, may prepay the Term Loafull or in part at any time without premium penalty, and any
such prepayments shall be accompanied by accruathpaid interest and applied to principal payméajsf AstraZeneca has terminated the
License Agreement with respect to the United Stadyg, in inverse order of maturity, and (b) if A&Zeneca has terminated the License
Agreement in full, pro rata.

[ll. INTEREST AND FEES.

3.1. Interest Interest on the Term Loan shall be payable iaaas on each Payment Date. Interest charges shedirbputed on the actual
principal amount of the Term Loan outstanding dyitime applicable Period at a rate per annum equabbs, compounded annually on each
anniversary of the Conversion Date.

3.2._ Computation of Interestnterest hereunder shall be computed on the basisear of 360 days and for the actual numbetagt
elapsed. If any payment to be made hereunder bexcdugeand payable on a day other than a Businggstizadue date thereof shall be
extended to the next succeeding Business Day aekgt shall be payable during such extension.

3.3._ Maximum ChargesIn no event whatsoever shall interest and otharges charged hereunder exceed the highest ratéspible
under law. In the event interest and other chaagesomputed hereunder would otherwise exceed giesti rate permitted under law, such
excess amount shall be first applied to any unpaittipal balance owed by Borrower, and if the themaining excess amount is greater than
the previously unpaid principal balance, Lendeadlgiromptly refund such excess amount to Borroavet the provisions hereof shall be
deemed amended to provide for such permissible rate

3.4. Taxes

(a) Payments Free of Taxes; Obligation to WithhBlayments on Account of TaxeAny and all payments by or on account of any
obligation of Borrower under this Agreement shalthie extent permitted by Applicable Law be ma@e fand clear of and without reductior
withholding for any Taxes. If, however, Applicalillaw requires Borrower or Agent to withhold or detlany Tax, such Tax shall be withheld
or deducted in accordance with such Applicable bavdetermined by Borrower or Agent, as the caselmaypon the basis of the information
and documentation to be delivered pursuant to stibse(d) below.

(i) If Borrower or Agent shall be required by anp@licable Law to withhold or deduct any Taxes frany payment, then
(A) Borrower or Agent, as required by such Applieabaw, shall withhold or make such deductionsrasdetermined by it to be
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required based upon the information and documemtdtihas received pursuant to subsection (e) hedod (B) Borrower or Agent, to the
extent required by such Applicable Law, shall tiyngdy the full amount so withheld or deducted hpithe relevant Governmental Body in
accordance with such Applicable Laws.

(b) Payment of Other Taxes by BorrowaWithout limiting the provisions of subsection @)ove, Borrower shall timely pay any
Other Taxes to the relevant Governmental Body @oetance with Applicable Law.

(c) Evidence of PaymentdJpon request by Borrower or Agent, as the casglmaafter any payment of Taxes by Borrower or by
Agent to a Governmental Body as provided in thisti®a 3.4, Borrower shall deliver to Agent or Agent shallider to Borrower, as the case
may be, the original or a certified copy of a rpté&sued by such Governmental Body evidencing pagiment, a copy of any return required
by Applicable Laws to report such payment or oth@dence of such payment reasonably satisfactoBptoower or Agent, as the case may

(d) Status of Lenders; Tax Documentatiqi) Each Lender shall deliver to Borrower andigent, at the time or times prescribec
Applicable Law or when reasonably requested by @weer or Agent, such properly completed and execdtadimentation prescribed by
Applicable Law or by the taxing authorities of gnyisdiction and such other reasonably requestixtrimation (which for the avoidance of
doubt includes any documentation or informationessary to prevent withholding Taxes imposed un@arGA) as will permit Borrower or
Agent, as the case may be, to determine (A) whetheot payments made hereunder are subject tosTé&if applicable, the required rate of
withholding or deduction, and (C) such Lender’'stierhent to any available exemption from, or redutof, applicable Taxes in respect of all
payments to be made to such Lender by Borrowepnigo this Agreement or otherwise to establigthdiender’s status for withholding tax
purposes in the applicable jurisdiction.

(i) Without limiting the generality of the foregug,

(A) any Lender that is a “United States person’himitthe meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Csiutl deliver to
Borrower and Agent executed originals of Internal/8ue Service Form W-9 or such other documentatiamformation prescribed by
Applicable Law or reasonably requested by Borroareigent as will enable Borrower or Agent, as theecmay be, to determine whe:
or not such Lender is subject to backup withholdingnformation reporting requirements; and

(B) each Foreign Lender that is entitled underGbele or any applicable treaty to an exemption fawmeduction of
withholding tax with respect to payments hereuradeshall deliver to Borrower and Agent (in such rtnemof copies as shall be reques
by the recipient) on or prior to the date on whscich Foreign Lender becomes a Lender under thisehgent (and from time to time
thereafter upon the request of Borrower or Ageut.dnly if such Foreign Lender is legally entitieddo so), whichever of the following
is applicable:

(I) executed originals of Internal Revenue Serfoem W-8BEN claiming eligibility for benefits of ancome tax treaty to
which the United States is a party,
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(I) executed originals of Internal Revenue Senkoem W-8ECI,
(1) executed originals of Internal Revenue Seevitorm W-8IMY and all required supporting documénta

(IV) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming tlea&fits of the exemption for portfolio interest endection 881(c) of the
Code, (x) a certificate to the effect that sucheigm Lender is not (A) a “bank” within the meaniafgsection 881(c)(3)(A) of the
Code, (B) a “10 percent shareholder” of such Bosowithin the meaning of section 881(c)(3)(B) of tiode, or (C) a “controlled
foreign corporation” described in section 881(d)(3)of the Code and (y) executed originals of In&iRevenue Service Form W-
8BEN, or

(V) executed originals of any other form prescrilbgdApplicable Law as a basis for claiming exempficom or a reduction
in United States Federal withholding tax togeth&hwuch supplementary documentation as may beigoes by applicable Laws
to permit Borrower or Agent to determine the withttiog or deduction required to be made.

(i) Without limiting the generality of the foredug, if a payment made to a Lender under this Agwsd or any Other
Document would be subject to U.S. federal withhaddiax imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to faitomply with the applicable
reporting requirements of FATCA (including thosentined in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Cadeapplicable), such Lender shall
deliver to the Borrower and the Agent at the timéiraes prescribed by law and at such time or timesonably requested by the Borrower or
the Agent such documentation prescribed by apgidatw (including as prescribed by Section 147 3))t)(i) of the Code) and such
additional documentation reasonably requested &Btirrower or the Agent as may be necessary foBtieower and the Agent to comply
with their obligations under FATCA and to determthat such Lender has complied with such Lenddslgations under FATCA or to
determine the amount to deduct and withhold froohquayment. Solely for purposes of this clausg (iHATCA” shall include any
amendments made to FATCA after the date of thisAgrent.

V. COLLATERAL.

4.1. Security Interest in the Collaterdlo secure the prompt payment and performanceyanfdand each Lender of the Obligations, eacl
Loan Party hereby assigns, pledges and grantseat4gr its benefit and for the ratable benefieath Lender, effective as of the Milestone
Date, a continuing security interest in and to ke on all of its Collateral, whether now ownedesisting or hereafter acquired or arising anc
wherever located. On and following the MilestongedD@ach Loan Party shall mark its books and recasdmnay be necessary or appropriate t
evidence, protect and perfect Agent’s securityregeand shall cause its financial statementsflectesuch security interest.
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4.2. Perfection of Security Interesdn and following the Milestone Date, each Loartyshall promptly take all action that Agent may
reasonably request, so as at all times to maiti@validity, perfection, enforceability and prigrdf Agent’s security interest in and Lien on
the Collateral or to enable Agent to protect, eiseror enforce its rights hereunder and in theaedl. By its signature hereto, each Loan F
hereby authorizes Agent to file against such Loartyone or more financing, continuation or ameadtistatements pursuant to the Uniform
Commercial Code in form and substance satisfattoAgent.

4.3. Disposition of CollateralOn and following the Milestone Date, each LoarntyPwill safeguard and protect all Collateral fogént's
general account and, on and following the datedieneake no disposition thereof or of any assettetging the Collateral (including assets of
the Loan Parties necessary to perform their olbtigatunder the License Agreement) to a third patigther by sale, lease or otherwise excep
for (i) dispositions consisting of Permitted Encuanices, (ii) Permitted Dispositions, and (iii) disfiions of cash proceeds actually receive
a Loan Party under the License Agreement or aasgisired with such cash proceeds. For the avoidaihdeubt, nothing in this Agreement
shall limit or modify, in any respect, any provisim the License Agreement or any other agreemetutden or among the Borrower or any of
its Affiliates, on the one hand, and the Agentmy af its Affiliates, on the other hand, includipgovisions that may restrict or prohibit the
terms of a proposed Permitted Disposition.

4.4. Preservation of CollateraFollowing the occurrence and during the contirngaof an Event of Default, (i) in addition to thights
and remedies set forth in Section 11Agent may at any time take such steps as Agasrhdaeeasonably necessary to protect Agent's iriteres
in and to preserve the Collateral, and (ii) eachrLBarty shall cooperate fully with all of Agen¢Borts to preserve the Collateral and will take
such actions to preserve the Collateral as Agentdiract. All of Agent’s expenses of preserving ©allateral shall be added to the
Obligations.

4.5. Ownership of CollateraMith respect to the Collateral, on the Milest@ade: (i) each Loan Party shall be the sole owfhand fully
authorized and able to sell, transfer, pledge argtémnt a first priority security interest in eaahd every item of its portion of the Collateral to
Agent (subject to Permitted Encumbrances); andggxdor Permitted Encumbrances, the Collaterall &igafree and clear of all Liens and
encumbrances whatsoever; (ii) each document areiagmt executed by each Loan Party or deliverédjémt or any Lender in connection
with this Agreement shall be true and correct inredterial respects; and (iii) all signatures anda@sements of each Loan Party that appear ¢
such documents and agreements shall be genuingaghd_oan Party shall have full capacity to exesatae.

4.6. Defense of Agets and Lendetdnterests From and after the Milestone Date until (a) pagtrend performance in full of all of the
Obligations (other than contingent indemnificatamreimbursement obligations) and (b) terminatibths Agreement, Agent’s interests in the
Collateral shall continue in full force and effeBuring such period no Loan Party shall, withoueAts prior written consent create or suffe
exist a Lien upon, except for Permitted Encumbranary part of the Collateral. With respect toGallateral, Agent and Lenders shall be
entitled to all of the rights and remedies setifdrtrein and further provided by the Uniform ComerarCode or other Applicable Law. In e:
such case, on and following
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the Milestone Date and following the occurrence dadng the continuance of an Event of Defaulthelagan Party, at the request of Agent,
shall, and Agent may, at its option, instruct ajpgliers, carriers, forwarders, warehousers orrstheceiving or holding cash, checks,
documents or instruments in which Agent holds aigcinterest to deliver same to Agent and/or sabjo Agent’s order and if they shall
come into any Loan Party’s possession, they, aokd efithem, shall be held by such Loan Party isttas Agent’s trustee, and such Loan Part
will immediately deliver them to Agent in their ginal form together with any necessary endorsement.

4.7. Compliance with Laws and Contractach Loan Party shall comply with all Applicablaws and all applicable contracts,
agreements, documents, and instruments of the Padies, in each case the non-compliance with witxiehd reasonably be expected to have
a Material Adverse Effect.

4.8. Exculpation of Liability Nothing herein contained shall be construed testitute Agent or any Lender as any Loan Party&nadpr
any purpose whatsoever. Neither Agent nor any Lendgether by anything herein or in any assignnegrdtherwise, assume any of any Loan
Party’s obligations under any contract or agreerassigned to Agent or such Lender, and neither Agenany Lender shall be responsible in
any way for the performance by any Loan Party ¢f afrthe terms and conditions thereof.

4.9. Financing Statement&xcept as respects the financing statementsiijetigent and the financing statements descritfiegsecurity
interest securing the Borrower’s 12% Senior Seciles due 2017, as of the date hereof, no fingmstatement covering any of the
Collateral or any proceeds thereof is on file iy pablic office.

V. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.

Each Loan Party represents and warrants as follasvef the date hereof and as of the Milestone,Ma¢eConversion Date and any
Payment Date, as applicable:

5.1. Authority. Each Loan Party has full power, authority andileght to enter into this Agreement and the Otbhecuments and to
perform all its respective Obligations hereundat #rereunder. This Agreement and the Other Docusrteate been duly executed and
delivered by each Loan Party, and this Agreemedithe Other Documents constitute the legal, vaiid lsinding obligation of such Loan Pa
enforceable in accordance with their terms, exasguch enforceability may be limited by any agile bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium
or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights gendyalThe execution, delivery and performance of thigeement and of the Other Documents
(a) are within such Loan Party’s corporate or leditiability company powers, as applicable, havenbauly authorized by all necessary
corporate or company action, as applicable, arénnontravention, in any material respect, of lawhe terms of such Loan Party’s by-laws,
certificate of incorporation, operating agreemesttificate of formation or other applicable docuntserelating to such Loan Party’s formation
or to the conduct of such Loan Party’s business any material agreement or undertaking to whisths_oan Party is a party or by which
such Loan Party is bound, (b) do not and will raniftict with or violate, in any material respectyadaw or regulation, or any judgment, order
or decree of any Governmental Body, (c) will najuiee the Consent of any
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Governmental Body or any other Person, and (d)wat] in any material respect, conflict with, osu# in any breach in any of the provisions
of or constitute a default under or result in theation of any Lien upon any asset of such LoatyRarder the provisions of any agreement,
charter document, instrument, by-law, operatinggagrent or other instrument to which such Loan Hardyparty or by which it or its property
is a party or by which it may be bound, includimy agreement or instrument involving any matemaldbtedness of any Loan Party.

5.2. Formation and Qualificatian

(a) Each Loan Party is duly incorporated or forneslapplicable, and in good standing under the &dts state of formation and
qualified to do business and is in good standinggich state in which qualification and good stagdire necessary for such Loan Party to
conduct its business and own its property and wtierdailure to so qualify could reasonably be etpe to have a Material Adverse Effect.
Each Loan Party has delivered to Agent true andpbete copies of its certificate of incorporatiorday-laws or certificate of formation and
operating agreement, as applicable, and will prompitify Agent of any material amendment or chanteereto.

(b) As of the date hereof, the only Subsidiariesadfh Loan Party are listed on Schedule 5.2(b)

5.3._.No Violation. No Loan Party is in violation of any applicabtatste, law, rule, regulation or ordinance in aegpect which could
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adveifeett

5.4. No Default No Loan Party is in default in the payment orfgenance of any of its contractual obligations, eptcas could not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adveifeettand no Default has occurred.

5.5. Conflicting AgreementsNo provision of any material mortgage, indentaatract, agreement, judgment, decree or ordelirggnor
any Loan Party or affecting the Collateral confliat any material respect with, or requires any<eomwhich has not already been obtained tc
or would in any way prevent the execution, deliveryperformance in any material respect of, thengeof this Agreement or the Other
Documents.

VI. AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS.

Each Loan Party shall, until payment in full of #bligations, if any, and termination of this Agneent:

6.1. Conduct of Business and Maintenance of Exigt@md Assets(a) Except as could not reasonably be expectbdyte a Material
Adverse Effect, maintain all of its properties usefr necessary in its business in good workingoehd condition (reasonable wear and tear
excepted and except as may be disposed of in aocedvith the terms of this Agreement), includitidieenses, patents, copyrights, design
rights, tradenames, trade secrets and trademagkiska all actions necessary to enforce and pratectalidity of any material intellectual
property right or other material right includedtive Collateral; (b) keep in full force and effetst éxistence and comply with all applicable laws
and regulations where the failure to
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do so could reasonably be expected to have a Mhfaiiverse Effect; and (c) make all such reports jgay all such franchise and other taxes
and license fees and do all such other acts andgtds may be lawfully required to maintain ithtg licenses, leases, powers and franchises
under the laws of the United States or any poliscédivision thereof where the failure to do saldaeasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.

6.2. Execution of Supplemental InstrumenExecute and deliver to Agent from time to timpon demand, such supplemental
agreements, statements, assignments and trar@f@nsiructions or documents relating to the Celal, and such other instruments as Agent
may reasonably request, in order that the fullnhtd this Agreement may be carried into effect.

6.3._Future Guarantordorrower will cause each of its Domestic Subsid® within thirty (30) days (or such later dasefggent may
agree in its sole discretion) of its acquisitioroaganization, to become a Guarantor under thigé&gent pursuant to a joinder agreement in
form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent

VII. NEGATIVE COVENANTS.

No Loan Party shall, until satisfaction in full thfe Obligations, if any, and termination of thisrAgment:
7.1. Merger, Consolidation; Sale of Assets; ChavfgRirisdiction.

(a) Enter into any merger, consolidation or otlearganization with or into any other Person or peamy other Person to
consolidate with or merge with it, or sell, leasansfer or otherwise dispose of all or substatall of its assets, other than any such merger,
consolidation, reorganization, sale, lease, trarsfelisposition in which (i) (A) the successor &ar is organized under the laws of the United
States or any state or commonwealth thereof orruh@daws of the District of Columbia or (B) themeuld be no adverse legal or tax
consequences to the Lenders as a result therduifiy understood that there may be no adverseotasequences if at the time of such
transaction, Borrower agrees that payments to émelers will be “grossed-up” and Lenders will othisevmade whole by the Borrower, in a
manner satisfactory to the Lenders in their reaslendiscretion, for any withholding or similar tax#hat may be imposed as a result of such
transaction), and (ii) the successor Person assalhelsligations of such Loan Party under this Agrent; or

(b) Otherwise change its jurisdiction of incorpdmator domicile, unless there would be no adveggall or tax consequences to the
Lenders as a result thereof (it being understoatitttere may be no adverse tax consequencesig éitie of such transaction, Borrower ag!
that payments to the Lenders will be “grossed-upt Benders will otherwise made whole by the Bormwea manner satisfactory to the
Lenders in their reasonable discretion, for anyglding or similar taxes that may be imposed essalt of such transaction).
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VIIl. DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS UPON CONVERSION.

8.1. Delivery Requirements Upon Conversidfithin five (5) Business Days after the Convensizate (or such later date as Agent may
agree in its sole discretion):

(a) Term Note Each Loan Party shall duly execute and delivertarm Note to the Agent;

(b) Certificates Each Loan Party shall deliver to the Agent a copthe charter documents of such Loan Party, drehveendments
thereto, certified by the Secretary of State oepHppropriate official of its jurisdiction of fomttion, together with copies of the bylaws,
operating agreement or similar governing documehé&ach Loan Party, certified as accurate and cetafiily the Secretary of such Loan Pe

(c) Good Standing Certificatedach Loan Party shall deliver to the Agent gamahding certificates for each such Loan Party date
not more than ten (10) days prior to the Converfiate (or such earlier date as the Agent may agriée sole discretion), issued by the
Secretary of State or other appropriate officiatath Loan Party’s jurisdiction of formation;

(d) Closing Certificate The Chief Financial Officer, Chief Executive @#r or President of each Loan Party shall deliver a
conversion certificate to the Agent, dated asfldte of delivery, stating that (i) all represéintes and warranties set forth in this Agreement
and the Other Documents are true and correct imatérial respects on and as of such date, exeeptiEh representations and warranties tha
speak as of an earlier date, which shall be trgecarrect in all material respects as of such eadate (ii) Loan Parties are on such date in
compliance in all material respects with all therte and provisions set forth in this Agreement tmedOther Documents and (iii) on such date
no Default or Event of Default has occurred ancbistinuing;

IX. INFORMATION AS TO BORROWER.

Borrower shall, until satisfaction in full of theb@gations (other than contingent indemnificatiorr@mbursement obligations) and the
termination of this Agreement:

9.1. Disclosure of Material Mattersromptly upon learning thereof, report to Agdhhaatters materially affecting the value,
enforceability or collectability of any portion tfe Collateral, including any Loan Party’s reclaimaior repossession of, or the return to any
Loan Party of, a material amount of goods or claimdisputes asserted by any other obligor.

9.2. Litigation. Promptly notify Agent in writing of any claim ijation, suit or administrative proceeding affagtany Loan Party,
whether or not the claim is covered by insuranod, @ any litigation, suit or administrative prodésg, which in any such case affects a
material portion of the Collateral or which couhsonably be expected to have a Material Adverfeetf

9.3. Material OccurrencesPromptly notify Agent in writing upon the occuniee of (a) any Event of Default or Default; anddhy even
development or circumstance whereby any finant&éments or other reports furnished to Agentifediny material respect to present fairly,
in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, tinarficial condition or operating results of any Lé@arty as of the date of such statements.
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9.4. Annual Financial Statementsurnish Agent and Lenders within one hundred twéh20) days after the end of each fiscal yeahe
Loan Parties, financial statements of the Loani®adn a consolidated basis, in each case inclubintgnot limited to, statements of income
and stockholders’ equity and cash flow from theibwigg of the current fiscal year to the end oftsfiscal year and the balance sheet as at th
end of such fiscal year, all prepared in accordavite GAAP applied on a basis consistent with ppoactices, and in reasonable detail and
reported upon without qualification by an indepemtdeertified public accounting firm selected by Isiersons; providetthat the foregoing
requirement shall be satisfied by the availabilitghe Borrower’s 10-K for such fiscal year on SEEDGAR service (or any successor
thereto); it being understood that Agent shall haw@bligation whatsoever to determine if suchiinfation has been posted. In addition, the
reports shall be accompanied by a Compliance @t.

9.5. Additional Information Furnish Agent with such additional informationfsgent shall reasonably request in order to enAgknt to
determine whether the terms, covenants, provisasconditions of this Agreement and the Term Natee been complied with by Loan
Parties.

9.6. Additional DocumentsExecute and deliver to Agent, upon request, sistluments and agreements as Agent may, from tirimé
reasonably request to carry out the purposes, terroanditions of this Agreement.

X. EVENTS OF DEFAULT.

The occurrence of any one or more of the followergnts shall constitute an “ Event of Defdult

10.1._NonpaymentFailure by Borrower to pay when due, whether aturity or by reason of acceleration pursuant eotémms of this
Agreement (i) any principal on the Obligations i9r&ny interest on the Obligations or any othabllities, payment or charge provided for
herein or in any Other Document, and, in each casg failure is not cured within thirty (30) days;

10.2. Breach of RepresentatioAny representation or warranty made or deemecderbgcany Loan Party in this Agreement, any Other
Document or in any certificate furnished at anyetiim connection herewith or therewith shall prowéa&ve been untrue in any material respec
on the date when made or deemed to have been made;

10.3._NoncomplianceExcept as otherwise provided for_in Section 1@dllure or neglect of any Loan Party to perfokaep or observe
any covenant herein contained, or contained inGtmer Document and such failure or neglect is mogd within sixty (60) days following the
earlier of the date (x) Agent provides written netto Borrower thereof or (y) any Loan Party leavhsuch failure or neglect;

10.4. Bankruptcy Any Loan Party shall (i) apply for, consent tosoiffer the appointment of, or the taking of possesby, a receiver,
custodian, trustee, liquidator or similar fiduciaryitself or of all or a substantial part of itoperty, (ii) make a general assignment for the
benefit of creditors, (iii) commence a voluntargeainder any state or federal bankruptcy laws dasar hereafter in effect), (iv) be
adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent, (v) file aiti@t seeking to take advantage of any other laswigiing for the relief of debtors,

(vi) acquiesce to, or fail to have dismissed, witkixty (60) days, any petition filed against itainy involuntary case under such bankruptcy
laws, or (vii) take any action for the purpose tiéeting any of the foregoing;
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10.5._Inability to Pay Any Loan Party shall admit in writing its inalylj or be generally unable, to pay its debts ag HeEome due or
cease operations of its present business;

10.6._Lien Priority. Any Lien created hereunder or provided for herebynder any related agreement for any reasoresd¢ae or is n
a valid and perfected Lien having a first prioiityerest, subject to Permitted Encumbrances;

10.7._Cross DefaultA default of the obligations of any Loan Partydenany other agreement for Indebtedness indivigoalin the
aggregate in excess of $5,000,000 which permittidfaer thereof to declare such Indebtedness imatedgidue and payable;

10.8. Breach of GuarantyTermination (without the written consent of Ageait breach in any material respect of any Guaransimilar
agreement executed and delivered to Agent in cdimmewith the Obligations of any Loan Party, oaify Guarantor attempts to terminate,
challenges the validity of, or its liability undemy such Guaranty;

10.9._Change of ControlAny Change of Control shall occur, unless theatiand, if applicable, indirect acquiring Persenter into a
Guaranty or assume all Obligations of Borrower urnlis Agreement, pursuant to an agreement reagosatisfactory to Agent and Lenders;
or

10.10._Invalidity. Any material provision of this Agreement or anth€ Document shall, for any reason, cease to lie aad binding on
Loan Party, or any Loan Party shall so claim intiwg to Agent or any Lender;

XI. LENDERS’ RIGHTS AND REMEDIES AFTER DEFAULT.

11.1. Rights and Remedies

(a) Upon the occurrence of (i) an Event of Defaultsuant to Section 10all Obligations shall be immediately due and pagabid
this Agreement, and (ii) any of the other Event®efault and at any time thereafter (such defanfith@ving previously been cured or waived),
at the option of Required Lenders, all Obligatishall be immediately due and payable. Upon thermenae and during the continuance of an
Event of Default, Agent shall have the right toreiee any and all rights and remedies providedéein, under the Other Documents, under
the Uniform Commercial Code and at law or equitgagally, including the right to foreclose the séiguinterests granted herein and to realize
upon any Collateral by any available judicial pree and/or to take possession of and sell anit of the Collateral with or without judicial
process. If reasonably required, Agent may entgrofiany Loan Party premises or other premises without legal proaadswithout incurring
liability to any Loan Party therefor (except for &g’s gross negligence or willful misconduct), akgknt may thereupon, or at any time
thereafter, in its discretion without notice or dard (except for any notice required by Applicabéem), take the Collateral and remove the
same to such place as Agent may deem advisablAgemt may require Loan Parties to make the Cobdgvailable
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to Agent at a convenient place. With or withoutihgwthe Collateral at the time or place of salegiigmay sell the Collateral, or any part
thereof, at public or private sale, at any timglaice, in one or more sales, at such price or graed upon such terms, either for cash, credit c
future delivery, as Agent may elect. Agent shallegioan Parties reasonable notification of such sakales, it being agreed that in all events
written notice mailed to Borrower at least ten (@@ys prior to such sale or sales is reasonabicatibn. At any public sale Agent or any
Lender may bid for and become the purchaser, armhih@ny Lender or any other purchaser at any salehthereafter shall hold the Collateral
sold absolutely free from any claim or right of wd@ever kind, including any equity of redemptiom @fl such claims, rights and equities are
hereby expressly waived and released by each Lady. A he cash proceeds realized from the saleyfallateral shall be applied to the
Obligations in the order set forth in Section 1ieBeof. Noncash proceeds will only be applied &o@bligations as they are converted into
cash. If any deficiency shall arise, Loan Partleslgemain liable to Agent and Lenders therefor.

(b) To the extent that Applicable Law imposes diitie@ Agent to exercise remedies in a commerciaigonable manner, each L
Party acknowledges and agrees that it is not coeiaigrunreasonable for Agent (i) to fail to inoexpenses reasonably deemed significant by
Agent to prepare Collateral for disposition, (6)fail to obtain third party consents for acces€tilateral to be disposed of, or to obtain or, if
not required by other law, to fail to obtain gousental or third party consents for the collectiorisposition of Collateral to be collected or
disposed of, (iii) to fail to exercise collectioemedies against any Persons obligated on Collaietalremove Liens on or any adverse claims
against Collateral, (iv) to exercise collection eglies against any Persons obligated on Collateesdtty or through the use of collection
agencies and other collection specialists, (v)dcedise dispositions of Collateral through pubiicas or media of general circulation, whether
or not the Collateral is of a specialized natuvé,t6 contact other Persons, whether or not inséime business as any Loan Party, for
expressions of interest in acquiring all or anytiporof such Collateral, (vii) to hire one or mgmofessional auctioneers to assist in the
disposition of Collateral, whether or not the Ctal is of a specialized nature, (viii) to dispa$eCollateral by utilizing internet sites that
provide for the auction of assets of the typesuidet in the Collateral or that have the reasonedgbacity of doing so, or that match buyers ant
sellers of assets, (ix) to dispose of assets inegade rather than retail markets, (x) to discldisposition warranties, such as title, possessi
quiet enjoyment, (xi) to purchase insurance oritethancements to insure Agent against risks s, loollection or disposition of Collateral or
to provide to Agent a guaranteed return from tHiection or disposition of Collateral, or (xii) the extent deemed appropriate by Agent, to
obtain the services of other brokers, investmenkées, consultants and other professionals totasgent in the collection or disposition of
any of the Collateral. Each Loan Party acknowledbasthe purpose of this Section 11.lifbjo provide non-exhaustive indications of what
actions or omissions by Agent would not be comnadlscunreasonable in Agent’'s exercise of remedigsrest the Collateral and that other
actions or omissions by Agent shall not be deeneadneercially unreasonable solely on account of mindpindicated in this Section 11.1(b)
Without limitation upon the foregoing, nothing caimed in this Section 11.1(bhall be construed to grant any rights to any Lidarty or to
impose any duties on Agent that would not have lgganted or imposed by this Agreement or by Apblied_aw in the absence of this

Section 11.1(b)
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11.2._ Agenits Discretion Agent shall have the right in its sole discretiordetermine which rights, Liens, security intése® remedies
Agent may at any time pursue, relinquish, subotéinar modify or to take any other action with resithereto and such determination will nof
in any way modify or affect any of Agent’s or Lemslerights hereunder.

11.3._Setoff Subject to Section 14.11n addition to any other rights which Agent oydrender may have under Applicable Law, upon
the occurrence and during the continuance of amtnfeDefault hereunder, Agent and such Lended $tzade a right, immediately and without
notice of any kind, to apply any Loan Party’s pnapdeld by Agent and such Lender to reduce thégatibns.

11.4. Rights and Remedies not ExclusiVidhe enumeration of the foregoing rights and raéeeeid not intended to be exhaustive and the
exercise of any rights or remedy shall not preclindeexercise of any other right or remedies predifbr herein or otherwise provided by law,
all of which shall be cumulative and not alternativ

11.5. Allocation of Payments After Event of Defaulotwithstanding any other provisions of this Agmeent to the contrary, after the
occurrence and during the continuance of an EvieDetault, all amounts collected or received by Agen account of the Obligations or any
other amounts outstanding under any of the OtheuBents or in respect of the Collateral may, atrAgeadiscretion, be paid over or delivel
as follows:

FIRST, to the payment of all reasonable out-of-godosts and expenses (including reasonable aygrfems) of Agent in
connection with enforcing its rights and the rigbtshe Lenders under this Agreement and the Qllseuments and any protective advances
made by Agent with respect to the Collateral urtdgrursuant to the terms of this Agreement;

SECOND, to the payment of all reasonable out-ofkpbcosts and expenses (including reasonable aftsrfees) of each of the
Lenders to the extent owing to such Lender purstaatite terms of this Agreement;

THIRD, to the payment of all of the Obligations s@sting of accrued interest;
FOURTH, to the payment of the outstanding princgrabunt of the Obligations;

FIFTH, to all other Obligations and other obligasonvhich shall have become due and payable undediter Documents or
otherwise and not repaid pursuant to clauses “FIR&Bugh “FOURTH” above; and

SIXTH, to the payment of the surplus, if any, tooglier may be lawfully entitled to receive such &usp

In carrying out the foregoing, (i) amounts receigbdll be applied in the numerical order providadlexhausted prior to
application to the next succeeding category; ah@dich of the Lenders shall receive an amountlgquts pro rata share (based on the
proportion that the amount of the then outstandiegn Loan held by such Lender bears to the aggeeban outstanding Term Loan) of
amounts available to be applied pursuant to clatidiRD”, “FOURTH" and “FIFTH” above.
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XII. WAIVERS AND JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS.

12.1. Waiver of Notice Each Loan Party hereby waives demand, presentimenést and notice thereof with respect to argyalh
instruments, notice of acceptance hereof, notideanfs or advances made, credit extended, Collatsreived or delivered, or any other action
taken in reliance hereon, and all other demandsatides of any description, except such as areessty provided for herein.

12.2. Delay. No delay or omission on Agent’s or any Lendegst[in exercising any right, remedy or option sloglérate as a waiver of
such or any other right, remedy or option or of &gfault or Event of Default.

12.3. Jury Waiver EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT HEREBY EXPRESSLY WXES ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF
ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION (A) ARSING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER
INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT EXECUTED OR DELERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH, OR (B) IN ANY WAY
CONNECTED WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE DEAINGS OF THE PARTIES HERETO OR ANY OF THEM WITH
RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER INSTRUMENDOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT EXECUTED OR DELIVERED IN
CONNECTION HEREWITH, OR THE TRANSACTIONS RELATED HEETO OR THERETO IN EACH CASE WHETHER NOW
EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER SOUNDIN® CONTRACT OR TORT OR OTHERWISE AND EACH PARTY
HEREBY CONSENTS THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTIONOR CAUSE OF ACTION SHALL BE DECIDED BY COURT
TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY, AND THAT ANY PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A
COPY OF THIS SECTION WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIENCE OF THE CONSENTS OF THE PARTIES HERETO TO THE
WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

Xlll. EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERMINATION.

13.1._Term This Agreement, which shall inure to the beneffitnd shall be binding upon the respective suctesnd permitted assigns
of each Loan Party, Agent and each Lender, shabibe effective on the Effective Date and shall cwr in full force and effect until
terminated (which termination shall occur autonallig upon the earlier to occur of (a) paymentuh 6f the Obligations (other than conting
indemnification and reimbursement obligations) @mdf occurring prior the Conversion Date, initegbproval of the application for the Health
Registration Approval for the first Stand-Alone Buat in the United States.

13.2. Termination and Releas@) Upon the termination of this Agreement in@dance with its terms, all security interests trda
under this Agreement and the Other Documents bbeadlutomatically released and Agent shall takeatibns reasonably requested by
Borrower at Borrower's expense to evidence the iteation of such security interest including withdiatitation, the filing of UCC-3 financing
statements. If such termination and
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release occurs on or following the Conversion Ditéhe extent that any payments or proceeds pushigeceived by the Agent or any Lenc

or any part of such payments, shall be subsequievljidated, declared to be fraudulent, a fraudué®nveyance, or preferential, set aside
and/or required to be repaid to a trustee, recededtor in possession, or any other party undgbankruptcy law, state or federal law,
common law or equitable cause, then to the extettstuch payment or proceeds received by any seidoR is rescinded or must be otherwise
restored by any such Person, whether as a resaitygproceedings in bankruptcy or reorganizatioatberwise, the security interests granted
hereunder shall be revived and reinstated androomin full force and effect, as if such paymenparceeds had never been received by such
Person.

(b) Upon the sale or other disposition of any mortdf the Collateral in a transaction not prohithibs this Agreement, all security
interests created in such portion of the Collataraler this Agreement and the Other Documents bbalutomatically released and Agent s
take all actions reasonably requested by BorrowBoaower’s expense to evidence the terminatiosumh security interest.

XIV. REGARDING AGENT.

14.1._ Appointment Each Lender hereby designates AstraZeneca tsakgent for such Lender under this Agreement haddther
Documents. Each Lender hereby irrevocably authemagent to take such action on its behalf undeptiogisions of this Agreement and the
Other Documents and to exercise such powers apéerform such duties hereunder and thereunder agpanifically delegated to or required
of Agent by the terms hereof and thereof and sticbrgpowers as are reasonably incidental theretcAgent shall hold all Collateral,
payments of principal and interest, fees, chargéscallections (without giving effect to any colten days) received pursuant to this
Agreement, for the ratable benefit of Lenders. Ageay perform any of its duties hereunder by ootigh its agents or employees. As to any
matters not expressly provided for by this Agreenfertiuding collection of the Term Note), Agentadimot be required to exercise any
discretion or take any action, but shall be regluteeact or to refrain from acting (and shall byfprotected in so acting or refraining from
acting) upon the instructions of the Required Lesdand such instructions shall be binding; progdideowever, that Agent shall not be
required to take any action which exposes Agefiability or which is contrary to this Agreement thre Other Documents or Applicable Law
unless Agent is furnished with an indemnificatieagsonably satisfactory to Agent with respect tloeret

14.2. Nature of DutiesAgent shall have no duties or responsibilitiesegt those expressly set forth in this Agreemedttha Other
Documents. Neither Agent nor any of its officerisedtors, employees or agents shall be (i) liabteahy action taken or omitted by them as
such hereunder or in connection herewith, unlessezhby their gross (not mere) negligence or wittiisconduct (as determined by a court of
competent jurisdiction in a final non-appealablggoent), or (ii) responsible in any manner for aggitals, statements, representations or
warranties made by any Loan Party or any officerabf contained in this Agreement, or in any of@tker Documents or in any certificate,
report, statement or other document referred fwravided for in, or received by Agent under or annection with, this Agreement or any of
the Other Documents or for the value, validitygeffveness, genuineness, due execution, enforitgatyisufficiency of this Agreement, or a
of the Other Documents or
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for any failure of any Loan Party to perform itdightions hereunder. Agent shall not be under dfigation to any Lender to ascertain or to
inquire as to the observance or performance ofoflye agreements contained in, or conditionshig, Agreement or any of the Other
Documents, or to inspect the properties, bookgoonds of any Loan Party. The duties of Agent apeaets the Term Loan shall be mechanica
and administrative in nature; Agent shall not haye@eason of this Agreement a fiduciary relatiopshirespect of any Lender; and nothing in
this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intendeaktshall be so construed as to impose upon Ag@nbbligations in respect of this
Agreement except as expressly set forth herein.

14.3. Lack of Reliance on Agent and Resignatitmdependently and without reliance upon Ageramy other Lender, each Lender has
made and shall continue to make (i) its own indépahinvestigation of the financial condition arfthais of each Loan Party in connection
with the making and the continuance of the TermrLeareunder and the taking or not taking of anipadh connection herewith, and (ii) its
own appraisal of the creditworthiness of each LBarty. Agent shall have no duty or responsibikdigher initially or on a continuing basis, to
provide any Lender with any credit or other infotioa with respect thereto, whether coming intgpidssession before the making of the Term
Loan or at any time or times thereafter excepthadi be provided by any Loan Party pursuant totéhmms hereof. Agent shall not be respon:
to any Lender for any recitals, statements, infdioma representations or warranties herein or wagreement, document, certificate or a
statement delivered in connection with or for tkeation, effectiveness, genuineness, validitypergability, collectability or sufficiency of
this Agreement or any Other Document, or of tharfirial condition of any Loan Party, or be requit@thake any inquiry concerning either
performance or observance of any of the terms,igians or conditions of this Agreement, the OthecDments or the financial condition of
any Loan Party, or the existence of any Event dableor any Default.

Agent may resign on sixty (60) days’ written nottoeeach of Lenders and Borrower and upon suchymason, the Required
Lenders will promptly designate a successor Ageasonably satisfactory to Loan Parties.

Any such successor Agent shall succeed to thesiiglotvers and duties of Agent, and the term “Ageshtill mean such successor
agent effective upon its appointment, and the forAgent’s rights, powers and duties as Agent dallerminated, without any other or further
act or deed on the part of such former Agent. Adigy Agent’s resignation as Agent, the provisiohthis Article XIV shall inure to its benefit
as to any actions taken or omitted to be taker tile it was Agent under this Agreement.

14.4. Certain Rights of Agentf Agent shall request instructions from Lendetith respect to any act or action (including faldo act) ii
connection with this Agreement or any Other DocutnAgent shall be entitled to refrain from such actaking such action unless and until
Agent shall have received instructions from the legl Lenders; and Agent shall not incur liabilibyany Person by reason of so refraining.
Without limiting the foregoing, Lenders shall nave any right of action whatsoever against Agera essult of its acting or refraining from
acting hereunder in accordance with the instrustiofithe Required Lenders.
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14.5. Reliance Agent shall be entitled to rely, and shall béyfprotected in relying, upon any note, writingso&ution, notice, statement,
certificate, telex, teletype or telecopier messagblegram, order or other document or telephoresate believed by it to be genuine and
correct and to have been signed, sent or madeehyrdper person or entity. Agent may employ ageantsattorneys-in-fact and shall not be
liable for the default or misconduct of any suckrdg or attorneys-in-fact selected by Agent witksmnable care.

14.6._Notice of Default Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge ticaof the occurrence of any Default or Event efdwlt
hereunder or under the Other Documents, unlesstAgenreceived notice from a Lender or Borroweemiddig to this Agreement or the Other
Documents, describing such Default or Event of Difand stating that such notice is a “notice dadé”. In the event that Agent receives
such a notice, Agent shall give notice thereof énders. Agent shall take such action with respesticth Default or Event of Default as shall
be reasonably directed by the Required Lendersiged, that, unless and until Agent shall have recesusth directions, Agent may (but st
not be obligated to) take such action, or refraomf taking such action, with respect to such DéfauEvent of Default as it shall deem
advisable in the best interests of Lenders.

14.7. Indemnification To the extent Agent is not reimbursed and indéiethby Loan Parties, each Lender will reimburséd endemnify
Agent in proportion to its respective portion of fherm Loan, from and against any and all lialeifiobligations, losses, damages, penalties,
actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or isents of any kind or nature whatsoever which beaynposed on, incurred by or asserted
against Agent in performing its duties hereundei@ny way relating to or arising out of this &gment or any Other Document; provided
that, Lenders shall not be liable for any portiésch liabilities, obligations, losses, damagesaities, actions, judgments, suits, costs,
expenses or disbursements resulting from Agentsgyfnot mere) negligence or willful misconductdatermined by a court of competent
jurisdiction in a final no-appealable judgment).

14.8._Agent in its Individual Capacityith respect to the portion of the Term Loan HejdAgent, Agent shall have the same rights and
powers hereunder as any other Lender and as éri¢ wot performing the duties as Agent specifiegihgand the term “Lendedr any similai
term shall, unless the context clearly otherwiskcates, include Agent in its individual capacisyalender. Agent may engage in business
with any Loan Party as if it were not performing ttuties specified herein, and may accept feestrat consideration from any Loan Party
for services in connection with this Agreement threswise without having to account for the sameenders.

14.9. Delivery of DocumentsTo the extent Agent receives financial statemesdsired under Section 9fvbm any Loan Party pursuant
to the terms of this Agreement which such LoanyPiarhot obligated to deliver to each Lender, Agsitit promptly furnish such documents
and information to Lenders.

14.10._Loan PartiédJndertaking to Agent Without prejudice to their respective obligatidad enders under the other provisions of this
Agreement, each Loan Party hereby undertakes wgdgnato pay to Agent from time to time on demancalounts from time to time due and
payable by it for the account of Agent or Lendaramy of them pursuant to this Agreement to themixbot already paid. Any payment made
pursuant to any such demand shall pro tanto satisfyelevant Loan Party’s obligations to make pemts for the account of Lenders or the
relevant one or more of them pursuant to this Ager.
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14.11. Other AgreementdEach of the Lenders agrees that it shall nohauit the express consent of Agent, and that il doathe extent
it is lawfully entitled to do so, upon the requebAgent, set off against the Obligations, any antewwing by such Lender to any Loan Party
or any deposit accounts of any Loan Party now oedfeer maintained with such Lender. Anything iis tAgreement to the contrary
notwithstanding, each of the Lenders further agtieasit shall not, unless specifically requestedd so by Agent, take any action to protect o
enforce its rights arising out of this Agreementtar Other Documents, it being the intent of Lesdbat any such action to protect or enforce
rights under this Agreement and the Other Documsiml be taken in concert and at the directiowitin the consent of Agent or Required
Lenders.

XV. MISCELLANEOUS.

15.1._Governing Law This Agreement shall be governed by and constivadcordance with the laws of the State of NewKyapplied
to contracts to be performed wholly within the 8tat New York. Any judicial proceeding brought biyagainst any Loan Party with respect to
any of the Obligations, this Agreement, the Othecliments or any related agreement may be brougimyirtourt of competent jurisdiction in
the State of New York, United States of Americal,any execution and delivery of this Agreementhelagan Party accepts for itself and in
connection with its properties, generally and untibonally, the non-exclusive jurisdiction of théoeesaid courts, and irrevocably agrees to be
bound by any judgment rendered thereby in conneaetith this Agreement. Each Loan Party hereby wajwersonal service of any and all
process upon it and consents that all such seofipeocess may be made by registered mail (retecaipt requested) directed to Borrower &
address set forth in Section 1%u8d service so made shall be deemed complete@ij\days after the same shall have been so dedasitee
mails of the United States of America, or, at Agemiption, by service upon Borrower which each LBarty irrevocably appoints as such L
Party’s Agent for the purpose of accepting serwdihin the State of New York. Nothing herein shefflect the right to serve process in any
manner permitted by law or shall limit the rightAdent or any Lender to bring proceedings againgtlaban Party in the courts of any other
jurisdiction. Each Loan Party waives any objectiofurisdiction and venue of any action instituteteunder and shall not assert any def
based on lack of jurisdiction or venue or basechupoum non conveniens. Each Loan Party waivesigid to remove any judicial proceeding
brought against such Loan Party in any state ¢owahy federal court. Any judicial proceeding by &man Party against Agent or any Lender
involving, directly or indirectly, any matter oraiin in any way arising out of, related to or coriedawith this Agreement or any related
agreement, shall be brought only in a federal atestourt located in the County of New York, Staftélew York.
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15.2. Entire Understanding

(a) This Agreement and the documents executed cartly herewith contain the entire understandianeen each Loan Party,
Agent and each Lender and supersedes all prioeagnets and understandings, if any, relating testhgect matter hereof. Any promises,
representations, warranties or guarantees notrheoaitained and hereinafter made shall have ne fand effect unless in writing, signed by
each Loan Party’s, Agent’s and each Lender’s réseofficers. Neither this Agreement nor any pamtor provisions hereof may be changed,
modified, amended, waived, supplemented, dischagmttelled or terminated orally or by any coursdealing, or in any manner other than
by an agreement in writing, signed by the partpeéacharged. Each Loan Party acknowledges thasibban advised by counsel in connection
with the execution of this Agreement and Other Doents and is not relying upon oral representatisrstatements inconsistent with the te
and provisions of this Agreement.

(b) The Required Lenders, Agent with the consentriting of the Required Lenders, and Loan Pantiey, subject to the
provisions of this Section 15.2(bjrom time to time enter into written supplemeraggteements to this Agreement or the Other Docwsnent
executed by Loan Parties, for the purpose of addirdgleting any provisions or otherwise changiragying or waiving in any manner the
rights of Lenders, Agent or Loan Parties thereumdehe conditions, provisions or terms thereofvaiving any Event of Default thereunder,
but only to the extent specified in such writtemeggnents; providedhowever, that no such supplemental agreement shall, wittheuconsent
of all Lenders adversely affected thereby:

(i) extend, with respect to such Lender, the matwf the Term Note or the due date for any am@aygble hereunder, or
decrease the rate of interest or reduce any fegbfmpy Borrower to Lenders pursuant to this Agrestn

(i) alter the definition of the term Required Lemd or alter, amend or modify this Section 15.2(b)

(iii) release all or substantially all of the Ca#leal (other than in accordance with the provisiohthis Agreement or any
Other Document);

(iv) change the rights and duties of Agent; or
(v) release any material Guarantor (other tharcocoadance with the terms of this Agreement or athe©Document).
Any such supplemental agreement shall apply eqi@akach Lender and shall be binding upon LoandZaitenders and Agent a
all future holders of the Obligations. In the ca$any waiver, Loan Parties, Agent and Lendersl sfeatestored to their former positions and
rights, and any Event of Default waived shall berded to be cured and not continuing, but no wai¥er specific Event of Default shall

extend to any subsequent Event of Default (whatheiot the subsequent Event of Default is the sasthe Event of Default which was
waived), or impair any right consequent thereon.

28



15.3. Successors and Assigns; New Lenders

(a) This Agreement shall be binding upon and iriaréhe benefit of Loan Parties, Agent, each Lenaéfuture holders of the
Obligations and their respective successors amdified assigns, except that no Loan Party may assigransfer any of its rights or
obligations under this Agreement without the prigitten consent of Agent and each Lender.

(b) Any Lender, with the consent of Agent, may s&disign or transfer all or any part of its righsl obligations under or relating to
the Term Loan under this Agreement and the Otheubents to one or more of its Affiliates (eachEénsfere€), pursuant to an assignme
agreement substantially in the form attached haastBxhibit B(an “ Assignment Agreemefit executed by the Transferee, the transferor
Lender, and Agent and delivered to Agent for resmydUpon such execution, delivery, acceptancerandrding, from and after the transfer
effective date determined pursuant to such Assigngreement, (i) the Transferee thereunder stead party hereto and, to the extent
provided in such Assignment Agreement, have tHetsignd obligations of a Lender thereunder witpeesto the portion of the Term Loan set
forth therein, and (i) the transferor Lender therder shall, to the extent provided in such AssignihA\greement, be released from its
obligations under this Agreement, the Assignmente&gent creating a novation for that purpose. Sssdignment Agreement shall be
deemed to amend this Agreement to the extent, alyd@the extent, necessary to reflect the additibsuch Transferee and the resulting
adjustment of the Lenders’ proportionate sharah®fTerm Loan arising from the purchase by sucihdfeaee of all or a portion of the rights
and obligations of such transferor Lender undey #greement and the Other Documents. Each Loay Raréby consents to the addition of
such Transferee and the resulting adjustment of énelers’ proportionate shares of the Term Loasirggifrom the purchase by such
Transferee of all or a portion of the rights antigatiions of such transferor Lender under this Agnent and the Other Documents. The Loan
Parties shall execute and deliver such further a@aus and do such further acts and things in dodeffectuate the foregoing.

(c) Agent shall maintain at its address a copyaaheAssignment Agreement delivered to it and asteg(the “ Registef) for the
recordation of the names and addresses of eactet.and the outstanding principal, accrued and ahipéérest and other fees due hereunder.
The entries in the Register shall be conclusivéhénabsence of manifest error, and each Loan Pegnt and Lenders may treat each Persor
whose name is recorded in the Register as the osfrike portion of the Term Loan recorded thereinthe purposes of this Agreement. The
Register shall be available for inspection by Ba&oor any Lender at any reasonable time and fiora to time upon reasonable prior notice.

(d) Each Loan Party authorizes each Lender toalsdo any Transferee and any prospective Trarsgerg and all financial
information in such Lender’s possession concersirgh Loan Party which has been delivered to sucidéreby or on behalf of such Loan
Party pursuant to this Agreement or in connectitth wuch Lender’s credit evaluation of such Loantya

15.4. Application of PaymentsAgent shall have the continuing and exclusivéatrig apply or reverse and re-apply any paymentaanyd
and all proceeds of Collateral to any portion & @bligations in accordance with the terms heréofthe extent that Borrower makes a
payment or Agent or any Lender receives any paymeptoceeds of the Collateral for Borrower’s bémnefhich are subsequently invalidated,
declared to be fraudulent or preferential, seteasidrequired to be repaid to a trustee, debtpossession, receiver, custodian or any other
under any bankruptcy law, common law or equitalblgse, then, to such extent, the Obligations orthareof intended to be satisfied shall be
revived and continue as if such payment or proceadsnot been received by Agent or such Lender.
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15.5. Indemnity Each Loan Party shall indemnify Agent, each Lerzthel each of their respective officers, directéif§i]iates, attorneys
employees and agents from and against any andfilities, obligations, losses, damages, penaléiesons, judgments, suits, costs, expenses
and disbursements of any kind or nature whatso@veluding fees and disbursements of counsel) whiely be imposed on, incurred by, or
asserted against Agent or any Lender in any clitigation, proceeding or investigation institutedconducted by any Governmental Body or
instrumentality or any other Person arising ouamf breach by any Loan Party of any representatiamanty or covenant in this Agreemen
the Other Documents, whether or not Agent or amydee is a party thereto, except, with respect piademnitee, for claims resulting from
the gross negligence or willful misconduct of simmtemnitee or any of its respective officers, dioes, Affiliates, attorneys, employees and
agents, as determined by final judgment of a colucbmpetent jurisdiction.

15.6._Notice Any notice or request hereunder may be givenawdver or any Loan Party or to Agent or any Lenatetheir respective
addresses set forth below or at such other addeessgy hereafter be specified in a notice desigree notice of change of address under th
Section 15.6 Any notice, request, demand, direction or otleenimunication (for purposes of this Section 1&n8y, a “ Notice") to be given t
or made upon any party hereto under any provisidghi® Agreement shall be given or made by teleghanin writing (which includes by
means of facsimile transmission). Any such Notieesnbe delivered to the applicable parties heretbeaaddresses and numbers set forth
under their respective names_on Section h&réof or in accordance with any subsequent unexidlotice from any such party that is given in
accordance with this Section 15.8ny Notice shall be effective:

(a) In the case of hand-delivery, when delivered;

(b) If given by mail, four (4) days after such Nstiis deposited with the United States Postal 8eywith first-class postage
prepaid, return receipt requested,;

(c) In the case of a telephonic Notice, when aypiartontacted by telephone, if delivery of sudbgbonic Notice is confirmed no
later than the next Business Day by hand delivefacsimile transmission or an overnight couridivéey of a confirmatory Notice (received
or before noon on such next Business Day);

(d) In the case of a facsimile transmission, whent $0 the applicable party’s facsimile machinelgphone number, if the party
sending such Notice receives confirmation of thevdey thereof from its own facsimile machine;

(e) If given by any other means (including by ovghi courier), when actually received.

Any Lender giving a Notice to Borrower or any Ld@arty shall concurrently send a copy thereof torhgend Agent shall
promptly notify the other Lenders of its receiptsoich Notice.
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(A)

(B)
(©)

If to Agent:

AstraZeneca AB

c/o AstraZeneca UK Limited
2 Kingdom Street

London, England W2 6BD

Attention; Vice President Corporate Fican
Telephone: +44 20 7604 8073
and

AstraZeneca PLC

2 Kingdom Street

London, England W2 6BD
Attention: General Counsel

with an additional copy (which shall not condgtmotice) to:

Covington & Burling LLP

The New York Times Building

620 Eighth Avenue

New York, New York 10018
Attention: Peter Schwartz, Esq.
Telephone: (212) 841-1268
Facsimile: (646) 441-9268

If to a Lender other than Agent, as specified andignature pages here
If to Borrower or any Loan Part

Nektar Therapeutics

455 Mission Bay Boulevard South
San Francisco, California 94158
Attention; Gil Labrucherie, Esq.
Telephone: (415) 482-5570
Facsimile: (415) 339-5322

with an additional copy (which shall not condgtmotice) to:

O’Melveny & Myers LLP
7 Times Square
New York, New York 10036

Attention: Sam Zucker, Esq. and Sung Ezk.
Telephone: (212) 326-2000
Facsimile: (212) 326-2061
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15.7._Survival The obligations of Loan Parties under Sectio® 48d the obligations of Lenders under Section $4all survive
termination of this Agreement and the Other Docuismi@nd payment in full of the Obligations.

15.8._Severability If any part of this Agreement is contrary to, luipted by, or deemed invalid under Applicable Lagisch provision
shall be inapplicable and deemed omitted to therg)do contrary, prohibited or invalid, but the eénder hereof shall not be invalidated
thereby and shall be given effect so far as passibl

15.9. ExpensesAll costs and expenses including reasonableray@’ fees and disbursements incurred by Agentsoobehalf or on
behalf of Lenders in all efforts made to enforcgmant of any Obligation or effect collection of a@yllateral shall be part of the Obligations.

15.10._Injunctive Relief Each Loan Party recognizes that, in the eventLaay Party fails to perform, observe or dischagg of its
obligations or liabilities under this Agreement tioreatens to fail to perform, observe or dischatgeh obligations or liabilities, any remedy at
law may prove to be inadequate relief to Lendérsrdfore, Agent, if Agent so requests, shall béledtto temporary and permanent injunctive
relief in any such case without the necessity of/joig that actual damages are not an adequate yemed

15.11. Consequential Damagdseither Agent nor any Lender, nor any agent tmragy for any of them, shall be liable to any Ldzarty
(or any Affiliate of any such Person) for indireptjnitive, exemplary or consequential damagesrayisom any breach of contract, tort or ot
wrong relating to the establishment, administratowollection of the Obligations or as a resulanj transaction contemplated under this
Agreement or any Other Document.

15.12._Captions The captions at various places in this Agreemaemintended for convenience only and do not cutstand shall not be
interpreted as part of this Agreement.

15.13._Counterparts; Facsimile Signatur@fis Agreement may be executed in any numbendfty different parties hereto on separate
counterparts, all of which, when so executed, dtmlleemed an original, but all such counterp&id#i sonstitute one and the same agreemen
Any signature delivered by a party by facsimilengimission or email transmission of a .pdf or sinfile shall be deemed to be an original
signature hereto.

15.14._ ConstructionThe parties acknowledge that each party anditeasel have reviewed this Agreement and that thealorule of
construction to the effect that any ambiguitiestarbe resolved against the drafting party shallb@oemployed in the interpretation of this
Agreement or any amendments, schedules or exiltilgitsto.

XVI. GUARANTY .

16.1._Guaranty Each Guarantor hereby unconditionally guarantees, primary obligor and not merely as a suretgtly and severally
with each other Guarantor when and as due, whatheaturity, by acceleration, or otherwise, the dod punctual payment and performance
of all Obligations of Borrower. Each payment magleahy Guarantor pursuant to this Guaranty shathbde in lawful money of the United
States in immediately available funds.
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16.2. Waivers Each Guarantor hereby absolutely, unconditioreatlgt irrevocably waives (i) promptness, diligentajce of acceptance,
notice of presentment of payment and any otheceadtereunder, (ii) demand of payment, protestceaif dishonor or nonpayment, notice of
the present and future amount of the Obligatiorsay other notice with respect to the Obligatidiig,any requirement that Agent or any
Lender protect, secure, perfect or insure any gigdaterest or Lien on any property subject theret exhaust any right or take any action
against any other Loan Party, or any Person oiCoikateral, (iv) any other action, event or predtind to the enforcement hereof or the
performance by each such Guarantor of the Obligatiand (v) any defense arising by any lack of ciéypar authority or any other defense of
any Loan Party or any notice, demand or defenged&son of cessation from any cause of Obligatitnsrahan payment in full of the
Obligations (other than contingent indemnificatarreimbursement obligations) by the Loan Partiesany defense that any other guarantee
or security was or was to be obtained by Agent.

16.3._No DefenseNo invalidity, irregularity, voidableness, voidsseor unenforceability of this Agreement or anyé@thocument or any
other agreement or instrument relating theret@fail or any part of the Obligations or of anylatéral security therefor shall affect, impair or
be a defense hereunder.

16.4. Guaranty of PaymenThe Guaranty hereunder is one of payment andmasance, not collection, and the obligations oheac
Guarantor hereunder are independent of the Oligsidf the other Loan Parties, and a separatenaatiactions may be brought and
prosecuted against any Guarantor to enforce thestand conditions of this Article XVlirrespective of whether any action is broughtirsja
any other Loan Party or other Persons or whethgo#rer Loan Party or other Persons are joinedhinsaich action or actions. Each Guaranto
waives any right to require that any resort belmadgent or any Lender to any security held formpant of the Obligations or to any balance
of any deposit account or credit on the books oégr any Lender in favor of any Loan Party or ather Person. No election to proceed in
one form of action or proceedings, or against agng®h, or on any Obligations, shall constitute avaraof Agents right to proceed in any ott
form of action or proceeding or against any othensBn unless Agent has expressed any such righiting. Without limiting the generality ¢
the foregoing, no action or proceeding by Agentirsgaany Loan Party under any document evidencirggouring indebtedness of any Loan
Party to Agent shall diminish the liability of a®uarantor hereunder, except to the extent Agewives actual payment on account of
Obligations by such action or proceeding, notwéhsing the effect of any such election, actionrocpeding upon the right of subrogation of
any Guarantor in respect of any Loan Party.

16.5. Liabilities Absolute The liability of each Guarantor hereunder shalbbsolute, unlimited and unconditional and shatllbe
subject to any reduction, limitation, impairmerisaharge or termination for any reason other treymgent in full of the Obligations, includin
without limitation, any claim of waiver, releaseyender, alteration or compromise, and shall ro$ibject to any claim, defense or setoff,
counterclaim, recoupment or termination whatsoéyereason of the invalidity, illegality or unenfesability of any other Obligation or
otherwise. Without limiting the generality of therégoing, the obligations of each Guarantor shalbe discharged or impaired, released,
limited or otherwise affected by:

(i) any change in the manner, place or terms ofray or performance, and/or any change or extertditire time of payment or
performance of, release, renewal or alteratiomiogny new agreements relating to any Obligatiog,security therefor, or any liability
incurred directly or indirectly in respect thereof,any rescission of, or amendment, waiver orrothedification of, or any consent to depart
from, this Agreement or any Other Document, inahgdany increase in the Obligations resulting frbmn éxtension of additional credit to
Borrower or otherwise;
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(ii) any sale, exchange, release, surrender, dmmdonment, realization upon any property by whnawer at any time pledged or
mortgaged to secure, or howsoever securing, @hgrof the Obligations, and/or any offset therdrggaor failure to perfect, or continue the
perfection of, any Lien in any such property, olagtén the perfection of any such Lien, or any adraent or waiver of or consent to departure
from any other guaranty for all or any of the Ohtigns;

(iii) the failure of Agent or any Lender to assanly claim or demand or to enforce any right or réyregainst Borrower or any ott
Loan Party or any other Person under the provisibrisis Agreement or any Other Document or angpttocument or instrument executed
and delivered in connection herewith or therewith;

(iv) any settlement or compromise of any Obligatiany security therefor or any liability (includimgy of those hereunder)
incurred directly or indirectly in respect therewfhereof, and any subordination of the paymerladr any part thereof to the payment of any
obligation (whether due or not) of any Loan Padtgteditors of any Loan Party other than any otloam Party;

(v) any manner of application of Collateral, or geeds thereof, to all or any of the Obligationsaimy manner of sale or other
disposition of any Collateral for all or any of téligations or any other assets of any Loan Parig;

(vi) any other agreements or circumstance of amyraavhatsoever that may or might in any manneo @ny extent vary the risk
any Guarantor, or that might otherwise at law oequity constitute a defense available to, or atdigge of, the Guaranty hereunder and/or the
obligations of any Guarantor, or a defense to,isctdirge of, any Loan Party or any other Persquady hereto or the Obligations or otherwise
with respect to the Term Loan or other financialmanmodations to Borrower pursuant to this Agreenmaeulfor the Other Documents other
than payment in full of the Obligations.

16.6. Waiver of Notice Agent shall have the right to do any of the abwitbout notice to or the consent of any Guaraatut each
Guarantor expressly waives any right to noticecofisent to, knowledge of and participation in agseaments relating to any of the above or
any other present or future event relating to Glilans whether under this Agreement or otherwisangrright to challenge or question any of
the above and waives any defenses of such Guanahicin might arise as a result of such actions.
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16.7._Agents Discretion Agent may at any time and from time to time (Wisetprior to or after the revocation or terminatafrthis
Agreement) without the consent of, or notice tg; Guarantor, and without incurring responsibilidyany Guarantor or impairing or releasing
the Obligations, apply any sums by whomsoever paltbwsoever realized to any Obligations regardiésshat Obligations remain unpaid.

16.8. Reinstatement.

(a) The Guaranty provisions herein contained stwitinue to be effective or be reinstated, as #% enay be, if claim is ever made
upon Agent or any Lender for repayment or recowdrgny amount or amounts received by such Perspayment or on account of any of the
Obligations and such Person repays all or paraiof amount for any reason whatsoever, includinghauit limitation, by reason of any
judgment, decree or order of any court or admiaiste body having jurisdiction over such Persotherrespective property of each, or :
settlement or compromise of any claim effectedlmhsPerson with any such claimant (including angi.®arty); and in such event each
Guarantor hereby agrees that any such judgmengelearder, settlement or compromise or other nistances shall be binding upon such
Guarantor, notwithstanding any revocation heredhercancellation of any note or other instrumetdencing any Obligation, and each
Guarantor shall be and remain liable to Agent andémders for the amount so repaid or recoverddgsame extent as if such amount had
never originally been received by such Person(s).

(b) Agent shall not be required to marshal anytassefavor of any Guarantor, or against or in paptrof Obligations.

(c) No Guarantor shall be entitled to claim agaarst present or future security held by Agent framy Person for Obligations in
priority to or equally with any claim of Agent, assert any claim for any liability of any Loan Rad any Guarantor in priority to or equally
with claims of Agent for Obligations, and no Guamrshall be entitled to compete with Agent witlpect to, or to advance any equal or prior
claim to any security held by Agent for Obligations

(d) If any Loan Party makes any payment to Agemictv payment is wholly or partly subsequently indated, declared to be
fraudulent or preferential, set aside or requiretd repaid to any Person under any federal oripe@l statute or at common law or under
equitable principles, then to the extent of sugmpent, the Obligation intended to be paid shaltdyéved and continued in full force and effect
as if the payment had not been made, and the iresuétvived Obligation shall continue to be guaesak, uninterrupted, by each Guarantor
hereunder.

(e) All present and future monies payable by angrlBarty to any Guarantor, whether arising outrigla of subrogation or
otherwise, are assigned to Agent for its benefit fan the ratable benefit of Lenders as securitystach Guarantor’s liability to Agent and
Lenders hereunder and are postponed and subomdliteafegent’s prior right to payment in full of Oghtions. Except to the extent prohibited
otherwise by this Agreement, all monies receiveaiy Guarantor from any Loan Party shall be helduh Guarantor as agent and truste
Agent. This assignment, postponement and subordmahall only terminate when the Obligations aa&lpn full and this Agreement is
terminated.
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(f) Each Loan Party acknowledges this assignmergtppnement and subordination and, except as asgeesgt forth herein, agrees
to make no payments to any Guarantor without tiar pritten consent of Agent. Each Loan Party agieegive full effect to the provisions
hereof.

16.9. Limit. Each Guarantor and each of Agent and each Léhgéts acceptable of the benefits of this Agreetheareby confirms that
it is its intention that the guaranty made by theafantors not constitute a fraudulent transferomveyance for purposes of the Bankruptcy
Code, the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act or lsinfrederal or state law. To effectuate the foregantention, each Guarantor and each ¢
Agent and each Lender (by its acceptable of thefitsrof this Agreement) hereby irrevocably agréses the Obligations guaranteed by such
Guarantor shall be limited to such amount as wafter giving effect to such maximum amount ancb#iler (contingent or otherwise) liabilities
of such Guarantor that are relevant under such, laetsconstitute a fraudulent transfer or convegdioc purposes of such laws.
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Each of the parties has signed this Agreement #eeaday and year first above written.

NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS, as Borrowe

By:  /s/ John Nicholso

Name: John Nicholsor
Title: SVP & Chief Financial Office

ASTRAZENECA AB,
as Lender and as Age

By:  /s/ JarOlof Jacke

Name: Jar-Olof Jacke
Title: Presiden

[Signature Page to Term Loan and Security Agreeh



Exhibit A

[Form of]
TERM NOTE

$70,000,000 New York, New Yorl
[ ],20[_]

This Term Note (this “ Not#) is executed and delivered under and pursuatitederms of that certain Term Loan and Security
Agreement dated as of October 7, 2013 (as amenuwsdified, supplemented or restated from time teetithe “ Loan Agreemeri} by and
among NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS, a Delaware corporatithe, Guarantors from time to time party thereto,ltbaders from time to time
party thereto and ASTRAZENECA AB, a Swedish corfiora as agent for the Lenders (in such capacifgént”). Capitalized terms not
otherwise defined herein shall have the meaningsbesl thereto in the Loan Agreement.

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, Borrower promises to pay to tireler of Agent at the Payment Office:

(i) the principal sum of SEVENTY MILLION DOLLARS (#0,000,000), or if different from such amount, timgpaid principal balance of
the Term Loan as may be due and owing from tim@ie under the Loan Agreement, payable in accorelarith the provisions of the Loan
Agreement, subject to acceleration upon the ocnoer®f an Event of Default under the Loan Agreenoemarlier termination of the Loan
Agreement pursuant to the terms thereof; and

(ii) interest on the principal amount of this Nétem time to time outstanding, payable at the sqtecified in Section 3.1 of the Loan
Agreement, in accordance with the provisions ofltban Agreement. In no event, however, shall irgehereunder exceed the maximum
interest rate permitted by law.

This Note is the Term Note referred to in the Lé@meement and is secured, inter alia, by the lgmasited pursuant to the Loan
Agreement and the Other Documents, is entitletiedoenefits of the Loan Agreement and the Otheubwnts, and is subject to all of the
agreements, terms and conditions therein contained.

This Note may be voluntarily prepaid, in whole piart, on the terms and conditions set forth élthan Agreement.

If an Event of Default under Section 10.4 of theshd\greement shall occur, then this Note shall idliately become due and payable,
without notice, together with reasonable attorndégss if the collection hereof is placed in the lotlan attorney to obtain or enforce payn
hereof. If any other Event of Default shall occadar the Loan Agreement or any of the Other Docuswhich is not cured within any
applicable grace period, then this Note may, asigea in the Loan Agreement, be declared to be idiately due and payable, without notice,
together with reasonable attorn’ fees, if the collection hereof is placed in thedsof an attorney to obtain or enforce paymentdfe



In the event of any inconsistency in the termshidf Note and the Loan Agreement, the terms of thenLAgreement shall govern.

This Note shall be governed by and construed inr@ence with the laws of the State of New Y



Borrower expressly waives any presentment, denaodest, notice of protest, or notice of any kidept as expressly provided in the
Loan Agreement.

NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS

By:
Name:
Title:

[Signature Page to Term Not



Exhibit B

[Form of]
ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT

This Assignment Agreement (this * Assignmé&nis made and entered into as of the Effectiveelgscribed below, by and between
(“ Assignor™) and (“ Assigne€”) and acknowledged and consented to by ASTRAZENE®BA as agent (“ Ageri.
Capitalized terms used but not defined herein stwale the meanings given to them in the Term LeahSecurity Agreement identified below
(as amended, modified, supplemented or restated tiroe to time, the “ Loan Agreemeit receipt of a copy of which is hereby
acknowledged by the Assignee. The Standard Terh&€anditions set forth in Annexdittached hereto are hereby agreed to and incogabrat
herein by reference and made a part of this Assignras if set forth herein in full.

For an agreed consideration, the Assignor herebyadcably sells and assigns to the Assignee, anéskignee hereby irrevocably
purchases and assumes from the Assignor, subjeatti accordance with the Standard Terms and iGomsland the Loan Agreement, as of
the Effective Date inserted by the Agent as contatag below, the interest in and to all of the Assir's rights and obligations under the Loan
Agreement and any other documents or instrumetiteeded pursuant thereto that represent the amanthipercentage interest identified be
of all of the Assignor’s outstanding rights andigations under the respective facilities identiflelow (the “ Assigned Intere$t Such sale
and assignment is without recourse to the Assigndr except as expressly provided in this Assigrraed the Loan Agreement, without
representation or warranty by the Assignor.

Assignor”:
Assigneg”:

. “ Borrower”: Nektar Therapeutics

“

. “ Agent”: AstraZeneca AB

g A W N P

. “ Loan Adreement Term Loan and Security Agreement dated as ob@at 7, 2013, by and among Borrower, the Guararfitons time to
ime party thereto, the Lenders from time to tinagtp thereto and Ager

—



6. “ Assigned Interest

Aggregate Principa

Amount of Loan Amount of Percentage of
Facility Assigned Outstanding Loan Assignec Loan Assignec
Term Loan $ 70,000,001 $ % 2
7. Effective Date: , 20__[TO BE INSERTED BY AGENT AND WHICH SHALL BE THE EFECTIVE DATE OF

RECORDATION OF TRANSFER IN THE REGISTER THEREFOR.]

8. Notice and Wire Instructions:

[NAME OF ASSIGNOR] [NAME OF ASSIGNEE]
Notices: Notices:

Attention: Attention:

Telecopier: Telecopier:

With a copy to: With a copy to:

Attention: Attention:

Telecopier:; Telecopier:

Wire Instructions: Wire Instructions:

: Adjust as necessary to reflect any payments otjpat prior to the Effective Dat

Set forth, to at least 9 decimals, as a percerdghtiee loans of all Lenders thereunc



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have catisisdAssignment to be executed and delivered by thdy authorized
representatives as of the Effective Date.

ASSIGNOR:
[NAME OF ASSIGNOR]
By:
Name:
Title:
ASSIGNEE:
[NAME OF ASSIGNEE]
By:
Name:
Title:
Consented to and Accepted:
ASTRAZENECA AB,
as Agen
By:
Name:
Title:

[Signature Page to Assignment Agreemi



ANNEX 1
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR
ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT

1. Representations and Warranties.

1.1. Assignor. The Assignor (a) represents and warrants thitigxhe legal and beneficial owner of the Assiginterest, (ii) the
Assigned Interest is free and clear of any lieruenbrance or other adverse claim and (iii) it hdlsgfower and authority, and has taken all
action necessary, to execute and deliver this Ass@nt and to consummate the transactions contesdpereby; and (b) assumes no
responsibility with respect to (i) any statememtarranties or representations made in or in commeetith any Loan Document, (ii) the
execution, legality, validity, enforceability, génaness, sufficiency or value of the Loan Agreenaergny Other Document, or any collateral
thereunder, (iii) the financial condition of the Bmwer or any other Person obligated in respeetngfLoan Document or (iv) the performance
or observance by the Borrower or any other Per§amy of their respective obligations under the méagreement or any Other Document.

1.2. Assignee The Assignee (a) represents and warrants thiath@s full power and authority, and has takeraatlon necessary, to
execute and deliver this Assignment, to consumithgtéransactions contemplated hereby and to beeoneader under the Loan Agreement,
(ii) it is eligible to be a Lender under the LoagrAement, (iii) from and after the Effective Dateshall be bound by the provisions of the Loan
Agreement and, to the extent of the Assigned Isteshall have the obligations of a Lender thereun@v) it has received a copy of the Loan
Agreement and such other documents and informasdhhas deemed appropriate to make its own caeditysis and decision to enter into
Assignment and to purchase the Assigned Intereii@basis of which it has made such analysis axibn, and (v) if it is a Foreign Lender,
attached to the Assignment is any documentatiouired, to be delivered by it pursuant to the terifnthe Loan Agreement, duly completed
executed by the Assignee; and (b) agrees thatwi)lj independently and without reliance on thgeht, the Assignor or any other Person, anc
based on such documents and information as it dbath appropriate at that time, continue to makevitn credit decisions in taking or not
taking action under the Loan Agreement and any Bleeuments, and (ii) it will perform in accordaneéh their terms all of the obligations
which by the terms of the Loan Agreement and arhe©bocuments are required to be performed by it lasnder.

2. Payments With respect to Assigned Interests, unless naticke contrary is delivered to the Assignor arsdignee from the Agent,
payment to the Assignor by the Assignee in respktite Assigned Interest shall include such comagms to the Assignor as may be agreed
upon by the Assignor and the Assignee with resfpeall unpaid interest which has accrued on theghesl Interest to but excluding the
Effective Date. On and after the Effective Date, &ssignee shall be entitled to receive all intepasd or payable to the Assigned Interest,
whether such interest accrued before or after ffective Date.



3. General ProvisionsThis Assignment shall be binding upon, and irtarthe benefit of, the parties hereto and theipeetve
successors and assigns. This Assignment may bategeia any number of counterparts, which togesiatl constitute one instrument.
Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signapage of this Assignment by electronic transmissiaall be effective as delivery of a
manually executed counterpart of this Assignmehis Assignment shall be governed by, and constiiadcordance with, the internal laws
the State of New York without regard to conflictlaivs principles thereof (other than Sections 5-14hd 5-1402 of the New York General
Obligations Law)



Schedule 5.2(b)

Subsidiaries
Nektar Therapeutics (India) Private Limit

Nektar Therapeutics UK, Lt



Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of Nektar Therapeutics*

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or

Name Organization
Nektar Therapeutics UK, Lt United Kingdom
Nektar Therapeutics (India) Pvt. L India

* Includes subsidiaries that do not fall under thinit@n of “ Significant Subsidiar” as defined under Rule-02(w) of Regulation -X.



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-1934%MNektar Therapeutics, and

(2) Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-84833-71936, 333-76638, 333-98321, 333-103040,133375, 333-136498, 33345259
333-153106, 333-170371 and 333-183193) pertairrige amended and restated 2000 Non-Officer Edpdgntive Plan, the 401(k)
Retirement Plan, the Employee Stock Purchase flaramended and restated 2000 Equity Incentive Blaramended and restated 2008
Equity Incentive Plan, and the 2012 Performanceritice Plan of Nektar Therapeutics;

of our reports dated February 27, 2014, with ressfpethe consolidated financial statements of Nektserapeutics and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting of NekiEerapeutics included in this Annual Report (FAi9rK) of Nektar Therapeutics for the year
ended December 31, 2013.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Redwood City, California
February 27, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Howard W. Robin, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fHektar Therapeutics for the year ended Decer@bep013;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dénfttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemandisother financial information included in thipoet, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedorss designed under my
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglonting, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under my
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragtisslosure controls and procedures and presentaisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the teghid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comaer financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2014

/sl HowarRDW. R OBIN
Howard W. Robin
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I, John Nicholson, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fHektar Therapeutics for the year ended Decer@bep013;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dénfttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemandisother financial information included in thipoet, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedorss designed under my
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglonting, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under my
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragtisslosure controls and procedures and presentaisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the teghid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comaer financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2014

/s/ JOHN N ICHOLSON
John Nicholson
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officel




Exhibit 32.1
SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS*

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 18@)lof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asrated (the “Exchange Act”), and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the Uni&tates Code (18 U.S.C. § 1350), Howard W. Rdbinief Executive Officer, President and

Director of Nektar Therapeutics (the “Company”)dalohn Nicholson, Senior Vice President and Chiedifcial Officer of the Company, each
hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, fa ylear ended December 31, 2013, to which this f@ation is attached as Exhibit

32.1 (the “Annual Report”), fully complies with tlequirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the 8tea Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
and

2. The information contained in the Annual Repaitl§ presents, in all material respects, the faiaincondition and results of operations
of the Company for the period covered by the Aniegport.

Dated: February 27, 2014

/sl HowarRDW. R OBIN /s/ JOHN N ICHOLSON
Howard W. Robin John Nicholson
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

* This certification accompanies the Annual ReportForm 10-K, to which it relates, is not deeméelifiwith the Securities and Exchange
Commission and is not to be incorporated by refezanto any filing of the Company under the Se@siAct of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whethde before or after the date of the Form 10wkgspective of any general
incorporation language contained in such fili



